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PART |

Item 1. Business
EXPLANATORY NOTE ABOUT THISREPORT

Thisannual report isour first periodic report covering periods after June 30, 2004. Because of the delay in our periodic reporting
and the changes that have occurred in our business since our last periodic filing, where appropriate, the information contained in
this report reflects current information about our business.

This report contains our consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2004, aswell asa
restatement of our previously issued consolidated financial statements and related notes for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002, and for the quarters ended June 30, 2004 and March 31, 2004. All restatement adjustments relating to periods prior to
January 1, 2002 have been presented as adjustments to retained earnings as of December 31, 2001, which isavailablein
“ Item 6—Selected Financial Data.” In light of the substantial time, effort and expense incurred since December 2004 to compl ete
the restatement of our consolidated financial statements for 2003 and 2002, we have determined that extensive additional efforts
would be required to restate all 2001 and 2000 financial data. In particular, significant complexities of accounting standards,
turnover of relevant personnel, and limitations of systems and data all limit our ability to reconstruct additional financial
information for 2001 and 2000.

OVERVIEW

Fannie Mae' s activities enhance the liquidity and stability of the mortgage market. These activities include providing funds to
mortgage lenders through our purchases of mortgage assets, and issuing and guaranteeing mortgage-related securities that facilitate
the flow of additional funds into the mortgage market. We also make other investments that increase the supply of affordable rental
housing. Our activities contribute to making housing in the United States more affordable and more available to low-, moderate-
and middle-income Americans.

We are a government-sponsored enterprise (* GSE” ) chartered by the U.S. Congress under the name“ Federal National
Mortgage Association” and are aligned with national policies to support expanded access to housing and increased opportunities
for homeownership. We are subject to government oversight and regulation. Our regulators include the Office of Federal Housing
Enterprise Oversight (* OFHEQ” ), the Department of Housing and Urban Development (* HUD” ), the Securities and Exchange
Commission (* SEC” ) and the Department of the Treasury.

While we are a Congressionally-chartered enterprise, the U.S. government does not guarantee, directly or indirectly, our securities
or other obligations. We are a stockhol der-owned corporation, and our business is self-sustaining and funded exclusively with
private capital. Our common stock is listed on the New Y ork Stock Exchange and traded under the symbol “ FNM.” Our debt
securities are actively traded in the over-the-counter market.

FINANCIAL RESTATEMENT, REGULATORY REVIEWSAND OTHER SIGNIFICANT RECENT EVENTS

We have undertaken comprehensive reviews of our accounting policies and procedures, financia reporting, internal controls,
corporate governance and the structure of our management team and Board of Directors. We commenced these reviews in 2004
following our Board of Directors receipt of an interim report from OFHEO on its findingsin a special examination. Since then,
we have made extensive organizational and operational changes, improved our internal controls, and been subject to additional
reviews and investigations. The following are summary descriptions of these events.

OFHEO Special Examination and Interim Report. In July 2003, OFHEO notified usthat it intended to conduct a special
examination of our accounting policies and internal controls, as well as other areas of inquiry. OFHEO began its special



examination in November 2003 and delivered an interim report of its findings to our Board of Directors in September 2004. In this
interim report, and as further outlined in its May 2006 final report described below, OFHEO identified areas within our accounting
that it determined did not
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conform to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (* GAAP’ ) and specified weaknesses in our internal controls,
compensation practices and corporate governance. We entered into agreements with OFHEO in September 2004 and March 2005
in which we agreed to take specified actions with respect to our accounting practices, capital levels and activities, organization and
staffing, corporate governance, internal controls, compensation practices and other matters. See also“ OFHEO Final Report and
Settlement”  below.

Fecial Review Committee and Paul Weiss Investigation and Report. After receiving OFHEO’ sinterim report in September
2004, our Board of Directors established a Special Review Committee of independent directorsto review OFHEO' s findings and
oversee an independent investigation of issues raised in the report. The Special Review Committee engaged former Senator Warren
B. Rudman and the law firm of Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP (“ Paul Weiss’ ) to conduct the investigation and to
prepare a detailed report of its findings and conclusions. Paul Weiss obtained independent professional accounting assistance and,
in February 2006, reported its findings that our accounting practices in many areas were not consistent with GAAP, and aspects of
our accounting were designed to show stable earnings growth and achieve forecasted earnings. Paul Weiss also concluded that the
accounting systems we previously utilized were inadequate.

SEC Review of Our Accounting Practices. Following the receipt of OFHEQO' sinterim report, we requested that the SEC’ s
Office of the Chief Accountant review our accounting practices with respect to two areas identified in OFHEO' sinterim
findings— hedge accounting and the amortization of purchase premiums and discounts on securities and loans, as well as other
deferred charges— to determine whether our practices complied with the applicable GAAP requirements. In December 2004, the
SEC' sOffice of the Chief Accountant advised us that, from 2001 to mid-2004, our accounting practices with respect to these two
areas did not comply in material respects with GAAP requirements. Accordingly, the Office of the Chief Accountant advised usto
(1) restate our financia statements filed with the SEC to eliminate the use of hedge accounting and (2) evaluate our accounting for
the amortization of premiums and discounts, and restate our financial statements filed with the SEC if the amounts required for
correction were material. The SEC’ s Office of the Chief Accountant also advised us to reevaluate the GAAP and non-GAAP
information that we previously provided to investors, particularly in view of the decision that hedge accounting was not

appropriate.

Accounting-Related Changes and Financial Restatement. After receiving OFHEQO' sinterim findings and the SEC’ s
determination, the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors concluded in December 2004 that our previously filed interim and
audited consolidated financial statements should not be relied upon since they were prepared applying accounting practices that did
not comply with GAAP and, consequently, we would restate our consolidated financial statements. As part of the restatement, we
have undertaken a comprehensive review of, and made numerous corrections to, our accounting policies and procedures as well as
the information systems used to produce our accounting records and financial reports. The consolidated financial statementsfor the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include restatement adjustments that we
have categorized into the following seven areas. our accounting for debt and derivatives; our accounting for commitments; our
accounting for investments in securities; our accounting for MBS trust consolidation and sale accounting; our accounting for
financial guaranties and master servicing; our accounting for amortization of cost basis adjustments; and other adjustments.

The overall impact of our restatement was atotal reduction in retained earnings of $6.3 billion through June 30, 2004. This
amount includes:

» a$7.0hillion net decrease in earnings for periods prior to January 1, 2002 (as reflected in beginning retained earnings as
of January 1, 2002);

» a$705 million net decrease in earnings for the year ended December 31, 2002;

e a$176 million net increase in earnings for the year ended December 31, 2003; and

» a$l.2hillion net increase in earnings for the six months ended June 30, 2004.

We previoudly estimated that errors in accounting for derivative instruments, including mortgage commitments, would result in a
total of $10.8 billion in after-tax cumulative losses through December 31, 2004. In a subsequent 12b-25 filing in August 2006, we
confirmed our estimate of after-tax cumulative losses on
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derivatives of $8.4 billion, but disclosed that our previous estimate of $2.4 billion in after-tax cumulative losses on mortgage
commitments would be significantly less. We did not provide estimates of the effects on net income or retained earnings of any
other accounting errors, nor did we provide any estimates of the effects of our restatement on total assets, total liabilities or
stockholders’  equity. Asreflected in the results we are reporting in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our retained earnings as of
December 31, 2004 includes after-tax cumulative losses on derivatives of $8.4 billion and after-tax cumulative net gains on
derivative mortgage commitments of $535 million, net of related amortization, for atotal after-tax cumulative impact as of
December 31, 2004 of approximately $7.9 billion related to these two restatement items. For more information regarding the
restatement, see“ Item 7—Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(* MD&A” )—Restatement” and“ Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 1, Restatement of Previously |ssued
Financial Statements.”

Changes to Management and Board of Directors. Since the announcement of our decision to restate in December 2004, we have
made extensive changes in our senior management team and our Board of Directors. In December 2004, Franklin D. Raines, who
had served as Chairman of the Board and our Chief Executive Officer, left his position. Our Board of Directors appointed Daniel
H. Mudd as our new Chief Executive Officer. In addition, we have replaced all of our senior financial and accounting officers who
served during the period in which we issued the consolidated financial statements that have been restated, including our Chief
Financial Officer and Controller, and we hired a new General Counsel, Chief Risk Officer, Chief Audit Executive and Chief
Compliance Officer. Our Board of Directors also appointed Stephen B. Ashley as non-executive Chairman of the Board of
Directors and has added six new directors to the Board since our receipt of OFHEO' sinterim report in September 2004. In
addition to these appointments and new additions to our Board of Directors and management team, we have reorganized our
internal operations and made changesin the committee structure of our Board of Directors.

Replacement of Independent Auditors. In December 2004, the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors dismissed KPMG LLP
(* KPMG” ) as our independent registered public accounting firm. KPMG had served as our independent auditor since 1969 and
had audited the previoudly issued financial statements that we have restated. The Audit Committee engaged Deloitte & Touche
LLP (* Deloitte & Touche” ) to serve as our independent registered public accounting firm effective January 2005. The
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been audited by Deloitte & Touche.

Capital Restoration Plan and 30% Capital Surplus Requirement. In December 2004, OFHEO determined that we were
significantly undercapitalized as of September 30, 2004. We prepared a capital restoration plan to comply with OFHEO' s
directive that we achieve a 30% surplus over our statutory minimum capital requirement by September 30, 2005. In accordance
with our plan, we met this capital requirement principally by issuing $5.0 billion in non-cumulative preferred stock, significantly
decreasing the size of our mortgage investment portfolio, accumulating retained earnings and reducing our quarterly common stock
dividend from $0.52 per share to $0.26 per share. Pursuant to our May 2006 consent order with OFHEO (described below), this
requirement to maintain a 30% capital surplus remainsin effect and may be modified or terminated only at OFHEQO' s discretion.
For additional information on our capital requirements, see“ Item 7—MD& A—Liquidity and Capital Management—Capital
Management—Capital Adequacy Requirements.”

OFHEO Final Report and Settlement. On May 23, 2006, OFHEQ issued afinal report on its specia examination. OFHEO' s
final report concluded that, during the period covered by the report (1998 to mid-2004), alarge number of our accounting policies
and practices did not comply with GAAP and we had serious problemsin our internal controls, financial reporting and corporate
governance. On May 23, 2006, we agreed to OFHEQO' sissuance of a consent order that resolved open matters relating to their
investigation of us. Under the consent order, we neither admitted nor denied any wrongdoing and agreed to make changes and take
actionsin specified areas, including our accounting practices, capital levels and activities, corporate governance, Board of
Directors, internal controls, public disclosures, regulatory reporting, personnel and compensation practices. In addition, as part of
this consent order and our settlement with the SEC discussed below, we have paid a $400 million civil penalty, with $50 million
paid to the U.S. Treasury and $350 million paid to the SEC for distribution to stockholders pursuant to the Fair Funds for Investors
provision of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Limitation on the Sze of Our Mortgage Portfolio. Aspart of OFHEO' sMay 2006 consent order, we agreed not to increase the
size of our net mortgage portfolio above the $727.75 billion amount of net mortgage assets held as of December 31, 2005, except in
limited circumstances at OFHEO' sdiscretion. Our “ net mortgage assets’ refersto the unpaid principal balance of our mortgage
assets, net of GAAP adjustments. The consent order permitted us to propose increases in the size of our mortgage portfolioin a
business plan submitted to OFHEO by July 2006. We may also propose to OFHEO increases in the size of our portfolio to respond
to disruptions in the mortgage markets. The business plan we submitted to OFHEO in July 2006 did not request an increasein the
current limitation on the size of our mortgage portfolio during 2006. We anticipate submitting an updated business plan to OFHEO



in early 2007 that may include arequest for modest growth in our mortgage portfolio. Until the Director of OFHEO has determined
that modification or expiration of the limitation is appropriate, we will remain subject to this limitation on portfolio growth.

SEC Investigation and Settlement. The SEC initiated an investigation of our accounting practices and, in May 2006, without
admitting or denying the SEC’ s allegations, we consented to the entry of afinal judgment which resolved al of the SEC’' sclaims
against usin itscivil proceeding. The judgment permanently restrains and enjoins us from future violations of specified provisions
of the federal securities laws. In addition, as discussed under “ OFHEQO Final Report and Settlement” above, as part of our
settlements with OFHEO and the SEC, we have paid a $400 million civil penalty, with $50 million paid to the U.S. Treasury and
$350 million paid to the SEC for distribution to stockholders pursuant to the Fair Funds for Investors provision of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Investigation by the U.S. Attorney’ s Office. In October 2004, the U.S. Attorney’ s Office for the District of Columbia notified us
that it was investigating our past accounting practices. In August 2006, the U.S. Attorney’ s Office advised us that it had
discontinued its investigation and would not be filing any charges against us.

Stockholder Lawsuits and Other Litigation. A number of lawsuits related to our accounting practices prior to December 2004 are
currently pending against us and certain of our current and former officers and directors. For more information on these lawsuits,
see” Item 3—Legal Proceedings.”

Impairment Determination. On December 6, 2006, the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors reviewed the conclusion of our
Chief Financia Officer and our Controller that we are required under GAAP to take the impairment charges described in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the periods presented in this report and, following discussion with our independent registered
public accounting firm, the Audit Committee affirmed that material impairments have occurred. Additional information relating to
the impairment charges, including the amounts of the impairment charges and our estimates of the amounts of the impairment
charges that we expect to result in future cash expenditures, are discussed in“ Item 7—M D& A—Restatement—Summary of
Restatement Adjustments.”

RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE MARKET OVERVIEW
Residential M ortgage Debt Outstanding

Our business operates within the U.S. residential mortgage market. Because we support activity in the U.S. residential mortgage
market, we consider the amount of U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding to be the best measure of the size of our overall
market. As of June 30, 2006, the latest date for which information was available, the amount of U.S. residential mortgage debt
outstanding was estimated by the Federal Reserve to be approximately $10.5 trillion. Our book of business, which includes
mortgage assets we hold in our mortgage portfolio and our Fannie M ae mortgage-backed securities held by third parties, was $2.4
trillion as of June 30, 2006, or nearly 23% of total U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding. “ Fannie Mae mortgage-backed
securities” or “ Fannie Mae MBS’ generaly refers to those mortgage-related securities that we issue and with respect to which
we guarantee to the related trusts that we will supplement mortgage loan collections as required to permit timely payment of
principal and interest due on these Fannie Mae MBS. We also issue some forms of mortgage-related securities for which we do not
provide this guaranty.

The mortgage market has experienced strong long-term growth. According to Federal Reserve estimates, total U.S. residential
mortgage debt outstanding has increased each year from 1945 to 2005. Growthin U.S.
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residential mortgage debt outstanding averaged 10.6% per year over that period, which is faster than the 6.9% average growth in
the U.S. economy over the same period, as measured by nominal gross domestic product. Growth in U.S. residential mortgage debt
outstanding was particularly strong during 2001 through 2005. Total U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding grew at an
estimated annual rate of almost 13% in 2002 and 2003, approximately 15% in 2004 and approximately 14% in 2005.

Homeownership rates, home price appreciation and certain macroeconomic factors such as interest rates are large drivers of
growth in U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding. Growth in U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding in recent years has
been driven primarily by record home sales, strong home price appreciation and historically low interest rates. Also contributing to
growth in U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding in recent years was the increased use of mortgage debt financing by
homeowners and demographic trends that contributed to increased household formation and higher homeownership rates. Growth
in U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding has moderated in 2006 in response to slower home price growth, a sharp drop-off in
home sales and declining refinance activity. While total U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding as of June 30, 2006 was 12.3%
higher than year-ago levels, the annualized growth rate in the second quarter of 2006 slowed to 9.6%. We expect that growth in
total U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding will continue at a slower pace in 2007, as the housing market continues to cool and
home price gains moderate further or possibly decline modestly. We believe that the continuation of positive demographic trends,
such as stable household formation rates, will help mitigate this slowdown in the growth in residential mortgage debt outstanding,



but these trends are unlikely to completely offset the slowdown in the short- to medium-term.

Over the past 30 years, home values (as measured by the OFHEO House Price Index) and income (as measured by per capita
personal income) have both risen at around a 6% annualized rate. During 2001 through 2005, however, this comparability between
home values and income eroded, with income growth averaging approximately 4.1% and home price appreciation averaging over
9%. Moreover, home price appreciation was especially rapid in 2004 and 2005, with rates of home price appreciation of
approximately 11% in 2004 and 13% in 2005 on anational basis (with some regiona variations). This period of extraordinary
home price appreciation appears to be ending. According to the OFHEO House Price Index, home pricesincreased at a 3.45%
annualized rate in the third quarter of 2006, which was the slowest pace of home price appreciation since 1998. We believe a
modest decline in national home pricesin 2007 is possible.

The amount of residential mortgage debt available for usto purchase or securitize and the mix of available loan products are
affected by several factors, including the volume of single-family mortgages within the loan limits imposed under our charter,
consumer preferences for different types of mortgages, and the purchase and securitization activity of other financial institutions.
See” Item 1A—Risk Factors’ for adescription of the risks associated with the recent slowdown in home price appreciation, as
well as competitive factors affecting our business.

Our Rolein the Secondary Mortgage M ar ket

The mortgage market comprises amajor portion of the domestic capital markets and provides a vital source of financing for the
large housing segment of the economy, as well as one of the most important means for Americans to achieve their homeownership
objectives. The U.S. Congress chartered Fannie Mae and certain other GSEs to help ensure stability and liquidity within the
secondary mortgage market. Our activities are especially valuable when economic or financial market conditions constrain the flow
of funds for mortgage lending. In addition, we believe our activities and those of other GSEs help lower the costs of borrowing in
the mortgage market, which makes housing more affordable and increases homeownership, especially for low- to moderate-income
families. We believe our activities also increase the supply of affordable rental housing.

Our principal customers are lenders that operate within the primary mortgage market by originating mortgage loans for
homebuyers and current homeowners refinancing their existing mortgage loans. Our customers include mortgage banking
companies, savings and |oan associations, savings banks, commercial banks, credit unions, community banks, and state and local
housing finance agencies. Lenders originating mortgages in the primary market often sell them in the secondary mortgage market
in the form of loans or in the form of mortgage-related securities.
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We operate in the secondary mortgage market where mortgages are bought and sold. We securitize mortgage |oans originated by
lendersin the primary market into Fannie Mae MBS, which can then be readily bought and sold in the secondary mortgage market.
We also participate in the secondary mortgage market by purchasing mortgage loans (often referred to as“ whole loans’ ) and
mortgage-related securities, including Fannie Mae MBS, for our mortgage portfolio. By delivering loansto us in exchange for
Fannie Mae MBS, lenders gain the advantage of holding a highly liquid instrument and the flexibility to determine under what
conditions they will hold or sell the MBS. By selling loans to us, lenders replenish their funds and, consequently, are able to make
additional loans. Pursuant to our charter, we do not lend money directly to consumers in the primary mortgage market.

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We operate an integrated business that contributes to providing liquidity to the mortgage market and increasing the availability
and affordability of housing in the United States. We are organized in three complementary business segments:

* Our Single-Family Credit Guaranty business (“ Single-Family” ) works with our lender customers to securitize
single-family mortgage loansinto Fannie Mae MBS and to facilitate the purchase of single-family mortgage loans for
our mortgage portfolio. Our Single-Family business has responsibility for managing our credit risk exposure relating to
the single-family Fannie Mae MBS held by third parties (such as lenders, depositories and global investors), aswell as
the single-family mortgage loans and single-family Fannie Mae MBS held in our mortgage portfolio. Our Single-Family
business a'so has responsibility for pricing the credit risk of the single-family mortgage loans we purchase for our
mortgage portfolio. Revenuesin the segment are derived primarily from the guaranty fees the segment receives as
compensation for assuming the credit risk on the mortgage loans underlying single-family Fannie Mae MBS and on the
single-family mortgage loans held in our portfolio.

* Our Housing and Community Development business (* HCD” ) helpsto expand the supply of affordable and
market-rate rental housing in the United States by working with our lender customers to securitize multifamily mortgage
loans into Fannie Mae MBS and to facilitate the purchase of multifamily mortgage loans for our mortgage portfolio. Our
HCD business also helps to expand the supply of affordable housing by making investmentsin rental and for-sale



housing projects, including investmentsin rental housing that qualify for federal low-income housing tax credits. Our
HCD business has responsibility for managing our credit risk exposure relating to the multifamily Fannie Mae MBS held
by third parties, as well as the multifamily mortgage loans and multifamily Fannie Mae MBS held in our mortgage
portfolio. Revenues in the segment are derived from avariety of sources, including the guaranty fees the segment
receives as compensation for assuming the credit risk on the mortgage loans underlying multifamily Fannie Mae MBS
and on the multifamily mortgage loans held in our portfolio, transaction fees associated with the multifamily business
and bond credit enhancement fees. In addition, HCD’ sinvestmentsin housing projects eligible for the low-income
housing tax credit and other investments generate both tax credits and net operating losses that reduce our federal income
tax liahility.

* Our Capital Markets group manages our investment activity in mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities, and has
responsibility for managing our assets and liabilities and our liquidity and capital positions. Through the issuance of debt
securities in the capital markets, our Capital Markets group attracts capital from investors globally to finance housing in
the United States. In addition, our Capital Markets group increases the liquidity of the mortgage market by maintaining a
constant, reliable presence as an active investor in mortgage assets. Our Capital Markets group has responsibility for
managing our interest rate risk. Our Capital Markets group generates income primarily from the difference, or spread,
between the yield on the mortgage assets we own and the cost of the debt we issuein the global capital marketsto fund
these assets.
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Although we operate our business through three separate business segments, there are important interrel ationships among the
functions of these three segments. For example:

* Mortgage Acquisition. As noted above, our Single-Family and HCD business segments work with our lender customers
to securitize mortgage loans into Fannie Mae MBS and to facilitate the purchase of mortgage |oans for our mortgage
portfolio. Accordingly, although the Single-Family and HCD businesses principally manage the rel ationships with our
lender customers, our Capital Markets group works closely with Single-Family and HCD in making mortgage acquisition
decisions. Our Capital Markets group works directly with our lender customers on structured Fannie Mae MBS
transactions.

» Portfolio Credit Risk Management. Our Single-Family and HCD business segments support our Capital Markets group
by assuming and managing the credit risk of borrowers defaulting on payments of principal and interest on the mortgage
loans held in our mortgage portfolio or underlying Fannie Mae MBS held in our mortgage portfolio. Our Single-Family
business also prices the credit risk of the single-family mortgage loans purchased by our Capital Markets group for our
mortgage portfolio.

» Securitization Activities. All three of our business segments engage in securitization activities. Our Single-Family
business issues our single-class, single-family Fannie Mae MBS. These securities are principally created through lender
swap transactions and constitute the substantial majority of our Fannie Mae MBS issues. The Multifamily Group within
our HCD business segment issues our single-class, multifamily Fannie Mae MBS that are principally created through
lender swap transactions. Our Capital Markets group crestes Fannie Mae MBS using mortgage loans that we hold in our
mortgage portfolio and also issues structured Fannie Mae MBS.

» Liquidity Support. The Capital Markets group supports the liquidity of single-family and multifamily Fannie Mae MBS
by holding Fannie Mae MBS in our mortgage portfolio. This support of our Fannie Mae MBS helps to maintain the
competitiveness of our Single-Family and HCD businesses, and increases the value of our Fannie Mae MBS.

e Mission Support. All three of our business segments contribute to meeting the statutory housing goal s established by
HUD. We meet our housing goals both by purchasing mortgage loans for our mortgage portfolio and by securitizing
mortgage loans into Fannie Mae MBS. Both our Single-Family and HCD businesses securitize mortgages that contribute
to our housing goals. In addition, our Capital Markets group purchases mortgages for our mortgage portfolio that
contribute to our housing goals.
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The table below displays the revenues, net income and total assets for each of our business segments for each of the three yearsin
the period ended December 31, 2004. In our previoudly reported financia statements, we disclosed only two business segments,
Portfolio Investment (which has since been renamed “ Capital Markets’ ) and Credit Guaranty, because we aggregated the
Single-Family Credit Guaranty and the HCD business segments into a single Credit Guaranty business segment. As described in



“ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 15, Segment Reporting,” we determined that this previous presentation of our
business segments did not comply with GAAP.

Business Segment Summary Financial Information

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(Restated) (Restated)
(Dollarsin millions)
Revenue®:
Single-Family Credit Guaranty $ 5,153 $ 4,994 $ 3957
Housing and Community Development 538 398 305
Capital Markets 46,135 47,293 49,267
Total $ 51826 $ 52685 $ 53529
Net income:
Single-Family Credit Guaranty $ 2514 $ 2481 $ 1958
Housing and Community Devel opment 337 286 184
Capital Markets 2,116 5,314 1,772
Total $ 4967 $ 8081 $ 3914
As of December 31,
2004 2003
(Restated)
Total assets:
Single-Family Credit Guaranty $ 11,543 $ 8,724
Housing and Community Development 10,166 7,853
Capital Markets 999,225 1,005,698
Tota $_ 1020934 $ 1022275

@ Includes interest income, guaranty feeincome, and fee and other income.

We use various management methodol ogies to allocate certain balance sheet and income statement line items to the responsible
operating segment. For a description of our allocation methodologies, see “ Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 15,
Segment Reporting.” For further information on the results and assets of our business segments, see” Item 7—MD& A—Business
Segment Results.”

Single-Family Credit Guaranty

Our Single-Family Credit Guaranty business works with our lender customers to securitize single-family mortgage loans into
Fannie Mae MBS and to facilitate the purchase of single-family mortgage loans for our mortgage portfolio. Our Single-Family
business manages our relationships with over 1,000 lenders from which we obtain mortgage loans. These lenders are part of the
primary mortgage market, where mortgage loans are originated and funds are loaned to borrowers. Our lender customers include
mortgage companies, savings and |oan associations, savings banks, commercial banks, credit unions, and state and local housing
finance agencies.

In our Single-Family business, mortgage lenders generally deliver mortgage loans to usin exchange for our Fannie Mae MBS. In
atypica MBS transaction, we guaranty to each MBS trust that we will supplement mortgage |oan collections as required to permit
timely payment of principal and interest due on the related
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Fannie Mae MBS. In return, we receive afee for providing that guaranty. Our guaranty supports the liquidity of Fannie Mae MBS
and makesit easier for lenders to sell these securities. When lenders receive Fannie Mae MBS in exchange for mortgage loans,
they may hold the Fannie Mae MBS for investment or sell the MBS in the secondary mortgage market. This option allows lenders
to manage their assets so that they continue to have funds available to make new mortgage loans. In holding Fannie Mae MBS
created from a pool of whole loans, alender has securities that are generally more liquid than whole loans, which provides the
lender with greater financial flexibility. The ability of lendersto sell Fannie Mae MBS quickly allows them to continue making
mortgage |oans even under economic and capital markets conditions that might otherwise constrain mortgage financing activities.

The following table provides a breakdown of our single-family mortgage credit book of business as of December 31, 2004. Our
single-family mortgage credit book of business refers to the sum of the unpaid principal balance of: (1) the single-family mortgage



loans we hold in our investment portfolio; (2) the Fannie Mae MBS and non-Fannie Mae mortgage-related securities backed by
single-family mortgage |oans we hold in our investment portfolio; (3) Fannie Mae MBS backed by single-family mortgage loans
that are held by third parties; and (4) credit enhancements that we provide on single-family mortgage assets. Our Single-Family
business manages the risk that borrowers will default in the payment of principal and interest due on the single-family mortgage
loans held in our investment portfolio or underlying Fannie Mae MBS (whether held in our investment portfolio or held by third
parties).

Single-Family Mortgage Credit Book of Business

As of December 31, 2004
Conventional® Government® Total
(Dollarsin millions)

Mortgage portfolio:®

Mortgage loans® $ 345,575 $ 10,112 $ 355,687
Fannie Mag MBS® 341,768 1,239 343,007
Agency mortgage-related securities®® 37,422 4,273 41,695
Mortgage revenue bonds 6,344 4,951 11,295
Other mortgage-rel ated securities® 108,082 669 108,751
Total mortgage portfolio 839,191 21,244 860,435
Fannie Mae MBS held by third parties®” 1,319,066 32,337 1,351,403
Book of business 2,158,257 53,581 2,211,838
Other® 346 — 346
Total single-family mortgage credit book of business $ 2,158,603 $ 53.581 $ 2212184

@ Refers to mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities that are not guaranteed or insured by the U.S. government or any of its
agencies.

Refers to mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities guaranteed or insured by the U.S. government or one of its agencies.

Mortgage portfolio datais reported based on unpaid principal balance. Our Single-Family business manages the credit risk relating to the
single-family mortgage loans and Fannie Mae MBS held in our portfolio that are backed by single-family mortgage loans. Our Capital
Markets group manages the institutional counterparty credit risk relating to the agency mortgage-related securities, mortgage revenue
bonds and other mortgage-related securities held in our portfolio.

Mortgage loan data includes mortgage-rel ated securities that were consolidated and reported in our consolidated balance sheet as loans.
Includes mortgage-related securities issued by Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae.

Includes mortgage-rel ated securities issued by entities other than Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae.

Includes Fannie Mae MBS held by third-party investors. The principal balance of resecuritized Fannie Mae MBS isincluded only once.
Includes additional single-family credit enhancements that we provide not otherwise reflected in the table.
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To ensure that acceptable |oans are received from lenders as well asto assist lendersin efficiently and accurately processing loans
that they deliver to us, we have established guidelines for the types of loans and credit risks that we accept. These guidelines also
ensure compliance with the types of loans that our charter authorizes us to purchase. For a description of our charter requirements,
see” Our Charter and Regulation of Our Activities.” We have developed technol ogy-based solutions that assist our lender
customers in delivering loans to us efficiently and at lower costs. Our automated underwriting system for single-family mortgage
loans, known as Desktop Underwriter®, assists lendersin applying our underwriting guidelines to the single-family loans they
originate. Desktop Underwriter is designed to help lenders process mortgage applications in a more efficient and accurate manner
and to apply our underwriting criteriato all prospective borrowers consistently and objectively. After ng the
creditworthiness of the borrowers and originating the loans, lenders deliver the whole loans to us and represent and warrant to us
that the loans meet our guidelines and any agreed-upon variances from the guidelines.

Guaranty Services

Our Single-Family business provides guaranty services by assuming the credit risk of the single-family mortgage loans underlying
our guaranteed Fannie Mae MBS held by third parties. Our Single-Family business also assumes the credit risk of the single-family
mortgage |oans held in our investment portfolio, as well as the single-family mortgage loans underlying Fannie Mae MBS held in
our portfolio.

Our most common type of guaranty transaction isreferred to asa* lender swap transaction.” Lenders pool their loans and deliver
them to usin exchange for Fannie Mae MBS backed by these loans. After receiving the loansin alender swap transaction, we
place them in atrust that is established for the sole purpose of holding the loans separate and apart from our assets. We serve as



trustee for the trust. Upon creation of the trust, we deliver to the lender (or its designee) Fannie Mae MBS that are backed by the
pool of mortgage loans in the trust and that represent a beneficial ownership interest in each of the loans. We guarantee to each
MBS trust that we will supplement mortgage loan collections as required to permit timely payment of principal and interest due on
the related Fannie Mae MBS. The mortgage servicers for the underlying mortgage loans collect the principal and interest payments
from the borrowers. We permit them to retain a portion of the interest payment as compensation for servicing the mortgage loans
before distributing the principal and remaining interest paymentsto us. We retain a portion of the interest payment as the fee for
providing our guaranty, and then, on behalf of the trust, we make monthly distributions to the Fannie Mae MBS certificate holders
from the principal and interest payments and other collections on the underlying mortgage loans.

The following diagram illustrates the basic process by which we create atypical Fannie Mae MBS in the case where alender
chooses to sell the Fannie Mae MBS to athird party investor.
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To better serve the needs of our lender customers as well as to respond to changing market conditions and investor preferences, we
offer different types of Fannie Mae MBS backed by single-family loans, as described below:

¢ Sngle-Family Sngle-Class Fannie Mae MBS represent beneficial interests in single-family mortgage loans held in an
MBS trust that were delivered to us typically by asingle lender in exchange for the single-class Fannie Mae MBS. The
certificate holdersin a single-class Fannie Mae MBS issue receive principal and interest payments in proportion to their
percentage ownership of the MBS issue.

» Fannie Majors® are aform of single-class Fannie Mae MBS in which generally two or more lenders deliver mortgage
loans to us, and we then group al of the loans together in one MBS pooal. In this case, the certificate holders receive
beneficial interestsin al of theloansin the pool and, as aresult, may benefit from a diverse group of lenders
contributing loans to the MBS rather than having an interest in loans obtained from only one lender, as well as increased
liquidity from alarger-sized pool.

¢ Single-Family Whole Loan Multi-Class Fannie Mae MBS are multi-class Fannie Mae MBS that are formed from
single-family whole loans. Our Single-Family business works with our Capital Markets group in structuring these
single-family whole loan multi-class Fannie Mae MBS. Single-family whole loan multi-class Fannie Mae MBS divide
the cash flows on the underlying loans and create several classes of securities, each of which represents a beneficial
ownership interest in a separate portion of the cash flows.

Guaranty Fees

We enter into agreements with our lender customers that establish the guaranty fee arrangements for that customer’ s Fannie Mae
MBS transactions. Guaranty fees are generally paid to us on a monthly basis from a portion of the interest payments made on the
underlying mortgage loansin the MBS trust.

The aggregate amount of single-family guaranty fees we receive in any period depends on the amount of Fannie Mae MBS
outstanding during that period and the applicable guaranty fee rates. The amount of Fannie Mae MBS outstanding at any timeis
primarily determined by the rate at which we issue new Fannie Mae MBS and by the repayment rate for the loans underlying our



outstanding Fannie Mae MBS. Less significant factors affecting the amount of Fannie Mae MBS outstanding are the rates of
borrower defaults on the loans and the extent to which lenders repurchase loans from the pool s because the loans do not conform to
the representations made by the lenders.

Since we began issuing our Fannie Mae MBS nearly 25 years ago, the total amount of our outstanding single-family Fannie Mae
MBS (which includes both Fannie Mae MBS held in our portfolio and Fannie Mae MBS held by third parties) has grown steadily.
As of December 31, 2004 and 2005, total outstanding single-family Fannie Mae MBS was $1.8 trillion and $1.9 trillion,
respectively. As of September 30, 2006, our total outstanding single-family Fannie Mae MBS was $2.0 trillion. Growth in our total
outstanding Fannie Mae MBS has been supported by the value that lenders and other investors place on Fannie Mae MBS.

Our Customers

Our Single-Family businessis primarily responsible for managing the relationships with our lender customers that supply
mortgage |oans both for securitization into Fannie Mae MBS and for purchase by our mortgage portfolio. During 2004, over 1,000
lenders delivered mortgage loans to us, either for purchase by our mortgage portfolio or for securitization into Fannie Mae MBS.
We acquire a significant portion of our single-family mortgage loans from several large mortgage lenders. During 2004, our top
five lender customers, in the aggregate, accounted for approximately 53% of our single-family business volumes (which refersto
both single-family mortgage |oans that we purchase for our mortgage portfolio as well as single-family mortgage loans that we
securitize into Fannie Mae MBS). Our top customer, Countrywide Financial Corporation (through its subsidiaries), accounted for
approximately 26% of our single-family business volumesin 2004. Due to consolidation within the mortgage industry, we, as well
as our competitors, have been competing for business from a decreasing number of large mortgage lenders. See“ Item 1A—Risk
Factors” for adiscussion of the risks to our business resulting from this customer concentration.
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The TBA, or “ to be announced,” securities market is aforward, or delayed delivery, market for 30-year and 15-year fixed-rate
single-family mortgage-related securities issued by us and other agency issuers. Most of our single-class single-family Fannie Mae
MBS are sold by lendersin the TBA market. Lenders use the TBA market both to purchase and sell Fannie Mae MBS.

A TBA trade represents a forward contract for the purchase or sale of single-family mortgage-related securities to be delivered on
a specified future date. In atypical TBA trade, the specific mortgage pools that will be delivered to fulfill the forward contract are
unknown at the time of the trade. Partiesto a TBA trade agree upon the issuer, coupon, price, product type, amount of securities
and settlement date for delivery. Settlement for TBA trades is standardized to occur on one specific day each month. The
mortgage-related securities that ultimately will be delivered, and the loans backing those mortgage-related securities, frequently
have not been created or originated at the time of the TBA trade, even though a price for the securitiesis agreed to at that time.
Some trades are stipulated trades, in which the buyer and seller agree on specific characteristics of the mortgage loans underlying
the mortgage-related securities to be delivered (such as loan age, 10an size or geographic area of the loan). Some other transactions
are specified trades, in which the buyer and seller identify the actual mortgage pool to be traded (specifying the pool or CUSIP
number). These specified trades typically involve existing, seasoned TBA-eligible securities issued in the market. TBA sales enable
originating mortgage lenders to hedge their interest rate risk and efficiently lock in interest rates for mortgage loan applicants
throughout the loan origination process. The TBA market lowers transaction costs, increases liquidity and facilitates efficient
settlement of sales and purchases of mortgage-related securities.

Credit Risk Management

Our Single-Family business bears the credit risk of borrowers defaulting on their payments of principa and interest on the
single-family mortgage loans that back our guaranteed Fannie Mae MBS, including Fannie Mae MBS held in our mortgage
portfolio. In addition, Single-Family bears the credit risk associated with the single-family whole mortgage loans held in our
mortgage portfolio. The Single-Family business receives a guaranty fee in return for bearing the credit risk on guaranteed
single-family Fannie Mae MBS, including Fannie Mae MBS held in our mortgage portfolio. In return for bearing credit risk on the
single-family whole mortgage loans held in our mortgage portfolio, Single-Family is alocated fees from the Capital Markets group
comparable to the guaranty fees that Single-Family receives on guaranteed Fannie Mae MBS. As aresult, in our segment reporting,
the expenses of the Capital Markets group include the transfer cost of the guaranty fees and related fees allocated to Single-Family,
and the revenues of Single-Family include the guaranty fees and related fees received from the Capital Markets group.

The credit risk associated with a single-family mortgage loan is largely determined by the creditworthiness of the borrower, the
nature and terms of the loan, the type of property securing the loan, the ratio of the unpaid principal amount of the loan to the value
of the property that serves as collateral for the loan (the “ loan-to-valueratio” or“ LTV ratio” ) and general economic conditions,
including employment levels and the rate of increases or decreases in home prices. We actively manage, on an aggregate basis, the
extent and nature of the credit risk we bear, with the objective of ensuring that we are adequately compensated for the credit risk



we take, consistent with our mission goals. For a description of our methods for managing mortgage credit risk and a description of
the credit characteristics of our single-family mortgage credit book of business, refer to “ Item 7—MD& A—Risk
Management—Credit Risk Management.” Referto“ Item 1A—Risk Factors’” for adescription of the risks associated with our
management of credit risk.

Our Single-Family businessis also responsible for managing the credit risk to our business posed by defaults by most of our
institutional counterparties, such as our mortgage insurance providers and mortgage servicers. See“ Item 7—M D& A—Risk
Management—Credit Risk Management” for a description of our methods for managing institutional counterparty credit risk and
“ Item 1A—Risk Factors’ for adescription of the risks associated with our management of credit risk.
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Housing and Community Development

Our Housing and Community Development business engages in arange of activities primarily related to increasing the supply of
affordable rental and for-sale housing, as well asincreasing liquidity in the debt and equity markets related to such housing. In
2005, approximately 88% of the multifamily mortgage loans we purchased or securitized contributed to the housing goals
established by HUD. See* Our Charter and Regulation of Our Activities—Regulation and Oversight of Our Activities—HUD
Regulation—Housing Goals’ for a description of our housing goals.

Our HCD business also engages in other activities through our Community Investment and Community Lending Groups,
including investing in affordable rental propertiesthat qualify for federal low-income housing tax credits, making equity
investments in other rental and for-sale housing, investing in acquisition, development and construction financing for single-family
and multifamily housing devel opments, providing loans and credit support to public entities such as housing finance agencies and
public housing authorities to support their affordable housing efforts, and working with not-for-profit entities and local banks to
support community development projects in underserved areas.

Multifamily Group

HCD’ sMultifamily Group securitizes multifamily mortgage loansinto Fannie Mae MBS and facilitates the purchase of
multifamily mortgage loans for our mortgage portfolio. The amount of multifamily mortgage loan volume that we purchase for our
portfolio as compared to the amount that we securitize into Fannie Mae MBS fluctuates from period to period. In recent years, the
percentage of our multifamily business that has consisted of purchases for our investment portfolio has increased relative to our
securitization activities. Our multifamily mortgage loans relate to properties with five or more residential units. The properties may
be apartment communities, cooperative properties or manufactured housing communities.

Most of the multifamily loans we purchase or securitize are made by lenders that participate in our Delegated Underwriting and
Servicing, or DUS™, program. Under the DUS program, we delegate the underwriting of loans to qualified lenders. Aslong asthe
lender represents and warrants that eligible loans meet our underwriting guidelines, we will not require the lender to obtain
loan-by-loan approval before acquisition by us. DUS lenders generally act as servicers on the loans they sell to us, and servicing
transfers must be approved by us. We also work with DUS lenders to provide credit enhancement for taxable and tax-exempt bonds
issued by entities such as housing finance authorities. DUS lenders generally share the credit risk of loans they sell to us by
absorbing a portion of the loss incurred as aresult of aloan default. DUS lenders receive a higher servicing fee to compensate them
for thisrisk. We believe that the risk-sharing feature of the DUS program aligns our interests and the interests of the lendersin
making a sound credit decision at the time the loan is originated by the lender and acquired by us, and in servicing the loan
throughout itslife.
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The following table provides a breakdown of our multifamily mortgage credit book of business as of December 31, 2004. Our
multifamily mortgage credit book of business refers to the sum of the unpaid principal balance of: (1) the multifamily mortgage
loans we hold in our investment portfolio; (2) the Fannie Mae MBS and non-Fannie Mae mortgage-related securities backed by
multifamily mortgage loans we hold in our investment portfolio; (3) Fannie Mae MBS backed by multifamily mortgage loans that
are held by third parties; and (4) credit enhancements that we provide on multifamily mortgage assets. Our HCD business manages
therisk that borrowers will default in the payment of principal and interest due on the multifamily mortgage loans held in our
investment portfolio or underlying Fannie Mae MBS (whether held in our investment portfolio or held by third parties).

Multifamily Mortgage Credit Book of Business

As of December 31, 2004




Conventional® Gover nment® Total
(Dollarsin millions)

Mortgage portfolio:®

Mortgage loans® $ 43,396 $ 1,074 $ 44,470
Fannie Mae MBS® 505 892 1,397
Agency mortgage-related securities®® — 68 68
Mortgage revenue bonds 8,037 2,744 10,781
Other mortgage-rel ated securities® 12 46 58
Total mortgage portfolio 51,950 4,824 56,774
Fannie Mae MBS held by third parties®” 54,639 2,005 56,644
Book of business 106,589 6,829 113,418
Other® 14,111 368 14,479
Total multifamily mortgage credit book of business $ 120,700 $ 7197 $ 127897

@ Refers to mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities that are not guaranteed or insured by the U.S. government or any of its

agencies.

Refers to mortgage |oans and mortgage-related securities guaranteed or insured by the U.S. government or one of its agencies.

Mortgage portfolio datais reported based on unpaid principal balance. Our HCD business manages the credit risk relating to the

multifamily mortgage loans and Fannie Mae MBS held in our portfolio that are backed by multifamily mortgage loans. Our Capital

Markets group manages the institutional counterparty credit risk relating to the agency mortgage-related securities, mortgage revenue

bonds and other mortgage-related securities held in our portfolio.

Mortgage loan data includes mortgage-rel ated securities that were consolidated and reported in our consolidated balance sheet as |oans.

Includes mortgage-related securities issued by Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae.

Includes mortgage-related securities issued by entities other than Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae.

" Includes Fannie Mae MBS held by investors other than Fannie Mae. The principal balance of resecuritized Fannie Mae MBS is included
only once.

Includes additional multifamily credit enhancements that we provide not otherwise reflected in the table.

Unlike single-family loans, most multifamily loans require that the borrower pay a prepayment premium if the loan is paid before
the maturity date. Additionally, some multifamily loans are subject to lock-out periods during which the loan may not be prepaid.
The prepayment premium can take a variety of forms, including yield maintenance, defeasance or declining percentage. These
prepayment provisions may provide incremental levels of certainty and reinvestment cash flow protection to investorsin
multifamily loans and mortgage-related securities, and may reduce the likelihood that a borrower will prepay aloan during a period
of declining interest rates.

Our Multifamily Group generally creates multifamily Fannie Mae MBS in the same manner as our Single-Family business creates
single-family Fannie Mae MBS. Mortgage lenders deliver multifamily mortgage loans
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to usin exchange for our Fannie Mae MBS, which thereafter may be held by the lenders or sold in the capital markets. We
guarantee to each MBS trust that we will supplement mortgage loan collections as required to permit timely payment of principal
and interest due on the related multifamily Fannie Mae MBS. In return for our guaranty, we are paid a guaranty fee out of a portion
of the interest on the loans underlying the multifamily Fannie Mae MBS. For a description of atypical lender swap transaction by
which we create Fannie Mae MBS, see® Single-Family Credit Guaranty—Guaranty Services’ above.

Aswith our Single-Family business, our Multifamily Group offers different types of Fannie Mae MBS as a service to our lenders
and as aresponse to specific investor preferences. The most commonly issued multifamily Fannie Mae MBS are described below:

» Multifamily Sngle-Class Fannie Mae MBS represent beneficial interestsin multifamily mortgage loans held in an MBS
trust and that were delivered to us by alender in exchange for the single-class Fannie Mae MBS. The certificate holders
in asingle-class Fannie Mae MBS issue receive principal and interest payments in proportion to their percentage
ownership of the MBS issue.

» Discount Fannie Mae MBS are short-term securities that generally have maturities between three and nine months and
are backed by one or more participation certificates representing interests in multifamily loans. Investors earn areturn on
their investment in these securities by purchasing them at a discount to their principal amounts and receiving the full
principal amount when the securities reach maturity. Discount MBS have no prepayment risk since prepayments are not
alowed prior to maturity.



» Multifamily Whole Loan Multi-Class Fannie Mae MBS are multi-class Fannie Mae MBS that are formed from
multifamily whole loans, Federal Housing Administration (* FHA” ) participation certificates and/or Government
National Mortgage Association (* Ginnie Mag” ) participation certificates. Our HCD business works with our Capital
Markets group in structuring these multifamily whole loan multi-class Fannie Mae MBS. Multifamily whole loan
multi-class Fannie Mae MBS divide the cash flows on the underlying loans or participation certificates and create several
classes of securities, each of which represents a beneficial ownership interest in a separate portion of the cash flows.

The fee and guaranty arrangements between HCD and Capital Markets are similar to the arrangements between Single-Family and
Capital Markets. Our HCD business bears the credit risk of borrowers defaulting on their payments of principal and interest on the
multifamily mortgage loans that back our guaranteed Fannie Mae MBS, including Fannie Mae MBS held in our mortgage
portfolio. In addition, HCD bears the credit risk associated with the multifamily whole mortgage loans held in our mortgage
portfolio. The HCD business receives a guaranty fee in return for bearing the credit risk on guaranteed multifamily Fannie Mae
MBS, including Fannie Mae MBS held in our mortgage portfolio. In return for bearing credit risk on the multifamily whole
mortgage loans held in our mortgage portfolio, our HCD businessis allocated fees from the Capital Markets group comparable to
the guaranty feesthat it receives on guaranteed Fannie Mae MBS. Asaresult, in our segment reporting, the expenses of the Capital
Markets group include the transfer cost of the guaranty fees and related fees allocated to our HCD segment, and the revenues of the
HCD segment include the guaranty fees and related fees received from the Capital Markets group.

HCD' s Multifamily Group manages credit risk in amanner similar to that of Single-Family by managing the quality of the
mortgages we acquire for our portfolio or securitize into Fannie Mae MBS, diversifying our exposure to credit losses, continually
assessing the level of credit risk that we bear, and actively managing problem loans and assets to mitigate credit losses.
Additionally, multifamily loans sold to us are often subject to lender risk-sharing or other lender recourse arrangements. As of
December 31, 2004, credit enhancements existed on approximately 95% of the multifamily mortgage loans that we owned or that
backed our Fannie Mae MBS. As described above, in our DUS program, lenders typically bear a portion of the lossesincurred on
an individual DUS loan. From time to time, we acquire multifamily loans pursuant to transactions in which the lenders do not bear
any risk on the loan and we therefore bear al of the risk. In such cases, we are compensated accordingly for bearing al of the credit
risk on the loan. For a description of our management of multifamily credit risk, see“ Item 7—M D& A—Risk Management—Credit
Risk Management.” Referto*“ Item 1A—Risk Factors’ for adescription of the risks associated with our management of credit
risk.
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Community Investment Group

HCD’ s Community Investment Group makes investments that increase the supply of affordable housing. Most of these
investments are in rental housing that qualifies for federal low-income housing tax credits, and the remainder are in conventional
rental and primarily entry-level, for-sale housing. These investments are consistent with our focus on serving communities in need
and making affordable housing more available and easier to rent or own.

The Community Investment Group’ s investments have been made predominantly in low-income housing tax credit (* LIHTC” )
limited partnerships or limited liability companies (referred to collectively in thisreport as“ LIHTC partnerships’ ) that directly or
indirectly own an interest in rental housing that the partnerships or companies have developed or rehabilitated. By renting a
specified portion of the housing units to qualified low-income tenants over a 15-year period, the partnerships become eligible for
the federal low-income housing tax credit. The low-income housing tax credit was enacted as part of the Tax Reform Act of 1986
to encourage investment by private developers and investors in low-income rental housing. To qualify for this tax credit, among
other requirements, the project owner must irrevocably elect that either (1) a minimum of 20% of the residential units will be
rent-restricted and occupied by tenants whose income does not exceed 50% of the area median gross income, or (2) a minimum of
40% of the residential units will be rent-restricted and occupied by tenants whose income does not exceed 60% of the area median
grossincome. The LIHTC partnerships are generally organized by fund manager sponsors who seek out investments with
third-party developers who in turn develop or rehabilitate the properties and subsequently manage them. We invest in these
partnerships as alimited partner with the fund manager acting as the general partner.

In making investments in these LIHTC partnerships, our Community Investment Group identifies qualified sponsors and
structures the terms of our investment. Our risk exposure is limited to the amount of our investment and the possible recapture of
the tax benefits we have received from the partnership. To manage the risks associated with a partnership, we track compliance
with the LIHTC requirements, as well as the property condition and financial performance of the underlying investment throughout
thelife of the investment. In addition, we evaluate the strength of the partnership’ s sponsor through periodic financial and
operating assessments. Furthermore, in some of our partnership investments, our exposure to loss is further mitigated by our having
a guaranteed economic return from an investment grade counterparty.

As of December 31, 2004, we had a recorded investment in these LIHTC partnerships of $6.8 billion. We earn areturn on our



investmentsin LIHTC partnerships through reductions in our federal income tax liability as aresult of the use of the tax credits for
which the partnerships qualify, as well as the deductibility of the partnerships’ net operating losses. The tax benefits associated
with these partnerships was the primary reason for our effective tax rate in 2004 being 17% versus the federal statutory rate of
35%.

In addition to itsinvestmentsin LIHTC partnerships, HCD’ s Community Investment Group provides equity investments for
rental and for-sale housing. These investments are typically made through fund managers or directly with devel opers and operators
that are well-recognized firms within the industry. Because we invest as alimited partner or as a non-managing member in a
limited liability company, our exposure is generally limited to the amount of our investment. Most of our investmentsin for-sale
housing involve the construction of entry-level homes that are generally eligible for conforming mortgages. As of December 31,
2004, we had a recorded investment in these equity investments of $1.3 billion.

Community Lending Group

HCD' s Community Lending Group supports the expansion of available housing by participating in specialized debt financing for
avariety of customers and by acquiring mortgage loans. These activities include:

» helping to meet the financing needs of single-family and multifamily home builders by purchasing participation interests
in acquisition, development and construction (* AD&C” ) loans from lending institutions;
e acquiring small multifamily loans from avariety of lending institutions;
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» providing financing to designated communities to expand the affordable housing stock in those communities as part of
their community development efforts; and

» providing financing for single-family and multifamily housing to housing finance agencies, public housing authorities
and municipalities.

In August 2006, OFHEO advised us to suspend new AD& C business until we have finalized and implemented specified policies
and procedures required to strengthen risk management practices related to this business. We expect to have finalized and
substantially completed implementation of these policies and procedures by December 2006. We will not engage in new AD&C
business until OFHEO determines the finalized policies and procedures are satisfactory.

Capital Markets

Our Capital Markets group manages our investment activity in mortgage loans, mortgage-related securities and other liquid
investments. We purchase mortgage |oans and mortgage-related securities from mortgage lenders, securities dealers, investors and
other market participants. We a so sell mortgage loans and mortgage-rel ated securities.

We fund our investments primarily through the proceeds from our issuance of debt securitiesin the domestic and international
capital markets. By using the proceeds of this debt funding to invest in mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities, we directly
and indirectly increase the amount of funding available to mortgage lenders. By managing the structure of our debt obligations and
through our use of derivatives, we strive to substantially limit adverse changes in the net fair value of our investment portfolio that
result from interest rate changes.

Our Capital Markets group earns most of itsincome from the difference, or spread, between the interest we earn on our mortgage
portfolio and the interest we pay on the debt we issue to fund this portfolio, which isreferred to as our net interest yield. As
described below, our Capital Markets group uses various debt and derivative instruments to help manage the interest rate risk
inherent in our mortgage portfolio. Changesin the fair value of the derivative instruments we hold impact the net income reported
by the Capital Markets group business segment. Our Capital Markets group also earns transaction fees for issuing structured Fannie
Mae MBS, as described below under “ Securitization Activities.”

Mortgage Investments

The amount of our net mortgage investments was $924.8 billion as of December 31, 2004 and $919.3 hillion as of December 31,
2003. Asdescribedin“ Item 7—M D& A—Business Segment Results—Capital Markets Group,” the amount of our mortgage
investments has decreased since December 31, 2004. We estimate that the amount of our net mortgage investments was
$720.3 hillion as of September 30, 2006. As described above under “ Financial Restatement, Regulatory Reviews and Other
Significant Recent Events,” as part of our May 2006 consent order with OFHEO, we agreed not to increase the size of our net
mortgage portfolio above $727.75 billion, except in limited circumstances at OFHEO' s discretion. We will be subject to this
limitation on mortgage investment growth until the Director of OFHEO has determined that modification or expiration of the



limitation is appropriate in light of specified factors such as resolution of accounting and internal control issues. For additional
information on our capital requirements and regulations affecting the amount of our mortgage investments, see“ Our Charter and
Regulation of Our Activities” and*“ Item 7—MD&A—Liquidity and Capital Management—Capital Management.”

Our mortgage investments include both mortgage-related securities and mortgage loans. We purchase primarily conventional
single-family fixed-rate or adjustable-rate, first lien mortgage loans, or mortgage-related securities backed by such loans. In
addition, we purchase loans insured by the FHA, loans guaranteed by the Department of Veterans Affairs (* VA” ) or by the Rural
Housing Service of the Department of Agriculture (* RHS’ ), manufactured housing loans, multifamily mortgage loans,
subordinate lien mortgage loans (e.g., loans secured by second liens) and other mortgage-related securities. Most of these loans are
prepayable at the option of the borrower. Some of our investments in mortgage-related securities are effected in the TBA market,
which is described above under “ Single-Family Credit Guaranty—TBA Market.” Our investmentsin mortgage-related
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securities include structured mortgage-related securities such asreal estate mortgage investment conduits (* REMICS’ ). The
interest rates on the structured mortgage-related securities held in our portfolio may not be the same as the interest rates on the
underlying loans. For example, we may hold afloating rate REMIC security with an interest rate that adjusts periodically based on
changes in a specified market reference rate, such as the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (* LIBOR” ); however, the REMIC may
be backed by fixed-rate mortgage loans. The REMIC securities we own primarily fall into two categories. agency REMICs, which
are generally Fannie Mae-issued REMICs, and non-agency REMICs issued by private-label issuers. For information on the
composition of our mortgage investment portfolio by product type, refer to Table22 in“ Item 7—M D& A—Business Segment
Results—Capital Markets Group—M ortgage | nvestments.”

While our Single-Family and HCD businesses are responsible for managing the credit risk associated with our investmentsin
mortgage |oans and Fannie Mae MBS, our Capital Markets group is responsible for managing the credit risk of the non-Fannie Mae
mortgage-related securities in our portfolio.

Investment Activities and Objectives

Our Capital Markets group seeks to maximize long-term total returns, subject to our risk constraints, while fulfilling our chartered
liquidity function. We pursue these objectives by purchasing, selling and managing mortgage assets based on market dynamics and
our assessment of the economic attractiveness of specific transactions at given pointsin time. This approach is an enhancement to
our strategy prior to 2005, which focused primarily on buying mortgage assets when anticipated returns met or exceeded our hurdle
rates and generally holding those assets to maturity. We now also consider asset salesin order to generate economic value when
supply and demand dynamics in our market result in attractive pricing for certain assetsin our portfolio.

Thelevel of our purchases and sales of mortgage assets in any given period has been generally determined by the rates of return
that we expect to be able to earn on the equity capital underlying our investments. When we expect to earn returns greater than our
cost of equity capital, we generally will be an active purchaser of mortgage |oans and mortgage-related securities. When few
opportunities exist to earn returns above our cost of equity capital, we generally will be aless active purchaser, and may be a net
seller, of mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities. Thisinvestment strategy is consistent with our chartered liquidity
function, as the periods during which our purchase of mortgage assetsis economically attractive to us generally have been periods
in which market demand for mortgage assetsis low.

The difference, or spread, between the yield on mortgage assets available for purchase or sale and our borrowing costs, after
consideration of the net risks associated with the investment, is an important factor in determining whether we are a net buyer or
seller of mortgage assets. When the spread between the yield on mortgage assets and our borrowing costsiswide, which is
typically when demand for mortgage assets from other investorsis low, we will look for opportunities to add liquidity to the market
primarily by purchasing mortgage assets and issuing debt to investors to fund those purchases. When this spread is narrow, which
istypically when market demand for mortgage assets is high, we will look for opportunities to meet demand by selling mortgage
assets from our portfolio. Even in periods of high market demand for mortgage assets, however, we expect to be an active
purchaser of lessliquid forms of mortgage |oans and mortgage-related securities. The amount of our purchases of these mortgage
loans and mortgage-rel ated securities may be less than the amortization, prepayments and sales of mortgage loans we hold and, asa
result, our investment balances may decline during periods of high market demand.

We determine our total return by measuring the change in the fair value of our net assets attributable to common stockholders, as
adjusted for our capital transactions, such as dividend payments and share issuances and repurchases. The fair value of our net
assets will change from period to period as aresult of changes in the mix of our assets and liabilities and changes in interest rates,
expected volatility and other market factors. The fair value of our net assetsis also subject to change due to inherent market
fluctuations in the yields on our mortgage assets relative to the yields on our debt securities. The fair value of our guaranty assets
and guaranty obligations will also fluctuate in the short term due to changesin interest rates. These fluctuations are likely to
produce volatility in the fair value of our net assets in the short-term that may not be representative of our long-term performance.
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Customer Transactions and Services

Our Capital Markets group provides servicesto our lender customers and their affiliates, which include:

+ offering to purchase awide variety of mortgage assets, including non-standard mortgage loan products, which we either
retain in our portfolio for investment or sell to other investors as a service to assist our customersin accessing the
market;

» segregating customer portfolios to obtain optimal pricing for their mortgage loans (for example, segregating Community
Reinvestment Act or “ CRA” eligible loans, which typically command a premium);

e providing funds at the loan delivery date for purchase of loans delivered for securitization; and

» assisting customers with the hedging of their mortgage business, including entering into options and forward contracts on
mortgage-related securities, which we offset in the capital markets.

These activities provide a significant source of assets for our mortgage portfolio, help to create a broader market for our customers
and enhance liquidity in the secondary mortgage market. Although certain securities acquired in this activity are accounted for as
“ trading” securities, we contemporaneously enter into economically offsetting positions if we do not intend to retain the securities
in our portfolio.

In connection with our customer transactions and services activities, we may enter into forward commitments to purchase
mortgage |oans or mortgage-related securities that we decide not to retain in our portfolio. In these instances, we generally will
enter into an offsetting sell commitment with another investor or require the lender to deliver a sell commitment to us together with
the loans to be pooled into mortgage-related securities.

Mortgage Innovation

Our Capital Markets group also aids our lender customersin their efforts to introduce new mortgage products into the
marketplace. Lenders often face limited secondary market appetite for new or innovative mortgage products. Our Capital Markets
group supports these lenders by purchasing new products for our investment portfolio before they develop full track records for
credit performance and pricing. Among the innovations that our Capital Markets group has supported recently are 40-year
mortgages, interest-only mortgages and reverse mortgages.

Housing Goals

Our Capital Markets group contributes to our regulatory housing goals by purchasing goals-qualifying mortgage loans and
mortgage-related securities for our mortgage portfolio. In particular, our Capital Markets group is able to purchase highly-rated
mortgage-related securities backed by mortgage loans that meet our regulatory housing goal s requirements. Our Capital Markets
group’ s purchase of goals-qualifying mortgage loansis a critical factor in our ability to meet our housing goals.

Funding of Our Investments

Our Capital Markets group funds its investments primarily through the issuance of debt securities in the domestic and international
capital markets. The objective of our debt financing activities is to manage our liquidity requirements while obtaining funds as
efficiently as possible. We structure our financings not only to satisfy our funding and risk management requirements, but also to
access the market in an orderly manner with debt securities designed to appeal to awide range of investors. International investors,
seeking many of the features offered in our debt programs for their U.S. dollar-denominated investments, have been a
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significant and growing source of funding in recent years. The most significant of the debt financing programs that we conduct are
the following:

»  Benchmark Securities®. Through our Benchmark Securities program, we sell large, regularly scheduled issues of
unsecured debt. Our Benchmark Securities issues tend to appeal to investors who value liquidity and price transparency.
The Benchmark Securities program includes:



» Benchmark Bills have maturities of up to oneyear. On aweekly basis, we auction three-month and six-month
Benchmark Bills with aminimum issue size of $1.0 billion. On amonthly basis, we auction one-year Benchmark Bills
with aminimum issue size of $1.0 billion.

» Benchmark Notes have maturities ranging between two and ten years. Each month, we typically sell one or more new,
fixed-rate issues of Benchmark Notes through dealer syndicates. Each issue has a minimum size of $3.0 hillion.

» Discount Notes. We issue short-term debt securities called Discount Notes with maturities ranging from overnight to
360 days from the date of issuance. Investors purchase these notes at a discount to the principal amount and receive the
principal amount when the notes mature.

*  Medium-Term Notes. We issue medium-term notes (* MTNS’ ) with awide range of maturities, interest rates and call
features. The specific terms of our MTN issuances are determined through individually-negotiated transactions with
broker-dealers. Our MTNs are often callable prior to maturity. We issue both fixed-rate and floating-rate securities, as
well as various types of structured notes that combine features of traditional debt with features of other capital market
instruments.

e Subordinated Debt. Pursuant to voluntary commitments that we made in October 2000, from time to time we have
issued subordinated debt. The terms of our qualifying subordinated debt require us to defer interest payments on this debt
in specified limited circumstances. The difference, or spread, between the trading prices of our subordinated debt and our
senior debt serves as amarket indicator to investors of the relative credit risk of our debt. A narrow spread between the
trading prices of our subordinated debt and senior debt implies that the market perceives the credit risk of our debt to be
relatively low. A wider spread between these prices implies that the market perceives our debt to have a higher relative
credit risk. As of the date of thisfiling, we had $11.0 billion in qualifying subordinated debt outstanding. We have not
issued any subordinated debt since 2003. During 2004, we suspended further issuances of subordinated debt and are not
likely to resume issuances until we return to timely reporting of our financial results. Our October 2000 voluntary
commitments relating to subordinated debt have been replaced by an agreement we entered into with OFHEO on
September 1, 2005, pursuant to which we agreed to maintain a specified amount of qualifying subordinated debt.
Although we have not issued subordinated debt since 2003, we are in compliance with our obligations relating to the
maintenance of subordinated debt under our September 1, 2005 agreement with OFHEQO. For more information on our
subordinated debt, see” Item 7—MD& A—Liquidity and Capital Management—Capital Management—Capital
Activity—Subordinated Debt.”

For more information regarding our approach to funding our investments and other activities, see“ Item 7—MD&A—Liquidity
and Capital Management—L iquidity—Debt Funding.”

While we are a corporation chartered by the U.S. Congress, we are solely responsible for our debt obligations, and neither the
U.S. government nor any instrumentality of the U.S. government guarantees any of our debt. Our debt tradesin the “ agency
sector” of the capital markets, along with the debt of other GSESs. Debt in the agency sector benefits from bank regulations that
allow commercial banksto invest in our debt and other agency debt to a greater extent than other debt. These factors, along with
the high credit rating of our senior unsecured debt securities and the manner in which we conduct our financing programs,
contribute to the favorable trading characteristics of our debt. As aresult, we generally are able to borrow at lower interest rates
than other corporate debt issuers. For information on the credit ratings of our long-term and short-term senior unsecured debt,
qualifying subordinated debt and preferred stock, refer to “ I1tem 7—M D& A—Liquidity and Capital
M anagement—L iquidity—Credit Ratings and Risk Ratings.”
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In order to support the liquidity and strength of our debt programs, we engage in periodic repurchases of our debt securities.
During 2004, we repurchased $4.3 billion of our outstanding debt through market purchases. We also called $155.6 billion of our
outstanding debt.

Securitization Activities

Our Capital Markets group engagesin two principal types of securitization activities:

» creating and issuing Fannie Mae MBS from our mortgage portfolio assets, either for sale into the secondary market or to
retain in our portfolio; and
* issuing structured Fannie Mae MBS for customers in exchange for a transaction fee.

Our Capital Markets group creates Fannie Mae MBS using mortgage |oans and mortgage-related securities that we hold in our
investment portfolio (referred to as*“ portfolio securitizations’ ). Our Capital Markets group may sell these Fannie Mae MBS into
the secondary market or may retain the Fannie Mae MBS in our investment portfolio. The types of Fannie Mae MBS that our



Capital Markets group creates through portfolio securitizations include the same types as those created by our Single-Family and
HCD businesses, as described in“ Single-Family Credit Guaranty—Guaranty Services’ above. In addition, the Capital Markets
group issues structured Fannie Mae MBS, which are described below. The structured Fannie Mae MBS are generally created
through swap transactions, typically with our lender customers or securities dealer customers. In these transactions, the customer

“ swaps’ amortgage-related security they own for one of the types of structured Fannie Mae MBS described below. This process
isreferred to as“ resecuritization.”

Our Capital Markets group earns transaction fees for issuing structured Fannie Mae MBS for third parties. The most common
forms of such securities are the following:

 Fannie Megas®, which are resecuritized single-class Fannie Mae MBS that are created in transactions in which alender
or asecurities dealer contributes two or more previously issued single-class Fannie Mae MBS or previously issued
Megas, or a combination of Fannie Mae MBS and Megas, in return for a new issue of Mega certificates.

» Multi-class Fannie Mae MBS, including REMICs, which may separate the cash flows from underlying single-class
and/or multi-class Fannie Mae MBS, other mortgage-related securities or whole mortgage loans into separately tradable
classes of securities. By separating the cash flows, the resulting classes may consist of: (1) interest-only payments;

(2) principal-only payments; (3) different portions of the principal and interest payments; or (4) combinations of each of
these. Terms to maturity of some multi-class Fannie Mae MBS, particularly REMIC classes, may match or be shorter
than the maturity of the underlying mortgage loans and/or mortgage-related securities. As aresult, each of the classesin
amulti-class Fannie Mae MBS may have a different coupon rate, average life, repayment sensitivity or final maturity. In
some of our multi-class Fannie Mae MBS transactions, we may issue senior classes where we have guaranteed to the
trust that we will supplement collections on the underlying mortgage assets as required to permit timely payment of
principal and interest due on the related senior class. In these multi-class Fannie Mae MBS transactions, we also may
issue one or more subordinated classes for which we do not provide a guaranty. Our Capital Markets group may work
with our Single-Family or HCD businesses in structuring multi-class Fannie Mae MBS.

Interest Rate Risk Management

Our Capital Markets group is subject to the risks of changesin long-term earnings and net asset values that may occur due to
changes in interest rates, interest rate volatility and other factors within the financial markets. These risks arise because the
expected cash flows of our mortgage assets are not perfectly matched with the cash flows of our debt instruments.

Our principal source of interest rate risk arises from our investment in mortgage assets that give the borrower the option to prepay
the mortgage at any time. For example, if interest rates decrease, borrowers are more likely to refinance their mortgages.
Refinancings could result in prepaid |oans being replaced with new investmentsin lower interest rate loans and, consequently, a
decrease in future interest income earned on our
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mortgage assets. At the same time, we may not be able to redeem or repay a sufficient portion of our existing debt to lower our
interest expense by the same amount, which may reduce our net interest yield.

We strive to maintain low exposure to the risks associated with changes in interest rates. To manage our exposure to interest rate
risk, we engage in the following activities:

 Issuance of Callable and Non-Callable Debt. We issue a broad range of both callable and non-callable debt securities to
manage the duration and prepayment risk of expected cash flows of the mortgage assets we own.

» Useof Derivative Instruments. While our debt is the primary means by which we manage our interest rate risk exposure,
we supplement our issuance of debt with interest rate-related derivatives to further manage duration and prepayment risk.
We use derivatives in combination with our issuance of debt to reduce the volatility of the estimated fair value of our
mortgage investments. The benefits of derivativesinclude:

— the speed and efficiency with which we can alter our risk position; and
— the ability to modify some aspects of our expected cash flows in a specialized manner that might not be readily
achievable with debt instruments.

The use of derivatives also involves costs to our business. Changes in the estimated fair value of these derivativesimpact our
net income. Accordingly, our net income will be reduced to the extent that we incur losses relating to our derivative
instruments. In addition, our use of derivatives exposes us to credit risk relating to our derivative counterparties. We have



derivative transaction policies and controls in place to minimize our derivative counterparty risk. See” Item 7—MD& A—Risk
Management—Credit Risk Management—institutional Counterparty Credit Risk Management—Derivatives Counterparties’ for
adescription of our derivative counterparty risk and our policies and controlsin place to minimize such risk. Refer to

“ Item 1A—Risk Factors’ for adescription of the risks associated with transactions with our derivatives counterparties.

» Continuous Monitoring of Our Risk Position. We continuously monitor our risk position and actively rebalance our
portfolio of interest-rate sensitive financial instruments to maintain a close match between the duration of our assets and
liabilities. We use awide range of risk measures and analytical tools to assess our exposure to the risks inherent in the
asset and liability structure of our business and use these assessments in the day-to-day management of the mix of our
assets and liabilities. If market conditions do not permit us to fund and manage our investments within our risk
parameters, we will not be an active purchaser of mortgage assets.

For more information regarding our methods for managing interest rate risk and other market risks that impact our business, refer
to" Item 7—MD&A—Risk Management—interest Rate Risk Management and Other Market Risks.”

COMPETITION

Our competitors include the Federal Home L oan Mortgage Corporation, referred to as Freddie Mac, the Federal Home
Loan Banks, financial ingtitutions, securities dealers, insurance companies, pension funds and other investors. Our market share of
loans purchased for our investment portfolio or securitized into Fannie Mae MBS is affected by the amount of residential mortgage
loans offered for salein the secondary market by loan originators and other market participants, and the amount purchased or
securitized by our competitors. Our market share is also affected by the mix of available mortgage loan products and the credit risk
and prices associated with those loans.

We are an active investor in mortgage-related assets and we compete with a broad range of investors for the purchase and sale of
these assets. Our primary competitors for the purchase and sale of mortgage assets are participantsin the secondary mortgage
market that we believe also share our general investment objective of seeking to maximize the returns they receive through the
purchase and sale of mortgage assets. In addition, in recent years, several large mortgage lenders have increased their retained
holdings of the mortgage loans they
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originate. Competition for mortgage-related assets among investors in the secondary market was intense in 2004 and 2005. The
spreads between the yield on our debt securities and expected yields on mortgage assets, after consideration of the net risks
associated with the investments, were very narrow in 2004 and 2005, reflecting strong investor demand from banks, funds and
other investors. This high demand for mortgage assets increased the price of mortgage assets relative to the credit risks associated
with these assets.

We have been the largest agency issuer of mortgage-related securitiesin every year since 1990. Competition for the issuance of
mortgage-related securities is intense and participants compete on the basis of the value of their products and services relative to
the prices they charge. Value can be delivered through the liquidity and trading levels for an issuer’ s securities, the range of
products and services offered, and the reliability and consistency with which it conducts its business. In recent years, there has been
asignificant increase in the issuance of mortgage-related securities by non-agency issuers. Non-agency issuers, also referred to as
private-label issuers, are those issuers of mortgage-related securities other than agency issuers Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie
Meae. Private-label issuers have significantly increased their share of the mortgage-related securities market and accounted for more
than half of new single-family mortgage-related securities issuances in 2005. As the market share for private-label securities has
increased, our market share has decreased. During 2005, our estimated market share of new single-family mortgage-related
securities issuance was 23.5%, compared to 29.2% in 2004 and 45.0% in 2003. For the third quarter of 2006, our estimated market
share of new single-family mortgage-related securities i ssuance was 24.7%. Our estimates of market share are based on publicly
available data and exclude previoudly securitized mortgages. We expect private-label issuers to continue to provide significant
competition to our Single-Family business.

We also expect private-label issuers to provide increasingly significant competition to our HCD business. The commercial
mortgage-backed securities (* CMBS’ ) issued by private-label issuers are typically backed not only by loans secured by
multifamily residential property, but also by loans secured by amix of retail, office, hotel and other commercia properties. We are
restricted by our charter to issuing Fannie Mae MBS backed by residential |oans, which often have lower yields than other types of
commercial real estate |oans. Private-label issuers include multifamily residential loans in pools backing CMBS because those
properties, while generally generating lower cash flow than other types of commercial properties, generally have lower default
rates, which improves the overall performance of CMBS pools. To obtain multifamily residential property loans for CMBS pools,
private-label issuers are sometimes willing to purchase loans of alesser credit quality than the loans we purchase and to price their
purchases of these |oans more aggressively than we typically price our purchases. Because we usually guarantee our Fannie Mae



MBS, we generally maintain high credit standards to limit our exposure to defaults. Private-label issuers often structure their
CMBS transactions so that certain classes of the securities issued in each transaction bear most of the default risk on the loans
underlying the transaction. These securities are placed with investors that are prepared to assume that risk in exchange for higher
yields. We are responding to this increased competition from private-label issuers of CMBS, in part, by investing in investment
grade CMBS securities backed by multifamily loans.

OUR CHARTER AND REGULATION OF OUR ACTIVITIES

We are a stockholder-owned corporation organized and existing under the Federal National Mortgage Association Charter Act,
which we refer to as the Charter Act or our charter. We were established in 1938 pursuant to the National Housing Act and
originally operated as a U.S. government entity. Title I11 of the National Housing Act amended our charter in 1954, and we became
amixed-ownership corporation, with our preferred stock owned by the federal government and our common stock held by private
investors. In 1968, our charter was further amended and our predecessor entity was divided into the present Fannie Mae and Ginnie
Mae. Ginnie Mae remained a government entity, but all of the preferred stock of Fannie Mae that had been held by the
U.S. government was retired, and Fannie Mae became privately owned.
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The Charter Act, asit was further amended from 1970 through 1998, sets forth the activities that we are permitted to conduct,
authorizes us to issue debt and equity securities, and describes our general corporate powers. The Charter Act states that our
purpose isto:

» provide stability in the secondary market for residential mortgages;

» respond appropriately to the private capital market;

» provide ongoing assistance to the secondary market for residential mortgages (including activities relating to mortgages
on housing for low- and moderate-income families involving a reasonable economic return that may be less than the
return earned on other activities) by increasing the liquidity of mortgage investments and improving the distribution of
investment capital available for residential mortgage financing; and

» promote access to mortgage credit throughout the nation (including central cities, rural areas and underserved areas) by
increasing the liquidity of mortgage investments and improving the distribution of investment capital available for
residential mortgage financing.

In addition to our overall strategy being aligned with these purposes, al of our business activities must be permissible under the
Charter Act. Our charter specifically authorizesusto “ deal in” conventional mortgage loansand to “ purchase,” * sell,”
“ service,” and“ lend on the security of” these types of mortgages, subject to limitations on the maximum original principal
balance for single-family loans and requirements for credit enhancement for some loans. Under our Charter Act authority, we can
purchase mortgage loans secured by first or second liens, issue debt and issue mortgage-backed securities. In addition, we can
guarantee mortgage-backed securities. We can also act as a depository, custodian or fiscal agent for our “ own account or as
fiduciary, and for the account of others.” Furthermore, the Charter Act expressly enablesusto“ lease, purchase, or acquire any
property, real, personal, or mixed, or any interest therein, to hold, rent, maintain, modernize, renovate, improve, use, and operate
such property, and to sell, for cash or credit, lease, or otherwise dispose of the same” as we may deem necessary or appropriate
and also “ to do all things as are necessary or incidental to the proper management of [our] affairs and the proper conduct of [our]
business.”

Loan Standards

The single-family conventional mortgage |oans we purchase or securitize must meet the following standards required by the
Charter Act.

» Principal Balance Limitations. Our charter permits us to purchase and securitize single-family conventional mortgage
loans subject to maximum original principal balance limits. Conventional mortgage loans are loans that are not federally
insured or guaranteed. The principal balance limits are often referred to as“ conforming loan limits’ and are established
each year by OFHEO based on the national average price of a one-family residence. In 2004, 2005 and 2006, the
conforming loan limit for a one-family residence generally was $333,700, $359,650 and $417,000, respectively. In
November 2006, OFHEO announced that the conforming loan limit will remain at $417,000 for 2007. Higher original
principal balance limits apply to mortgage |oans secured by two- to four-family residences and also to loansin Alaska,
Hawaii, Guam and the Virgin Islands. No statutory limits apply to the maximum original principal balance of
multifamily mortgage loans (loans secured by properties that have five or more residential dwelling units) that we



purchase or securitize. In addition, the Charter Act imposes no maximum original principal balance limits on loans we
purchase or securitize that are insured by the FHA or guaranteed by the VA.

Quality Sandards. The Charter Act requires that, so far as practicable and in our judgment, the mortgage loans we
purchase or securitize must be of a quality, type and class that generally meet the purchase standards of private
institutional mortgage investors. To comply with this requirement and for the efficient operation of our business, we have
eigibility policies and make available guidelines for the mortgage loans we purchase or securitize as well as for the
sellers and servicers of these loans.

Loan-to-Value and Credit Enhancement Requirements. The Charter Act requires credit enhancement on any
conventional single-family mortgage |oan that we purchase or securitizeif it has a loan-to-value ratio
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over 80% at the time of purchase or securitization. Credit enhancement may take the form of insurance or a guaranty
issued by a qualified insurer, a repurchase arrangement with the seller of the loans or seller-retained loan participation
interests. In addition, our policies and guidelines have loan-to-value ratio requirements that depend upon a variety of
factors, such as the borrower credit history, the loan purpose, the repayment terms and the number of dwelling unitsin the
property securing the loan. Depending on these factors and the amount and type of credit enhancement we obtain, our
underwriting guidelines provide that the loan-to-value ratio for |oans that we purchase or securitize can be up to 100% for
conventional single-family loans; however, from time to time, we may make an exception to these guidelines and acquire
|oans with aloan-to-value ratio greater than 100%.

Other Charter Act Limitations and Requirements

In addition to specifying our purpose, authorizing our activities and establishing various limitations and requirements relating to
the loans we purchase and securitize, the Charter Act has the following provisions related to issuances of our securities, exemptions
for our securities from the registration requirements of the federal securities laws, the taxation of our income, the structure of our
Board of Directors and other limitations and requirements.

Issuances of Our Securities. The Charter Act authorizes us, upon approval of the Secretary of the Treasury, to issue debt
obligations and mortgage-related securities. At the discretion of the Secretary of the Treasury, the U.S. Department of the
Treasury may purchase obligations of Fannie Mae up to a maximum of $2.25 hillion outstanding at any one time. We
have not used this facility since our transition from government ownership in 1968. Neither the United States nor any of
its agencies guarantees our debt or is obligated to finance our operations or assist usin any other manner. On June 13,
2006, the U.S. Department of the Treasury announced that it would undertake a review of its process for approving our
issuances of debt. We cannot predict whether the outcome of this review will materially impact our current business
activities.

Exemptions for Our Securities. Securitiesweissue are” exempted securities’ under laws administered by the SEC. As
aresult, registration statements with respect to offerings of our securities are not filed with the SEC. In March 2003,
however, we voluntarily registered our common stock with the SEC pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (the“ Exchange Act” ). We are thereby required to file periodic and current reports with the SEC, including
annua reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K. Since undertaking to
restate our 2002 and 2003 consolidated financia statements and improve our accounting practices and internal control
over financial reporting, we have not been atimely filer of our periodic reports on Form 10-K or Form 10-Q. We are
continuing to improve our accounting and internal control over financia reporting and are striving to become atimely
filer as soon as practicable. We are also required to file proxy statements with the SEC. In addition, our directors and
certain officers are required to file reports with the SEC relating to their ownership of Fannie Mae equity securities.
Exemption from Certain Taxes and Qualifications. Pursuant to the Charter Act, we are exempt from taxation by states,
counties, municipalities or local taxing authorities, except for taxation by those authorities on our real property. We are
not exempt from the payment of federal corporate income taxes. In addition, we may conduct our business without
regard to any qualification or similar statute in any state of the United States, including the District of Columbia, the
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, and the territories and possessions of the United States. In accordance with OFHEO
regulation, we have elected to follow the applicable corporate governance practices and procedures of the Delaware
General Corporation Law, asit may be amended from time to time.

Sructure of Our Board of Directors. The Charter Act provides that our Board of Directors will consist of 18 persons,
five of whom are to be appointed by the President of the United States and the remainder of whom are to be elected
annually by our stockholders at our annual meeting of stockholders. All members of our Board of Directors either are
elected by our stockholders for one-year terms, or until their successors are elected and qualified, or are appointed by the
President for one-year terms. The five appointed director positions have been vacant since May 2004. Of the remaining



13 director positions, one director has announced that he will be resigning at the end of 2006. Our Board has determined
that
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al but two of our current directors, one of whom is our Chief Executive Officer, are independent directors under New
York Stock Exchange standards. Because we have not held an annual meeting of stockholders since 2004, some of our
directors have currently served for longer than one-year terms.

» Other Limitations and Requirements. Under the Charter Act, we may not originate mortgage loans or advance fundsto a
mortgage seller on an interim basis, using mortgage loans as collateral, pending the sale of the mortgagesin the
secondary market. In addition, we may only purchase or securitize mortgages originated in the United States, including
the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, and the territories and possessions of the United States.

Regulation and Oversight of Our Activities

Asafederally chartered corporation, we are subject to Congressional legislation and oversight and are regulated by HUD and
OFHEO. In addition, we are subject to regulation by the U.S. Department of the Treasury and by the SEC. The Government
Accountability Office is authorized to audit our programs, activities, receipts, expenditures and financia transactions.

HUD Regulation
Program Approval

HUD has general regulatory authority to promulgate rules and regulations to carry out the purposes of the Charter Act, excluding
authority over matters granted exclusively to OFHEQ. We are required under the Charter Act to obtain approval of the Secretary of
HUD for any new conventional mortgage program that is significantly different from those approved or engaged in prior to the
1992 amendment of the Charter Act through enactment of the Federal Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act
(the* 1992 Act” ). The Secretary must approve any new program unless the Charter Act does not authorize it or the Secretary finds
that it is not in the public interest.

On June 13, 2006, HUD announced that it would conduct areview of our investments and holdings, including certain equity and
debt investments classified in our consolidated financial statementsas*® other assets/other liabilities,” to determine whether our
investment activities are consistent with our charter authority. We are fully cooperating with this review, but cannot predict the
outcome of this review or whether it may require us to modify our investment approach or restrict our current business activities.

Housing Goals

The Secretary of HUD establishes annual housing goals pursuant to the 1992 Act for housing (1) for low- and moderate-income
families, (2) in HUD-defined underserved areas, including central cities and rural areas, and (3) for low-income familiesin
low-income areas and for very low-income families, which isreferred to as“ special affordable housing.” Each of these three
goalsis set as a percentage of the total number of dwelling units financed by eligible mortgage loan purchases. A dwelling unit may
be counted in more than one category of goals. Included in eligible mortgage oan purchases are |oans underlying our Fannie Mae
MBS issuances, second mortgage |oans and refinanced mortgage loans. Several activities are excluded from eligible mortgage loan
purchases, such as most purchases of non-conventional mortgage loans, equity investments (even if they facilitate low-income
housing), mortgage loans secured by second homes and commitments to purchase or securitize mortgage loans at alater date. In
addition to the three goals set as a percentage of dwelling units financed by eligible mortgage loan purchases, beginning in 2005,
HUD also established three home purchase mortgage subgoal s that measure our purchase or securitization of loans by the number
of loans (not dwelling units) providing purchase money for owner-occupied single-family housing in metropolitan areas. We aso
have a subgoal for multifamily special affordable housing that is expressed as a dollar amount.

Each year, we are required to submit an annual report on our performance in meeting our housing goals. We deliver the report to
the Secretary of HUD aswell as to the House Committee on Financial Services and the Senate Committee on Banking, Housing
and Urban Affairs. The following table shows each of the housing
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goals, which were constant during the 2002 through 2004 period, and our performance against those goalsin each of the yearsin
this period.



Housing Goals Performance: 2002-2004

Goal® Fannie M ae Actual Results?
(2002-2004) 2004 2003 2002
L ow- and moderate-income housing 50.0% 53.4% 52.3% 51.8%
Underserved areas 31.0 335 321 32.8
Specid affordable housing 20.0 236 21.2 214
Multifamily minimum in special affordable housing ($ in billions) $ 2.85 $ 732 $ 1223 $ 757

@ Goasare expressed as a percentage of the total number of dwelling units financed by eligible mortgage |oan purchases during the period,
except for the multifamily subgoal.

@ Actual results for 2004, 2003 and 2002 reflect the impact of provisions that allow us to estimate the affordability of units with missing
income and rent data. Actual results for 2003 and 2002 reflect the impact of incentive points for small multifamily and owner-occupied
rental housing, which were no longer available starting in 2004. The source of thisdataisHUD’ sanalysis of data we submitted to
HUD. Some results differ from the results we reported in our Annual Housing Activities Reports for 2002, 2003 and 2004.

As shown by the table above, we were able to meet all of our housing goalsin each of the years from 2002 through 2004.

On November 2, 2004, HUD published afinal regulation amending its housing goals rule effective January 1, 2005. The
regulation increased housing goal levels and also created the three new home purchase mortgage subgoals described above. The
increased housing goal levels and new subgoal levels over the four-year period beginning January 1, 2005 are shown below.

New Housing Goals and Home Pur chase Subgoals

2005 2006 2007 2008

Housing goals:

L ow- and moderate-income housing 52.0% 53.0% 55.0% 56.0%

Underserved areas 37.0 38.0 38.0 39.0

Special affordable housing 220 23.0 25.0 27.0
Home purchase subgoals:

Low- and moderate-income housing 45.0% 46.0% 47.0% 47.0%

Underserved areas 320 33.0 33.0 34.0

Special affordable housing 17.0 17.0 18.0 18.0

Multifamily minimum in special affordable housing ($ in billions) $ 549 $ 549 $ 549 $ 549
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The following table shows each of our housing goals and home purchase subgoals during 2005, and our performance against those
goals and subgoals in 2005.

Housing Goals and Subgoals Perfor mance: 2005

2005
Fannie Mae Actual
Goal® Results?

Housing goals:

L ow- and moderate-income housing 52.0% 55.1%

Underserved areas 37.0 414

Special affordable housing 22.0 26.3
Home purchase subgoals:

Low- and moderate-income housing 45.0% 44.6%

Underserved areas 320 32.6

Specia affordable housing 17.0 17.0

Multifamily minimum in special affordable housing ($ in billions) $ 549 $ 10.39

@ The home purchase subgoals measure our performance by the number of loans (not dwelling units) providing purchase money for
owner-occupied single-family housing in metropolitan areas.

@ The source of thisdatais HUD' s analysis of data we submitted to HUD. Some results differ from the results reported in our Annual
Housing Activities Report for 2005.

As shown in the table above, we met al of our three affordable housing goals: the low- and moderate-income housing goal, the



underserved areas goal and the special affordable housing goal. We also met three of the four subgoals: the special affordable home
purchase subgoal, the underserved areas home purchase subgoal, and the special affordable multifamily subgoal. We fell slightly
short of the low- and moderate-income home purchase subgoal.

The affordable housing goal s are subject to enforcement by the Secretary of HUD. HUD’ sregulations allow HUD to require us
to submit a housing plan if we fail to meet our housing goals and HUD determines that achievement was feasible, taking into
account market and economic conditions and our financial condition. The housing plan must describe the actions we will take to
meet the goals in the next calendar year. If HUD determines that we have failed to submit a housing plan or to make a good faith
effort to comply with the plan, HUD has the right to take certain administrative actions. The potential penaltiesfor failure to
comply with HUD’ s housing plan requirements are a cease-and-desist order and civil money penalties. Pursuant to the 1992 Act,
the low- and moderate-income housing subgoal and the underserved areas subgoal are not enforceable by HUD. As noted above,
we did not meet the low- and moderate-income home purchase subgoal in 2005. Because this subgoal is not enforceable, thereis no
penalty for failing to meet this subgoal.

These new housing goals and subgoals are designed to increase the amount of mortgage financing that we make available to target
populations and geographic areas defined by the goals. We have made, and continue to make, significant adjustments to our
mortgage loan sourcing and purchase strategies in an effort to meet these increased housing goals and the subgoals. These
strategies include entering into some purchase and securitization transactions with lower expected economic returns than our
typical transactions. We have also relaxed some of our underwriting criteriato obtain goals-qualifying mortgage loans and
increased our investmentsin higher-risk mortgage loan products that are more likely to serve the borrowers targeted by HUD’ s
goals and subgoals, which could increase our credit losses. The Charter Act explicitly authorizes usto undertake “ activities. . .
involving areasonable economic return that may be less than the return earned on other activities’ in order to meet these goals.

We believe that we are making progress toward achieving our 2006 housing goals and subgoals. Meeting the higher subgoals for
2006 is challenging, however, as increased home prices and higher interest rates have reduced housing affordability. Since HUD
set the home purchase subgoals in 2004, the affordable housing markets have experienced a dramatic change. Newly-released
Home Mortgage Disclosure Act data show that the share of the primary mortgage market serving low- and moderate-income
borrowers declined in 2005,
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reducing our ability to purchase and securitize mortgage loans that meet the HUD subgoals. The National Association of
REALTORS® (“ NAR” ) housing affordability index has dropped from 130.7 in 2003 to 99.6 in July of 2006—the lowest level of
affordability seen in the market since 1986. If our efforts to meet the new housing goals and subgoals prove to be insufficient, we
may need to take additional steps that could increase our credit losses and reduce our profitability. See“ Item 1A—Risk Factors’
for more information on how changes we are making to our business strategies in order to meet HUD’ s new housing goals and
subgoals may reduce our profitability.

OFHEO Regulation

OFHEO is an independent office within HUD that is responsible for ensuring that we are adequately capitalized and operating
safely in accordance with the 1992 Act. We are required to submit to OFHEO annual and quarterly reports on our financial
condition and results of operations. OFHEOQ is authorized to levy annual assessments on Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, to the extent
authorized by Congress, to cover OFHEO' s reasonable expenses. OFHEO' sformal enforcement powers include the power to
impose temporary and final cease-and-desist orders and civil monetary penalties on us and our directors and executive officers.
OFHEO also may use other informal supervisory procedures of the type that are generally used by federal bank regulatory
agencies.

OFHEO Special Examination

In 2003, OFHEO commenced a specia examination of our accounting policies and practices, interna controls, financial reporting,
corporate governance, and other matters. In its September 2004 interim report and May 2006 final report of the findings of its
special examination, OFHEO concluded that, during the period covered by the reports (1998 to mid-2004), alarge number of our
accounting policies and practices did not comply with GAAP and we had serious problemsin our internal controls, financial
reporting and corporate governance. We entered into agreements with OFHEO in September 2004 and March 2005 pursuant to
which we agreed to take specified corrective actions to address the concerns and issues that OFHEO raised in its examination.

On May 23, 2006, concurrently with OFHEQO' srelease of its final report, we agreed to OFHEQ' s issuance of a consent order
without admitting or denying any wrongdoing or any asserted or implied finding or other basis for the consent order. This consent
order superseded and terminated both our September 2004 and March 2005 agreements with OFHEO, and resolved all matters
addressed by OFHEO’ sinterim and final reports of its special examination. Under this consent order, we agreed to undertake
specified remedial actions to address the recommendations contained in OFHEO' s May 2006 report, including actions relating to



our corporate governance, Board of Directors, capital plans, internal controls, accounting practices, public disclosures, regul atory
reporting, personnel and compensation practices. We also agreed not to increase our net mortgage assets above the amount shown
in our minimum capital report to OFHEO for December 31, 2005 ($727.75 billion), except in limited circumstances at OFHEO' s
discretion. Given our need to remediate our identified control deficiencies, the business plan we submitted to OFHEQO in July 2006
did not request an increase in the current limitation on the size of our mortgage portfolio during 2006. We anti cipate submitting an
updated business plan to OFHEO in early 2007 that will take into account our remediation efforts completed at that time. The
business plan may include a request for modest growth in our mortgage portfolio.

As part of this consent order and our settlement with the SEC discussed below, we agreed to pay a $400 million civil penalty, with
$50 million payable to the U.S. Treasury and $350 million payable to the SEC for distribution to stockholders pursuant to the Fair
Funds for Investors provision of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. We have paid this civil penalty in full and it has been recorded as
an expense in our 2004 consolidated financial statements.

Capital Requirements

As part of itsresponsibilities under the 1992 Act, OFHEO has regulatory authority as to the capital requirements established by
the 1992 Act, issuing regulations on capital adequacy and enforcing capital standards. The 1992 Act capital requirements include
minimum and critical capital requirements calculated as specified percentages of our assets and our off-balance sheet obligations,
such as outstanding guaranties. In
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addition, the 1992 Act capital requirements include a risk-based capital requirement that is calcul ated as the amount of capital
needed to withstand a severe ten-year stress period in which it is assumed that there would simultaneously be extreme movements
in interest rates and severe credit losses. Moreover, to allow for management and operations risks, an additional 30% is added to
the amount necessary to withstand the ten-year stress period. On a quarterly basis, we are required by regulation to report to
OFHEO on the level of our capital and whether we are in compliance with the capital requirements established by OFHEO. We
also provide monthly reports to OFHEQO on the level of our capital and our compliance with the capital requirements.

Compliance with the capital requirements could limit our operations that require intensive use of capital and could restrict our
ability to make payments on our qualifying subordinated debt or pay dividends on our preferred and common stock. If we fail to
meet our capital requirements, OFHEQ is permitted or required, depending on the requirement we fail to meet, to take remedial
actions. Further, if wefail to meet our capital requirements, we are required to submit a capital restoration plan. We currently
operate under a capital restoration plan, described below, that OFHEO approved in February 2005. In addition, if OFHEO
determines that we are engaging in conduct not approved by OFHEQO' s Director that could result in arapid depletion of our core
capital, or that the value of the property securing mortgage loans we hold or have securitized has decreased significantly, or if
OFHEO does not approve the capital restoration plan or determines that we have failed to make reasonable efforts to comply with
the plan, then OFHEO may take remedial measures as if we were not meeting the capital requirements that we otherwise meet.

The 1992 Act gives OFHEO the authority, after following prescribed procedures, to appoint a conservator. Under OFHEO' s
regulations, appointment of a conservator is mandatory, with limited exceptions, if we are critically undercapitalized (that is, our
core capital islessthan our critical capital). Appointment of a conservator is discretionary under OFHEO' srulesif we are
significantly undercapitalized (that is, our core capital is less than our required minimum capital), and alternative remedies are
unavailable. The 1992 Act and OFHECO'’ srules also specify other grounds for appointing a conservator.

In December 2004, OFHEO determined that we were significantly undercapitalized as of September 30, 2004. We prepared a
capital restoration plan to comply with OFHEO'’ s directive that we achieve a 30% surplus over our statutory minimum capital
requirement by September 30, 2005. Our plan was accepted by OFHEQO in February 2005 and, in accordance with the plan, we
increased our capital in 2005 by:

* generating capital through retained earnings;

 significantly reducing the size of our mortgage portfolio, which reduced our overall minimum capital requirements;

* issuing $5.0 hillion in non-cumulative preferred stock in December 2004;

* reducing our quarterly common stock dividend from $0.52 per share to $0.26 per share; and

 canceling our plans to build major new corporate facilities in Southwest Washington, DC and undertaking other
cost-cutting efforts.

OFHEO announced on November 1, 2005 that we had achieved a 30% surplus over our minimum capital requirement as of
September 30, 2005. Under our May 2006 consent order with OFHEO, we agreed to continue to maintain a 30% capital surplus
over our statutory minimum capital requirement until the Director of OFHEO, in his discretion, determines the requirement should
be modified or allowed to expire, taking into account factors such as resolution of accounting and internal control issues. For



additional information on our capital requirements, see” Item 7—MD& A—Liquidity and Capital Management—Capital
Management—Capital Adequacy Requirements.”
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Dividend Restrictions

Our capital requirements under the Charter Act and as administered by OFHEO may restrict the ability of our Board of Directors
to declare dividends, authorize repurchases of our preferred or common stock, or approve any other capital distributionsin the
following circumstances:

» if acapita distribution would decrease our total capital below the risk-based capital requirement or our core capital
below the minimum capital requirement, we may not make the distribution;

< if we do not meet the risk-based capital requirement but do meet the minimum capital requirement, we may not make any
capital distribution that would cause us to fail to meet the minimum capital requirement; and

» if we meet neither the risk-based capital regquirement nor the minimum capital requirement, but do meet the critical
capital requirement established under the 1992 Act, we may make a capital distribution only if, immediately after making
the distribution, we would still meet the critical capital requirement and the Director of OFHEO approves the distribution
after determining that specified statutory conditions are satisfied.

In addition, under our May 2006 consent order with OFHEO, we agreed to the following additional restrictions relating to our
capital distributions:

» Aslong asthe capital restoration planisin effect, we must seek the approval of the Director of OFHEO before engaging
in any transaction that could have the effect of reducing our capital surplus below an amount equal to 30% more than our
statutory minimum capital requirement; and

*  Wemust submit awritten report to OFHEO detailing the rationale and process for any proposed capital distribution
before making the distribution.

Refer to “ Item 7—MD& A—L iquidity and Capital Management—Capital Management—Capital Adequacy Requirements’ for a
description of our statutory capital requirements and our core capital, total capital and other capital classification measures as of
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Recent Legislative Developments and Possible Changes in Our Regulations

The U.S. Congressis considering legislation that would change the regulatory framework under which we, Freddie Mac and the
Federal Home L oan Banks operate. The Senate Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs and the U.S. House of
Representatives each advanced GSE regulatory oversight legislation in 2005 during the first session of the 109th Congress. On
October 26, 2005, the House of Representatives passed a bill and on July 28, 2005, the Senate Committee on Banking, Housing and
Urban Affairs passed a bill, which has not yet been brought to the floor of the Senate for a vote. While the House and Senate bills
differ in anumber of respects, both bills would affect us and other GSEs by significantly altering the scope of:

» our authorized and permissible activities;

e the potentia level of our required capital;

* the size and composition of our mortgage investment portfolio (a potential limitation in the House bill and a specific
limitation in the Senate hill);

» thelevels of affordable housing goals; and

« the process by which any new activities and programs would be approved and the extent of regulatory oversight.

In addition, the House bill would require Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to contribute a portion of their profits to afund to support
affordable housing.

The specific provisions of legidation, if any, that may ultimately be passed by both the House and the Senate are uncertain. Also
uncertain is the timing for enactment of such legislation. We support any legislation that
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will improve our effectivenessin increasing liquidity and lowering the cost of borrowing in the mortgage market and, as aresult,
expanding access to housing and increasing opportunities for homeownership.

As Fannie Mae has testified before Congress, we continue to support legislation:

 to create a single independent, well-funded regulator with oversight for safety and soundness and mission;

 to provide the regulator with strong bank-like regulatory powers over capital, activities, supervision and prompt
corrective action;

 to provide the regulator with bank-like regulatory authority to reduce on-balance sheet activities, based on safety and
soundness; and

* to provide a structure for housing goals that includes an affordable housing fund that strengthens our housing and
liquidity mission.

It is possible, however, that the enactment of legislation could have a material adverse effect on our earnings and the prospects for

our business. Refer to “ I1tem 1A—Risk Factors’” for a description of how these proposed changes in the regulation of our business
could materially adversely affect our business and earnings.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2004, we employed approximately 5,400 personnel, including full-time and part-time employees, term
employees and employees on leave. During 2005 and 2006, we increased the number of our employees, both as part of significantly
improving our accounting practices, risk management, internal controls and corporate governance, and as appropriate to complete
the restatement of our previously issued consolidated financial statements. As of October 31, 2006, we employed approximately
6,400 personnel, including full-time and part-time employees, term employees and employees on leave.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Wefile reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. Our Web site address is www.fanniemae.com, and we make
available free of charge through our Web site our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K and al other SEC reports and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronicaly file
the material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Materials that we file with the SEC are also available from the SEC' s Web site,
www.sec.gov. In addition, these materials may be inspected, without charge, and copies may be obtained at prescribed rates, at the
SEC’ sPublic Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Room 1580, Washington, DC 20549. Y ou may obtain information on the
operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Y ou may also request copies of any filing from us,
at no cost, by telephone at (202) 752-7000 or by mail at 3900 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20016.

Effective March 31, 2003, we voluntarily registered our common stock with the SEC under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act.
Our common stock, as well as the debt, preferred stock and mortgage-backed securities we issue, are exempt from registration
under the Securities Act of 1933 and are exempted” securities under the 1934 Act. The voluntary registration of our common
stock does not affect the exempt status of the debt, equity and mortgage-backed securities that we issue.

With regard to OFHEO'’ sregulation of our activities, you may obtain materials from OFHEO' s Web site, www.ofheo.gov.
These materials include the September 2004 interim report of OFHEO' s findings of its special examination and the May 2006
final report on its findings.

We are providing our Web site address and the Web site addresses of the SEC and OFHEO solely for your information.
Information appearing on our Web site or on the SEC’ s Web site or OFHEO' s Web siteis not incorporated into this Annual
Report on Form 10-K except as specifically stated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements, which are statements about matters that are not historical or current facts. In
addition, our senior management may from time to time make forward-looking statements orally to analysts, investors, the news
media and others. Forward-looking statements often include words such as* expects,” “ anticipates, intends, plans,”

“ believes,” “ seeks,” “ estimates,” “ will,” “ would,” “ should,” “ could,” “ may,” or similar words. Among the
forward-looking statements in this report are statements relating to:

" w ”oow

» our intent to submit an updated business plan to OFHEO in early 2007 that may include a regquest for modest growth in



our mortgage portfolio;
» our expectations regarding industry and economic trends, including our expectations that:

e growthintotal U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding will continue at a slower pace in 2007, as the housing
market continues to cool and home price gains moderate further or decline modestly;

« the continuation of positive demographic trends, such as stable household formation rates, will help mitigate the
slowdown in the growth in residential mortgage debt outstanding, but are unlikely to completely offset the
slowdown in the short- to medium-term;

« thereisapossibility of amodest decline in national home pricesin 2007;

» our belief that demographic factors (such as stable household formation rates, a positive age structure of the
population for homebuying and rising homeownership rates due to the high level of immigration over the past
25 years) that suggest a fundamentally strong mortgage market will support continued long-term demand for new
capital to finance the substantial and sustained housing finance needs of American homebuyers;

« our credit losses will increase and serious delinquencies may trend upward, as aresult of the sharp decline in the
rate of home price appreciation during 2006 and the possibility of modest home price declines in 2007;

» our expectation that we will have finalized and substantially completed implementation of new policies and procedures
to strengthen risk management practices relating to AD& C business by December 2006;

e our expectation that, when we expect to earn returns greater than our cost of equity capital, we generally will be an active
purchaser of mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities, and that when few opportunities exist to earn returns above
our cost of equity capital, we generally will be aless active purchaser, and may be a net seller, of mortgage loans and
mortgage-related securities;

* our expectation that we will be an active purchaser of lessliquid forms of mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities
even in periods of high market demand for mortgage assets;

* our expectation that private-label issuers of mortgage-related securities will continue to provide significant competition
for our Single-Family and HCD businesses,

» our belief that major elements of the restatement, including our comprehensive review of our accounting policies and
practices, will contribute to a more expeditious completion of financial statements for the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2006;

» our belief that the estimated fair value of our derivatives may fluctuate substantially from period to period because of
changes in interest rates, expected interest rate volatility and our derivative activity;

e our expectation that, based on the composition of our derivatives, we generally expect to report decreasesin the
aggregate fair value of our derivatives as interest rates decrease;

» our expectation that, as aresult of the variety of waysin which we record financia instrumentsin our consolidated
financial statements, our earnings will vary, perhaps substantially, from period to period and result in volatility in our
stockholders' equity and regulatory capital;
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» our expectation that we will experience high levels of period to period volatility in our financial results as part of our
normal business activities, primarily due to changesin market conditions that result in periodic fluctuationsin the
estimated fair value of our derivatives,

* our expectation of areduction in our net interest income and net interest yield in 2005 and 2006, due to the decrease in
the volume of our interest-earning assets as well as in the spread between the average yield on these assets and our
borrowing costs since year-end 2004;

» our expectation that unrealized gains and losses on trading securities will fluctuate each period with changes in volumes,
interest rates and market prices;

* our expectation that tax credits and net operating losses resulting from our investmentsin LIHTC partnerships will grow
in the future, which islikely to reduce our effective tax rate, and that it is more likely than not that the results of future
operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the entire tax benefit;

» our belief that the guaranty fee income generated from future business activity will largely replace any guaranty fee
income lost as aresult of mortgage prepayments,

» our expectation that loans that permit a borrower to defer principal or interest payments, such as negative-amortizing and
interest-only loans, will default more often than traditional mortgage loans;

» our belief that our short-term and long-term funding needs and uses of cash in 2007 will remain generally consistent with



current needs and uses, and that our sources of liquidity will remain adequate to meet both our short-term and long-term
funding needs in 2007

e our expectation that, over the long term, our funding needs and sources of liquidity will remain relatively consistent with
current needs and sources;

* our intent to consider an increase in our issuance of debt in future years, if we decide to increase our purchase of
mortgage assets following the modification or expiration of the current limitation on the size of our mortgage portfolio;

* Our expectation that the aggregate estimated fair value of our derivatives will decline and result in derivative losses if
long-term interest rates decline;

e our expectation that the outcome of the current FASB assessment of what activities a QSPE may perform might affect
the entities we consolidate in future periods;

» our estimate that we will complete testing of most of our newly implemented internal controls and remediate most of our
remaining material weaknesses in connection with the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2006, which we will not file on atimely basis;

» our expectation that the continued downturn in the manufactured housing sector will result in the recognition of
additional impairment on our investments in manufactured housing securities;

» our expectation that there will not be any change in our ability to borrow funds through the issuance of debt securitiesin
the capital marketsin the foreseeable future;

» our expectation that our internal control environment will continue to be modified and enhanced in order to enable usto
file periodic reports with the SEC on a current basis in the future;

e our intention to continue to make significant adjustments to our mortgage loan sourcing and purchase strategiesin an
effort to meet HUD’ sincreased housing goals and subgoals;

* our expectation that the Compensation Committee and the Board will review the performance shares program and
determine the appropriate approach for settling our obligations with respect to the existing unpaid performance share
cycles;

 our intent that, in the event that we were required to make payments under Fannie Mae MBS guaranties, we would
pursue recovery of these payments by exercising our rights to the collateral backing the underlying loans or through
available credit enhancements (which includes al recourse with third parties and mortgage insurance);
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» our expectation that we will experience periodic fluctuationsin the estimated fair value of our net assets due to changes
in market conditions, including changes in interest rates, changes in relative spreads between our mortgage assets and
debt, and changesin implied volatility;

e our expectation that changesin implied volatility, mortgage OAS and debt OAS are the market conditions that will have
the most significant impact on the fair value of our net assets;

* our expectation that, based on market conditions and the composition of our consolidated balance sheets in 2005 and
2006, we will not experience the same level of increase in the estimated fair value of our net assets in 2005 and 2006 that
we experienced in 2004;

» our expectation that we will continue to incur significant administrative expenses in connection with complying with our
remediation obligations, which will reduce our earnings for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006;

 our estimate that, for 2006, our restatement and related regulatory costs will total approximately $850 million and costs
attributable to or associated with the preparation of our consolidated financia statements and periodic SEC financial
reports for periods subsequent to 2004 will total over $200 million;

* our expectation that the costs associated with preparation of our post-2004 financial statements and periodic SEC reports
will continue to have a substantial impact on administrative expenses until we are current in filing our periodic financial
reports with the SEC;

e our belief that our administrative expenses for 2007 will be comparable to those for 2006;

» our expectation that the reduction in the size of our mortgage portfolio beginning in 2005 will contribute to significantly
reduced net interest income for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, compared to the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003;

» our expectation that we will report significantly lower losses from our risk management derivatives in 2005 and 2006,
relative to the losses reported in 2004;

» our belief that we will continue to work on improving our internal controls and procedures relating to the management of
operational risk; and

 descriptions of assumptions underlying or relating to any of the foregoing.



Forward-looking statements reflect our management’ s expectations or predictions of future conditions, events or results based on
various assumptions and management’ s estimates of trends and economic factorsin the markets in which we are active, aswell as
our business plans. They are not guarantees of future performance. By their nature, forward-looking statements are subject to risks
and uncertainties. Our actual results and financial condition may differ, possibly materially, from the anticipated results and
financial condition indicated in these forward-looking statements. There are a number of factors that could cause actual conditions,
events or resultsto differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements contained in this report. A discussion
of factors that could cause actual conditions, events or results to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking
statements appearsin “ Item 1A—Risk Factors.”

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements in this report or that we make from time to time,
and to consider carefully the factors discussed in “ Item 1A—Risk Factors’ in evaluating these forward-looking statements. These
forward-looking statements are representative only as of the date they are made, and we undertake no obligation to update any
forward-looking statement as aresult of new information, future events or otherwise.

GLOSSARY OF TERMSUSED IN THISREPORT
Terms used in this report have the following meanings, unless the context indicates otherwise.
“ Agency issuers’ refersto the government-sponsored enterprises Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, aswell as Ginnie Mae.

“ Alt-A mortgage” refersto a mortgage |oan underwritten using more liberal standards such as higher loan-to-value ratios and less
documentation of borrower income or assets.
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“ ARM” or“ adjustable-rate mortgage”’ refersto a mortgage loan with an interest rate that adjusts periodically over the life of
the mortgage based on changes in a specified index.

“ Book of business’ refersto the sum of: (1) the unpaid principal balance of the mortgage |oans and mortgage-related securities
we hold in our mortgage portfolio and (2) the unpaid principal balance of Fannie Mae MBS held by third parties.

“ Business volume” refersto both the unpaid principal balance of the mortgage loans and mortgage-rel ated securities we purchase
for our mortgage portfolio in agiven period and the unpaid principal balance of the mortgage |oans we securitize into Fannie Mae
MBS that are acquired by third partiesin such period.

“ Charter Act” or“ our charter” refersto the Federal National Mortgage Association Charter Act, 12 U.S.C. 81716 et seq.

“ Conforming mortgage” refersto a conventional single-family mortgage loan with an original principal balance that is equal to
or less than the applicable conforming loan limit, which is the applicable maximum original principal balance for a mortgage loan
that we are permitted by our charter to purchase or securitize. The conforming loan limit is established each year by OFHEO based
on the national average price of a one-family residence. The current conforming loan limit for a one-family residence in most
geographic areas is $417,000.

“ Conventional mortgage” refersto a mortgage loan that is not guaranteed or insured by the U.S. government or its agencies,
such asthe VA, FHA or RHS.

“ Conventional single-family mortgage credit book of business’ refersto the sum of the unpaid principal balance of: (1) the
conventional single-family mortgage loans we hold in our investment portfolio; (2) the Fannie Mae MBS and non-Fannie Mag
mortgage-related securities backed by conventional single-family mortgage loans we hold in our investment portfolio; (3) Fannie
Mae MBS backed by conventional single-family mortgage loans that are held by third parties; and (4) credit enhancements that we
provide on conventional single-family mortgage assets.

“ Corecapital” refersto aregulatory measure of our capital that represents the sum of the stated value of our outstanding
common stock (common stock less treasury stock), the stated value of our outstanding non-cumulative perpetual preferred stock,
our paid-in capital and our retained earnings, as determined in accordance with GAAP.

“ Credit enhancement” refersto a method to reduce credit risk by requiring collateral, letters of credit, mortgage insurance,
corporate guaranties, or other agreements to provide an entity with some assurance that it will be recompensed to some degreein
the event of afinancia loss.

“ Critical capital requirement” refersto the amount of core capital below which we would be classified by OFHEO as critically
undercapitalized and generally would be required to be placed in conservatorship. Our critical capital requirement is generally
equal to the sum of: (1) 1.25% of on-balance sheet assets; (2) 0.25% of the unpaid principal balance of outstanding Fannie Mae
MBS held by third parties; and (3) up to 0.25% of other off-balance sheet obligations.



“ Delinquency” refersto an instance in which aprincipal or interest payment on a mortgage loan has not been made in full by the
due date.

“ Derivative’ refersto afinancial instrument that derivesits value based on changes in an underlying, such as security or
commodity prices, interest rates, currency rates or other financial indices. Examples of derivatives include futures, options and
swaps.

“ Duration” refersto the sensitivity of the value of a security to changesin interest rates. It can be calculated for non-callable
securities as the weighted-average maturity of a security’ s future cash flows, both principal and interest, where the present values
of the cash flows serve as the weights.

“ Fannie Mae mortgage-backed securities’ or “ Fannie Mae MBS’ generally refer to those mortgage-related securities that we
issue and with respect to which we guarantee to the related trusts that we will supplement mortgage loan collections as required to
permit timely payment of principal and interest due on the related
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Fannie Mae MBS. We also issue some forms of mortgage-rel ated securities for which we do not provide this guaranty. The term
“ FannieMae MBS’ refersto all forms of mortgage-related securities that we issue, including single-class Fannie Mae MBS and
multi-class Fannie Mae MBS.

“ Fixed-rate mortgage” refersto amortgage loan with an interest rate that does not change during the entire term of the loan.
“ GAAP" refersto generally accepted accounting principlesin the United States.

“ GSES' refersto government-sponsored enterprises such as Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and the Federal Home L oan Banks.

“ HUD” refersto the Department of Housing and Urban Devel opment.

“ Implied volatility” referstothe market’ sexpectation of potential changesin interest rates.

“ Interest-only loan” refersto a mortgage loan that allows the borrower to pay only the monthly interest due, and none of the
principal, for afixed term. After the end of that term, typically five to ten years, the borrower can choose to refinance, pay the
principal balance in alump sum, or begin paying the monthly scheduled principal due on the loan, which resultsin a higher
monthly payment at that time. Interest-only loans can be adjustable-rate or fixed-rate mortgage loans.

“ Interest rate swap” refersto atransaction between two parties in which each agrees to exchange paymentstied to different
interest rates or indices for a specified period of time, generally based on a notional principal amount. An interest rate swap isa
type of derivative.

“ Intermediate-term mortgage” refersto a mortgage |oan with a contractual maturity at the time of purchase equal to or less than
15 years.

“ LIHTC partnerships’ refer to low-income housing tax credit limited partnerships or limited liability companies. For a
description of these partnerships, refer to “ Business Segments—Housing and Community Devel opment—Community Investment
Group” above.

“ Liquid assets” refersto our holdings of non-mortgage investments, cash and cash equivalents, and funding agreements with our
lenders, including advances to lenders and repurchase agreements.

“ Loans,” “ mortgageloans’ and“ mortgages’ refer to both whole loans and loan participations, secured by residential real
estate, cooperative shares or by manufactured housing units.

“ Loan-to-valueratio” or“ LTV ratio” refersto theratio, at any point in time, of the unpaid principal anount of a borrower’ s
mortgage |oan to the value of the property that serves as collateral for the loan (expressed as a percentage).

“ Minimum capital requirement” refersto the amount of core capital below which we would be classified by OFHEO as
undercapitalized. Our minimum capital requirement is generally equal to the sum of: (1) 2.50% of on-balance sheet assets,
(2) 0.45% of the unpaid principal balance of outstanding Fannie Mae MBS held by third parties; and (3) up to 0.45% of other
off-balance sheet obligations.

“ Mortgage assets,” when referring to our assets, refers to both mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities we hold in our
portfalio.

“ Mortgage credit book of business’ refers to the sum of the unpaid principal balance of: (1) the mortgage loans we hold in our
investment portfolio; (2) the Fannie Mae MBS and non-Fannie Mae mortgage-related securities we hold in our investment



portfolio; (3) Fannie Mae MBS that are held by third parties; and (4) credit enhancements that we provide on mortgage assets.

“ Mortgage-related securities” or “ mortgage-backed securities’ refer generally to securities that represent beneficial interestsin
pools of mortgage loans or other mortgage-related securities. These securities may be issued by Fannie Mage or by others.
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“ Multifamily” mortgage loan refers to a mortgage loan secured by a property containing five or more residential dwelling units.

“ Multifamily mortgage credit book of business’ refers to the sum of the unpaid principal balance of: (1) the multifamily
mortgage |oans we hold in our investment portfolio; (2) the Fannie Mae MBS and non-Fannie Mae mortgage-rel ated securities
backed by multifamily mortgage |oans we hold in our investment portfolio; (3) Fannie Mae MBS backed by multifamily mortgage
loans that are held by third parties; and (4) credit enhancements that we provide on multifamily mortgage assets.

“ Negative-amortizing loan” refers to a mortgage loan that allows the borrower to make monthly payments that are less than the
interest actually accrued for the period. The unpaid interest is added to the principal balance of the loan, which increases the
outstanding loan balance. Negative-amortizing loans are typically adjustable-rate mortgage loans.

“ Notional principal amount” refersto the hypothetical dollar amount in an interest rate swap transaction on which exchanged
payments are based. The notional principal amount in an interest rate swap transaction generally is not paid or received by either
party to the transaction and is typically significantly greater than the potential market or credit loss that could result from such
transaction.

“ OFHEQO" refersto the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight, our safety and soundness regulator.

“ Option-adjusted spread” or “ OAS’ refersto the incremental expected return between a security, loan or derivative contract
and a benchmark yield curve (typically, U.S. Treasury securities, LIBOR and swaps, or agency debt securities). The OAS provides
explicit consideration of the variability in the security’ s cash flows across multiple interest rate scenarios resulting from any
options embedded in the security, such as prepayment options. For example, the OAS of a mortgage that can be prepaid by the
homeowner is typically lower than anominal yield spread to the same benchmark because the OAS reflects the exercise of the
prepayment option by the homeowner, which lowers the expected return of the mortgage investor. In other words, OAS for
mortgage loans is a risk-adjusted spread after consideration of the prepayment risk in mortgage |oans. The market convention for
mortgagesis typically to quote their OAS to swaps. The OASs of our funding and hedging instruments are also frequently quoted
to swaps. The OAS of our net assets is therefore the combination of these two spreads to swaps and is the option-adjusted spread
between our assets and our funding and hedging instruments.

“ Qutstanding Fannie Mae MBS’ refersto the total unpaid principal balance of Fannie Mae MBS that is held by third-party
investors and held in our mortgage portfolio, without reflecting the impact of the consolidation of variable interest entities.

“ Private-label issuers’ or“ non-agency issuers’ refersto issuers of mortgage-related securities other than agency issuers
Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae.

“ Private-label securities’ or “ non-agency securities’ refersto mortgage-related securities issued by entities other than agency
issuers Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae.

“ Qualifying subordinated debt” refersto our subordinated debt that contains an interest deferral feature that requires us to defer
the payment of interest for up to five yearsif either: (1) our core capital isbelow 125% of our critical capital requirement; or
(2) our core capital is below our minimum capital requirement and the U.S. Secretary of the Treasury, acting on our reguest,
exercises his or her discretionary authority pursuant to Section 304(c) of the Charter Act to purchase our debt obligations.

“ REO" refersto real-estate owned by Fannie Mag, generally because we have foreclosed on the property or obtained the
property through adeed in lieu of foreclosure.

“ Reverse mortgage” refersto afinancial tool that provides seniors with funds from the equity in their homes. Generally, no
borrower payments are made on areverse mortgage until the borrower moves or the property is sold. The final repayment
obligation is designed not to exceed the proceeds from the sal e of the home.

“ Risk-based capital requirement” refers to the amount of capital necessary to absorb losses throughout a hypothetical ten-year
period marked by severely adverse circumstances. Refer to “ Item 7—MD& A—Liquidity
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and Capital Management—Capital Management—Capital Adequacy Requirements—Statutory Risk-Based Capital Requirements’
for adetailed definition of our statutory risk-based capital requirement.

“ Secondary mortgage market” refersto the financial market in which residential mortgages and mortgage-related securities are
bought and sold.

“ Sngle-family” mortgage loan refers to a mortgage loan secured by a property containing four or fewer residential dwelling
units.

“ Sngle-family mortgage credit book of business’ refers to the sum of the unpaid principal balance of: (1) the single-family
mortgage loans we hold in our investment portfolio; (2) the Fannie Mae MBS and non-Fannie Mae mortgage-rel ated securities
backed by single-family mortgage loans we hold in our investment portfolio; (3) Fannie Mae MBS backed by single-family
mortgage loans that are held by third parties; and (4) credit enhancements that we provide on single-family mortgage assets.

“ Sub-prime mortgage” refers to a mortgage loan underwritten using lower credit standards than those used in the prime lending
market.

“ Swaptions’ refersto options on interest rate swaps in the form of contracts granting an option to one party and creating a
corresponding commitment from the counterparty to enter into specified interest rate swapsin the future. Swaptions are usually
traded in the over-the-counter market and not through an exchange.

“ Total capital” refersto aregulatory measure of our capital that represents the sum of core capital plus the total allowance for
loan losses and reserve for guaranty losses in connection with Fannie Mae MBS, |ess the specific loss allowance (that is, the
allowance required on individually-impaired |oans).

“ Yield curve” or“ shape of theyield curve” refersto agraph showing the relationship between the yields on bonds of the same
credit quality with different maturities. For example, a“ normal” or positive sloping yield curve exists when long-term bonds have
higher yields than short-term bonds. A “ flat” yield curve exists when yields are relatively the same for short-term and long-term
bonds. A “ steep” yield curve exists when yields on long-term bonds are significantly higher than on short-term bonds. An
“ inverted” yield curve, which israre, exists when yields on long-term bonds are lower than yields on short-term bonds.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

This section identifies specific risks that should be considered carefully in evaluating our business. The risks described in
“ Company Risks’ are specific to usand our business, while those described in “ Risks Relating to Our Industry” relate to the
industry in which we operate. Any of these risks could adversely affect our business, results of operations or financia condition.
Although we believe that these risks represent the material risks relevant to us, our business and our industry, new material risks
may emerge that we are currently unable to predict. As aresult, this description of the risks that affect our business and our
industry is not exhaustive. The risks discussed below could cause our actual results to differ materially from our historical results or
the results contemplated by the forward-looking statements contained in this report.

COMPANY RISKS

Material weaknesses and other control deficiencies relating to our internal controls could result in errors in our reported results
and could have a material adverse effect on our operations, investor confidence in our business and the trading prices of our
securities.

Management’ s assessment of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 identified numerous material
weaknesses in our control environment, our application of GAAP, our financial reporting process, and our information technology
applications and infrastructure as of December 31, 2004. Further, we identified additional material weaknesses in the independent
model review process, treasury and trading operations, pricing and independent price verification processes, and wire transfer
controls. In addition, following their separate investigations of our business and accounting practices, OFHEQ and the law firm of
Paul Weiss each issued reports identifying significant problems and deficienciesin our prior processes for corporate governance
and internal controls. Until they are remediated, these material weaknesses and other
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control deficiencies could lead to errorsin our reported financial results and could have a material adverse effect on our
operations, investor confidence in our business and the trading prices of our securities.

Asdescribedin“ Item 9A—Controls and Procedures—Remediation Activities and Changesin Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting,” we are currently in the process of remediating our identified material weaknesses; however, management will not
make afinal determination that we have completed our remediation of these material weaknesses until we have completed testing



of our newly implemented internal controls. In addition, we have not filed our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for 2005 or 2006,
or our Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2005, and we are not able at thistime to file our periodic SEC reports on Form 10-Q and
Form 10-K on atimely basis. We believe that we will not have remediated the material weakness relating to our disclosure controls
and procedures until we are able to file required reports with the SEC and the New Y ork Stock Exchange on atimely basis.

In the future, we may identify further material weaknesses or significant deficienciesin our interna control over financial
reporting that we have not discovered to date. In addition, we cannot be certain that we will be able to maintain adequate controls
over our financial processes and reporting in the future.

Competition in the mortgage and financial services industries, and the need to develop, enhance and implement strategies to
adapt to changing trends in the mortgage industry and capital markets, may adversely affect our business and earnings.

Increasing Competition. We compete to acquire mortgage loans for our mortgage portfolio or for securitization based on a
number of factors, including our speed and reliability in closing transactions, our products and services, the liquidity of Fannie Mae
MBS, our reputation and our pricing. We face increasing competition in the secondary mortgage market from other GSEs and from
large commercia banks, savings and loan institutions, securities dealers, investment funds, insurance companies and other financial
institutions. In addition, increasing consolidation within the financial servicesindustry has created larger private financial
institutions, which has increased pricing pressure. The recent decreased rate of growth in U.S. residential mortgage debt
outstanding in 2006 also has increased competition in the secondary mortgage market by decreasing the number of new mortgage
loans available for purchase. Thisincreased competition may adversely affect our business and earnings.

Potential Decrease in Earnings Resulting from Changesin Industry Trends. The manner in which we compete and the products
for which we compete are affected by changing trends in our industry. If we do not effectively respond to these trends, or if our
strategies to respond to these trends are not as successful as our prior business strategies, our business, earnings and total returns
could be adversely affected. For example, in recent years, an increasing proportion of single-family mortgage loan originations has
consisted of non-traditional mortgages such as interest-only mortgages, negative-amortizing mortgages and sub-prime mortgages,
and demand for traditional 30-year fixed-rate mortgages has decreased. We did not participate in large amounts of these
non-traditional mortgages in 2004 and 2005 because we determined that the pricing offered for these mortgages often was
insufficient compensation for the additional credit risk associated with these mortgages. These trends and our decision not to
participate in large amounts of these non-traditional mortgages contributed to a significant loss in our share of new single-family
mortgage-related securities issuances to private-label issuers during this period, with our market share decreasing from 45.0% in
2003 to 29.2% in 2004 and 23.5% in 2005.

We have modified and enhanced a number of our strategies as part of our ongoing efforts to adapt to recent changesin the
industry. For example, our Capital Markets group focused on buying and holding mortgage assets to maturity prior to 2005.
Beginning in 2005, however, in response to both our capital plan requirements and market conditions at that time, our Capital
Markets group engaged in more active management of our portfolio through both purchases and sales of mortgage assets, with the
dual goals of supporting our chartered purpose of providing liquidity to the secondary mortgage market and maximizing total
returns. In addition, we have been working with our lender customers to support a broad range of mortgage products, including
sub-prime products, while closely monitoring credit risk and pricing dynamics across the full spectrum of mortgage product types.
We may not be able to execute successfully any new or enhanced strategies that we adopt. In

40

Table of Contents

addition, these strategies may not increase our share of the secondary mortgage market, our revenues or our total returns.

The restatement of our consolidated financial statements and related events, including the lack of current financial and
operating information about the company, have had, and likely will continue to have, a material adverse effect on our business
and reputation.

We have become subject to several significant risks since our announcement in December 2004 that we would restate our
previously filed consolidated financial statements. This Annual Report on Form 10-K, which contains information for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, includes restated consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002, and is our first periodic report covering periods after June 30, 2004. Our need to restate our historical financial
statements and the delay in producing both restated and more current consolidated financia statements has resulted in several risks
to our business, as discussed in the following paragraphs.

Risks Relating to Lack of Current Information about our Business. Materia information about our current operating results and
financial condition is unavailable because of the delay in filing our 2005 and 2006 annual and quarterly reports with the SEC. Asa
result, investors do not have accessto full information about the current state of our business. When this information becomes
available to investors, it may result in an adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock.

Risks Relating to Suspension and Delisting of Our Securities fromthe NYSE. The delay in filing our Annual Report on Form 10-K



for the year ended December 31, 2005 with the SEC could cause the New Y ork Stock Exchange, or NY SE, to commence
suspension and delisting proceedings of our common stock. In addition, we expect that we will not be able to file our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 by its due date of March 1, 2007, which would be a separate violation
of the NYSE' slisting rules. If the NY SE were to delist our common stock it could result in asignificant decline in the trading
price, trading volume and liquidity of our common stock and could have a similar effect on our preferred stock listed on the NY SE.
We also expect that the suspension and delisting of our common stock could lead to decreasesin analyst coverage and
market-making activity relating to our common stock, as well as reduced information about trading prices and volume.

Risks Associated with Pending Civil Litigation. We are subject to pending civil litigation that, if decided against us, could require
usto pay substantial judgments or settlement amounts or provide for other relief, asdiscussed in “ Item 3—Lega Proceedings.”

Reputational Risks and Other Risks Relating to Negative Publicity. We have been subject to continuing negative publicity as a
result of our accounting restatement and related problems, which we believe have contributed to significant declinesin the price of
our common stock. Continuing negative publicity could increase our cost of funds and adversely affect our customer relationships
and the trading price of our stock. Negative publicity associated with our accounting restatement and related problems also has
resulted in increased regulatory and legislative scrutiny of our business.

Decrease in Common Stock Dividends and Limitation on Our Ability to Increase Our Dividend Payments. In January 2005, in an
effort to accelerate our achievement of a 30% capital surplus over our minimum capital requirement as required by OFHEO, we
reduced our previous quarterly common stock dividend rate by 50%, from $0.52 per share to $0.26 per share. Under our May 2006
consent order with OFHEO, we are required to continue to operate under the capital restoration plan approved by OFHEO in
February 2005. Our consent order with OFHEO also requires us to provide OFHEQ with prior notice of any planned dividend and
adescription of the rationale for its payment. In addition, our Board of Directorsis not permitted to increase the dividend at any
timeif payment of the increased dividend would reduce our capital surplusto less than 30% above our minimum capital
requirement. On December 6, 2006, the Board of Directors increased the quarterly common stock dividend to $0.40 per share.
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Changes in interest rates could materially impact our financial condition and our earnings.

We fund our operations primarily through the issuance of debt and invest our funds primarily in mortgage-related assets that
permit the mortgage borrowers to prepay the mortgages at any time. These business activities expose us to market risk, which isthe
risk of loss from adverse changesin market conditions. Our most significant market risks are interest rate risk and option-adjusted
spread risk. Interest rate risk isthe risk of changesin our long-term earnings or in the value of our net assets due to changesin
interest rates. Changesin interest rates affect both the value of our mortgage assets and prepayment rates on our mortgage loans.
Changesin interest rates could have a materia adverse impact on our business results and financia condition, particularly if actual
conditions differ significantly from our expectations.

Our ability to manage interest rate risk depends on our ability to issue debt instruments with arange of maturities and other
features at attractive rates and to engage in derivative transactions. We must exercise judgment in selecting the amount, type and
mix of debt and derivative instruments that will most effectively manage our interest rate risk. The amount, type and mix of
financial instruments we select may not offset possible future changes in the spread between our borrowing costs and the interest
we earn on our mortgage assets. A discussion of how we manage interest rate risk isincluded in “ Item 7—M D& A—Risk
Management—interest Rate Risk Management and Other Market Risks.”

Option-adjusted spread risk is the risk that the option-adjusted spreads on mortgage assets relative to those on our funding and
hedging instruments (referred to as the OAS of our net assets) may increase or decrease. These increases or decreases may be a
result of market supply and demand dynamics, including credit pricing basis risk between our assets and swaps and between swaps
and our funding and hedging instruments. A widening of the OAS of our net assets typically causes a decline in the fair value of the
company. A narrowing of the OAS of our net assets will reduce our opportunities to acquire mortgage assets and therefore could
have amaterial adverse effect on our future earnings and financial condition. We do not attempt to actively manage or hedge the
impact of changes in mortgage-to-debt OAS after we purchase mortgage assets, other than through asset monitoring and
disposition.

We make significant use of business and financial models to manage risk, although we recognize that models are inherently
imperfect predictors of actual results because they are based on assumptions about factors such as future loan demand, prepayment
speeds and other factors that may overstate or understate future experience. Our business could be adversely affected if our models
fail to produce reliable results.

We have several key lender customers and the loss of business volume from any one of these customers could adversely affect
our business, market share and results of operations.

Our ability to generate revenue from the purchase and securitization of mortgage loans depends on our ability to acquire a steady



flow of mortgage loans from the originators of those loans. We acquire a significant portion of our single-family mortgage loans
from several large mortgage lenders. During 2004, our top five lender customers accounted for atotal of approximately 53% of our
single-family business volumes (which refers to both single-family mortgage loans that we purchase for our mortgage portfolio and
single-family mortgage loans that we securitize into Fannie Mae MBS), with our top customer accounting for approximately 26%
of that amount. Accordingly, maintaining our current business rel ationships and business volumes with our top lender customersis
critical to our business. If any of our key lender customers significantly reduces the volume of mortgage loans that the lender
deliversto us, we could lose significant business volume that we might be unable to replace. The loss of business from any one of
our key lender customers could adversely affect our business, market share and results of operations. In addition, a significant
reduction in the volume of mortgage loans that we securitize could reduce the liquidity of Fannie Mae MBS, which in turn could
have an adverse effect on their market value.

We are subject to credit risk relating to the mortgage loans that we purchase or that back our Fannie Mae MBS, and any
resulting delinquencies and credit losses could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Borrowers of mortgage |oans that we purchase or that back our Fannie Mae MBS may fail to make the required payments of
principal and interest on those loans, exposing us to the risk of credit losses. In addition,
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due to the current competitive dynamics of the mortgage market, we have recently increased our purchase and securitization of
mortgage |oans that pose a higher credit risk, such as negative-amortizing loans and interest-only loans. We also have increased the
proportion of reduced documentation loans that we purchase or that back our Fannie Mae MBS.

For exampl e, negative-amortizing adjustable-rate mortgages (* ARMS’ ) represented approximately 2% and 3%, respectively, of
our conventional single-family business volumes (which refers to both conventional single-family mortgage loans we purchase for
our mortgage portfolio and conventional single-family mortgage loans we securitize into Fannie Mae MBS) in 2004 and 2005, and
approximately 4% for the first nine months of 2006. I nterest-only mortgage |oans represented approximately 5% and 10%,
respectively, of our conventional single-family business volumesin 2004 and 2005, and approximately 15% for the first nine
months of 2006. We estimate that negative-amortizing ARMs and interest-only loans represented approximately 2% and 6%,
respectively, of our conventional single-family mortgage credit book of business as of September 30, 2006.

Theincrease in our exposure to credit risk resulting from the increase in these loans with higher credit risk may cause usto
experience increased delinquencies and credit losses in the future, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results
of operations. A discussion of how we manage mortgage credit risk and a description of the risk characteristics of our mortgage
credit book of businessisincludedin“ Item 7—MD& A—Risk Management—Credit Risk Management—M ortgage Credit Risk
Management.”

We depend on our institutional counterparties to provide services that are critical to our business, and our financial condition
and results of operations may be adversely affected by defaults by our institutional counterparties.

We face therisk that our ingtitutional counterparties may fail to fulfill their contractual obligations to us. Our primary exposure to
institutional counterparties risk iswith our mortgage insurers, mortgage servicers, lender customers, issuers of investments held in
our liquid investment portfolio, dealers that commit to sell mortgage pools or loans to us, and derivatives counterparties. The
products or services that these counterparties provide are critical to our business operations and a default by a counterparty with
significant obligations to us could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. A discussion of how we
manage institutional counterparty credit risk isincluded in “ Item 7—MD& A—Risk Management—Credit Risk
Management—institutional Counterparty Credit Risk Management.”

Mortgage Insurers. A mortgage insurer could fail to fulfill its obligation to reimburse us for claims under our mortgage insurance
policies, which would reguire us to bear the full loss of the borrower default on the mortgage loans. As of December 31, 2004, we
were the beneficiary of primary mortgage insurance coverage on $285.4 billion of single-family loans held in our portfolio or
underlying Fannie Mae MBS, which represented approximately 13% of our single-family mortgage credit book of business.

Lender Risk-Sharing Agreements. We enter into risk-sharing agreements with some of our lender customers that require them to
reimburse us for losses under the loans that are the subject of those agreements. A lender’ sdefault in its obligation to reimburse us
could decrease our net income.

Mortgage Servicers. One or more of our mortgage servicers could fail to fulfill its mortgage loan servicing obligations, which
include collecting payments from borrowers under the mortgage loans that we own or that are part of the collateral pools
supporting our Fannie Mae MBS, paying taxes and insurance on the properties secured by the mortgage loans, monitoring and
reporting loan delinquencies, and repurchasing any loans that are subsequently found to have not met our underwriting criteria. In
that event, we could incur credit losses associated with loan delinquencies or penalties for late payment of taxes and insurance on
the properties that secure the mortgage loans serviced by that mortgage servicer. In addition, we likely would be forced to incur the



costs necessary to replace the defaulting mortgage servicer. These events would result in a decrease in our net income. As of
December 31, 2004, our ten largest single-family mortgage servicers serviced 71% of our single-family mortgage credit book of
business, and the largest single-family mortgage servicer serviced 21% of the single-family mortgage credit book of business.
Accordingly, the effect of a default by one of these servicers could result in a more significant decrease in our net income than if
our loans were serviced by a more diverse group of servicers.
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Agreements with Dealers. We enter into agreements with dealers under which they commit to deliver pools of mortgages to us at
an agreed-upon date and price. We commit to sell Fannie Mae MBS based in part on these commitments. If adealer defaultsin its
commitment obligation, it could cause us to default in our obligation to deliver the Fannie Mae MBS on our commitment date or
may force us to replace the loans at a higher cost in order to meet our commitment.

Liquid Investment Portfolio Issuers. The primary credit exposure associated with investments held in our liquid investment
portfolio is that the issuers of these investments will not repay principal and interest in accordance with the contractual terms. The
failure of these issuers to make these payments could have a material adverse effect on our business results.

Derivatives Counterparties. If aderivatives counterparty defaults on payments due to us, we may need to enter into a replacement
derivative contract with a different counterparty at a higher cost or we may be unable to obtain a replacement contract. As of
December 31, 2004, we had 23 interest rate and foreign currency derivatives counterparties. Eight of these counterparties
accounted for approximately 83% of the total outstanding notional amount of our derivatives contracts, and each of these eight
counterparties accounted for between approximately 7% and 14% of the total outstanding notional amount. The insolvency of one
of our largest derivatives counterparties combined with an adverse move in the market before we are able to transfer or replace the
contracts could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. A discussion of how we manage the credit risk
posed by our derivatives transactions and a detailed description of our derivatives credit exposure is contained in
“ Item 7—MD& A—Risk Management—Credit Risk Management— nstitutional Counterparty Credit Risk
M anagement—Derivatives Counterparties.”

Our ability to operate our business, meet our obligations and generate net interest income depends primarily on our ability to
issue substantial amounts of debt frequently and at attractive rates.

The issuance of short-term and long-term debt securities in the domestic and international capital marketsis our primary source of
funding for purchasing assets for our mortgage portfolio and repaying or refinancing our existing debt. Moreover, our primary
source of revenue is the net interest income we earn from the difference, or spread, between our borrowing costs and the return that
we receive on our mortgage assets. Our ability to obtain funds through the issuance of debt, and the cost at which we are able to
obtain these funds, depends on many factors, including:

e our corporate and regulatory structure, including our status as a GSE;

* legidative or regulatory actions relating to our business, including any actions that would affect our GSE status;
* rating agency actions relating to our credit ratings;

e our financial results and changesin our financia condition;

» dignificant eventsrelating to our business or industry;

» thepublic’ sperception of the risksto and financial prospects of our business or industry;
 the preferences of debt investors;

 the breadth of our investor base;

» prevailing conditions in the capital markets;

* interest rate fluctuations; and

¢ general economic conditionsin the United States and abroad.

In addition, the other GSEs, such as Freddie Mac and the Federal Home Loan Banks, also issue significant amounts of AAA-rated
agency debt to fund their operations, which may negatively impact the prices we are able to obtain for these securities.

Approximately 47% of the Benchmark Notes we have issued in 2006 were purchased by non-U.S. investors, including both
private ingtitutions and non-U.S. governments and government agencies. Accordingly, a significant reduction in the purchase of our
debt securities by non-U.S. investors could have a material adverse effect on both the amount of debt securities we are able to issue
and the price we are able to obtain for these securities. Many of the factors that affect the amount of our securities that foreign
investors purchase, including economic
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downturns in the countries where these investors are located, currency exchange rates and changes in domestic or foreign fiscal or
monetary policies, are outside our control.

If we are unable to issue debt securities at attractive rates in amounts sufficient to operate our business and meet our obligations, it
would have amaterial adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition and results of operations. A description of how we obtain
funding for our business by issuing debt securities in the capital marketsis contained in “ Item 7—MD& A—L iquidity and Capital
M anagement—L iquidity—Debt Funding.” For a description of how we manage liquidity risk, see‘ * Item 7—MD&A—Liquidity
and Capital Management—t iquidity—Liquidity Risk Management.”

On June 13, 2006, the U.S. Department of the Treasury announced that it would undertake areview of its process for approving
our issuances of debt, which could adversely impact our flexibility in issuing debt securities in the future. We cannot predict
whether the outcome of this review will materially impact our current business activities.

A decrease in our current credit ratings would have an adverse effect on our ability to issue debt on acceptable terms, which
could adversely affect our liquidity and our results of operations.

Our borrowing costs and our broad access to the debt capital markets depends in large part on our high credit ratings. Our senior
unsecured debt currently has the highest credit rating available from Moody’ s Investors Service (* Moody’ s’ ), Standard &
Poor’ s, adivision of The McGraw-Hill Companies (“ Standard & Poor’ s’ ), and Fitch Ratings (“ Fitch” ). Theseratings are
subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating agencies. Any reduction in our credit ratings could increase our
borrowing costs, limit our access to the capital markets and trigger additional collateral requirementsin derivative contracts and
other borrowing arrangements. A substantial reduction in our credit ratings would reduce our earnings and materially adversely
affect our liquidity, our ability to conduct our normal business operations and our competitive position. A description of our credit
ratings and current ratings outlook isincluded in “ Item 7—MD& A—Liquidity and Capital Management—L iquidity—Credit
Ratings and Risk Ratings.”

Our business is subject to laws and regulations that may restrict our ability to compete optimally. In addition, legislation that
would change the regulation of our business could, if enacted, reduce our competitiveness and adversely affect our results of
operations and financial condition. The impact of existing regulation on our business is significant, and both existing and
future regulation may adversely affect our business.

Asafederally chartered corporation, we are subject to the limitations imposed by the Charter Act, extensive regulation,
supervision and examination by OFHEO and HUD, and regulation by other federal agencies, such asthe U.S. Department of the
Treasury and the SEC. We are also subject to many laws and regulations that affect our business, including those regarding taxation
and privacy. A description of the laws and regulations that affect our businessis contained in“ Item 1—Business—Our Charter and
Regulation of Our Activities.”

Regulation by OFHEO. OFHEO has broad authority to regulate our operations and management in order to ensure our financia
safety and soundness. For example, in order to meet our capital plan requirementsin 2005, we were required to make significant
changes to our businessin 2005, including reducing the size of our mortgage portfolio and reducing our quarterly common stock
dividend by 50%. Pursuant to our May 2006 consent order with OFHEO, we may not increase our net mortgage portfolio assets
above $727.75 billion, except in limited circumstances at OFHEQO' s discretion. We expect that this reduction in the size of our
mortgage portfolio beginning in 2005 will contribute to significantly reduced net interest income for the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2006, as compared to the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. In addition, we have incurred and expect to continue
to incur significant administrative expenses in connection with complying with our remediation obligations, which will reduce our
earnings for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006. If we fail to comply with any of our agreements with OFHEO or with
any OFHEO regulation, we may incur penalties and could be subject to further restrictions on our activities and operations, or to
investigation and enforcement actions by OFHEO.

Regulation by HUD and Charter Act Limitations. HUD supervises our compliance with the Charter Act, which defines our
permissible business activities. For example, our businessis limited to the U.S. housing finance sector and we may not purchase
loans in excess of our conforming loan limits, which are currently $417,000 for a one-family mortgage loan in most geographic
regions and may be lower in future periods
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subsequent to 2007. As aresult of these limitations on our ability to diversify our operations, our financial condition and earnings
depend almost entirely on conditionsin asingle sector of the U.S. economy, specifically, the U.S. housing market. Our substantial
reliance on conditionsin the U.S. housing market may adversely affect the investment returns we are able to generate. In addition,
the Secretary of HUD must approve any new Fannie Mae conventional mortgage program that is significantly different from those
approved or engaged in prior to the enactment of the 1992 Act. Asaresult, we have only limited ability to respond quickly to



changes in market conditions by offering new programs in response to these changes. These restrictions on our business operations
may negatively affect our ability to compete successfully with other companies in the mortgage industry from time to time, which
in turn may adversely affect our market share, our earnings and our financial condition. As described below under “ To meet
HUD’ snew housing goals and subgoal s, we enter into transactions that may reduce our profitability,” we are also subject to
housing goals established by HUD, which require that a specified portion of our business relate to the purchase or securitization of
mortgages for low- and moderate-income housing, underserved areas and specia affordable housing. Meeting these goals may
adversely affect our profitability.

Legislative Proposals. Legislative proposals currently being considered by the U.S. Congress, if enacted into law, could
materially restrict our operations and adversely affect our business and our earnings. During 2005, several bills were introduced in
Congress that propose to change the regulatory framework under which we, Freddie Mac and the Federal Home Loan Banks
operate. The Senate Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs and the U.S. House of Representatives each advanced GSE
regulatory oversight legislation in 2005 during the first session of the 109th Congress. On October 26, 2005, the House of
Representatives passed a bill and on July 28, 2005, the Senate Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs passed a bill,
which has not yet been brought to the floor of the Senate for avote. While the House and Senate bills differ in a number of
respects, both bills would affect us and other GSEs by significantly altering the scope of:

» our authorized and permissible activities;

» thepotentia level of our required capital;

» thesize and composition of our mortgage investment portfolio (a potential limitation in the House bill and a specific
limitation in the Senate hill);

» thelevels of affordable housing goals; and

 theprocess by which any new activities and programs would be approved and the extent of regulatory oversight.

In addition, the House bill would require Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to contribute a portion of their profitsto afund to support
affordable housing.

Thislegislation could materially adversely affect our business and earnings. We cannot predict the prospects for the enactment,
timing or content of any legisation, the form any enacted legislation will take or itsimpact on our financial condition or results of
operations.

Changes in Existing Regulations or Regulatory Practices. Our business and earnings could also be materially affected by changes
in the regulation of our business made by any one or more of our existing regulators. A regulator may change its current process for
regulating our business, change its current interpretations of our regulatory requirements or exercise regulatory authority over our
business beyond current practices, and any of these changes could have a material adverse effect on our business and earnings. For
example, on June 13, 2006, HUD announced that it will conduct a review of specified investments and holdings to determine
whether our investment activities are consistent with our charter authority. We cannot predict the outcome of this review or
whether HUD will seek to restrict our current business activities as aresult of this or other reviews.

To meet HUD ” s new housing goals and subgoals, we enter into transactions that may reduce our profitability.

As part of our mission of increasing the availability and affordability of financing for residential mortgage loansin the United
States, we must comply with the housing goal's and subgoals established by HUD. HUD' s housing goals require that a specified
portion of our business relate to the purchase or securitization of
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mortgage loans serving low- and moderate-income households, households in underserved areas and households qualifying under
the definition of special affordable housing. HUD has increased our housing goals for 2005 through 2008, and has created new
purchase money mortgage subgoal s effective beginning in 2005 that also increase over the 2005 to 2008 period.

Meeting the increased housing goals and subgoal s established by HUD for 2006 and future years may reduce our profitability and
compete with our goal of maximizing total returns. In order to obtain business that contributes to our new housing goals and
subgoals, we have made, and continue to make, significant adjustments to our mortgage loan sourcing and purchase strategies.
These strategies include entering into some purchase and securitization transactions with lower expected economic returns than our
typical transactions. We have also relaxed some of our underwriting criteriato obtain goals-qualifying mortgage loans and
increased our investments in higher-risk mortgage loan products that are more likely to serve the borrowers targeted by HUD' s
goals and subgoal's, which could increase our credit losses.

The specific housing goals and subgoals levels for 2005 through 2008, as well as our performance against these goalsin 2005, are
described in* 1tem 1—Business—Our Charter and Regulation of Our Activities—Regulation and Oversight of Our Activities—HUD
Regulation—Housing Goals.” We did not meet one of our 2005 subgoals, and it is possible that we may not meet one or more of



our 2006 subgoals. Meeting the higher subgoals for 2006 is particularly challenging because increased home prices and higher
interest rates have reduced housing affordability. Since HUD set the home purchase subgoals in 2004, the affordable housing
markets have experienced a dramatic change. Newly-released Home Mortgage Disclosure Act data show that the share of the
primary mortgage market serving low- and moderate-income borrowers declined in 2005, reducing our ability to purchase and
securitize mortgage |oans that meet the HUD subgoals. If our efforts to meet the new housing goals and subgoals in 2006 and
future years prove to be insufficient, we may need to take additional steps that could increase our credit losses and reduce our
profitability.

Our business faces significant operational risks and an operational failure could materially adversely affect our business.

Shortcomings or failuresin our internal processes, people or systems could have a material adverse effect on our risk management,
liquidity, financial condition and results of operations; disrupt our business; and result in legisative or regulatory intervention,
damage to our reputation and liability to customers. For example, our business is dependent on our ability to manage and process,
on adaily basis, alarge number of transactions across numerous and diverse markets. These transactions are subject to various
legal and regulatory standards. We rely on the ability of our employees and our internal financial, accounting, data processing and
other operating systems, as well as technological systems operated by third parties, to process these transactions and to manage our
business. As aresult of eventsthat are wholly or partially beyond our control, these employees or third parties could engage in
improper or unauthorized actions, or these systems could fail to operate properly. In the event of a breakdown in the operation of
our or athird party’ ssystems, or improper actions by employees or third parties, we could experience financial 1osses, business
disruptions, legal and regulatory sanctions, and reputational damage.

Because we use a process of delegated underwriting for the single-family mortgage loans we purchase and securitize, we do not
independently verify most borrower information that is provided to us. This exposes us to mortgage fraud risk, which is the risk
that one or more parties involved in atransaction (the borrower, seller, broker, appraiser, title agent, lender or servicer) will
misrepresent the facts about a mortgage loan. We may experience financial losses and reputational damage as a result of mortgage
fraud.

In addition, our operations rely on the secure processing, storage and transmission of alarge volume of private borrower
information, such as names, residential addresses, socia security numbers, credit rating data and other consumer financial
information. Despite the protective measures we take to reduce the likelihood of information breaches, thisinformation could be
exposed in several ways, including through unauthorized access to our computer systems, computer viruses that attack our
computer systems, software or networks, accidental delivery of information to an unauthorized party and loss of unencrypted media
containing this information. Any of these events could result in significant financial losses, legal and regulatory sanctions, and
reputational damage.
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The occurrence of a major natural or other disaster in the United States could increase our delinquency rates and credit losses
or disrupt our business operations and lead to financial losses.

The occurrence of amajor natural disaster, terrorist attack or health epidemic in the United States could increase our delinquency
rates and credit losses in the affected region or regions, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operations. For example, we experienced an increase in our delinquency rates and credit losses as a result of Hurricanes
Katrinaand Rita. In addition, as of December 31, 2004, approximately 18% of the gross unpaid principal balance of the
conventional single-family loans we held or securitized in Fannie Mae MBS and approximately 28% of the gross unpaid principal
balance of the multifamily loans we held or securitized in Fannie Mae MBS were concentrated in California. Dueto this
geographic concentration in California, amajor earthquake or other disaster in that state could lead to significant increasesin
delinquency rates and credit losses.

Despite the contingency plans and facilities that we have in place, our ability to conduct business also may be adversely affected
by a disruption in the infrastructure that supports our business and the communities in which we are located. Potentia disruptions
may include those involving electrical, communications, transportation and other services we use or that are provided to us.
Substantialy all of our senior management and investment personnel work out of our offices in the Washington, DC metropolitan
area. If adisruption occurs and our senior management or other employees are unable to occupy our offices, communicate with
other personnel or travel to other locations, our ability to service and interact with each other and with our customers may suffer,
and we may not be successful in implementing contingency plans that depend on communication or travel. A description of our
disaster recovery plans and facilities in the event of adisruption of thistypeisincluded in“ Item 7—MD&A—Risk
Management—Operationa Risk Management.”

In many cases, our accounting policies and methods, which are fundamental to how we report our financial condition and
results of operations, require management to make estimates and rely on the use of models about matters that are inherently
uncertain.



Our accounting policies and methods are fundamental to how we record and report our financial condition and results of
operations. Our management must exercise judgment in applying many of these accounting policies and methods so that these
policies and methods comply with GAAP and reflect management’ s judgment of the most appropriate manner to report our
financial condition and results of operations. In some cases, management must select the appropriate accounting policy or method
from two or more aternatives, any of which might be reasonable under the circumstances but might affect the amount of assets,
liahilities, revenues and expenses that we report. See“ Notesto Consolidated Financia Statements—Note 2, Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies” for a description of our significant accounting policies.

We have identified the following four accounting policies as critical to the presentation of our financial condition and results of
operations:

» estimating the fair value of financial instruments;

e amortizing cost basis adjustments on mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities held in our portfolio and underlying
outstanding Fannie Mae MBS using the effective interest method,;

» determining our allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty losses; and

» determining whether an entity in which we have an ownership interest is a variable interest entity and whether we are the
primary beneficiary of that variable interest entity and therefore must consolidate the entity.

We bdlieve these policies are critical because they require management to make particularly subjective or complex judgments
about matters that are inherently uncertain and because of the likelihood that materially different amounts would be reported under
different conditions or using different assumptions. Due to the complexity of these critical accounting policies, our accounting
methods relating to these policies involve substantial use of models. Models are inherently imperfect predictors of actual results
because they are based on assumptions, including assumptions about future events, and actua results could differ significantly.
More information about these policiesisincluded in* Item 7—M D& A—Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.”
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We are subject to pending civil litigation that, if decided against us, could require us to pay substantial judgments, settlements
or other penalties.

A number of lawsuits have been filed against us and certain of our current and former officers and directors relating to our
accounting restatement. These suits are currently pending in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbiaand fall within
three primary categories: a consolidated shareholder class action lawsuit, a consolidated shareholder derivative lawsuit and a
consolidated Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (* ERISA” )-based class action lawsuit. We may be required to
pay substantial judgments, settlements or other penalties and incur significant expenses in connection with the consolidated
shareholder class action and consolidated ERISA-based class action, which could have amaterial adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and cash flows. In addition, our current and former directors, officers and employees may be entitled to
reimbursement for the costs and expenses of these lawsuits pursuant to our indemnification obligations with those persons. We are
also a party to several other lawsuits that, if decided against us, could require us to pay substantial judgments, settlements or other
penalties. These include a proposed class action lawsuit alleging violations of federal and state antitrust laws and state consumer
protection laws in connection with the setting of our guaranty fees and a proposed class action lawsuit alleging that we violated
purported fiduciary duties with respect to certain escrow accounts for FHA-insured multifamily mortgage loans. We are unable at
this time to estimate our potential liability in these matters. We expect al of these lawsuits to be time-consuming, and they may
divert management’ s attention and resources from our ordinary business operations. More information regarding these lawsuitsis
included in“ Item 3—Legal Proceedings’ and “ Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 20, Commitments and
Contingencies.”

RISKSRELATING TO OUR INDUSTRY

Changes in general market and economic conditions in the United States and abroad may adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations.

Our financia condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by changesin general market and economic conditions
in the United States and abroad. These conditions include short-term and long-term interest rates, the value of the U.S. dollar as
compared to foreign currencies, fluctuations in both the debt and equity capital markets, employment rates and the strength of the
U.S. national economy and local economies. These conditions are beyond our control, and may change suddenly and dramatically.

Changes in market and economic conditions could adversely affect us in many ways, including the following:

 fluctuationsin the global debt and equity capital markets, including sudden and unexpected changes in short-term or



long-term interest rates, could decrease the fair value of our mortgage assets, derivatives positions and other investments,
negatively affect our ability to issue debt at attractive rates, and reduce our net interest income; and

» an economic downturn or rising unemployment in the United States could decrease homeowner demand for mortgage
loans and increase the number of homeowners who become delinquent or default on their mortgage loans. Anincrease in
delinquencies or defaults would likely result in ahigher level of credit losses, which would adversely affect our earnings.
Also, decreased homeowner demand for mortgage |oans could reduce our guaranty fee income, net interest income and
the fair value of our mortgage assets. An economic downturn could also increase the risk that our counterparties will
default on their obligations to us, increasing our liabilities and reducing our earnings.

A decline in U.S. housing prices or in activity in the U.S. housing market could negatively impact our earnings and financial
condition.

U.S. housing prices have risen significantly in recent years. As described above, this period of extraordinary home price
appreciation appears to be ending. The rate of home price appreciation has slowed and we believe there is a possibility of a modest
declinein national home pricesin 2007. Declinesin housing prices could result in increased delinquencies or defaults on the
mortgage |oans we own or that back our guaranteed Fannie Mae MBS. An increase in delinquencies or defaults would likely result
in ahigher level of credit losses, which would adversely affect our earnings. In addition, housing price declines would reduce the
fair value of our mortgage assets.
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Growth in the amount of U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding has also been significant in recent years. Our business volume
is affected by the rate of growth in total U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding and the size of the U.S. residential mortgage
market. If the rate of growth in total U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding were to decline, the growth rate of mortgage loans
available for us to purchase or securitize likely would slow, which could lead to areduction in our net interest income and guaranty
feeincome.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

We own our principal office, which islocated at 3900 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, Washington, DC, as well as additional
Washington, DC facilities at 3939 Wisconsin Avenue, NW and 4250 Connecticut Avenue, NW. We also own two office facilities
in Herndon, Virginia, aswell astwo additional facilities located in Reston, Virginia, and Urbana, Maryland. These owned facilities
contain atotal of approximately 1,460,000 square feet of space. We lease the land underlying the 4250 Connecticut Avenue
building pursuant to alease that automatically renews on July 1, 2029 for an additional 49 years unless we elect to terminate the
lease by providing notice to the landlord of our decision to terminate at least one year prior to the automatic renewal date. In
addition, we lease approximately 375,000 square feet of office space at 4000 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, which is adjacent to our
principal office. The present lease for 4000 Wisconsin Avenue expires in 2008, and we have the option to extend the lease for up to
10 additional years, in 5-year increments. We also lease an additional approximately 417,000 square feet of office space at five
locations in Washington, DC, suburban Virginiaand Maryland. We maintain approximately 426,000 square feet of office spacein
leased premises in Pasadena, California; Atlanta, Georgia; Chicago, lllinois; Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; and Dallas, Texas. In
addition, we have 55 Fannie Mae Community Business Centers around the United States, which work with cities, rural areas and
underserved communities.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Thisitem describes the material legal proceedings, examinations and other matters that: (1) were pending as of December 31,
2004; (2) were terminated during the period from the beginning of the third quarter of 2004 through the filing of this report; or
(3) are pending as of the filing of this report. Thus, the description of a matter may include developments that occurred since
December 31, 2004, as well as those that occurred during 2004. The mattersinclude legal proceedings relating to the restatement of
our consolidated financial statements, such as class action and individual securities lawsuits, shareholder derivative actions and
governmental proceedings, and class action lawsuits alleging antitrust violations and abuse of escrow accounts.

As described below, anumber of lawsuits have been filed against us and certain of our current and former officers and directors
relating to the accounting matters discussed in our SEC filings and OFHEO' sinterim and final reports, and in the report issued by
the law firm of Paul Weiss on the results of its independent investigation. These lawsuits currently are pending in the U.S. District
Court for the District of Columbia and fall within three primary categories: (1) a consolidated shareholder class action, (2) a



consolidated shareholder derivative lawsuit, and (3) a consolidated ERISA-based class action lawsuit. In addition, the Department
of Labor is conducting areview of our Employee Stock Ownership Plan (* ESOP” ).

In 2003, OFHEO commenced its special examination of us. The SEC and the U.S. Attorney’ s Office for the District of Columbia
also commenced investigations against us relating to matters discussed in the OFHEO reports. On May 23, 2006, we reached a
settlement with OFHEO and the SEC. In August 2006, we were advised by the U.S. Attorney’ s Office for the District of Columbia
that it was discontinuing its investigation of us and does not plan to file charges against us.

Presently, we are also a defendant in a proposed class action lawsuit alleging violations of federal and state antitrust laws and state
consumer protection laws in connection with the setting of our guaranty fees. In addition, we are a defendant in a proposed class
action lawsuit alleging that we violated purported fiduciary duties with respect to certain escrow accounts for FHA-insured
multifamily mortgage loans.
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We areinvolved in anumber of legal and regulatory proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. For example, we are
involved in legal proceedings that arise in connection with properties acquired either through foreclosure on properties securing
delinquent mortgage |oans we own or through our receipt of deeds to those propertiesin lieu of foreclosure. Claims related to
possible tort liability occur from time to time, primarily in the case of single-family real estate owned (* REO” ) property.

From time to time, we are also a party to legal proceedings arising from our relationships with our sellers and servicers. Litigation
can result from disputes with lenders concerning their loan origination or servicing obligations to us, or can result from disputes
concerning termination by us (for avariety of reasons) of alender’ sauthority to do business with us as a seller and/or servicer. In
addition, loan servicing and financing issues sometimes result in claims, including potential class actions, brought against us by
borrowers.

We also are a party to legal proceedings arising from time to time from the conduct of our business and administrative functions,
including contractual disputes and employment-related claims.

Litigation claims and proceedings of all types are subject to many factors that generally cannot be predicted accurately. For
additional information on these proceedings, see “ Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 20, Commitments and
Contingencies.”

RESTATEMENT-RELATED MATTERS
Securities Class Action L awsuits
In Re Fannie Mae Securities Litigation

Beginning on September 23, 2004, 13 separate complaints were filed by holders of our securities against us, as well as certain of
our former officers, in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New
Y ork and other courts. The complaints in these lawsuits purport to have been made on behalf of a class of plaintiffs consisting of
purchasers of Fannie Mae securities between April 17, 2001 and September 21, 2004. The complaints alleged that we and certain of
our officers, including Franklin D. Raines, J. Timothy Howard and Leanne Spencer, made material misrepresentations and/or
omissions of material factsin violation of the federal securities laws. Plaintiffs claims were based on findings contained in
OFHEO’ s September 2004 interim report regarding its findings to that date in its special examination of our accounting policies,
practices and controls.

All of the cases were consolidated and/or transferred to the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia. A consolidated
complaint was filed on March 4, 2005 against us and former officers Franklin D. Raines, J. Timothy Howard and Leanne Spencer.
The court entered an order naming the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System and State Teachers Retirement System of Ohio
as lead plaintiffs. The consolidated complaint generally made the same allegations as the individually-filed complaints, which is
that we and certain of our former officers made false and mideading statementsin violation of the federal securitieslawsin
connection with certain accounting policies and practices. More specificaly, the consolidated complaint alleged that the defendants
made materially false and misleading statements in violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, largely with respect to accounting statements that were inconsistent with the GAAP
requirements relating to hedge accounting and the amortization of premiums and discounts. Plaintiffs contend that the alleged fraud
resulted in artificialy inflated prices for our common stock. Plaintiffs seek compensatory damages, attorneys fees, and other fees
and costs. Discovery commenced in this action following the denial of the defendants’ motions to dismiss on February 10, 2006.

On April 17, 20086, the plaintiffs in the consolidated class action filed an amended consolidated complaint against us and former
officers Franklin D. Raines, J. Timothy Howard and L eanne Spencer, that added purchasers of publicly traded call options and
sellers of publicly traded put options to the putative class and sought to extend the end of the putative class period from



September 21, 2004 to September 27, 2005. We and the individual defendants filed motions to dismiss addressing the extended
class period and the deficiency of the additional accounting allegations. On August 14, 2006, while those motions were still
pending, the plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint adding KPMG LLP and Goldman, Sachs & Co., Inc. as additional
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defendants and adding allegations based on the May 2006 report issued by OFHEO and the February 2006 report issued by Paul
Weiss. Our answer to the second amended complaint is due to be filed on January 8, 2007. Plaintiffs filed amotion for class
certification on May 17, 2006 that is still pending.

In addition, two individual securities cases have been filed by institutional investor shareholdersin the U.S. District Court for the
District of Columbia. Thefirst case wasfiled on January 17, 2006 by Evergreen Equity Trust, Evergreen Select Equity Trust,
Evergreen Variable Annuity Trust and Evergreen International Trust against us and the following current and former officers and
directors: Franklin D. Raines, J. Timothy Howard, Leanne Spencer, Thomas P. Gerrity, Anne M. Mulcahy, Frederick V. Malek,
Taylor Segue, |11, William Harvey, Joe K. Pickett, Victor Ashe, Stephen B. Ashley, Molly Bordonaro, Kenneth M. Duberstein,
Jamie Gorelick, Manudl Justiz, Ann McLaughlin Korologos, Donald B. Marron, Daniel H. Mudd, H. Patrick Swygert and Leslie
Rahl.

The second individual securities case was filed on January 25, 2006 by 25 affiliates of Franklin Templeton Investments against us,
KPMG LLP, and al of the following current and former officers and directors: Franklin D. Raines, J. Timothy Howard, Leanne
Spencer, Thomas P. Gerrity, Anne M. Mulcahy, Frederick V. Malek, Taylor Segue, 111, William Harvey, Joe K. Pickett, Victor
Ashe, Stephen B. Ashley, Molly Bordonaro, Kenneth M. Duberstein, Jamie Gorelick, Manuel Justiz, Ann McLaughlin Korologos,
Donald B. Marron, Daniel H. Mudd, H. Patrick Swygert and Leslie Rahl.

Thetwo related individual securities actions assert various federal and state securities law and common law claims against us and
certain of our current and former officers and directors based upon essentially the same alleged conduct as that at issue in the
consolidated shareholder class action, and also assert insider trading claims against certain former officers. Both cases seek
compensatory and punitive damages, attorneys fees, and other fees and costs. In addition, the Evergreen plaintiffs seek an award
of treble damages under state law.

On June 29, 2006 and then again on August 14 and 15, 2006, the individual securities plaintiffsfiled first amended complaints and
then second amended complaints seeking to address certain of the arguments made by the defendantsin their original motions to
dismiss and adding additional allegations regarding improper accounting practices. On August 17, 2006, we filed motions to
dismiss certain claims and allegations of the individual securities plaintiffs second amended complaints. The individual plaintiffs
seek to proceed independently of the potential class of shareholdersin the consolidated shareholder class action, but the court has
consolidated these cases as part of the consolidated shareholder class action for pretrial purposes and possibly through final
judgment.

We believe we have defenses to the claimsin these lawsuits and intend to defend these lawsuits vigoroudly.
Shareholder Derivative Lawsuits
In Re Fannie Mae Shareholder Derivative Litigation

Beginning on September 28, 2004, ten plaintiffs filed twelve shareholder derivative actions (i.e., lawsuits filed by shareholder
plaintiffs on our behalf) in three different federal district courts and the Superior Court of the District of Columbia on behalf of the
company against certain of our current and former officers and directors and against us as a nominal defendant. Plaintiffs contend
that the defendants purposefully misapplied GAAP, maintained poor internal controls, issued a false and misleading proxy
statement, and falsified documents to cause our financial performance to appear smooth and stable, and that Fannie Mae was
harmed as aresult. The claims are for breaches of the duty of care, breach of fiduciary duty, waste, insider trading, fraud, gross
mismanagement, violations of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and unjust enrichment. Plaintiffs seek compensatory damages,
punitive damages, attorneys fees, and other fees and costs, as well asinjunctive relief related to the adoption by us of certain
proposed corporate governance policies and internal controls.

All of theseindividua actions have been consolidated into the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia and the court
entered an order naming Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corporation and Wayne County Employees’ Retirement System as co-lead
plaintiffs. A consolidated complaint was filed on September 26, 2005. The consolidated complaint named the following current and
former officers and directors as defendants. Franklin D. Raines, J. Timothy Howard, Thomas P. Gerrity, Frederick V. Malek, Joe
K. Pickett, Anne M. Mulcahy,
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Daniel H. Mudd, Kenneth M. Duberstein, Stephen B. Ashley, Ann McLaughlin Korologos, Donald B. Marron, Leslie Rahl, H.
Patrick Swygert and John K. Wulff.

When document production commenced in In re Fannie Mae Securities Litigation, we agreed to simultaneously provide our
document production from that action to the plaintiffs in the shareholder derivative action.

All of the defendants filed motions to dismiss the action on December 14, 2005. These motions were fully briefed but not ruled
upon. In theinterim, the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on September 1, 2006, thus mooting the previously filed motions to
dismiss. Among other things, the amended complaint adds Goldman Sachs Group Inc., Goldman, Sachs & Co., Inc., Lehman
Brothers Inc. and Radian Insurance Inc. as defendants, adds all egations concerning the nature of certain transactions between these
entities and Fannie Mae, adds additional allegations from OFHEQO' s May 2006 report on its special examination, the Paul Weiss
report and other additional details. We filed motions to dismiss the first amended complaint on October 20, 2006.

ERISA Action
In re Fannie Mae ERISA Litigation (formerly David Gwyer v. Fannie Mae)

Three ERISA-based cases have been filed against us, our Board of Directors Compensation Committee, and against the
following former and current officers and directors: Franklin D. Raines, J. Timothy Howard, Daniel H. Mudd, Vincent A. Mai,
Stephen Friedman, Anne M. Mulcahy, Ann McLaughlin Korologos, Joe K. Pickett, Donald B. Marron, Kathy Gallo and Leanne
Spencer.

On October 15, 2004, David Gwyer filed a class action complaint in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia. Two
additional class action complaints were filed by other plaintiffs on May 6, 2005 and May 10, 2005. All of these cases were
consolidated on May 24, 2005 in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia. A consolidated complaint was filed on
June 15, 2005. The plaintiffsin the consolidated ERISA-based lawsuit purport to represent a class of participantsin our ESOP
between January 1, 2001 and the present. Their claims are based on alleged breaches of fiduciary duty relating to accounting
matters discussed in our SEC filings and in OFHEQO’ sinterim report. Plaintiffs seek unspecified damages, attorneys fees, and
other fees and costs, and other injunctive and equitable relief. We filed a motion to dismiss the consolidated complaint on June 29,
2005. Our motion and al of the other defendants’  motions to dismiss were fully briefed and argued on January 13, 2006. As of the
date of thisfiling, these motions are till pending.

We bdlieve we have defenses to the claims in these lawsuits and intend to defend these lawsuits vigorously.
Department of Labor ESOP I nvestigation

In November 2003, the Department of Labor commenced a review of our ESOP and Retirement Savings Plan. The Department of
Labor has concluded its investigation of our Retirement Savings Plan, but continues to review the ESOP. We continue to cooperate
fully in this investigation.

RESTATEMENT-RELATED INVESTIGATIONSBY U.S. ATTORNEY’ SOFFICE, OFHEO AND THE SEC
U.S. Attorney’ sOffice lnvestigation

In October 2004, we were told by the U.S. Attorney’ s Office for the District of Columbiathat it was conducting an investigation
of our accounting policies and practices. In August 2006, we were advised by the U.S. Attorney’ s Office for the District of
Columbiathat it was discontinuing its investigation of us and does not plan to file charges against us.

OFHEO and SEC Settlements

On May 23, 2006, we entered into comprehensive settlements with OFHEO and the SEC that resolved open matters related to
their recent investigations of us.
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OFHEO Special Examination and Settlement

In July 2003, OFHEO notified us that it intended to conduct a special examination of our accounting policies and internal controls,
aswell as other areas of inquiry. OFHEO began its special examination in November 2003 and delivered an interim report of its
findings in September 2004. On May 23, 2006, OFHEO released its final report on its special examination. OFHEO' sfinal report
concluded that, during the period covered by the report (1998 to mid-2004), alarge number of our accounting policies and practices
did not comply with GAAP and we had serious problemsin our internal controls, financial reporting and corporate governance.



The final OFHEOQ report is available on our Web site (www.fanniemae.com) and on OFHEO' s Web site (www.ofheo.gov).

Concurrently with OFHEQO' srelease of itsfinal report, we entered into comprehensive settlements that resolved open matters
with OFHEO, as well as with the SEC (described below). As part of the OFHEO settlement, we agreed to OFHEQ' sissuance of a
consent order. In entering into this settlement, we neither admitted nor denied any wrongdoing or any asserted or implied finding or
other basis for the consent order. Under this consent order, in addition to the civil penalty described below, we agreed to undertake
specified remedial actions to address the recommendations contained in OFHEQ’ sfinal report, including actions relating to our
corporate governance, Board of Directors, capital plans, internal controls, accounting practices, public disclosures, regulatory
reporting, personnel and compensation practices. We also agreed not to increase our net mortgage assets above the amount shown
in our minimum capital report to OFHEO for December 31, 2005 ($727.75 billion), except in limited circumstances at OFHEO' s
discretion. The consent order superseded and terminated both our September 27, 2004 agreement with OFHEO and the March 7,
2005 supplement to that agreement, and resolved all matters addressed by OFHEO’ sinterim and final reports of its special
examination. As part of the OFHEO settlement, we a so agreed to pay a $400 million civil penalty, with $50 million payable to the
U.S. Treasury and $350 million payable to the SEC for distribution to stockholders pursuant to the Fair Funds for Investors
provision of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. We have paid this civil penalty in full. This $400 million civil penalty, which has
been recorded as an expense in our 2004 consolidated financia statements, is not deductible for tax purposes.

SEC Investigation and Settlement

Following the issuance of the September 2004 interim OFHEO report, the SEC informed us that it was investigating our
accounting practices.

Concurrently, at our request, the SEC reviewed our accounting practices with respect to hedge accounting and the amortization of
premiums and discounts, which OFHEQO' sinterim report had concluded did not comply with GAAP. On December 15, 2004, the
SEC’ sOffice of the Chief Accountant announced that it had advised usto (1) restate our financial statements filed with the SEC to
eliminate the use of hedge accounting, and (2) evaluate our accounting for the amortization of premiums and discounts, and restate
our financial statements filed with the SEC if the amounts required for correction were material. The SEC' s Office of the Chief
Accountant also advised usto reevaluate the GAAP and non-GAAP information that we previously provided to investors.

On May 23, 2006, without admitting or denying the SEC’ s allegations, we consented to the entry of afinal judgment requiring us
to pay the civil penalty described above and permanently restraining and enjoining us from future violations of the anti-fraud,
books and records, internal controls and reporting provisions of the federal securities laws. The settlement, which included the
$400 million civil penalty described above, resolved al claims asserted against usin the SEC' scivil proceeding. Our consent to
the final judgment was filed as an exhibit to the Form 8-K that we filed with the SEC on May 30, 2006. The final judgment was
entered by the U.S. District Court of the District of Columbia on August 9, 2006.

OTHER LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Former CEO Arbitration

On September 19, 2005, Franklin D. Raines, our former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, initiated arbitration proceedings
against Fannie Mae before the American Arbitration Association. On April 10, 2006,
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the parties convened an evidentiary hearing before the arbitrator. The principal issue before the arbitrator was whether we were
permitted to waive a requirement contained in Mr. Raines employment agreement that he provide six months notice prior to
retiring. On April 24, 2006, the arbitrator issued a decision finding that we could not unilaterally waive the notice period, and that
the effective date of Mr. Raines'  retirement was June 22, 2005, rather than December 21, 2004 (his final day of active
employment). Under the arbitrator’ sdecision, Mr. Raines election to receive an accelerated, lump-sum payment of a portion of
his deferred compensation must now be honored. Moreover, we must pay Mr. Raines any salary and other compensation to which
he would have been entitled had he remained employed through June 22, 2005, less any pension benefits that Mr. Raines received
during that period. On November 7, 2006, the parties entered into a consent award, which partially resolved the issue of amounts
due Mr. Raines. In accordance with the consent award, we paid Mr. Raines $2.6 million on November 17, 2006. By agreement,
final resolution of the unresolved issues was deferred until after our accounting restatement results are announced. Each party has
the right, within sixty days of the announcement of our accounting restatement results, to notify the arbitrator whether it believes
that further proceedings are necessary.

Antitrust Lawsuits
In Re G-Fees Antitrust Litigation
Since January 18, 2005, we have been served with 11 proposed class action complaints filed by single-family borrowers that



allege that we and Freddie Mac violated the Clayton and Sherman Acts and state antitrust and consumer protection statutes by
agreeing to artificially fix, raise, maintain or stabilize the price of our and Freddie Mac’ s guaranty fees. Two of these cases were
filed in state courts. The remaining cases were filed in federal court. The two state court actions were voluntarily dismissed. The
federal court actions were consolidated in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia. Plaintiffs filed a consolidated
amended complaint on August 5, 2005. Plaintiffs in the consolidated action seek to represent a class of consumers whose loans
allegedly “ contain a guarantee fee set by” us or Freddie Mac between January 1, 2001 and the present. The consolidated amended
complaint alleges violations of federal and state antitrust laws and state consumer protection and other laws. Plaintiffs seek
unspecified damages, treble damages, punitive damages, and declaratory and injunctive relief, aswell as attorneys feesand costs.

We and Freddie Mac filed a motion to dismiss on October 11, 2005. The motion to dismiss has been fully briefed and remains
pending.

We bdlieve we have defenses to the claimsin these lawsuits and intend to defend these lawsuits vigorously.
Escrow Litigation

Casa Orlando Apartments, Ltd., et al. v. Federal National Mortgage Association (formerly known as Medlock Southwest
Management Corp., et al. v. Federal National Mortgage Association)

We are the subject of alawsuit in which plaintiffs purport to represent a class of multifamily borrowers whose mortgages are
insured under Sections 221(d)(3), 236 and other sections of the National Housing Act and are held or serviced by us. The complaint
identified as a class low- and moderate-income apartment building developers who maintained uninvested escrow accounts with us
or our servicer. Plaintiffs Casa Orlando Apartments, Ltd., Jasper Housing Development Company and the Porkolab Family
Trust No. 1 alege that we violated fiduciary obligations that they contend we owe to borrowers with respect to certain escrow
accounts and that we were unjustly enriched. In particular, plaintiffs contend that, starting in 1969, we misused these escrow funds
and are therefore liable for any economic benefit we received from the use of these funds. Plaintiffs seek areturn of any profits,
with accrued interest, earned by us related to the escrow accounts at issue, as well as attorneys  fees and costs.

The complaint wasfiled in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Texas (Texarkana Division) on June 2, 2004 and
served on us on June 16, 2004. Our motion to dismiss and motion for summary judgment were denied on March 10, 2005. Wefiled
apartial motion for reconsideration of our motion for summary judgment, which was denied on February 24, 2006.
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Plaintiffs have filed an amended complaint and a motion for class certification. A hearing on plaintiffs motion for class
certification was held on July 19, 2006, and the motion remains pending.

We believe we have defenses to the claimsin this lawsuit and intend to defend this lawsuit vigorously.

Item 4. Submission of Mattersto a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’ s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Mattersand Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Our common stock is publicly traded on the New Y ork, Pacific and Chicago stock exchanges and is identified by the ticker
symbol “ FNM.” The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare, P.O. Box 43081, Providence, Rhode
Island 02940.

Quarterly Common Stock Data

The following table shows, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock in the
consolidated transaction reporting system as reported in the Bloomberg Financial Markets service, as well as the dividends per
share paid in each period.



Quarterly Common Stock Data

Quarter High Low Dividend
2003

First Quarter $ 70.40 $ 58.40 $ 039
Second Quarter 75.84 65.30 0.39
Third Quarter 72.07 60.11 0.45
Fourth Quarter 75.95 68.47 0.45
2004

First Quarter $ 80.82 $ 70.75 $ 052
Second Quarter 75.47 65.89 0.52
Third Quarter 77.80 63.05 0.52
Fourth Quarter 73.81 62.95 0.52
2005

First Quarter $ 7170 $ 5372 $ 026
Second Quarter 61.66 49.75 0.26
Third Quarter 60.21 41.34 0.26
Fourth Quarter 50.80 41.41 0.26
2006

First Quarter $ 58.60 $ 4841 $ 026
Second Quarter 54.53 46.17 0.26
Third Quarter 56.31 46.30 0.26
Holders

As of Octaber 31, 2006, we had approximately 20,000 registered holders of record of our common stock.
Dividends

Thetable set forth under “ Quarterly Common Stock Data” above sets forth the quarterly dividends we have paid on our common
stock from the first quarter of 2003 through and including the third quarter of 2006.

In January 2005, our Board of Directors reduced our quarterly common stock dividend rate by 50%, from $0.52 per shareto
$0.26 per share. We reduced our common stock dividend rate in order to increase our capital surplus, which was a component of
our capital restoration plan. See“ Item 7—M D& A—Liquidity and Capital Management—Capital Management—Capital Adequacy
Requirements—Capital Restoration Plan and OFHEO-Directed Minimum Capital Requirement” for a description of our capital
restoration plan. On December 6, 2006, the Board of Directors increased the quarterly common stock dividend to $0.40 per share.
The Board determined that the increased dividend would be effective beginning in the fourth quarter of 2006, and therefore
declared a special common stock dividend of $0.14 per share, payable on December 29, 2006, to stockholders of record on
December 15, 2006. This special dividend of $0.14, combined with our previously declared dividend of $0.26 paid on
November 27, 2006, will result in atotal common stock
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dividend of $0.40 per share for the fourth quarter of 2006. Our Board of Directors will continue to assess dividend payments for
each quarter based upon the facts and conditions existing at the time.

Our payment of dividendsis subject to certain restrictions, including the submission of prior notification to OFHEO detailing the
rational e and process for the proposed dividend and prior approval by the Director of OFHEO of any dividend payment that would
cause our capital to fall below specified capital levels. See” Item 7—MD&A—L.iquidity and Capital Management—Capital
Management—Capital Activity—OFHEO Oversight of Our Capital Activity” for adescription of these restrictions. Payment of
dividends on our common stock is also subject to the prior payment of dividends on our 13 series of preferred stock, representing
an aggregate of 132,175,000 shares outstanding. Quarterly dividends on the shares of our preferred stock outstanding totaled
$130.7 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2006. See “ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 17, Preferred
Stock” for detailed information on our preferred stock dividends.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K is provided under “ Item 12—Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters,” which isincorporated herein by reference.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
Under the Stock Compensation Plan of 1993 and the Stock Compensation Plan of 2003 (the“ Plans’ ), we regularly provide stock



compensation to our employees and members of our Board of Directors to attract, motivate and retain these individual s and
promote an identity of interests with our stockholders. During the year ended December 31, 2004, we issued 3,262,894 shares of
common stock upon the exercise of stock options for an aggregate exercise price of approximately $129 million, amost al of
which was paid in cash and the remainder of which was paid by the delivery of 8,936 shares of common stock. Additionaly, in
consideration of services rendered or to be rendered, we issued 2,594,769 options to purchase common stock at a weighted average
exercise price of $78.04 per share, 998,425 shares of restricted stock and 38,134 restricted stock units. Options granted under the
Plans typically vest 25% per year beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant and expire ten years after the grant. Shares
of restricted stock and restricted stock units granted under the Plans typically vest in equal annual installments over three or four
years beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Each restricted stock unit represents the right to receive a share of
common stock at the time of vesting. As aresult, the economic consequences of restricted stock units are generally similar to
restricted stock, except that restricted stock units do not confer voting rights on their holders.

All options and shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units were granted to persons who were employees or members of
the Board of Directors. During the year ended December 31, 2004, 236,521 restricted stock awards vested, as a result of which
155,679 shares of common stock were issued and 80,842 shares of common stock that otherwise would have been issued were
withheld in lieu of requiring the recipients to pay the withholding taxes due upon vesting to us. Additionally, during the year ended
December 31, 2004, 8,014 restricted stock units vested, as aresult of which 5,252 shares of common stock were issued and
2,762 shares of common stock that otherwise would have been issued were withheld in lieu of requiring the recipients to pay the
withholding taxes due upon vesting to us.

In January 2004, we contributed an aggregate of 104,886 shares to the Employee Stock Ownership Plan (* ESOP” ). Benefits for
employees vest under the ESOP based on age or years of service. Eligible employees become 100% vested in their ESOP accounts
upon the earlier of age 65 or completion of five years of service.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, we also issued 2,568 shares under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan for an aggregate
exercise price of approximately $190,000 to former employees or the estates of former employees.

We have a Performance Share Program that compensates senior management for meeting financial and non-financial objectives
over athree-year period. Objectives are set at the beginning of the three-year period and

58

Table of Contents

the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors determines achievement against the goals at the end of such period, setting
the amount of the award at that time. The performance shares are generally paid out over atwo- or three-year period. In January
2004, we paid out 87,329 and 224,926 shares of common stock to senior management under our Performance Share Program for
the three-year performance share cycles that ended in 2001 and 2002, respectively. Additionally, we determined that senior
management was entitled to receive 662,780 shares of common stock under our Performance Share Program for the three-year
performance share cycle that ended in 2003, of which 366,428 shares were paid out in 2004, and the balance of which was
scheduled to be paid out in January 2005. Of the 678,683 aggregate shares of common stock that were paid out in 2004 under our
Performance Share Program, 444,281 shares of common stock were issued and 234,402 shares of common stock that otherwise
would have been issued were withheld in lieu of requiring the recipients to pay the withholding taxes due to us at the time of
issuance. As previously announced, and in connection with the restatement of our consolidated financial statements, because we
did not have reliable financial datafor years within the award cycles, the Compensation Committee and the Board decided to
postpone the determination of the amount of the awards under the Performance Share Program for the three-year performance share
cycles that ended in 2004 and 2005, and to postpone payment of the second installment of shares for the three-year performance
share cycle that ended in 2003 (the first installment of which was paid in January 2004). In the future, the Compensation
Committee and the Board will review the Performance Share Program and determine the appropriate approach for settling its
obligations with respect to the existing unpaid performance share cycles.

The securitieswe issue are “ exempted securities” under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act to the same extent as
obligations of, or guaranteed asto principal and interest by, the United States. As aresult, we do not file registration statements
with the SEC with respect to offerings of our securities.
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Pur chases of Equity Securities by the | ssuer
The following table shows shares of our common stock we repurchased during 2004, 2005 and the first three quarters of 2006.

Maximum Number



Total Number of of Sharesthat

Total Number Average Shares Purchased May Yet be
of Shares Price Paid as Part of Publicly Pur chased Under
Pur chased® per Share Announced Program® the Program®
(Sharesin thousands)

2004
January 51 $ 74.49 — 70,433
February 843 77.56 840 69,798
March 3,273 75.52 3,270 67,246
April 1,486 72.78 1,485 67,072
May 976 68.48 970 66,969
June 353 67.43 350 66,725
July 185 70.33 185 66,572
August 1 71.49 — 66,390
September 1 75.33 — 65,540
October 0 68.74 — 65,025
November 35 69.62 — 64,890
December 1 70.48 — 64,434

Tota 7,205 $ 73.67 7,100 64,434
2005
January 107 $ 65.60 — 63,503
February 21 57.86 — 63,234
March 3 57.17 — 63,957
April 3 55.02 — 63,723
May 11 57.24 — 63,510
June 9 58.79 — 63,359
July 5 58.86 — 63,070
August 4 52.44 — 62,951
September 15 46.70 — 62,755
October 37 45.42 — 62,525
November 259 47.35 — 62,123
December 18 47.67 — 61,364

Tota 492 $ 52.29 — 61.364
2006
January 196 $ 53.23 — 60,596
February 58 58.10 — 60,112
March 61 54.04 — 60,269
April 10 52.60 — 61,267
May 13 50.38 4 61,160
June 13 48.11 4 61,046
July 11 48.55 — 60,983
August 52 49.29 23 60,900
September 19 53.91 7 60,669

Total 433 $ 53.20 38 60,669
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@ In addition to shares repurchased as part of the publicly announced programs described in footnote 2 below, these shares consist of:

(a) 563,229 shares of common stock reacquired from employees to pay an aggregate of approximately $33.1 million in withholding taxes
due upon the vesting of restricted stock; (b) 92,590 shares of common stock reacquired from employeesto pay an aggregate of
approximately $4.8 million in withholding taxes due upon the exercise of stock options; (c) 321,405 shares of common stock repurchased
from employees and members of our Board of Directors to pay an aggregate exercise price of approximately $15.8 million for stock
options; and (d) 14,430 shares of common stock repurchased from employees in alimited number of instances relating to employees
financia hardship.

Consists of (a) 7,100,200 shares of common stock purchased pursuant to our publicly announced share repurchase program in open
market transactions effected in compliance with SEC Rule 10b-18, and (b) 38,217 shares of common stock repurchased from
employees pursuant to our publicly announced employee stock repurchase program. On January 21, 2003, we publicly announced that
the Board of Directors had approved a share repurchase program (the “ General Repurchase Authority” ) under which we could purchase
in open market transactions the sum of (&) up to 5% of the shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2002 (49.4 million



shares) and (b) additional shares to offset stock issued or expected to be issued under our employee benefit plans. On May 9, 2006, we
announced that the Board of Directors had authorized a stock repurchase program (the “ Employee Stock Repurchase Program” ) under
which we may repurchase up to $100 million of Fannie Mae shares from non-officer employees. Neither the General Repurchase
Authority nor the Employee Stock Repurchase Program has a specified expiration date.

Consists of the total number of shares that may yet be purchased under the General Repurchase Authority as of the end of the month,
including the number of shares that may be repurchased to offset stock that may be issued pursuant to the Stock Compensation Plan of
1993 and the Stock Compensation Plan of 2003. Repurchased shares are first offset against any issuances of stock under our employee
benefit plans. To the extent that we repurchase more shares than have been issued under our plansin a given month, the excess number
of sharesis deducted from the 49.4 million shares approved for repurchase under the General Repurchase Authority. Because of new
stock issuances and expected issuances pursuant to new grants under our employee benefit plans, the number of shares that may be
purchased under the General Repurchase Authority fluctuates from month to month. No shares were repurchased from August 2004
through September 30, 2006 in the open market pursuant to the General Repurchase Authority. See Notesto Consolidated Financial
Statements—Note 13, Stock-Based Compensation Plans,” for information about shares issued, shares expected to be issued, and shares
remaining available for grant under our employee benefit plans. Excludes the remaining number of shares authorized to be repurchased
under the Employee Stock Repurchase Program. Assuming a price per share of $55.93, the average of the high and low stock prices of
Fannie Mae common stock on September 30, 2006, approximately 1.8 million shares may yet be purchased under the Employee Stock
Repurchase Program.

@3
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated financial data presented below is summarized from our results of operations for the three-year period
ended December 31, 2004 (restated for 2003 and 2002), as well as selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31,
2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001. All restatement adjustments relating to periods prior to January 1, 2002 have been presented as
adjustments to retained earnings as of December 31, 2001. In light of the substantial time, effort and expense incurred since
December 2004 to complete the restatement of our consolidated financial statements for 2003 and 2002, we have determined that
extensive additional efforts would be required to restate all 2001 and 2000 financial data. In particular, significant complexities of
accounting standards, turnover of relevant personnel, and limitations of systems and data all limit our ability to reconstruct
additional financial information for 2001 and 2000. Previously published information for 2001 and 2000 should not be relied upon.

For the Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(Restated) (Restated)
(Doallarsin millions, except

per share amounts)
Income Statement Data:

Net interest income $ 18,081 $ 19,477 $ 18,426
Guaranty fee income 3,604 3,281 2,516
Derivative fair value losses, net (12,256) (6,289) (12,919)
Other income (loss)® (812) (4,220) (1,735)
Income before extraordinary gains (losses) and cumulative effect of changein
accounting principle 4,975 7,852 3,914
Extraordinary gains (losses), net of tax effect 8) 195 —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax effect — 34 —
Net income 4,967 8,081 3,914
Preferred stock dividends and issuance costs at redemption (165) (150) (1112)
Net income available to common stockholders $ 4,802 $ 7,931 $ 3,803

Per Common Share Data:
Earnings per share before extraordinary gains (losses) and cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle
Basic $ 4.96 $ 7.88 $ 3.83
Diluted 4.94 7.85 3.81
Earnings per share after extraordinary gains (losses) and cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle

Basic $ 4.95 $ 8.12 $ 3.83

Diluted 4.94 8.08 381
Wel ghted-average common shares outstanding:

Basic 970 977 992

Diluted 973 981 998

Cash dividends declared per share $ 2.08 $ 1.68 $ 1.32



Business Activity Data:

Fannie Mae MBS issues? $ 552,482 $ 1,220,066 $ 743,630
Mortgage portfolio purchases® 258,478 525,759 353,193
Business volume $__810.960 $_ 1745825 $ 1,006,823
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2004 2003 2002 2001
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(Dollarsin millions)
Balance Sheet Data:
Investments in securities:
Trading® $ 35,287 $ 43,798 $ 14,909 $ (45)
Available-for-sale 532,095 523,272 520,176 503,381
Mortgage loans:
Loans held for sale 11,721 13,596 20,192 11,327
Loans held for investment, net of alowance 389,651 385,465 304,178 267,510
Total assets 1,020,934 1,022,275 904,739 814,561
Short-term debt 320,280 343,662 293,538 280,848
Long-term debt 632,831 617,618 547,755 484,182
Total liabilities 981,956 990,002 872,840 791,305
Preferred stock 9,108 4,108 2,678 2,303
Total stockholders' equity 38,902 32,268 31,899 23,256
Regulatory Capital Data:
Core capital® $ 34,514 $ 26,953 $ 20,431 $ 18,234
Total capital© 35,196 27,487 20,831 18,500
Book of Business Data:
Mortgage portfolio™ $ 917,209 $ 908,868 $ 799,779 $ 715,953
Fannie Mae MBS held by third parties® 1,408,047 1,300,520 1,040,439 878,039
Book of business $_ 2325256 $ 2209388 1,840,218 $__1593992
2004 2003 2002
(Restated) (Restated)
Ratios:
Return on assets ratio®” 0.47% 0.82% 0.44%
Return on equity ratio“®” 16.6 27.6 15.2
Equity to assets ratio™V” 35 33 3.2
Dividend payout ratio®" 42.1 20.8 345
Average effective guaranty fee rate (in basis points)*¥” 20.8 bp 21.0bp 19.3bp
Credit lossratio (in basis points)®4” 1.0 bp 0.9 bp 0.8 bp
Earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends and issuance costs at
redemption ratio*® 1221 1.36:1 116:1

(Y
@

position.

Includes investment losses, net; debt extinguishment losses, net; |oss from partnership investments; and fee and other income.
Unpaid principal balance of Fannie Mae MBS acquired by third-party investors during the reporting period.

Unpaid principal balance of mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities we purchased for our portfolio during the reporting period.
Balance as of December 31, 2001 primarily represents the fair value of forward purchases of TBA mortgage securities that werein aloss

The sum of (a) the stated value of outstanding common stock (common stock less treasury stock); (b) the stated value of outstanding

non-cumulative perpetual preferred stock; (c) paid-in-capital; and (d) retained earnings. Core capital excludes accumulated other

comprehensive income.

(that is, the allowance required on individually-impaired loans).
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Unpaid principal balance of mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities held in our portfolio.

The sum of (&) core capital and (b) the total allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty losses, less (c) the specific loss allowance
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Notes

Unpaid principal balance of Fannie Mae MBS held by third-party investors. The principal balance of resecuritized Fannie Mae MBS is
included only once.

Net income available to common stockholders divided by average total assets.

Net income available to common stockholders divided by average outstanding common equity.

Average stockholders’ equity divided by average total assets.

Common dividend payments divided by net income available to common stockholders.

Guaranty fee income as a percentage of average outstanding Fannie Mae MBS and other guaranties.

Charge-offs, net of recoveries and foreclosed property expense (income), as a percentage of the average mortgage credit book of
business.

“ Earnings’ includes reported income before extraordinary gains (losses), net of tax effect and cumulative effect of changein
accounting principle, net of tax effect plus (a) provision for federal income taxes, minority interest in earnings of consolidated
subsidiaries, loss from partnership investments, capitalized interest and total interest expense. “ Combined fixed charges and preferred
stock dividends and issuance costs at redemption” includes (a) fixed charges (b) preferred stock dividends and issuance costs on
redemptions of preferred stock, defined as pretax earnings required to pay dividends on outstanding preferred stock using our effective
income tax rate for the relevant periods. Fixed charges represent total interest expense and capitalized interest.

* Average balances for purposes of the ratio calculations are based on beginning and end of year balances.
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Item 7. Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

ORGANIZATION OF MD&A

We intend for our MD& A to provide information that will assist in better understanding our consolidated financial statements.
This section explains the changes in certain key items in our consolidated financial statements from year to year, the primary
factors driving those changes, our risk management processes and results, any known trends or uncertainties of which we are aware
that we believe may have a material effect on our future performance, as well as how certain accounting principles affect our
consolidated financial statements. Our MD& A also provides information about our three complementary business segmentsin
order to explain how the activities of each segment impact our results of operations and financial condition. This discussion also
addresses the accounting errors that resulted in the restatement of our consolidated financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the six months ended June 30, 2004, and the impact of the restatement on our previously
reported financial results.

Our MD&A isorganized as follows:

Executive Summary

Restatement

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Consolidated Results of Operations

Business Segment Results

Supplemental Non-GAAP Information—Fair Vaue Balance Sheet
Risk Management

Liquidity and Capital Management

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Impact of Future Adoption of Accounting Pronouncements
2004 Quarterly Review

This discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2004 and the notes
accompanying those consolidated financial statements. Readers should also review carefully
“ Item 1—Business—Forward-Looking Statements’ and “ Item 1A—Risk Factors’ for a description of the forward-looking
statements in this report and a discussion of the factors that might cause our actual resultsto differ, perhaps materially, from these



forward-looking statements. Readers may refer to * Item 1—Business—Glossary of Terms Used in this Report” for an explanation
of key terms used throughout this discussion. Unless otherwise noted, al financial information provided in this report gives effect
to our restatement as described in “ Restatement.”

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Our Mission and Business

We are a stockholder-owned corporation (NY SE: FNM) chartered by the U.S. Congress to support liquidity and stability in the
secondary mortgage market. Our business includes three integrated business segments—Single-Family Credit Guaranty, Housing
and Community Development and Capital Markets—that work together to provide services, products and solutions to our lender
customers and a broad range of housing partners. Together, our business segments contribute to our chartered mission objectives,
helping to increase the total amount of funds available to finance housing in the United States and to make homeownership more
available and affordable for low-, moderate- and middle-income Americans. We also work with our customers and partners to
increase the availability and affordability of rental housing.
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In our Single-Family and HCD business segments, we securitize mortgage |oans delivered to us by mortgage lenders and then
return Fannie Mae MBS to the lenders. We generally guarantee to the MBS trust that we will supplement mortgage loan collections
as required to permit timely payment of principal and interest due on the related Fannie Mae MBS. Our Fannie Mae MBS are
generaly highly liquid, enabling mortgage lenders to raise capital to fund additional mortgage loans by selling the Fannie Mae
MBS in the secondary mortgage market. We generate revenuesin our Single-Family business segment primarily from the guaranty
fees the segment receives as compensation for assuming the credit risk on the mortgage |oans underlying single-family Fannie Mae
MBS and on the single-family mortgage loans held in our portfolio.

Our HCD business aso engages in a number of additional activities designed to expand the supply of affordable housing in
America. These activities, which are described in detail in“ Item 1—Business Segments—Housing and Community
Development,” include investing in affordable rental properties that qualify for low-income housing tax credits, making equity
investments in affordabl e for-sale and rental housing; and providing loans and credit support to housing finance agencies and other
public entities to support their affordable housing efforts. Revenues in the segment are derived from avariety of sources, including
the guaranty fees the segment receives as compensation for assuming the credit risk on the mortgage loans underlying multifamily
Fannie Mae MBS and on the multifamily mortgage loans held in our portfolio, transaction fees associated with the multifamily
business and bond credit enhancement fees. In addition, HCD’ sinvestmentsin housing projects eligible for the low-income
housing tax credit and other investments generate both tax credits and net operating losses that reduce our federal income tax
liability.

In our Capital Markets group, our principal businessis the purchase and sale of mortgage loans and mortgage-rel ated assets
through a full range of economic and competitive cycles. By maintaining a constant, reliable presence as an active investor in
mortgage assets, we support liquidity and increase the stability of the pricing of mortgage loans in the secondary mortgage market.
To fund our investment activities, our Capital Markets group issues Fannie Mage debt securities that attract capital from investors
globally to support housing in the United States. Our Capital Markets group generates income primarily from the difference, or
spread, between the yield on the mortgage assets we own and the cost of the debt we issue to fund these assets. Through our
investment activities, we seek to maximize total returns, subject to our risk constraints, while fulfilling our chartered liquidity
function.

Our businesses are self-sustaining and funded exclusively with private capital. The U.S. government does not guarantee, directly
or indirectly, our securities or other obligations.

We operate our three business segments with oversight by our Board of Directors. Relevant committees of the Board (Audit
Committee, Risk Policy and Capital Committee, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, Compensation Committee,
Technology and Operations Committee, Compliance Committee, Housing and Community Finance Committee and Executive
Committee) engage on matters within their respective charters. We encourage management and employees to have frequent and
open dialogue with the Board.

Our non-executive Chairman of the Board is an important link between the Board and the company, and our CEO sits on the
Board to ensure trandation of Board policies into business activities. Within the company, the CEO works with the Management
Executive Committee, comprised primarily of officers directly reporting to him, to develop, implement and execute the company’ s
plans and strategy. Our strategy is managed as a set of initiatives, which are typically assigned to individual executives within each
business. The Management Executive Committee tracks these initiatives throughout the year and regularly reviews progress with
management and the Board. We have established cross-functional management committees to ensure appropriate focus and
effective decision-making in critical areas such as risk management, operations, compliance and disclosure.



Managing Our Risk

Our business activities expose us to four primary risks: credit risk, market risk (including interest rate risk), operational risk and
liquidity risk. Effectively managing these risksis a principal focus of our organization, akey determinant of our successin
achieving our mission and business objectives, and is critical to our safety
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and soundness. A detailed discussion of our risk management strategies, processes and measuresisincluded in “ Risk
Management” below.

We devoted significant resources in 2005 and 2006 to addressing weaknesses identified in our risk governance structure and to
ensuring that we have the personnel, processes and controls in place to allow us to achieve our risk management objectives. In
2005, we adopted an enhanced corporate risk governance framework, including the creation of a corporate risk oversight function
led by a Chief Risk Officer who reports directly to our Chief Executive Officer and independently to the Risk Policy and Capital
Committee of the Board of Directors.

Our businesses have responsibility for managing the day-to-day risks inherent in our business activities. Risk management at the
businesslevel is conducted in accordance with enterprise-wide corporate risk policies approved by our Board of Directors.

Our Single-Family and HCD businesses have responsibility for managing the credit risk inherent in the mortgage |oans and Fannie
Mae MBS that we either hold in our portfolio or guarantee. We take a disciplined approach in managing credit risk. We believe our
mortgage credit book of business has strong credit characteristics, as measured by |oan-to-value ratios, credit scores and other loan
characteristics that reflect the effectiveness of our credit risk management strategy. Our credit losses for the period 2002 to 2004
have remained at what we consider to be low levels, averaging approximately 0.01% of our mortgage credit book of business. A
detailed discussion of our credit risk management strategies and results can be found in “ Risk Management—Credit Risk
Management.”

Our Capital Markets group is responsible for managing the interest rate risk inherent in the mortgage loans and mortgage-related
securities that we purchase and the debt we issue. The objective of our interest rate risk management strategy isto maintain a
conservative, disciplined approach to managing interest rate risk. A detailed discussion of our interest rate risk management
strategy and results can be found in “ Risk Management— nterest Rate Risk Management and Other Market Risks” below. Our
Capital Markets group is also responsible for managing the credit risk of the non-Fannie Mae mortgage-related securitiesin our
portfolio.

Our Restatement

In December 2004, we announced that we would restate our previously filed consolidated financial statements because those
financial statements were prepared applying accounting practices that did not comply with GAAP. Since the time of our
announcement, we have devoted substantial resources towards the completion of our restatement. We have worked closely with
and benefited from the guidance of OFHEO, our safety and soundness regul ator, throughout this process. We have al so obtained
assistance from a variety of resources, including PricewaterhouseCoopers LL P, technology consulting firms and outside counsel.

The restatement process included a comprehensive review of our accounting policies and practices, implementing revised
accounting policies, obtaining and/or validating market values for various financia instruments at multiple pointsin time, and
enhancing or developing new systems to track, value and account for our transactions. The restatement was a complex undertaking
that required the dedicated efforts of thousands of financial and accounting professionals, including external consultants. As
described below under “ Consolidated Results of Operations—Other Non-interest Expense—Administrative Expenses,” our
administrative expensesin 2005 and 2006 were substantially affected by costs associated with our restatement and related matters,
which we estimate totaled $1.3 billion. We anticipate that the costs associated with preparation of our post-2004 financial
statements and periodic SEC reports will continue to have a substantial impact on administrative expenses until we are current in
filing our periodic financial reports with the SEC. As part of our settlements with OFHEO and the SEC, we paid a $400 million
civil penalty, which has been recorded as an expense in our 2004 consolidated financial statements.

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have restated our previously filed audited consolidated financia statements for the years
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, and our unaudited consolidated financial statements for the quarters ended March 31, 2004
and June 30, 2004. The restatement adjustments resulted in a cumulative net decrease in retained earnings of $6.3 billion as of
June 30, 2004 and a cumul ative net
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increase in stockholders' equity of $4.1 billion as of June 30, 2004. The restatement adjustments also resulted in an increase in
previously reported net income attributable to common stockholders of $176 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 and a
reduction in previously reported net income attributable to common stockhol ders of $705 million for the year ended December 31,
2002. For more information on the background, details and results of our restatement efforts, please see” Restatement” below.

Thefiling of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 represents a significant achievement in our
effortsto return to timely financial reporting. We believe that major elements of the restatement, including our comprehensive
review of our accounting policies and practices, will contribute to a more expeditious completion of financial statements for the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006.

Our Organizational Changes and Remediation Progress

Using the findings of the OFHEO special examination, the Paul Weiss review and our own internal reviews of our business and
the practices of other financial services companies as a guide, we have taken a number of stepsto address specific identified
weaknesses and to build a foundation for what we believe will be a fundamentally stronger and sounder company.

We believe the items highlighted below, in addition to specific remediation actions related to our accounting policies and
practices, reflect significant remediation progress.

» We have made significant changes to our Board of Directors, including the appointment of a non-executive Chairman of
the Board, the creation of a Risk Policy and Capital Committee of the Board, the creation of a Technology and
Operations Committee of the Board, and the re-designation of a new Compliance Committee of the Board composed
entirely of independent directors. We have also added six new Board members with substantial experience and
knowledge related to business operations, accounting and finance since our receipt of OFHEO' sinterim report in
September 2004, including a new Chairman of the Audit Committee and three other new members of the Audit
Committee.

» We have made significant changes to our executive management team, including the appointment of a new Chief
Executive Officer and a new Chief Financial Officer. Over 35% of our senior officers, including our Chief Financial
Officer, Controller, Chief Audit Executive, Chief Risk Officer, General Counsel and all senior officersin our
Controller’ sand Accounting Policy functions, joined the company after December 2004.

« Wehaveinitiated a comprehensive plan to transform our corporate culture into one focused on service, open and honest
engagement, accountability and effective management practices.

» We have modified our compensation practices to include non-financial metrics relating to our controls, culture and
mission goals.

» We have established an enterprise-wide risk oversight organization to oversee the management of credit risk, market risk
and operational risk. We hired anew Chief Risk Officer to lead the build-out and responsibilities of this organization. In
addition, we have implemented a new organizational risk structure that includes risk management personnel within each
business unit.

*  We appointed anew Chief Audit Executive from outside the company, reporting directly to the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors. We have completed a comprehensive review of Internal Audit’ s organizational design and audit
processes. We have filled the key management positions of Internal Audit with highly credentialed and experienced audit
professional's, and we continue to enhance staffing in this area.

» We have appointed a new Chief Compliance Officer and substantially enhanced the staffing and scope of our compliance
function.

Our efforts to change the culture of our company, to implement effective controls and governance processes, to fully staff certain
areas of our operations and to build out our infrastructure are ongoing. Asnotedin “ Item 1A—Risk Factors,” we are till in the
process of remediating the material weaknesses we had identified in our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004. Accordingly, we still have significant
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remediation work remaining before we will be able to file periodic financial reports with the SEC and the NY SE on atimely basis.
However, we believe the actions described above are representative of our commitment to making fundamental, lasting changes
that will strengthen the governance, controls, operational discipline and culture of our organization.

Summary of Our Financial Results



The financial performance discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is based on our consolidated financial results for the
year ended December 31, 2004 and our restated consolidated financial results for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.
Net income and diluted earnings per share totaled $5.0 billion and $4.94, respectively, in 2004, compared with $8.1 billion and
$8.08 in 2003, and $3.9 hillion and $3.81 in 2002. Below are highlights of our performance.

2004 versus 2003

» Business volume down 54% from record level of

$1.7 trillion in 2003

5% growth in our book of business

7% decrease in net interest income to $18.1 billion

25 basis point decrease in net interest yield to 1.87%

10% increase in guaranty fee income to $3.6 billion
Derivative fair value losses of $12.3 billion, compared with
derivative fair value losses of $6.3 billion in 2003

» Losses of $152 million on debt extinguishments, compared

2003 versus 2002

Business volume up 59% to record level of $1.7 trillion
20% growth in our book of business

6% increase in net interest income to $19.5 hillion

12 basis point decrease in net interest yield to 2.12%

30% increase in guaranty fee income to $3.3 billion
Derivative fair value losses of $6.3 billion, compared with
derivative fair value losses of $12.9 billion in 2002
Losses of $2.7 billion on debt extinguishments, compared
with losses of $814 million in 2002

with losses of $2.7 billion in 2003

Our assets and liabilities consist predominately of financial instruments. We expect significant volatility from period to period in
our financial results, duein part to the various manners in which we account for our financial instruments under GAAP. We
routinely use fair value measures to make investment decisions and to measure, monitor and manage our risk. As described more
fully in“ Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates—Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” we use various methodol ogies to
estimate fair value depending on the nature of the instrument and availability of observable market information. However, under
GAAP we are required to measure and record some financial instruments at fair value, while other financial instruments are
recorded at historical cost. In addition, as summarized below, changes in the carrying values of financial instruments that we report
at fair valuein our consolidated balance sheets under GAAP are recognized in our results of operationsin avariety of ways
depending on the nature of the asset or liability.

» Werecord derivatives, mortgage commitments and trading securities at fair value in our consolidated balance sheets and
recognize changes in the fair value of those financial instrumentsin our net income.

» Werecord available-for-sale securities, retained interests and guaranty fee buy-ups at fair value in our consolidated
bal ance sheets and recognize changes in the fair value of those financial instruments in accumulated other
comprehensive income (* AOCI” ), acomponent of stockholders equity.

*  Werecord held for sale mortgage loans at the lower of cost or market (* LOCOM” ) in our consolidated balance sheets
and recognize changes in the fair value (not to exceed the cost basis of these loans) in our net income.

« Attheinception of aguaranty contract, we estimate the fair value of the guaranty asset and guaranty obligation and
record each of those amounts in our consolidated balance sheet. In each subsequent period, we reduce the guaranty asset
for guaranty fees received and any impairment. We amortize the guaranty
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obligation in proportion to the reduction of the guaranty asset and recognize the amortization as guaranty fee incomein our
net income. We do not record subsequent changes in the fair value of the guaranty asset or guaranty obligation in our
consolidated financial statements. The guaranty assets are, however, reviewed for impairment.

» Werecord debt instruments at amortized cost and recognize interest expense in our net interest income.

Asaresult of the variety of waysin which we record financia instrumentsin our consolidated financial statements, we expect our
earningsto vary, perhaps substantially, from period to period and result in volatility in our stockholders’ equity and regulatory
capital. For example, we purchase mortgage assets and use a combination of debt and derivatives to fund those assets and manage
theinterest rate risk inherent in our mortgage investments. Our net income reflects changes in the fair value of the derivatives we



use to manage interest rate risk; however, it does not reflect offsetting changesin the fair value of the majority of our mortgage
investments and none of our debt obligations.

We do not evaluate or manage changes in the fair value of our various financial instruments on a stand-alone basis. Rather, we
manage the interest rate exposure on our net assets, which includes all of our assets and liabilities, on an aggregate basis regardless
of the manner in which changesin the fair value of different types of financial instruments are recorded in our consolidated
financial statements. In“ Supplemental Non-GAAP Information—Fair Value Balance Sheet,” we provide afair value balance
sheet that presents all of our assets and liabilities on a comparable basis. Management uses the fair value balance sheet, in
conjunction with other risk management measures, to assess our risk profile, evaluate the effectiveness of our risk management
strategies and adjust our risk management decisions as necessary. Because the fair value of our net assets reflects the full impact of
management’ s actions as well as current market conditions, management uses this information to assess performance and gauge
how much management is adding to the long-term value of the company as well as to understand how the overall value of the
company is changing. Our consolidated GAAP balance sheet as of December 31, 2004 reflects an increase in the reported val ue of
our net assets of $6.6 billion from the prior year, while our consolidated fair value balance sheet as of December 31, 2004 reflects
an increase in the fair value of our net assets of $11.7 billion.

Our Market

Our business operates within the U.S. residential mortgage market, which represents a major portion of the domestic capital
markets. As of June 30, 2006, the latest date for which data was available, the Federal Reserve estimated that total U.S. residential
mortgage debt outstanding was approximately $10.5 trillion. This compares with total U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding
of $6.9 trillion, $7.7 trillion, $8.9 trillion and $10.1 trillion for the years 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. U.S. residential
mortgage debt outstanding has increased each year from 1945 to 2005, at an average annualized rate of approximately 10.6%. For
the years 2002 through 2005, growth in U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding was particularly strong, growing at an estimated
annual rate of nearly 13% in 2002 and 2003, approximately 15% in 2004 and approximately 14% in 2005. Our book of business,
which includes both mortgage assets we hold in our mortgage portfolio and our Fannie Mae MBS held by third parties, was $2.4
trillion as of June 30, 2006, representing nearly 23% of total U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding.

In 2006, growth in U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding and home price appreciation has slowed from recent high levels.
The annualized growth rate for U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding slowed to 9.6% in the second quarter of 2006.
According to the OFHEO House Price Index, home prices increased at a 3.45% annualized rate in the third quarter of 2006, which
represents a substantial decline in home price appreciation from the double-digit growth recorded for each of the prior two years.
We expect that growth in U.S. residential mortgage debt outstanding will continue at a slower pace in 2007, as the housing market
continues to cool and home price gains moderate further or possibly decline modestly. However, due to the cumulative appreciation
in home prices during the past several years, affordability continuesto pose a challenge for many potential homebuyers. The
volume of non-traditional mortgage products, including interest-only and negative-amortizing mortgage loans, remains high as
consumers continue to struggle with affordability issues. Additionally, the sub-prime and Alt-A mortgage originations that account
for alarge portion of the growth in market share of
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private-label issuers of mortgage-related securitiesin recent years continue to represent an elevated level of originations by
historical standards.

Over the next decade, we expect demographic demand (primarily from stable household formation rates, a positive age structure
of the population for homebuying and rising homeownership rates due to the high level of immigration over the past 25 years) that
suggests a fundamentally strong mortgage market. We believe that these and other underlying demographic factors will support
continued long-term demand for new capital to finance the substantial and sustained housing finance needs of American
homebuyers.

RESTATEMENT
Overview

Background. In September 2004, OFHEOQ delivered to our Board of Directors an interim report of its findings, through that date,
of its specia examination of our accounting policies and internal controls. OFHEQO' s interim report concluded that we misapplied
GAAP in specified areas, including hedge accounting and the amortization of purchase premiums and discounts on securities and
loans and on other deferred charges. The interim report also identified numerous control weaknesses relating to, among other
meatters, our processes for estimating amortization and developing and implementing accounting policies. The control weaknesses
identified by the interim report included inadequate segregation of duties, key person dependencies, and alack of written
procedures and supporting documentation.

Following the receipt of OFHEO’ sinterim report, we requested that the SEC’ s Office of the Chief Accountant review our



accounting practices relating to hedge accounting and to our amortization of purchase premiums and discounts on securities and
loans and on other deferred charges. On December 15, 2004, the SEC’ s Office of the Chief Accountant announced that it had
advised usto (1) restate our financial statements filed with the SEC to eliminate the use of hedge accounting, and (2) evaluate our
accounting for the amortization of premiums and discounts, and restate our financia statements filed with the SEC if the amounts
required for correction were material. The SEC’ s Office of the Chief Accountant also advised us to reevaluate the GAAP and
non-GAAP information that we previously provided to investors, particularly in view of the decision that hedge accounting was not

appropriate.

Announcement of Restatement and Non-reliance on Previous Financial Statements. On December 16, 2004, we announced that
we would comply fully with the determination of the SEC’ s Office of the Chief Accountant. On December 17, 2004, the Audit
Committee of our Board of Directors concluded that our previously filed interim and audited consolidated financial statements for
the periods from January 2001 through the second quarter of 2004 should no longer be relied upon because these financial
statements were prepared applying accounting practices that did not comply with GAAP.

Replacement of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. On December 21, 2004, the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors dismissed the firm of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm and, effective January 28, 2005,
engaged Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm.

Changesto Senior Management. On December 21, 2004, our Board of Directors appointed Stephen B. Ashley to serve as
non-executive Chairman of the Board, and appointed Daniel H. Mudd as interim Chief Executive Officer and Robert J. Levin as
interim Chief Financial Officer to replace Franklin D. Raines as Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer,
and Timothy Howard as Chief Financial Officer. In addition to our Chief Financial Officer, al of our other senior financial officers,
including the previous Controller and previous Chief Audit Executive, were replaced following the discovery and announcement of
the accounting errors discussed above. The Board of Directors subsequently appointed Daniel H. Mudd as Chief Executive Officer
and Robert T. Blakely as Chief Financial Officer. The Board appointed Daniel H. Mudd as CEO following the completion of an
executive search effort overseen by a subcommittee of the Board comprised of independent Board members and utilizing the
services of an executive search firm.
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Restatement of Prior Consolidated Financial Statements. Our restatement process began in December 2004. Due to the
significant complexities associated with our restatement and the lack of effective internal control over financial reporting, the
restatement process has required an extensive effort by thousands of financial and accounting professionals, including both
employees and external consultants. The restatement process has included thoroughly and comprehensively reviewing our
accounting policies and practices to ensure compliance with GAAP; implementing revised accounting policies; obtaining and/or
validating market values for our various financial instruments at multiple pointsin time over the restatement period; and enhancing
or developing new systems to track, value and account for our transactions. Beyond the initial errorsidentified by our regulators,
we aso identified additional errorsin our accounting and a substantial number of material weaknessesin our internal control over
financial reporting, including a material weakness relating to our application of GAAP. See* Item 9A—Controls and Procedures”
for a description of these material weaknesses, as well as our remediation activities relating to these material weaknesses.

We have restated our previously reported audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002, as well as our unaudited consolidated financial statements for the quarters ended March 31, 2004 and June 30, 2004. We
have also restated our previously reported December 31, 2001 balance sheet to reflect corrected items that relate to prior periods.
As described in more detail below, the cumulative impact of the restatement adjustments resulted in:

+ anet decrease in retained earnings of $6.3 hillion as of June 30, 2004;
» anetincreasein stockholders equity of $4.1 billion as of June 30, 2004; and
» anet decrease in regulatory core capital of $7.5 billion as of December 31, 2003.

Stockholders’  equity increased despite a decrease in retained earnings. This was because AOCI restatement adjustments were
significantly higher than retained earnings restatement adjustments. Our restatement adjustments resulted in an increase in AOCI of
$10.4 billion, adecrease in retained earnings of $6.3 billion and an increase of $91 million in other equity changes as of June 30,
2004. The most significant causes of the $10.4 billion AOCI adjustments were the reversal of previously recorded derivative cash
flow hedge adjustments and the recognition of fair value adjustments on available-for-sale securities that were previously classified
as held-to-maturity securities and recorded at amortized cost. The most significant cause of the $6.3 billion retained earnings
adjustments was the recognition in income of fair value adjustments associated with derivatives due to the loss of hedge
accounting.

Overall Impact



The overall impact of our restatement was atotal reduction in retained earnings of $6.3 billion through June 30, 2004. This
amount includes:

e a$7.0billion net decrease in earnings for periods prior to January 1, 2002 (as reflected in beginning retained earnings as
of January 1, 2002);

» a$705 million net decrease in earnings for the year ended December 31, 2002;

» a$176 million net increase in earnings for the year ended December 31, 2003; and

» a%$l.2billion net increase in earnings for the six months ended June 30, 2004.

We previously estimated that errorsin accounting for derivative instruments, including mortgage commitments, would result in a
total of $10.8 billion in after-tax cumulative losses through December 31, 2004. In a subsequent 12b-25 filing in August 2006, we
confirmed our estimate of after-tax cumulative losses on derivatives of $8.4 billion, but disclosed that our previous estimate of
$2.4 billion in after-tax cumulative losses on mortgage commitments would be significantly less. We did not provide estimates of
the effects on net income or retained earnings of any other accounting errors, nor did we provide any estimates of the effects of our
restatement on total assets, total liabilities or stockholders’ equity. As reflected in the results we are reporting in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, our retained earnings as of December 31, 2004 includes after-tax cumulative |osses on derivatives of
$8.4 billion and after-tax cumulative net gains on derivative mortgage commitments of $535 million, net of related amortization,
for atotal after-tax cumulative impact as of
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December 31, 2004 of approximately $7.9 billion related to these two restatement items. As aresult of the restatement and our
recognition of the $8.4 billion in the periods the losses were incurred, we will not amortize the $8.4 billion through earningsin
future periods. Under our prior accounting, we would have amortized through earnings amounts related to closed derivatives
positions while open derivatives positions would continue to have changesin fair value deferred and recognized in AOCI according
to the hedge accounting guidelines. Of the $8.4 billion recognized from restating our derivatives accounting, $8.0 billion of closed
derivatives positions would have amortized through earnings, with approximately $3.6 billion of that amount amortizing during the
period from 2005 through 2009, and the remaining $4.4 billion amortizing from 2010 through 2038. With respect to commitments,
the after-tax cumulative net gains on derivative mortgage commitments of $535 million, net of related amortization, will be
recognized in future periods as a reduction to our earnings.

Except to the extent otherwise specified, all information presented in the consolidated financial statementsincludes all such
restatements and adjustments.

Summary of Restatement Adjustments

The cumulative restatement period extended through June 30, 2004, which is the last period for which we filed a periodic report
with the SEC. We have classified our restatement adjustments into the seven primary categories as set forth in the table below.
These categories involve subjective judgments by management regarding classification of amounts and particular accounting errors
that may fall within more than one category. While such classifications are not required under GAAP, management believes these
classifications may assist investors in understanding the nature and impact of the corrections made in compl eting the restatement.
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Table 1: Cumulative Impact of Restatement
Restatement Adjustmentsfor:
Cumulative
Periods Adjustments Six Months Cumulative
Prior to Year Ended Year Ended as of Ended Adjustments as
January 1, December 31, December 31, December 31, June 30, of June 30,
2002 2002 2003 2003 2004 2004
(Dallarsin millions)
Retained earnings, as previously reported  $ 26,175 $ 29385 $ 35,496 $ 37,414

Restatement adjustments for:



Debt and derivatives (10,622) (5,877) 4356 $ (12143) $ 3036 (9,107)

Commitments 413 5,387 (1,826) 3,974 (546) 3,428
Investments in securities (660) (715) (332 (1,707) (142) (1,849)
MBS trust consolidation and sale

accounting 119 (59) (226) (166) (185) (351)
Financial guaranties and master

servicing (206) 178 175 147 (143) 4
Amortization of cost basis adjustments 154 135 (1,348) (1,059) (70) (1,129)
Other adjustments 296 (343) (926) (973) (320) (1,293)

Total impact of restatement adjustments
before federal income taxes,
extraordinary gains (losses) and
cumulative effect of changein

accounting principle (10,506) (1,294) (127) (11,927) 1,630 (10,297)
(Benefit) provision for federal income taxes (3,465) (589) (259) (4,313) 397 (3,916)
Extraordinary gains (losses), net of tax

effect — — 195 195 7 202
Cumulative effect of achangein

accounting principle, net of tax effect — — (151) (151) — (151)
Impact of current period restatement

adjustments, except where cumulative (7,041) (705) 176 $ (75700 $ 1,240 (6,330)
Impact of prior period restatement and

other stockholders’ equity

adjustments®® (7,042) (7,749) (5)
Retained earnings, as restated $ 10134 $ 21638 $ 27,923 $ 31.079

@ Includes the impact of stock-based compensation dividend adjustments.

Seethe® Financial Statement Impact” section below for further details on the impact of the restatement adjustmentsin the
consolidated financial statements for the restatement periods.

Debt and Derivatives

We identified five errors associated with our debt and derivatives. The most significant error was that we incorrectly designated
derivatives as cash flow or fair value hedges for accounting and reporting purposes. For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges,
this error resulted in the recognition of changesin the fair value of these derivativesin AOCI in the consolidated balance sheets
instead of in the consolidated statements of income. For derivatives designated as fair value hedges, this error resulted in the
recognition of changesin the fair value of the hedged items as fair value adjustments in the consolidated balance sheets and as gain
or loss in the consolidated statements of income. In conjunction with the review of these transactions, we identified the following
additional errors associated with our debt and derivatives: we incorrectly excluded foreign exchange derivatives from netting
adjustments for transactions executed with the same counterparty; we did
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not record a small number of financial instruments as derivatives; we incorrectly valued certain option-based and foreign exchange
derivatives, and we incorrectly calculated interest expense by using inappropriate estimates in our amortization of debt cost basis
adjustments.

The restatement adjustments associated with these errors resulted in a cumulative pre-tax reduction in retained earnings of
$12.1 billion as of December 31, 2003. This pre-tax loss, in combination with an incremental loss reflected in the 2004
consolidated financia statements of $729 million, resulted in a cumulative reduction in pre-tax net income of $12.9 hillion, or
$8.4 billion after tax, as of December 31, 2004. These restatement adjustments also resulted in areduction in total assets of
$5.0 billion as of December 31, 2003, primarily from areduction in “ Deferred tax assets” as aresult of no longer applying hedge
accounting and deferring losses. Additionally, we decreased total liabilities by $9.1 billion as of December 31, 2003, primarily
from no longer recording debt at fair value due to the loss of hedge accounting as well as correcting the amortization of debt cost
basis adjustments. The effect from the change in debt cost basis adjustments, in turn, had the effect of increasing the amount of
“ Debt extinguishment losses, net” recognized in the consolidated statements of income. Each of the errors that resulted in these
adjustments is described below.

We incorrectly classified derivatives as cash flow or fair value hedges for accounting and reporting purposes, even though they did
not qualify for hedge accounting treatment pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (* SFAS’ ) No. 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (* SFAS 133" ). The primary reasons for the loss of hedge



accounting treatment were the improper use of the“ shortcut” method as defined by SFAS 133 and inadequate assessments of
hedge effectiveness and ineffectiveness measurement, both at hedge inception and at each reporting period thereafter. In other
instances, hedging relationships were not properly documented at the inception of the hedge. Under cash flow hedge accounting,
weiinitially recorded unrealized gains or losses on derivativesin AOCI in the consolidated balance sheets to be recognized into
income in subsequent periods. Under fair value hedge accounting, we recorded unrealized gains or losses on derivativesin the
consolidated statements of income offset by unrealized gains or losses on the asset or liability being hedged. The impact of
correcting errors on derivatives that were previously classified as cash flow hedges resulted in the reversal of al previously
recorded fair value adjustmentsin AOCI and the recognition of these fair value adjustmentsin “ Derivatives fair value losses, net”
in the consolidated statements of income. The impact of correcting errors on derivatives that were previoudly classified as fair value
hedges resulted in the reversal of previously recorded fair value adjustments recorded on the hedged items. As the majority of these
derivatives were designated as hedges against debt, the reversal of fair value adjustments resulted in areduction of “ Short-term
debt” and*“ Long-term debt” in the consolidated balance sheets and changesin “ Interest expense” in the consolidated
statements of income. This error impacted al previously reported results and varied substantially from period to period based on
the portfolio size and prevailing interest rates.

We incorrectly excluded foreign exchange derivatives from netting adjustments for transacti ons executed with the same
counterparty where we had the legal right and intent to offset pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board (* FASB” )
Interpretation (* FIN” ) No. 39, Offsetting of Amounts Related to Certain Contracts (an interpretation of APB Opinion No. 10 and
FASB Satement No. 105). As aresult, the amounts of derivative assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets were
misstated. The impact of correcting this error changed the reported amount of derivative assets and liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets.

We did not record a small number of financial instruments that met the definition of a derivative pursuant to SFAS 133, which
resulted in a misstatement of derivative assets and liabilities at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets. The correction of this
error resulted in the recognition of derivative assets and liabilities at fair value with subsequent changesin the fair value of these
derivatives recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

We incorrectly valued certain option-based and foreign exchange derivatives. We incorrectly valued certain option-based
derivatives by using inaccurate volatility measures, which resulted in incorrect fair value adjustments to the previously reported
consolidated financial statements. To correct this error, we revalued option-based derivatives with new volatility measures
supported by market analysis and revalued foreign exchange derivatives. We a so incorrectly recorded fair value adjustments on
foreign exchange derivatives
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previously accounted for as fair value hedges. We recorded adjustments on these derivatives equal to foreign currency translation
adjustments of our foreign denominated debt. These foreign exchange derivatives should have been independently recorded at fair
value. The impact of correcting this error resulted in changesin the fair value gain or loss associated with these derivatives, which
was recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

We incorrectly calculated interest expense by using inappropriate estimates in our amortization of debt cost basis adjustments. We
amortized discounts, premiums and other deferred price adjustments by amortizing these amounts through the expected call date of
the borrowings as opposed to amortizing these amounts through the contractual maturity date of the borrowings. Additionally, we
utilized a convention in the calculation that was based on the average number of days of interest in amonth regardless of the days
contractually agreed upon. We corrected these errors by recal culating amortization of these costs through the contractual maturity
date of the respective borrowings and using the contractual number of daysin the month. The correction of these errors resulted in
changes in the recognition of “ Interest expense” and “ Debt extinguishment losses, net” in the consolidated statements of
income.

For the six-month period ended June 30, 2004, we recorded a pre-tax increase in net income of $3.0 hillion related to the
accounting errors described above. In combination with the effect of these errors through December 31, 2003 discussed above, the
cumulative impact of the restatement of these errors on our consolidated financial statements was to decrease retained earnings by
$9.1 billion as of June 30, 2004. The increase in net income in the six-month period ended June 30, 2004 was primarily the result of
the loss of hedge accounting, as the remaining errors described above had minimal impact on restated results for the six-month
period.

Commitments

We identified five errors associated with mortgage loan and security commitments. The most significant errors were that we did
not record certain mortgage loan and security commitments as derivatives under SFAS 133 and we incorrectly classified mortgage
loan and security commitments as cash flow hedges, which resulted in changesin fair value not being reflected in earnings. We
also incorrectly interpreted SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Satement 133 on Derivative | nstruments and Hedging Activities



(* SFAS 149" ), and therefore we incorrectly recorded a transition adjustment in 2003. In conjunction with the review of these
transactions, we identified the following additional errors associated with mortgage loan and security commitments: we did not
record certain security commitments as securities and we incorrectly valued mortgage loan and security commitments.

The restatement adjustments associated with these errors resulted in a cumulative pre-tax increase in retained earnings of
$4.0 hillion as of December 31, 2003. This pre-tax increase, combined with a commitments-related gain of $135 million reflected
in the 2004 consolidated financial statements, resulted in a cumulative pre-tax increase in retained earnings of $4.1 billion as of
December 31, 2004. The net impact on retained earnings, including tax effects and the $185 million after-tax charge to
“ Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle” as described below, was $2.5 hillion as of December 31, 2004. After
considering the increased amortization recognized in restatement attributable to the commitments adjustment, the total net impact
of these commitment adjustments was an increase in retained earnings of $535 million, net of tax, as of December 31, 2004. Each
of the errorsthat resulted in these adjustments is described below.

Prior to July 1, 2003, we did not record as derivatives mortgage loan and security commitments that were derivatives pursuant to
SFAS 133, which resulted in a misstatement of our derivative assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The impact
of correcting this error resulted in the recognition of these commitments as derivatives at fair value in the consolidated balance
sheets, with changes in the fair value of these commitments recorded in the consolidated statements of income. This error impacted
previously reported results and varied substantially from period to period based on volume, prevailing interest rates and the market
price of the underlying collateral. The correction of this error also resulted in recording cost basis adjustments to the acquired assets
for the value of these derivatives as of their settlement date. These cost basis adjustments are amortized into interest income over
thelife of the acquired assets. The impact of this amortization is reflected in the“ Amortization of Cost Basis Adjustments’
section below.
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We incorrectly classified mortgage |oan and security commitments as cash flow hedges. The primary reasons we did not qualify
for hedge accounting treatment were the lack of assessment of the effectiveness of the hedging relationship and the failure to
adequately identify and document the forecasted transactions. As discussed above, under cash flow hedge accounting, we deferred
unrealized gains or losses on derivativesin AOCI in the consolidated balance sheets. The impact of correcting this error resulted in
the recognition of derivatives at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets, with changes in the fair value of these derivatives
recognized in the consolidated statements of income. This error impacted previously reported results and varied substantially from
period to period based on volume, prevailing interest rates and the market price of the underlying collateral.

As part of the adoption of SFAS 149 in 2003, we incorrectly recorded a SFAS 149 transition adjustment that was not required
because the commitments for which the transition adjustment was recorded should previously have been accounted for as
derivatives under SFAS 133 or as securities under Emerging Issues Task Force (* EITF” ) Issue No. 96-11, Accounting for
Forward Contracts and Purchased Options to Acquire Securities Covered by FASB Statement No. 115 (* EITF 96-11" ). We also
incorrectly recorded as derivatives certain multifamily mortgage loan commitments that did not qualify as derivatives. The
transition adjustment originally recorded was an after-tax charge of $185 million in the consolidated statement of income for the
year ended December 31, 2003 asa“ Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.” Theimpact of correcting these errors
resulted in the removal of the fair value adjustments related to multifamily loan commitments and the reversal of the entire
transition adjustment in the consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Prior to July 1, 2003, the effective date of SFAS 149, we did not account for certain qualifying security purchase commitmentsin
the consolidated balance sheets pursuant to EITF 96-11, which resulted in a misstatement of “ Investmentsin securities” and
AQCI in the consolidated balance sheets and related “ Investment losses, net” in the consolidated statements of income associated
with these commitments. The impact of correcting this error resulted in the recognition of these commitments as either “ trading”
or“ available-for-sale” (* AFS’ ) securities, and the recognition of changesin the fair value of the securitiesin“ Investment
losses, net” in the consolidated statements of income for trading securities or in AOCI in the consolidated balance sheets for AFS
securities.

We incorrectly valued mortgage |oan and security commitments that we recorded as derivatives by utilizing inconsistent or
inaccurate pricing. We corrected this error by revaluing mortgage |oan and security commitment derivatives. The impact of
correcting this error resulted in changes in unrealized gains or losses associated with these commitments in the consolidated
statements of income and corresponding changes in derivatives at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets.

For the six-month period ended June 30, 2004, we recorded a pre-tax decrease in net income of $546 million related to the
accounting errors described above. In combination with the effect of these errors through December 31, 2003 discussed above, the
cumulative impact of the restatement of these errors on our consolidated financial statements was to increase retained earnings by
$3.4 billion as of June 30, 2004. The decrease in net income in the six-month period ended June 30, 2004 was primarily the result
of the loss of hedge accounting, as the remaining errors described above had minimal impact on restated results for the six-month
period.



Investments in Securities

We identified the accounting errors described below related to our investmentsin securities that resulted in a cumulative pre-tax
reduction in retained earnings of $1.7 billion as of December 31, 2003.

Classification and Valuation of Securities

We identified three errors associated with the classification and valuation of securities. The most significant error was that we
incorrectly classified securities at acquisition as “ held-to-maturity” (* HTM” ) that we did not intend to hold to maturity, which
resulted in not recognizing changes in the fair value of these securitiesin AOCI or earnings. As aresult of our review of acquired
securities, we derecognized all previously recorded HTM securities recorded at amortized cost and recognized at fair value
$419.5 hillion and $69.5 billion of
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AFS and trading securities, respectively, in 2003. Our holding of investmentsin trading securitiesis a significant change from our
previously reported consolidated financial statements, as the majority of our investmentsin securities were historically classified as
HTM. Asapart of our review of these transactions, we identified the following additional errors: we incorrectly valued securities
and we incorrectly classified certain dollar roll repurchase transactions as short-term borrowings instead of purchases and sales of
Ssecurities.

The restatement adjustments associated with these errors resulted in a cumulative pre-tax decrease in retained earnings of
$186 million as of December 31, 2003. These restatement adjustments also resulted in an increase of $2.4 hillion in total assets and
$37 million in total liabilities as of December 31, 2003. Each of the errors that resulted in these adjustments is described below.

We incorrectly classified securitiesas HTM pursuant to SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investmentsin Debt and Equity
Securities (* SFAS 115" ). SFAS 115 requires that securities be classified based on management’ sinvestment intent on the date
of acquisition and that securities originally designated as HTM can only be reclassified if specified criteriaare met. Previously, we
selected HTM as a default designation on the date we acquired the security. Subsequently, we would select classification as either
HTM or AFS at the end of the month in which the security was acquired. The effect of this error was that securities were
incorrectly reclassified from HTM to AFS and the reclassification did not meet the criteria of SFAS 115 for such reclassification.
Theimpact of correcting this error resulted in the classification of all securities previously classified as HTM securities as either
AFS or trading securities, with changes in the fair value of securities classified as AFS recorded in AOCI and changes in the fair
value of securities classified as trading recognized in * Investment losses, net” in the consolidated statements of income. We
discontinued the use of the HTM designation during the restatement period. In our restatement process, we corrected this error
using information contained within the historical trade system to determine the original investment intent for each security and the
appropriate classification. Fair value adjustments related to “ Investments in securities’ resulted in an increase in AOCI of
$2.3 billion for AFS securities as of December 31, 2003 in the consolidated balance sheet and a decrease of $100 million for
trading securities for the year ended December 31, 2003 in “ Investment losses, net” in the consolidated statement of income.

We had valuation errors associated with securities. We incorrectly recorded the cost basis for certain securities in connection with
implementing a new settlement system in 2002. We also incorrectly accounted for certain securities on a settlement date basis
rather than a trade date basis pursuant to Statement of Position (* SOP” ) No. 01-6, Accounting by Certain Entities (Including
Entities with Trade Receivables) That Lend to or Finance the Activities of Others. In addition, we incorrectly valued our previously
reported AFS securities. To correct these errors, we revalued securities and corrected the cost basis of the impacted securities. The
impact of correcting these errors resulted in a change in the realized and unrealized gains or losses associated with these securities
aswell as amortization of the cost basis adjustmentsin “ Interest income” in the consolidated statements of income. The impact of
the amortization of the revised cost basis adjustmentsis reflected in the“ Amortization of Cost Basis Adjustments” section below.

We enter into agreements referred to as“ dollar roll repurchase transactions,” where we transfer MBS in exchange for funds and
agree to repurchase substantially the same securities at a future date. We incorrectly classified some dollar roll repurchase
transactions as secured borrowings as these repurchase transactions did not qualify for secured borrowing treatment under
SFAS No. 125, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities (* SFAS 125" ) and
SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities (a replacement of
FASB Statement No. 125) (* SFAS 140" ). For transactions that did not qualify for secured borrowing treatment, the impact of
correcting the errors resulted in the reversal of “ Short-term debt” in the consolidated balance sheets and the recognition of asale
or purchase of a security for each transaction, resulting in the recognition of gainsand lossesin“ Investment losses, net” inthe
consolidated statements of income.

Impairment of Securities

We identified the following errors associated with the impairment of securities: we did not assess certain types of securities for



impairment and we did not assess interest-only securities and lower credit quality investments for impairment.
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The restatement adjustments associated with these errors resulted in a cumulative pre-tax decrease in retained earnings of
$1.5 billion and a decrease in total assets of $1.2 billion as of December 31, 2003. Additionally, for the six-month period ended
June 30, 2004, we recorded a pre-tax increase in net income of $233 million, resulting from the reversal of historical impairment
charges that were recorded in 2003 in the restated financial statements. Each of the errors that resulted in these adjustmentsis
described below.

We did not appropriately assess certain securities for impairment due to deteriorated credit quality of the securities underlying
collateral and, in some cases, deteriorated credit quality of the securities’ issuer during the restatement period. Included in this
population of securities were investments in manufactured housing bonds. Additionally, when we recorded impairment, in certain
circumstances we did not use contemporaneous market prices where available. To correct these errors, we remeasured securities
and assessed them for credit-related impairments. The impact of correcting these errors resulted in a change in the carrying amount
of these securitiesin the consolidated balance sheets and areduction in net income recorded in “ Investment losses, net” in the
consolidated statements of income.

We did not assess interest-only securities and lower credit quality investments for impairment pursuant to EITF Issue No. 99-20,
Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on Purchased Beneficial Interests and Beneficial Interests That Continue to Be
Held by a Transferor in Securitized Financial Assets (* EITF 99-20" ). In certain instances, we incorrectly combined interest-only
and principal-only certificates issued from securitization trusts for impairment evaluation purposes even though the interest-only
certificates could not be, or had not been, legally combined into a single security. To correct this error, we assessed these securities
separately for impairment. The impact of correcting this error resulted in a decrease in the carrying amount of these securitiesin the
consolidated balance sheets and a reduction in net income recorded in “ Investment losses, net” in the consolidated statements of
income.

For the six-month period ended June 30, 2004, we recorded a pre-tax decrease in net income of $142 million related to the
accounting errors described above. In combination with the effect of these errors through December 31, 2003 discussed above, the
cumulative impact of the restatement of these errors on our consolidated financial statements was to decrease retained earnings by
$1.8 hillion as of June 30, 2004. The decrease in net income in the six-month period ended June 30, 2004 was primarily the result
of reversal of the held-to-maturity classification, as the remaining errors described above had minimal impact on restated results for
the six-month period.

MBS Trust Consolidation and Sale Accounting

We identified three errors associated with MBS trust consolidation and sale accounting: we incorrectly recorded asset sales that
did not meet sale accounting criteria; we did not consolidate certain MBS trusts that were not considered qualifying special purpose
entities (* QSPE” ) and for which we were deemed to be the primary beneficiary or sponsor of the trust; and we did not consolidate
certain MBS trustsin which we owned 100% of the securitiesissued by the trust and had the ability to unilaterally cause the trust to
liquidate.

The restatement adjustments associated with these errors resulted in a cumulative pre-tax decrease in retained earnings of
$166 million as of December 31, 2003. This was the result of the net change in the value of the assets and liabilities that were
recognized and derecognized in conjunction with consolidation or sale activity. These restatement adjustments also resulted in an
increase of $8.9 billion in total assets and an increase of $8.6 billion in total liabilities as of December 31, 2003. Each of the errors
that resulted in these adjustments is described below.

Weincorrectly recorded asset sales that did not meet the sale accounting criteria set forth in SFAS 125 and SFAS 140, primarily
because the assets were transferred to an MBS trust that did not meet the QSPE criteria. To correct this error, we reviewed our
MBS trusts and accounted for the transfers of assets that did not meet the sale accounting criteria as secured borrowings. The
impact of correcting this error resulted in the derecognition of retained interest and recourse obligations recorded upon transfer of
the assets, the re-recognition of the transferred assets and the recognition of “ Short-term debt” or “ Long-term debt” inthe
consolidated balance sheets to the extent of any proceeds received in connection with the transfer of assets.
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Correcting this error also resulted in the reversal of any gains or losses related to these failed asset salesrecorded in“ Investment
losses, net” in the consolidated statements of income.



We failed to consolidate MBS trusts that were not considered QSPEs and for which we were deemed to be the primary beneficiary
or sponsor of the trust. These entities included those to which we transferred assets in atransaction that initially qualified asa sale
and for QSPE status, but where the trust subsequently failed to meet the criteria to be a QSPE, primarily because our ownership
interests in the trust exceeded the threshold permitted for a QSPE. Additionally, these entities included those where we were not the
transferor of assets to the trust, but where the trust is not considered a QSPE and our investments or guaranty contracts provide us
with the majority of the expected losses or residual returns, as defined by FIN No. 46 (revised December 2003), Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities (an interpretation of ARB No. 51) (* FIN 46R” ). To correct this error, we consolidated these trusts, then
deconsolidated trusts when they no longer required consolidation.

We incorrectly did not consolidate MBS trusts in which we owned or acquired over time 100% of the related securities issued by
the trust and had the ability to unilaterally liquidate the trust. To correct this error, we consolidated those MBS trusts in which we
had the unilateral ability to liquidate and deconsolidated these trusts when we no longer had the unilateral ability to liquidate.

Correcting these errors related to MBS trust consolidation and sale accounting resulted in adecreasein“ Investmentsin
securities” of $154.0 billion, anincreasein“ Mortgage loans’ of $162.8 billion and an increase in debt of $9.9 billion as of
December 31, 2003.

In situations where we were required to consolidate an MBS trust, we derecognized the MBS recorded in the consolidated balance
sheetsas*“ Investmentsin securities’ and recognized the underlying assets held by the trust, either as mortgage loans or
mortgage-related securities. Loans that were consolidated from trusts in which we were the transferor have been classified as held
for sale (* HFS’ ) and are recorded at the lower of cost or market, whereas |oans that were consolidated from trusts in which we
were not the transferor have been classified as held for investment (* HFI” ) and recorded at amortized cost. Mortgage-related
securities that were consolidated from trusts have been classified as AFS securities. We also derecognized assets and liabilities
associated with our guaranty and master servicing arrangements associated with the consolidated MBS trusts and recognized these
amounts as cost basis adjustmentsto “ Mortgage loans’ in the consolidated balance sheets, where applicable. The impact of the
amortization of this cost basis adjustment is reflected in the* Amortization of Cost Basis Adjustments’ section below. For
consolidated MBS trusts in which we owned less than 100% of the related securities, we recorded short-term or long-term debt in
the consolidated balance sheets for the portion of the security position due to third parties.

Correcting these errors related to MBS trust consolidation and sale accounting also impacted the consolidated statements of
income. We recorded an additional loss of $230 million and $26 millionin“ Investmentslosses, net” in the consolidated
statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, primarily due to reversing previously
recorded asset sales. As aresult of adopting FIN 46R, we consolidated certain MBS trusts created prior to February 1, 2003 and
recorded a $34 million gainin “ Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax effect” in the consolidated
statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2003. For MBS trusts created after January 31, 2003 and that were
consolidated due to the application of FIN 46R, we recorded a$195 million gainin“ Extraordinary gains (losses), net of tax
effect” inthe consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2003, reflecting the difference between the fair
value of the consolidated assets and liabilities and the carrying amount of our interest in the MBS trust. In addition, we recorded a
decreasein“ Guaranty feeincome” of $247 million and $198 million and an increasein “ Interest income” of $594 million and
$710 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, as aresult of derecognizing our guaranty assets and
obligations and recognizing cost basis adjustments to the consolidated mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities.

For the six-month period ended June 30, 2004, we recorded a pre-tax decrease in net income of $185 million related to the
accounting errors described above. In combination with the effect of these errors through December 31, 2003 discussed above, the
cumulative impact of the restatement of these errors on our consolidated financial statements was to decrease retained earnings by
$351 million as of June 30, 2004.
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Additionally, two REMIC transactions were specifically identified and questioned by OFHEO regarding our intent for entering
into the transactions and the timing of income recognition. Our review concluded that the historical treatment of accounting for
these transfers was appropriate and consistently applied.

Financial Guaranties and Master Servicing

We identified the accounting errors described below related to our financial guaranties and master servicing that resulted in a
cumulative pre-tax increase in retained earnings of $147 million as of December 31, 2003.

Recognition, Valuation and Amortization of Guaranties and Master Servicing

We identified seven errors associated with the recognition, valuation and amortization of our guaranty and master servicing
contracts. The most significant errors were that we incorrectly amortized guaranty fee buy-downs and risk-based pricing
adjustments; we incorrectly valued our guaranty assets and guaranty obligations; we incorrectly accounted for buy-ups; we did not



record credit enhancements associated with our guaranties as separate assets; and we incorrectly recorded adjustments to guaranty
assets and guaranty obligations based on the amount of Fannie Mae MBS held in the consolidated balance sheets. In conjunction
with the review of these issues, we identified the following additional errors: we did not record guaranty assets and guaranty
obligations associated with our guaranties to MBS trusts in which we were the transferor of the trust’ s underlying loans and we
did not recognize master servicing assets and related deferred profit, where applicable.

The restatement adjustments associated with these errors resulted in a cumulative pre-tax increase in retained earnings of
$2.4 billion as of December 31, 2003. These restatement adjustments also resulted in an increase of $144 million in total assets and
adecreasein total liabilities of $1.6 billion as of December 31, 2003. Each of the errors that resulted in these adjustmentsis
described below.

For guaranties entered into before January 1, 2003, the effective date of FIN No. 45, Guarantor’ s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (an interpretation of FASB Satements
No. 5, 57, and 107 and rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34) (* FIN 45" ), we made errors in applying amortization to
up-front cash receipts associated with our guaranties, known as buy-downs and risk-based pricing adjustments, pursuant to
SFAS No. 91, Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct
Costs of Leases (an amendment of FASB Statements No. 13, 60, and 65 and rescission of FASB Statement No. 17) (* SFAS91” ).
The errors in amortization of these items are described in the “ Amortization of Cost Basis Adjustments’ section below. The
impact of correcting these errors resulted in changes in the periodic recognition of “ Guaranty feeincome” in the consolidated
statements of income. For guaranties entered into or modified after the adoption of FIN 45, buy-downs and risk-based pricing
adjustments should have been recorded as an additional component of “ Guaranty obligations” and amortized in proportion to the
reductionto “ Guaranty assets.” Theimpact of correcting this error resulted in changes in the carrying amount of “ Other
liabilities” and“ Guaranty obligations” in the consolidated balance sheets and changes in the periodic recognition of “ Guaranty
feeincome” in the consolidated statements of income.

We had valuation errors associated with our guaranty assets and guaranty obligations. We incorrectly included up-front cash
payments associated with our guaranties, known as buy-ups, in the basis of our guaranty assets while also recording these buy-ups
as a separate asset included in * Other assets” in the consolidated balance sheets. We recorded guaranty obligations equal to the
recorded guaranty assets, including any buy-ups, when we should have independently measured guaranty obligations at fair value
based on estimates of expected credit losses and recorded deferred profit associated with these arrangements. The impact of
correcting these errors resulted in decreasesin “ Other assets’ and “ Guaranty obligations’ in the consolidated balance sheets.

We did not correctly account for buy-ups. Historically, we accounted for buy-ups at amortized cost under the retrospective
effective interest method pursuant to SFAS 91. However, since the recognition of income on a buy-up is subject to the risk that we
may not substantially recover our investment due to prepayments, we should have subsegquently measured the fair value of the
buy-ups as if they were debt securities pursuant to SFAS 140 and recorded imputed interest as a component of “ Guaranty fee
income” in the consolidated statements of income under the prospective interest method pursuant to EITF 99-20. The impact of
correcting
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this error resulted in recording buy-ups at fair value as a component of “ Other assets’” in the consolidated bal ance sheets with
changesin the fair value recorded in AOCI in the consolidated balance sheets.

In some transactions, we receive the benefit of lender-provided credit enhancements, such as lender recourse, in lieu of receiving a
higher guaranty fee. Previously, we did not record these credit enhancements as assets in the consolidated balance sheets. The
impact of correcting this error resulted in the recognition of credit enhancements as a component of “ Other assets,” an offsetting
increaseto“ Guaranty obligations’ and subsequent amortization of the credit enhancement as a component of “ Other expenses’
in the consolidated statements of income.

Historically, when we acquired a Fannie Mae MBS, we reduced the recorded guaranty asset and guaranty obligation by an amount
equal to the pro rata portion of Fannie Mae MBS held in the consolidated bal ance sheets relative to the total amount of gross
outstanding Fannie Mae MBS. In addition, we reclassified a pro rata portion of recorded guaranty fee income to interest incomein
an amount equal to the ratio of the Fannie Mae MBS held in the consolidated balance sheets relative to the total amount of gross
outstanding Fannie Mae MBS. Because each Fannie Mae MBS trust to which we have a guaranty obligation, and from which we
have the right to receive guaranty fees, is separate from us, we should not have reduced the recorded guaranty asset and guaranty
obligation or reclassified guaranty fee income with respect to Fannie Mae MBS held in the consolidated balance sheets unless we
had consolidated the related MBS trust. Correcting this error increased “ Guaranty assets’ and “ Guaranty obligations’ in the
consolidated balance sheets, and resulted in adecreasein “ Net interest income” of $948 million and a corresponding increase in
“ Guaranty feeincome” in the consolidated statements of income for the year ended December 31, 2003.

We did not record certain retained interests as guaranty assets and certain recourse obligations as guaranty obligationsin



connection with the transfer of loans to MBS trusts for which we were the transferor pursuant to SFAS 125 and SFAS 140. To
correct this error, we examined all of our guaranty arrangements in these transactions and recorded guaranty assets and guaranty
obligations as applicable. The impact of correcting this error resulted in anincrease in“ Guaranty assets” and “ Guaranty
obligations’ in the consolidated balance sheets with any remaining difference being recorded as a component of “ Investment
losses, net” in the consolidated statements of income.

We assume an obligation to perform certain limited master servicing activities in connection with securitizations and are
compensated for assuming this obligation. We did not previously recognize master servicing assets and related deferred profit
associated with our role as master servicer pursuant to SFAS 125 and SFAS 140. To correct this error, we reviewed our trust
agreements to determine when we had master servicing responsibilities. The impact of correcting this error generally resulted in the
recognition of master servicing assets as a component of “ Other assets’ and the recognition of a corresponding amount of
deferred profit as a component of “ Other liabilities,” with subsequent amortization and impairment recorded to “ Fee and other
income” in the consolidated statements of income.

Impairment of Guaranty Assets and Buy-ups

We identified the following errors associated with the impairment of guaranties: we did not assess guaranty assets or buy-ups for
impairment in accordance with EITF 99-20 and SFAS 115, as appropriate.

The restatement adjustments related to impairments resulted in a cumulative pre-tax decrease in retained earnings of $2.3 billion
and adecrease of $1.8 hillion in total assets as of December 31, 2003. Each of the errors that resulted in these adjustmentsis
described below.

We did not assess guaranty assets for impairment. As aresult, guaranty assets were overstated in previously issued financial
statements. The impact of correcting this error resulted in areduction to “ Guaranty assets’” with a proportional reduction to
“ Guaranty obligations’ in the consolidated balance sheets. The impairment of the guaranty asset was fully offset by amortization
of the guaranty obligation. While the impairment of the guaranty asset is categorized in this section, the proportionate reduction of
the guaranty obligation is categorized in the “ Recognition, Valuation and Amortization of Guaranties and Master Servicing”
section above.
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We did not assess buy-ups for impairment. Asaresult, “ Other assets’ and “ Guaranty feeincome” were overstated in
previously issued financial statements. The impact of correcting this error resulted in adecreasein“ Other assets” inthe
consolidated balance sheets and adecrease in “ Guaranty feeincome” in the consolidated statements of income.

For the six-month period ended June 30, 2004, we recorded a pre-tax decrease in net income of $143 million related to the
accounting errors described above. In combination with the effect of these errors through December 31, 2003 discussed above, the
cumulative impact of the restatement of these errors on our consolidated financial statements was to increase retained earnings by
$4 million as of June 30, 2004. The decrease in net income in the six-month period ended June 30, 2004 was primarily the result of
the amortization of “ Guaranty obligations.”

Amortization of Cost Basis Adjustments

We identified multiple errors in amortization of mortgage |oan and securities premiums, discounts and other cost basis
adjustments. The most significant errors were that we applied incorrect prepayment speeds to cost basis adjustments; we
aggregated dissimilar assets in computing amortization; and we incorrectly recorded cumulative amortization adjustments.
Additionally, the correction of cost basis adjustments in other error categories, primarily settled mortgage loan and security
commitments, resulted in the recognition of additional amortization. The errorsthat led to these corrected cost basis adjustments
are described inthe* Commitments,” “ Investmentsin Securities” and“ MBS Trust Consolidation and Sale Accounting”
sections above.

The restatement adjustments relating to these amortization errors resulted in a cumulative pre-tax decrease in retained earnings of
$1.1 billion as of December 31, 2003. Each of the errors that resulted in these adjustments is described below.

SFAS 91 requires the recognition of cost basis adjustments as an adjustment to interest income over the life of aloan or security
by using the interest method and applying a constant effectiveyield (“ level yield” ). In calculating alevel yield, we calculate
amortization factors, based on prepayment and interest rate assumptions. Our method for estimating prepayment rates applied
incorrect assumptions to certain assets.

In addition, we incorrectly aggregated dissimilar assetsin computing amortization. Our amortization calculation aggregated loans
with awide range of coupon rates, which in some cases led to amortization results that did not produce an appropriate level yield
over the life of the loans. To correct this error, we recal culated amortization of loans and securities factoring in prepayment and



interest rate assumptions that were applied to the appropriate asset types. The impact of correcting these errors resulted in changes
in the periodic recognition of interest income in the consolidated statements of income.

The manner in which we calculated and recorded the cumulative “ catch-up” adjustment was inconsistent with the provisions of
SFAS 91. Theimpact of correcting this error resulted in changes in the periodic recognition of interest incomein the consolidated
statements of income.

For the six-month period ended June 30, 2004, we recorded a pre-tax decrease in net income of $70 million related to the
accounting errors described above. In combination with the effect of these errors through December 31, 2003 discussed above, the
cumulative impact of the restatement of these errors on our consolidated financial statements was to decrease retained earnings by
$1.1 billion as of June 30, 2004.

Other Adjustments

In addition to the previously noted errors, we identified and recorded other restatement adjustments related to accounting,
presentation, classification and other errors that did not fall within the six categories described above.

The accumulation of the other restatement adjustments listed below resulted in a cumulative pre-tax decrease in retained earnings
of $973 million as of December 31, 2003. The other restatement adjustments resulted in an increase of $5.0 hillion in total assets
and an increase of $5.2 billion in total liabilities as of December 31, 2003.
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The following categories summarize the most significant other adjustments recorded as part of the restatement:

» Accounting for partnership investments. We incorrectly accounted for a portion of our LIHTC and other partnership
investments using the effective yield method instead of using the equity method of accounting. The correction of this
error resulted in changesin the carrying amount of these investmentsin the consolidated balance sheets, the recognition
of our obligations to fund the partnerships, and changes in the income recognition on these investmentsin the
consolidated statements of income. Additionally, we failed to consolidate a portion of the LIHTC and other partnership
investments in which we were deemed to be the primary beneficiary pursuant to FIN 46R, which resulted in the reversal
of any previously recorded investment and recognition of the underlying assets and liabilities of the entity in the
consolidated balance sheets and, at the same time, we incorrectly consolidated some partnership investments which had
the reverse effect. We also made errorsin the capitalization of interest expense, measurement of impairment and the
recognition of our obligations to fund our partnership investments. The correction of these errors resulted in changesin
the amount of interest expense and impairment recognized in the consolidated statements of income. Lastly, we made
errors in the computation of net operating losses and tax credits allocated to us from these partnerships. The correction of
these errors resulted in changesin “ Deferred tax assets’ in the consolidated balance sheets and changesin the
“ Provision for federal income taxes’ in the consolidated statements of income. These restatement adjustments resulted
in a cumulative pre-tax decrease in retained earnings of $603 million, an increase of $791 million in total assets and an
increase of $878 million in total liabilities as of December 31, 2003. In addition to the tax provision recorded for the
partnership investments restatement adjustments, we also recorded a decrease in federal income tax expense of
$138 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 due to changes in the recognition and classification of related tax
credits and net operating losses.

» Classification of loans held for sale. Weincorrectly classified loans held for securitization at afuture date as HFI loans
rather than HFS loans pursuant to SFAS No. 65, Accounting for Certain Mortgage Banking Activities. Accordingly, we
did not record LOCOM adjustments on these loans. To correct this error, we recorded an adjustment to reclassify such
loans from HFI to HFS and recorded an associated LOCOM adjustment. These restatement adjustments resulted in a
cumulative pre-tax decrease in retained earnings of $386 million as of December 31, 2003.

» Provision for credit losses. We incorrectly recorded the “ Provision for credit losses’ due to errors associated with the
“ Allowance for loan losses,” “ Reservefor guaranty losses,” aswell as REO and troubled debt restructurings
(“ TDRS" ' ).

— We made errorsin developing our estimates of the Allowance for loan losses’ and the “ Reserve for guaranty
losses,” which resulted in an understatement of the provision for credit losses. These errors were primarily related to
the use of inappropriate data in the calculation of the allowance and reserve, such as incorrect loan populations,
inaccurate default statistics and inaccurate loss severity in the event that |oans default. We also made judgmental
adjustments to the calculated allowance without adequate support and incorrectly included an estimate of credit
enhancement collectionsin the estimate of the* Allowance for loan losses.” Estimates of recoveries from credit
enhancements that were not entered into contemporaneously or in contemplation of a guaranty or loan purchase



should not have been included in the overall estimate of the allowance or the reserve. Asaresult of misclassifying
certain loans as HFI, we incorrectly recorded an “ Allowance for loan losses’ on these loans. Finally, we did not
properly alocate the reserve between the“ Allowance for loan losses’ and the“ Reserve for guaranty losses.” To
correct these errors, we recal culated the allowance and reserve with updated information and supportable data,
reviewed and documented any judgmental adjustments and appropriately applied estimates of recoveries from credit
enhancements to the loan popul ation.

— We made errorsin calculating loan charge-off amounts. These errors were related to REO and foreclosed property

expense, including making inappropriate determinations of theinitial cost basis of REO assets at foreclosure, as well
as not expensing costs related to foreclosure activities in the proper periods. To correct these errors, we reviewed
REO and foreclosed property expense to determine and record the appropriate cost basis and timing of charge-offs
and expense recognition. We also
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incorrectly recognized insurance proceeds in excess of estimated charge-off at foreclosure and fair value gains above
the recorded investment of REO properties as recoveries to the allowance and the reserve. To correct this error, we
recal culated the allowance and reserve.

— We higtorically did not recognize modifications that granted concessions to borrowers as TDRs pursuant to

SFAS No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan (an amendment of FASB Statement No. 5 and

15) (* SFAS 114" ). To correct this error, we recognized these modifications as TDRs and recorded an adjustment to
the® Allowance for loan losses” and the® Provision for credit losses’ in the consolidated balance sheets and
consolidated statements of income, respectively.

The restatement adjustments associated with these errors resulted in a pre-tax increase in the provision for credit losses of
$273 million for the year ended December 31, 2003; however, the cumulative impact on retained earnings was a decrease of
$87 million as of December 31, 2003.

Early funding. We offer early funding options to lenders that allow them to receive cash payments for mortgage loans
that will be securitized into Fannie Mae MBS at afuture date. A corresponding forward commitment to sell the security
that will be backed by the mortgage loansis required to be delivered with the mortgage loans and is executed on the
settlement date of the commitment. We incorrectly recorded these transactions as HFS loans prior to the actual creation
of the Fannie Mae MBS when we were the intended purchaser of the MBS. The impact of correcting this error was to
remove any previous HFS loans from these transactions and record the transactions as“ Advancesto lenders,” carried at
amortized cost, in the consolidated balance shests, resulting in a decrease of $4.7 billionin“ Mortgage loans” with a
corresponding increasein “ Advancesto lenders’ as of December 31, 2003.

Collateral associated with derivatives contracts. We did not record cash collateral we received associated with some
derivatives contracts. The impact of correcting this error was to record additional “ Cash and cash equivalents’” of
$2.3 billion and “ Restricted cash” of $1.1 billion, and a corresponding liability to our derivative counterpartiesin

“ Other liabilities” of $3.4 billion, as of December 31, 2003.

The following items, while restatement errors, were not individually significant to the consolidated financial statements for the
restatement period:

Accounting for reverse mortgages. We made errors in accounting for reverse mortgages. When computing interest
income on reverse mortgages we did not use the expected life of the borrower and house price expectations in the interest
income calculations and did not apply the retrospective level yield method. To correct this error, we recal cul ated interest
income for these mortgages and recorded the changein “ Interest income” in the consolidated statements of income. We
also incorrectly recorded loan loss reserves on these mortgages. To correct this error, we adjusted the“ Allowance for
loanlosses’ and the“ Provision for credit losses’ in the consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of
income, respectively.

Accrued interest on delinquent loans. We incorrectly included a recovery rate, which was based on historic trends of
loans that subsequently changed to current payment status, in calculating accrued interest on delinquent loans. The effect
of this error wasto record interest income on loans that should have been on nonaccrual status. The correction of this
error resulted in the reversal of interest income recorded in the periods when loans should have been on nonaccrual
status.

Amortization of prepaid mortgage insurance. We amortized prepaid mortgage insurance over a period that is not



representative of the period in which we received the benefits of the mortgage insurance. To correct this error, we
recal culated amortization of this mortgage insurance and recorded the differencein “ Other expenses’ inthe
consolidated statements of income.

» Computation of interest income. We incorrectly calculated interest income on certain investments. The calculations
utilized a convention that was based on the average number of days of interest in a month regardless of the actual number
of daysin the month. We corrected the calculation of interest using the actual number of days in the month and adjusted
the timing of interest income recognition.
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» Mortgage insurance contract. We entered into a mortgage insurance contract that did not transfer sufficient underlying
risk of economic loss to the insurer and therefore did not qualify as mortgage insurance for accounting purposes. We
incorrectly amortized the premiums paid as an expense. To correct this error, we recorded premiums paid on the policy
as adeposit, reducing such deposit as recoveries from the policy were received.

»  Sock-based compensation. We made errors in the computation and classification of stock-based compensation,
including the misclassification of some awards as non-compensatory when they were compensatory. The impact of
correcting these errors resulted in the recognition of additional “ Salaries and employee benefits expense” inthe
consolidated statements of income, adecreasein “ Other liabilities’ and anincreasein“ Additional paid-in capital” in
the consolidated balance sheets. None of these errors related to awards that were not properly authorized and priced.

In addition to the specified errors listed and described above, we recognized other restatement adjustments related to our revised
accounting policies and practices. These adjustments, both individually and in the aggregate, did not have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.

Asaresult of our restatement adjustments, our effective tax rate decreased from the previously reported 26% to 24% for the year
ended December 31, 2003 and from the previously reported 24% to 18% for the year ended December 31, 2002. These decreases
resulted from errorsin our tax provision primarily relating to the recognition of higher levels of tax credits from our investment in
affordable housing projects and changes to deferred tax balances. As aresult, the change in the provision for federal taxesasa
percentage of the change in pre-tax income was higher than the statutory federal rate or our effective tax rate. See“ Notesto
Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 11, Income Taxes’ for our restated tax rate reconciliation. In addition, the tax effects
were applied to each of the categories identified above to display each error category net of tax and with the earnings per share
impact.

For the six-month period ended June 30, 2004, we recorded a pre-tax decrease in net income of $320 million related to the
accounting errors described above. In combination with the effect of these errors through December 31, 2003 discussed above, the
cumulative impact of the restatement of these errors on our consolidated financial statements was to decrease retained earnings by
$1.3 billion as of June 30, 2004. The decrease in net income in the six-month period ended June 30, 2004 was primarily the result
of accounting for partnership investments, classification of loans held for sale and the provision for credit losses.

In addition to the consolidated financial statement errors discussed above, we incorrectly applied the treasury stock method in
computing the weighted average shares pursuant to SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share. Thisresulted in a different number of
weighted average dilutive shares outstanding being utilized in the earnings per share calculation. While common stock outstanding
has not been restated, diluted EPS has been recal culated using the revised weighted average diluted shares.

We also identified errorsin the presentation of business segments that were not in conformity with the requirements of
SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information. For further information on this error, see
“ Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 15, Segment Reporting.”

We made errors in the fair value disclosure of financial instruments pursuant to SFAS No. 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of
Financial Instruments (* SFAS 107" ), by incorrectly calculating the fair value of our derivatives, commitments and AFS
securities, as described above. In addition, we incorrectly calculated the fair value of our guaranty assets and guaranty obligations,
which affected the fair value of our whole loans. We also incorrectly calculated the fair value of our HTM securities and debt. For
our guaranty obligations, we did not appropriately consider an estimate of the return on capital required by athird party to assume
our liability. Correcting this error resulted in an increase in our guaranty obligations of approximately $1.2 billion (net of tax) and a
decrease in the fair value of our whole loans of approximately $200 million (net of tax). Thisincrease in the fair value of our
guaranty obligations, coupled with other fair value changes made in re-estimating the guaranty components, resulted in a decrease
inthe fair value of our net guaranty assets of approximately $1.7 billion (net of tax) as of December 31, 2003. For our HTM
securities, we did not
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appropriately consider security characteristics and aggregation in developing our estimate of fair value. Correcting these errors
resulted in areduction in the fair value of these assets of approximately $800 million (net of tax) as of December 31, 2003, which
was primarily due to changesin the estimated fair values of mortgage revenue bonds and REMICs. For our debt, we did not
appropriately exclude certain commission costs associated with the issuance of new debt securities in creating the yield curve we
used for estimating fair value. Correcting this error resulted in an increase in the estimated fair value of our debt of approximately
$300 million (net of tax) as of December 31, 2003. For our out-of-the-money derivative options, we did not fully incorporate
available market information that differentiates at-the-money volatilities from out-of-the-money volatilities in estimating fair value.
Correcting the error resulted in a decrease in the estimated fair value of our derivatives of approximately $200 million (net of tax)
as of December 31, 2003. To correct these errors, we recal culated the fair value of these items using new assumptions, observable
data and appropriate levels of specificity. The impact of recal culating the estimated fair value of these itemsisreflected in “ Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements —Note 19, Fair Value of Financial |nstruments.”

Financial Statement Impact

The following tables display the net impact of restatement adjustments in the previously issued consolidated balance shests,
consolidated statements of income, consolidated statements of cash flows and regulatory capital for 2003 and 2002. In addition, we
have included tables displaying the net impact of restatement adjustments on stockholders’  equity and in the consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2001. The following consolidated financial statements are presented in a condensed format.

Balance Sheet Impact

The following table displays the cumulative impact of the restatement on the condensed consolidated bal ance sheet through and as
of December 31, 2003.

Table 2: Balance Sheet Impact of Restatement as of December 31, 2003

Restatement Adjustmentsfor:

MBS Trust Financial Amortizatic
As Consolidation Guaranties of Cost Total
Previously Debt and Investments and Sale and Master Basis Other Restatement As
Reported® Derivatives ~ Commitmen  in Securities Accounting Servicing Adjustment  Adjustments Adjustments Restated
(Doallarsin millions)
Assets:
Investments in securities $ 712763 $ — $ 3479 $ 5458 $ (153971 $ — $ (401 $ (258) $ (145693)® $ 567,070
Mortgage loans 240,844 — 874 115 162,780 — (519) (5,033) 158,217© 399,061
Derivative assets at fair value 8,191 (1,014) 8 — — — — 33 (973)@ 7,218
Guaranty assets 5,666 = = = (200) (1,184) = = (1,384)@ 4,282
Deferred tax assets 9,142 (2,221) (2,613) (646) (175) (106) 332 369 (5,060)" 4,082
Other assets 32,963 (1,760) 3,097 (3,685) 487 (411) 10 9,861 7,599 40,562
Total assets $..1000560 $__(4905) $ 4845 $ 1242 $ 8921 $ (1701 $ (578) $ 4972 $ 12 706 $ 1022275
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Liabilities:
Debt $ 958,064 $ (6,748) $ ) - $ 9,906 $ - 3 ) 58 $ 32160 ¢ 961,280
Derivative liabilities at fair value 1,600 1,632 (7) — — — — — 1,625@ 3,225
Guaranty obligations 5,666 — — — (796) 1,531 — — 7350 6,401
Other liabilities 21,815 (4,002) (1) 37 (507) (3,442) 39 5,157 (2,719)9 19,096
Total liabilities 987,145 (9,118) (8) 37 8,603 (1,911) 39 5,215 2,857 990,002
Minority interests in consolidated
subsidiaries 51 — — — — — — (46) (46) 5)
Stockholders'  Equity:
Retained earnings 35,496 (8,079) 2,399 (1,106) 118 101 (688) (318) (7,573)® 27,923
Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) (12,032) 12,202 2,454 2,311 200 109 71 — 17,3470 5,315
Other stockholders  equity (1,091) — — — — — — 121 121 (970)
Total stockholders equity 22,373 4,123 4,853 1,205 318 210 (617) (297) 9,895 32,268
Total liabilities and stockholders
equity $..1000560 $__(4905) $__ 4845 $ 1242 $ 8921 $ (170 $ (578) $ 4972 $ 12 706 $_1.022.275
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Certain previously reported balances have been reclassified to conform to the current condensed consolidated balance sheet presentation,

asdescribed in“ Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”
® Reflects the impact of MBS trust consolidation and sale accounting; the derecognition of HTM securities at amortized cost and
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recognition of AFS and trading securities at fair value; the reversal of the SFAS 149 transition adjustment and recognition of revised
securities commitment basis adjustments; the recognition of revised amortization on securities cost basis adjustments; and the
derecognition of securities related to failed dollar roll repurchase transactions that did not meet the criteria for secured borrowing
accounting.

Reflects the impact of MBS trust consolidation and sale accounting; the reclassification of “ Mortgage loans” to“ Advancesto
lenders;” the recognition of revised mortgage loan commitment basis adjustments; the recognition of the LOCOM adjustment for loans
classified as HFS; and the recognition of revised amortization on mortgage loan cost basis adjustments.

Reflects the reclassification of interest rate swap accruals from accrued interest and recognition of derivative fair value adjustments.
Reflects the impairment of guaranty assets; the reversal of buy-up amountsincluded in the basis of the guaranty assets; and the
derecognition of guaranty arrangements upon consolidation.

Reflects the impact of restatement adjustments on deferred taxes and the correction of tax credit-related errors associated with
partnership investments.

Reflects the reclassification of interest rate swap accrualsto “ Derivative assets at fair value;” the reclassification of “ Advancesto
lenders’ from*“ Mortgageloans;” theimpairment of buy-ups; the recognition of “ Restricted cash” and“ Cash and cash equivalents’
related to collateral received from derivatives counterparties; and the impact of cost basis transfers between error categories.

Reflects the reversal of previously recorded unrealized gains and losses on the hedged items associated with fair value hedges; the
recognition of revised amortization of debt basis adjustments; and the recognition of short-term and long-term debt upon consolidation of
MBS trusts in which we own less than 100% of the related securities.

Reflects the valuation adjustment related to the guaranty obligations; the reclassification of buy-downs and risk-based pricing
adjustments from “ Other liaghilities;” and the derecognition of guaranty arrangements upon consolidation.

Reflects the reclassification of interest rate swap accrualsto “ Derivative liabilities at fair value;” the reversal of short-term debt
associated with failed dollar roll repurchase transactions; the reclassification of buy-downs and risk-based pricing adjustments to

“ Guaranty obligations;” and the recognition of liabilities to derivative counterparties associated with restricted cash.

Reflects the recognition of derivative fair value adjustments to the consolidated statements of income and other income or expense
related adjustments.

Reflects the reversal of previously recorded derivatives fair value adjustments and the recognition of unrealized gains (losses) on AFS
securities and buy-ups.
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The following table displays the cumulative impact of the restatement on the condensed consolidated balance sheet through and as
of December 31, 2002.

Table 3: Balance Sheet Impact of Restatement as of December 31, 2002
Restatement Adjustmentsfor:
MBS Trust Financial Amortizatio
As Consolidation Guaranties of Cost Total
Previously Debt and Investments and Sale and Master Basis Other Restatement As
Reported® Derivatives Commitment _in Securities Accounting Servicing  Adjustment:  Adjustments Adjustments Restated
(Dollarsin millions)
Assets:
Investmentsin securities  $ 650,616 $ — % 230 $ 33278 $ (128809) $ - % 558 $ (20,788) $ (115531)® $ 535,085
Mortgage loans 206,905 — 683 (20,576) 136,097 — (291) 1,552 117,465© 324,370
Derivative assets at fair
vaue 3,666 (297) 1,554 — — — — — 1,257 4,923
Deferred tax assets 8,053 (2,885) (2,035) (2,969) (309) (23) (111) 279 (8,053)@ —
Other assets 18,275 (501) 3,737 (4,539) 674 (864) 108 23471 22,086 40,361
Total assets $ 887515 $ (3.683) $ 4160 $ 5194 3 7653 3$__(837) 3 264 3 4514 $ 17.224 $_.904739
Liabilitiesand
Stockholders'  Equity
Liabilities:
Debt $ 841899 $ (8,237) $ - 8 - 3 7516 $ - $ - $ 115 $ (606)@ $ 841,293
Derivative liabilities at fair
vaue 5,697 1,036 169 — - — - — 1,205@ 6,902
Other liabilities 23,631 (1,840 220 (324) (438) (890) 58 4,228 1,014M 24,645
Total liabilities 871,227 (9,041) 389 (324 7,078 (890) 58 4,343 1,613 872,840
Stockholders' Equity:
Retained earnings 29,385 (20,909) 3,771 (891) 39 (18) 188 73 (7,747)® 21,638
Accumulated other
comprehensive (10ss)
income (11,792) 16,267 9 6,409 536 21 18 — 23,2600 11,468
Other stockholders
equity (1,305) — — — — — — 98 98 (1,207)
Total stockholders'
equity 16,288 5,358 3,780 5,518 575 3 206 171 15,611 31,899

Total liabilities and
stockholders'  equity $ 887515 $ (3683 $ 4160 $ 5194 3 7653 $__(88) $ 264 $ 4514 $ 17.224 $_.904739
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Certain previously reported balances have been reclassified to conform to the current condensed consolidated bal ance sheet presentation,
asdescribed in“ Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”

Reflects the impact of MBS trust consolidation and sale accounting; the derecognition of HTM securities at amortized cost and
recognition of AFS and trading securities at fair value, including commitments accounted for under EITF 96-11; the recognition of
revised securities commitment basis adjustments; the recognition of revised amortization on securities cost basis adjustments; and the
derecognition of securities related to failed dollar roll repurchase transactions that did not meet the criteriafor secured borrowing
accounting.

Reflects the impact of MBS trust consolidation and sale accounting; the reclassification of “ Mortgage loans” to“ Advancesto
lenders;” the recognition of mortgage loan commitment basis adjustments; the recognition of the LOCOM adjustment for loans
classified as HFS; and the recognition of revised amortization on mortgage loan cost basis adjustments.

Reflects the reclassification of interest rate swap accruals from accrued interest and recognition of derivative fair value adjustments.
Reflects the impact of restatement adjustments on deferred taxes and the correction of tax credit-related errors associated with
partnership investments.

Reflects the reclassification of interest rate swap accrualsto “ Derivative assets at fair value;” the reclassification of “ Advancesto
lenders’ from*“ Mortgage loans;” theimpairment of buy-ups; the recognition of “ Restricted cash” and “ Cash and cash equivalents’
related to collateral received from derivatives counterparties; and the impact of cost basis transfers between error categories.

Reflects the reversal of previously recorded unrealized gains and losses on hedged items associated with fair value hedges; the
recognition of revised amortization of debt basis adjustments; and the recognition of short-term and long-term debt upon consolidation of
MBS trusts in which we own less than 100% of the related securities.

Reflects the reclassification of interest rate swap accrualsto “ Derivative liabilities at fair value;,” the reversal of short-term debt
associated with failed dollar roll repurchase transactions; the correction of amortization of buy-downs and risk-based pricing
adjustments; and the recognition of liabilities to derivative counterparties associated with restricted cash.
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Reflects the recognition of derivative fair value adjustments to the consolidated statements of income and other income or expense related
adjustments.

Reflects the reversal of previously recorded derivatives fair value adjustments and the recognition of unrealized gains (losses) on AFS
securities and buy-ups.

The following table displays the cumulative impact of the restatement on the condensed consolidated balance sheet for al periods
through and as of December 31, 2001.

Table 4: Balance Sheet Impact of Restatement as of December 31, 2001

As Total
Previously Restatement As
Reported® Adjustments Restated
(Dollarsin millions)
Assets:
Investmentsin securities $ 602,429 $  (99,093)® $ 503,336
Mortgage loans 172,127 106,710© 278,837
Derivative assets at fair value 954 (130)@ 824
Deferred tax assets 3,821 (2,634)©@ 1,187
Other assets 20,617 9,760M 30,377
Total assets $ 799048 $ 14,613 $_ 814561
Liabilities and Stockholders'  Equity
Liabilities:
Debt $ 757,510 $ 7,5209 $ 765,030
Derivative liabilities at fair value 5,069 2,508 7,577
Other liabilities 19,251 (553" 18,698
Total liabilities 781,830 9,475 791,305
Stockholders’  Equity:
Retained earnings 26,175 (7,041)® 19,134
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (7,065) 12,0870 5,022
Other stockholders’ equity (992) 92 (900)
Total stockholders' equity 18,118 5,138 23,256

Total liabilities and stockholders  equity $ 799,948 $ 14,613 $__814561




@ Certain previoudly reported balances have been reclassified to conform to the current condensed consolidated balance sheet presentation,

asdescribed in“ Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”

Reflects the impact of MBS trust consolidation and sale accounting; the derecognition of HTM securities at amortized cost and

recognition of AFS and trading securities at fair value, including commitments accounted for under EITF 96-11; the recognition of

revised securities commitment basis adjustments; the recognition of revised amortization on securities cost basis adjustments; and the

derecognition of securities related to failed dollar roll repurchase transactions that did not meet the criteriafor secured borrowing

accounting.

© Reflectsimpact of MBS trust consolidation and sale accounting; the reclassification of “ Mortgage loans’ to“ Advancesto lenders;”

the recognition of mortgage loan commitment basis adjustments; the recognition of the LOCOM adjustment for loans classified as HFS;

and the recognition of revised amortization on mortgage loan cost basis adjustments.

Reflects the reclassification of interest rate swap accruals from accrued interest and recognition of derivative fair value adjustments.

© Reflects the impact of restatement adjustments on deferred taxes and the correction of tax credit-related errors associated with
partnership investments.

O Reflects the reclassification of interest rate swap accrualsto “ Derivative assets at fair value;” the reclassification of  Advancesto
lenders’ from*“ Mortgage loans;” theimpairment of buy-ups; the recognition of “ Restricted cash” and “ Cash and cash equivalents’
related to collateral received from derivatives counterparties; and the impact of cost basis transfers between error categories.
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© Reflects the reversal of previously recorded unrealized gains and losses on hedged items associated with fair value hedges; the

recognition of revised amortization of debt basis adjustments; and the recognition of short-term and long-term debt upon consolidation of
MBS trusts in which we own less than 100% of the related securities.

Reflects the reclassification of interest rate swap accrualsto “ Derivative liabilities at fair value;,” the reversal of short-term debt
associated with failed dollar roll repurchase transactions; the correction of amortization of buy-downs and risk-based pricing
adjustments; and the recognition of liabilities to derivative counterparties associated with restricted cash.

Reflects the recognition of derivative fair value adjustments to the consolidated statements of income and other income or expense
related adjustments.

Reflects the reversal of previously recorded derivatives fair value adjustments and the recognition of unrealized gains (losses) on AFS
securities and buy-ups.

(h
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The following table displays the cumulative impact of the restatement on consolidated stockholders  equity in the condensed
consolidated balance sheet through and as of December 31, 2001.

Table5: Stockholders Equity Impact of Restatement as of December 31, 2001

Accumulated
Other Other Total
Retained Comprehensive Stockholders Stockholders
Earnings (L oss) Income Equity Equity
(Dollarsin millions)
December 31, 2001 balance, as previously reported $ 26,175 $ (7,065) $ (992) $ 18,118
Restatement adjustments for:
Debt and derivatives (10,622)@ 11,363® — 741
Commitments 413 1 — 414
Investments in securities (660) 6,880 — 6,220
MBS trust consolidation and sale accounting 119 81 — 200
Financia guaranties and master servicing (206) 268 — 62
Amortization of cost basis adjustments 154 — — 154
Other adjustments 296 — 92 388
Pre-tax total impact of restatement adjustments (10,506) 18,593 92 8,179
Tax impact (benefit) of restatement adjustments (3,465) 6,506 — 3,041
Total impact of restatement adjustments (7,041) 12,087 92 5,138
December 31, 2001 balance, as restated $ 19134 $ 5,022 $ (900) $ 23,256

@ Reflectsthe recognition of derivative fair value gains (losses) and revised amortization of debt cost basis adjustments.
® Reflects the reversal of previously recorded derivative fair value losses.



© Reflects the recognition of net unrealized gains on AFS securities.
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Statement of Income Impact

The following table displays the impact of the restatement on the December 31, 2003 condensed consolidated statement of

income.

Table6: Income Statement Impact of Restatement for the Year Ended December 31, 2003

Restatement Adjustmentsfor:

MBS Trust Financial
As Consolidatior Guaranties Amortization Total
Previously Debt and Investments and Sale and Master of Cost Basis Other Restatement As
Reported® Derivatives =~ Commitments  in Securities Accounting Servicing Adjustments  Adjustments  Adjustments Restated
(Dollarsin millions, except per sharedata)

Net interest income $ 13569 $ 8098 $ - $ (162) $ 251 % (948) $ (1,355) $ 24 $ 5908 $ 19,477
Guaranty feeincome 2,411 — — (1) (247) 1,126 — (8) 870 3,281
Investment losses, net (123) (53) (280) (241) (230) — (1) (303) (1,108) (1,231)
Derivatives fair value losses,

net (2,180) (2,567) (1,543) — — — — 1 (4,109) (6,289)
Debt extinguishments losses,

net (2,261) (430) — — — - - 1) (431) (2,692)
Loss from partnership

investments (336) — — — — — — (301) (301) (637)
Fee and other income 1,076 (692) (©)] 72 — 14 - (127) (736) 340
Expenses 1,743 — — — — 17 (8) 211 220 1,963
Income before federal income

taxes, extraordinary gains

(losses), and cumulative

effect of achangein

accounting principle 10,413 4,356 (1,826) (332) (226) 175 (1,348) (926) (127) 10,286
Provision (benefit) for federal

income taxes 2,693 1,525 (639) (116) (77 56 (472) (536) (259 2,434
Income before extraordinary

gains (losses) and

cumulative effect of a

change in accounting

principle 7,720 2,831 (1,187) (216) (149) 119 (876) (390) 132 7,852
Extraordinary gains (losses),

net of tax effect — — — — 195 — — — 195 195
Cumulative effect of changein

accounting principle, net of

tax effect 185 — (185) — 34 — — — (151) 34
Net income 7,905 2,831 (1,372) (216) 80 119 (876) (390) 176 8,081
Preferred stock dividends and

issuance costs at redemption (150) — — — — — — — — (150)
Net income available to

common stockholders $ 7755 $ 2831 $  (1372) $ (216) $ 80 $ 119 $ (876) $ (390) $ 176 $___ 7931
Basic earnings per share $ 793 § 20 $ (1400 $ (022) $ 008 $ 013 $ (090 $ (040) $ 019 $ 8.12
Diluted earnings per share $ 791 $ 28 § (140) $ (0.22) $ 008 $ 012 $ (089 $ (041) $ 017 $ 8.08

@ Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current condensed income statements presentation, as described in “ Notesto

Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”
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The following table displays the impact of the restatement on the December 31, 2002 condensed consolidated statement of

income.

Table 7: Income Statement I mpact of Restatement for the Year Ended December 31, 2002

Restatement Adjustmentsfor:

MBS Trust Financial

As Consolidatior ~ Guaranties ~ Amortization

Total



Previously Debt and Investments and Sale and Master  of Cost Basis Other Restatement As

Reported® Derivatives Commitment in Securities Accounting Servicing Adjustments  Adjustments Adjustments Restated
(Dollarsin millions, except per share data)

Net interest income $ 10566 $ 8317 $ - $ @B81) $ 165 $ (768) $ 144 $ 83 $ 7860 $ 18426
Guaranty feeincome 1,816 — — Q) (198) 908 — 9) 700 2,516
Investment gains (losses), net 24 (13) 189 (638) (26) — 2 (39) (525) (501)
Derivatives fair value losses,

net (4,545) (13,572) 5,198 — — — — — (8,374) (12,919)
Debt extinguishments losses,

net (710) (1204) - — — — — — (104) (814)
Loss from partnership

investments (306) — — — — — — (203) (203) (509)
Fee and other income 637 (505) — 5 — 38 (19) (67) (548) 89
Expenses 1,434 — — — — — (8) 108 100 1,534
Income before federal income

taxes 6,048 (5,877) 5,387 (715) (59) 178 135 (343) (1,294) 4,754
Provision (benefit) for federal

income taxes 1,429 (2,057) 1,886 (251) (21) 63 47 (256) (589 840
Net income 4,619 (3,820) 3,501 (464) (38) 115 88 (87) (705) 3,914
Preferred stock dividends and

issuance costs at redemption (111) — — — — — — — — (111)
Net income available to

common stockholders $ 4508 $_(3820) $ 3501 $ (464) 3 (339) $ 115 $ 88 $ 87 $ (705) $ 3.803
Basic earnings per share $ 454 $ (3.35) $ 353 $ (047) $ (0.04) $ 012 $ 009 $ (0.09) $ (0.71) $ 3.83

Diluted earnings per share $ 452 $ (383) $ 351 $___(047) $ (0.04) $ 012 $ 000 $___(000) $ (071) $ 3.81

@ Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current condensed income statements presentation, as described below in
“ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”

Seethe® Summary of Restatement Adjustments’ section above for further details on the impact of the restatement errors on the
consolidated statements of income.
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Statement of Cash Flows Impact

The following table displays the impact of the restatement on the December 31, 2003 and 2002 consolidated statements of cash
flows.

Table 8: Impact of Restatement on Statements of Cash Flowsfor the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003 For the Year Ended December 31, 2002
As Total As Total
Previously Restatement As Previoudly Restatement As
Reported Adjustments Restated Reported Adjustments Restated

(Dollarsin millions)
Net cash flows provided by operating

activities $ 19,519 $ 38,704 $ 58,223 $ 12,848 $ 30,783 $ 43,631
Net cash flows used in investing

activities (115,801) (36,946) (152,747) (71,426) (42,162) (113,588)
Net cash flows provided by financing

activities 95,987 206 96,193 58,770 11,868 70,638
Net increase (decrease) in cash and

cash equivaents $ (295) $ 1,964 $ 1,669 $ 192 $ 489 $ 681
Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of the period 1,710 16 1,726 1,518 (473) 1,045
Cash and cash equivalents at end of

the period $ 1415  $ 1980 $ 336 $ 1710 3 1 3 1726

The restatement adjustments resulted in anet increasein “ Cash and cash equivalents’ of $2.0 billion and $489 million during the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The restatement adjustment to increase cash and cash equivalents was the
result of recognizing cash collateral associated with certain derivatives contracts, which was partially offset by classifying cash due
to certain MBS trusts as restricted cash.



These restatement adjustments and errorsin the prior cash flow presentation resulted in a net increase of $38.7 billion in cash
flows from operating activities, a net decrease of $36.9 billion in cash flows from investing activities and a net increase of
$206 million in cash flows from financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2003. The primary causes of these changes
were misclassifications of cash flows related to derivatives, trading securities and HFS loans, and an overstatement of cash flows
from the sale of mortgage loans. In connection with the misapplication of hedge accounting, we incorrectly classified derivatives
cash flows as investing and financing activities instead of as operating activities. We determined that we misapplied SFAS No. 102,
Satement of Cash Flows—Exemption of Certain Enterprises and Classification of Cash Flows from Certain Securities Acquired for
Resale (an amendment to FASB Statement No. 95), which requires cash flows from trading securities and HFS loans to be classified
as operating cash flows. As previously discussed, we incorrectly recorded sales of mortgage |loans to MBS trusts that did not meet
the definition of a QSPE under SFAS 140, which resulted in anet overall increase in cash flows from investing activities.
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Regulatory Capital Impact
The following table displays the impact of the restatement on regulatory capital as of December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Table 9: Regulatory Capital Impact of Restatement as of December 31, 2003 and 2002

As of December 31,

2003 2002
(Dallarsin millions)
Core capital, as previously reported $ 34,405 $ 28,079
Total restatement adjustments (7,452) (7,648)
Core capital, asrestated $ 26953 $ 20431
Required minimum capital, as previously reported $ 31,520 $ 27,203
Total restatement adjustments 296 485
Required minimum capital, as restated $__31816 $__27.688
Surplus of required minimum capital, as previously reported $ 2885 $ 877
Total restatement adjustments (7,748) (8,134)
Surplus (deficit) of required minimum capital, as restated $__(4.863) $__(7.257)
Required critical capital, as previoudy reported $ 16,113 $ 13,880
Total restatement adjustments 148 246
Required critical capital, as restated $__16.261 $_ 14126
Surplus of required critical capital, as previously reported $ 18,292 $ 14,199
Total restatement adjustments (7,601) (7,894)
Surplus of required critical capital, as restated $ 10691 $ 6305

The restatement adjustments resulted in a net decrease in regulatory core capital of $7.5 billion and $7.6 billion as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Additionally, the restatement adjustments of $7.7 billion and $8.1 billion as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, caused the previously reported surplus of required minimum capital to become a
deficit.

Although we had a deficit of required minimum capital and the restatement adjustments decreased required critical capital by
$7.6 billion and $7.9 billion as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, we maintained a surplus of required critical capital.

These changes in our regulatory capital measures were primarily the result of errors relating to our accounting for derivative
instruments. As AOCI is not included in the calculation of required minimum or critical capital, the reclassification of net
derivative losses from AOCI into net income had a significant negative impact on required minimum and critical capital, despite an
increase in stockholders'  equity.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIESAND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make a number of judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, income and expenses in the consolidated financial statements.

We have identified four accounting policies that require significant estimates and judgments and have a significant impact on our
financial condition and results of operations. These policies are considered critical because the estimated amounts are likely to
fluctuate from period to period due to the significant judgments and assumptions about highly complex and inherently uncertain
matters and because the use of different assumptions related to these estimates could have a material impact on our financial
condition or results of operations. These four accounting policies are: (i) the fair value of financial instruments; (ii) the
amortization of cost basis adjustments using the effective interest method; (iii) the allowance for loan losses and reserve for
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guaranty losses; and (iv) the assessment of variable interest entities. We evaluate our critical accounting estimates and judgments
required by our policies on an ongoing basis and update as necessary based on changing conditions. We describe our most
significant accounting policiesin“ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.”

Fair Value of Financial | nstruments

Valuation of financial instrumentsisacritical component of our consolidated financial statements because a significant portion of
our assets and liabilities are recorded at estimated fair value. Our estimate of fair value of these assets and liabilities may have a
major impact on our consolidated net income or stockholders  equity. The principal assets and liabilities that we record at fair
value, and the manner in which changesin that fair value affect our net income or stockholders’ equity, are:

« Derivativesinitiated for risk management purposes and mortgage commitments, both of which are recorded in the
consolidated balance sheets at fair value with changesin fair value recognized through earnings;

» Guaranty assets and guaranty obligations, which are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value at the
inception of the guaranty and amortized through earnings;

» Investmentsin securities that are classified as either trading or AFS, which are recorded in the consolidated balance
sheets at fair value with the change in fair value of trading securities recognized through earnings and the change in fair
value of AFS securities recorded in AOCI;

» Loansincluded in our portfolio that are classified as held for sale, which are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets
at the lower of cost or market with changesin the fair value (not to exceed the cost basis of these [oans) recorded through
earnings,; and

» Retained interests in securitizations and guaranty fee buy-ups on Fannie Mae MBS, which are recorded in the
consolidated balance sheets at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recorded in AOCI.

Fair value is defined as the amount at which afinancial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
unrelated parties, other than in aforced or liquidation sale. We determine the fair value of these assets and obligations based on our
judgment of appropriate valuation methods and assumptions. The degree of management judgment involved in determining the fair
value of afinancia instrument depends on the availability and reliability of relevant market data, such as quoted market prices.
Financial instruments that are actively traded and have quoted market prices or readily available market data require minimal
judgment in determining fair value. When observable market prices and data are not readily available or do not exist, management
must make fair val ue estimates based on assumptions and judgments. In these cases, even minor changes in management’ s
assumptions could result in significant changesin our estimate of fair value. These changes could increase or decrease the value of
our assets, liahilities, stockholders'  equity and net income. We estimate fair values using the following practices:

*  Weuse actua, observable market prices or market prices obtained from multiple third parties. Pricing information
obtained from third partiesisinternally validated for reasonableness prior to use in the consolidated financial statements.

» Where observable market prices are not readily available, we estimate the fair value using market data and model -based
interpolations using standard models that are widely accepted within the industry. Market data includes prices of
instruments with similar maturities and characteristics, duration, interest rate yield curves, measures of volatility and
prepayment rates.

< If market data used to estimate fair value as described above is not available, we estimate fair value using internally
developed models that employ techniques such as a discounted cash flow approach. These models include market-based
assumptions that are also derived from internally developed models for prepayment speeds, default rates and severity.

Of al assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004, 96% were valued
using observable market prices or market price data obtained from third parties, 3% were
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valued using market data or standard modeling techniques with market inputs and 1% were valued using internally devel oped
models with inputs based on management’ s judgment of market-based assumptions rather than market observations.

Our determination of fair value also affects our accounting for other financial instruments. Certain cost basis adjustments that



affect the value of our financial instruments are based on fair value. Master servicing assets and liabilities are recorded at the lower
of cost or fair value. Impairment of certain assets requires an assessment of fair value and the judgment of management to
determine whether the asset is other than temporarily impaired. In the case of an other than temporarily impaired security,
impairment would negatively affect the recorded value of the security and reduce our net income.

Sensitivity Analysis for Risk Management Derivatives

Of the financia instruments discussed above, changesin the fair value of our derivatives have the most significant impact on net
income. The table below provides a sensitivity analysisto illustrate the potential impact that changes in the fair value of our
derivatives would have on our net income. The two key variables used in the determination of the fair value of our derivatives are
the level of interest rates and the implied volatility of interest rates. Implied volatility represents the market’ s expectation of
potential changesin interest rates. It is not uncommon for interest rates and implied volatility to change significantly from period to
period. These changes could affect the valuation of our derivatives in the consolidated balance sheets and the resulting gain or loss
that would be recorded in our net income in the consolidated statements of income. Table 10 below shows the potential effect on
the estimated fair value of our derivatives and on our net income of (i) a 10% change in implied volatility, (ii) a 100 basis point
increasein interest rates and (iii) a 50 basis point decrease in interest rates as of December 31, 2004 and 2003. Our analysisis
based on these interest rate changes because we believe they reflect reasonably possible outcomes as of December 31, 2004.

Table 10: Risk Management Derivative Fair Value Sensitivity Analysis
Per centage Effect
of Changein
Estimated Fair
Value of
Derivatives

On Reported Net

Estimated Fair Value of Derivatives? Income®
2004 2003 2004 2003
(Restated) (Restated)
(Dallarsin millions)
Derivative assets at fair value $ 6,527 $ 7,058
Derivative liabilities at fair value 1,095 3,070
Net derivative assets at fair value $ 5432 $ 3,988
Effect of:®
+10% change in implied volatility $ 973 $ 1,173 13% 9%
—10% change in implied volatility (956) (1,173) (13) 9
+100 bps change in rate $ 8,525 $ 14,211 112% 114%
— 50 bps change in rate (3,150) (6,675) (42) (54)

@ Excludes commitments accounted for as derivatives.
@ Reflects after-tax effect of derivative market value adjustment based on applicable federal income tax rate of 35%.
@ Calculated based on an instantaneous changein volatility or interest rate.

Amortization of Cost Basis Adjustments on Mortgage L oans and M ortgage-Related Securities

We amortize cost basis adjustments on mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities through earnings using the interest method,
applying a constant effective yield. Cost basis adjustments include premiums, discounts and other cost basis adjustments on
mortgage |oans or mortgage-related securities that are generally incurred at the time of acquisition, which we historically referred
toas“ deferred price adjustments.” When we buy mortgage |oans or mortgage-rel ated securities, we may not pay the seller the
exact amount of the unpaid
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principal balance. If we pay more than the unpaid principal balance and purchase the mortgage assets at a premium, the premium
reduces the yield below the stated coupon amount. If we pay less than the unpaid principal balance and purchase the mortgage
assets at a discount, the discount increases the yield above the stated coupon amount.



Cost basis adjustments are amortized into earnings as an adjustment to the yield of the mortgage |oan or mortgage-related security
based on the contractual terms of the instrument. However, SFAS 91 permits the anticipation of prepayments of principal to shorten
the term of the mortgage loan or mortgage-related security if we (i) hold alarge number of similar loans for which prepayments are
probable and (ii) the timing and amount of prepayments can be reasonably estimated. We meet both criteria on substantially all of
the mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities held in our portfolio. Therefore, for loans where both criteria are met, we use
prepayment estimates in determining periodic amortization of the cost basi s adjustments related to these loans. For loans that do not
meet the foregoing criteria, we use the contractual term of the mortgage loan or mortgage-related securities to calculate the rate of
amortization, which assumes no prepayment but considers actual prepayments that occurred during the period in determining the
amount to be amortized.

We calculate and apply an effective yield to determine the rate of amortization of cost basis adjustments into interest income over
the estimated lives of the investment using the retrospective effective interest method to arrive at a constant effective yield. When
appropriate, our methodology involves grouping loans into pools or cohorts based on similar risk categories including origination
year, coupon bands, acquisition period and product type. We update our cal culations based on changes in estimated prepayment
rates and, if necessary, we record cumulative adjustments to reflect the updated constant effective yield asif it had been in effect
since acquisition.

For mortgage |oans and mortgage-related securities where we anticipate prepayments, our estimate of prepayments requires
assumptions about borrower prepayment patternsin various interest rate environments that involve a significant degree of
judgment. Typically, we use prepayment forecasts from independent third parties in estimating future prepayments. Actual
prepayments differing from our estimated prepayments could increase or decrease current period interest income as well as future
recognition of interest income. Refer to Table 11 below for the impact of changes in assumptions.

Sensitivity Analysis for Amortizable Cost Basis Adjustments

Interest rates are a key assumption used in our prepayment models. Table 11 shows the estimated effect on our net interest income
of the amortization of cost basis adjustments using the retrospective effective interest method applying a constant effective yield
based on (i) a 100 basis point increase in interest rates and (ii) a 50 basis point decrease in interest rates as of December 31, 2004
and 2003. Our analysisis based on these interest rate changes because we believe they reflect reasonably possible outcomes as of
December 31, 2004.

Table 11: Amortization of Cost Basis Adjustments

For the Year Ended

December 31,
2004 2003
(Restated)
(Dallarsin millions)

Unamortized cost basis adjustments $ 1,820 $ 3210
Reported net interest income $ 18,081 $ 19,477
Decrease in net interest income from net amortization $ (1.221) $ (1,866)
Percentage effect on net interest income of change in interest rates:®

100 basis point increase 4.5% 2.8%

50 basis point decrease (4.9) (2.9)

@ Calculated based on an instantaneous changein interest rates.
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As mortgage rates increase, expected prepayment rates generally decrease, which slows the amortization of cost basis adjustments.
Conversely, as mortgage rates decrease, expected prepayment rates generally increase, which accelerates the amortization of cost
basi s adjustments.

Allowancefor Loan L osses and Reserve for Guaranty L osses

The alowance for loan losses and the reserve for guaranty losses represent our estimate of probable credit losses arising from
loans classified as held for investment in our mortgage portfolio as well as loans that back mortgage-related securities we
guarantee. We use the same methodol ogy to determine our allowance for loan losses and our reserve for guaranty losses as the
relevant factors affecting credit risk are the same. Credit risk isthe risk of loss to future earnings or future cash flows that may
result from the failure of a borrower to make the payments required by his or her mortgage loan. We are exposed to credit risk
because we own mortgage loans and have guaranteed to MBS trusts that we will supplement mortgage |oan collections as required
to permit timely payment of principal and interest on the related Fannie Mae MBS. We strive to mitigate our credit risk by, among



other things, working with lender servicers, monitoring loan-to-value ratios and requiring mortgage insurance. See“ Risk
Management—Credit Risk Management” below for further discussion of how we manage credit risk.

We employ a systematic methodology to determine our best estimate of incurred credit losses. This includes aggregating
homogeneous |oans into pools based on similar risk attributes, using models to measure historical default and loss experience on
the homogeneous loan populations, evaluating larger multifamily loansindividually for impairment, monitoring observable data for
key trends, as well as documenting the results of our estimation process.

Determining the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses and the reserve for guaranty losses is complex and requires significant
judgment by management about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. When appropriate, our methodology involves
grouping loans into pools or cohorts based on similar risk categoriesincluding origination year, loan-to-value ratios, loan product
types and loan ratings. We use internally devel oped models that consider relevant factors historically affecting loan collectibility,
such as default rates, severity of loss rates and adverse situations that may have occurred affecting the borrowers  ability to repay.
Management also applies judgment in considering factors that have occurred but are not yet reflected in the loss factors, such as the
estimated value of the underlying collateral, other recoveries and external and economic factors. The methodology and the amount
of our allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty losses on Fannie Mae MBS are reviewed and approved on a quarterly
basis by our Allowance for Loan Loss Oversight Committee, which is a committee chaired by the Chief Risk Officer and
comprised of senior management from the Single-Family and HCD businesses, the Chief Risk Office and the finance organization.

We adjust our estimate of the allowance for 1oan losses and reserve for guaranty losses based on period-to-period fluctuationsin
loss experience, economic conditionsin areas of geographic concentration and profile of mortgage characteristics. Using different
assumptions about default rates, severity and estimated deterioration in borrowers financial condition than those used in
estimating our allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty losses could have a material effect on our net income.

Given that aminimal changein any factor listed above that is used for calculation purposes would have a significant impact to the
allowance and reserve liability and these factors have significant interdependencies, we do not believe a sensitivity analysis
isolating one factor isredlistic. Therefore, the following example illustrates the impact to the allowance and reserve liability given
changes to multiple assumptions used for these factors. For example, a natural disaster, such as a hurricane, might have an adverse
impact on net income and our allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty losses. The damage to the properties that serve as
collateral for the mortgages held in our portfolio and the mortgages underlying our mortgage-backed securities could increase our
exposure to credit risk if the damage to the propertiesis not covered by hazard insurance. Our estimate of probable credit losses
related to a hurricane would involve considerable judgment and assumptions about the extent of the property damage, the impact
on borrower default rates, the value of the collateral underlying the loans and the amount of insurance recoveries. In the case of
Hurricanes Katrina and Ritain 2005, we preliminarily estimated default rates, severity of loss rates, value of the underlying
collateral, and other potential recoveries. As more information became available, we determined that the property damage
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was less extensive than had previously been estimated and the amount of insurance recoveries would be greater than previously
expected. Accordingly, we revised our assumptions that in turn reduced estimated losses by over 50%.

Consolidation—Variable I nterest Entities

We are a party to various entities that are considered to be variable interest entities (“ VIES' ) asdefined in FIN 46R. Generaly, a
VIE isacorporation, partnership, trust or any other legal structure that either does not have equity investors with substantive voting
rights or has equity investors that do not provide sufficient financial resources for the entity to support its activities. We invest in
securities issued by VIEs, including Fannie Mae MBS created as part of our securitization program, certain mortgage- and
asset-backed securities that were not issued by us and interestsin LIHTC partnerships and other limited partnerships. Our
involvement with a VIE may also include providing a guaranty to the entity.

Thereisasignificant amount of judgment required in interpreting the provisions of FIN 46R and applying them to specific
transactions. FIN 46R indicates that either a qualitative assessment or a quantitative assessment may be required to support the
conclusion that an entity isa VIE, aswell as an assessment of which party, if any, isthe primary beneficiary. The primary
beneficiary isthe party that will absorb a majority of the expected losses or a majority of the expected returns. If the entity is
determined to be a VIE, and we either qualitatively or quantitatively determine that we are the primary beneficiary, we are required
to consolidate the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of that entity.

In order to determine if an entity is considered a VIE, we first perform a qualitative analysis, which requires certain subjective
decisions regarding our assessment, including, but not limited to, the design of the entity, the variability that the entity was
designed to create and pass along to itsinterest holders, the rights of the parties and the purpose of the arrangement. If we cannot
conclude after qualitative analysis whether we are the primary beneficiary, we perform a quantitative analysis. Quantifying the
variability of aVIE' sassetsis complex and subjective, requiring analysis of a significant number of possible future outcomes as



well as the probability of each outcome occurring. The results of each possible outcome are allocated to the parties holding
interests in the VIE and, based on the allocation, a calculation is performed to determine which, if any, isthe primary beneficiary.

Quialitative analyses were performed on certain mortgage- and asset-backed investment trusts. These analyses considered whether
the nature of our variable interests exposed us to credit or prepayment risk, the two primary drivers of expected losses for these
VIEs. For those mortgage-backed investment trusts that we evaluated using quantitative analyses, we used internal modelsto
generate Monte Carlo simulations of cash flows associated with the different credit, interest rate and housing price environments.
Material assumptions include our projections of interest rates and housing prices, as well as our expectations of prepayment, default
and severity rates. The projection of future cash flows is a subjective process involving significant management judgment. Thisis
primarily due to inherent uncertainties related to the interest rate and housing price environment, as well as the actual credit
performance of the mortgage loans and securities that were held by each investment trust. If we determined an investment trust to
be aVIE, we consolidated the investment trust when the modeling resulted in our absorption of more than 50% of the variability in
the expected losses or expected residual returns. To demonstrate the sensitivity of the FIN 46R modeling results, we considered the
impact of different primary beneficiary conclusions for the trustsin which a change in the variability would affect our primary
beneficiary assessment and our consolidation determination at adoption of FIN 46R.

* If assumptions were changed to cause our variability in trusts to increase from an amount between 40% and 50% to
greater than 50%, our total assets and liabilities would increase by approximately $1.0 billion.

» |f assumptions were changed to cause our variability in trusts to decrease from an amount between 60% and 50.1% to
50% or less, our total assets and liabilities would decrease by approximately $500 million.

We also quantitatively examined our LIHTC partnerships and other limited partnerships. Internal cash flow models were also used
to determine if these were VIEs and, if so, whether we were the primary beneficiary. LIHTC partnerships are created by third
parties to finance construction of property, giving riseto tax credits for these partnerships. Material assumptions include the degree
of development cost overruns related to the
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construction of the building, the probability of the lender foreclosing on the building, as well asan investor’ s ability to use the tax
credits to offset taxable income. The projection of these cash flows and probabilities thereof requires significant management
judgment because of the inherent limitations that relate to the use of favorable historical datafor the projection of future events.
Additionally, we reviewed similar assumptions and applied cash flow models to determine both VIE status and primary beneficiary
status for our other limited partnership investments.

We are exempt from applying FIN 46R to certain investment trusts if the investment trusts meet the criteria of a QSPE, and if we
do not have the unilateral ability to cause the trust to liquidate or change the trust’ s QSPE status. The QSPE requirements
significantly limit the activities in which a QSPE may engage and the types of assets and liabilities it may hold. Management
judgment is required to determine whether atrust’ s activities meet the QSPE requirements. To the extent any trust fails to meet
these criteria, we would be required to consolidate its assets and liabilities if, based on the provisions of FIN 46R, we are
determined to be the primary beneficiary of the entity.

The FASB currently is assessing further what activities a QSPE may perform. The outcome of these and future assessments may
affect our interpretation of this guidance, and, consequently, the entities we consolidate in future periods.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our consolidated results of operationsis based on our results for the year ended December 31, 2004
and restated results for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. In conjunction with the restatement, we revised the
presentation of our consolidated statements of income. Table 12 presents a condensed summary of our consolidated results of
operations.

Table 12: Condensed Consolidated Results of Operations

Variance
For the Year Ended December 31, 2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
2004 2003 2002 $ % $ %
(Restated) (Restated)
(Dollarsin millions, except per share amounts)
Net interest income $ 18,081 $ 19477 $ 18426 $ (1,396) M% $ 1,051 6%
Guaranty fee income 3,604 3,281 2,516 323 10 765 30

Fee and other income 404 340 89 64 19 251 282



Investment losses, net (362) (1,231) (501) 869 71 (730) (146)

Derivatives fair value losses, net (12,256) (6,289) (12,919) (5,967) (95) 6,630 51

Debt extinguishment losses, net (152) (2,692) (814) 2,540 94 (1,878) (231)
Loss from partnership investments (702) (637) (509) (65) (20) (128) (25)
Provision for credit losses (352) (365) (284) 13 4 (81) (29)
Other non-interest expense (2,266) (1,598) (1,250) (668) (42) (348) (28)

Income before federal income taxes,
extraordinary gains (losses), and
cumulative effect of changein

accounting principle 5,999 10,286 4,754 (4,287) (42) 5,632 116
Provision for federal income taxes (1,024) (2,434) (840) 1,410 58 (1,594) (190)
Extraordinary gains (losses), net of

tax effect 8) 195 — (203) (104) 195 100

Cumulative effect of changein
accounting principle, net of tax

effect = 34 — (34 (100) 34 100
Net income $ 4967 $ 8081 $ 3914 $ (3114 (39% $ 4167 106%
Diluted earnings per common share  $ 494 $ 808 $ 381 $ (319 9% $____4.27 112%

Net income and diluted earnings per share (* EPS’ ) totaled $5.0 billion and $4.94, respectively, in 2004, compared with
$8.1 billion and $8.08 in 2003, and $3.9 hillion and $3.81 in 2002. We expect high levels of
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period to period volatility in our financial results as part of our normal business activities. This volatility is primarily dueto
changes in market conditions that result in periodic fluctuations in the estimated fair value of our derivative instruments, which we
recognize in our consolidated statements of income as“ Derivativesfair value losses, net.” Although we use derivatives as
economic hedges to help us manage interest rate risk and achieve our targeted interest rate risk profile, we do not meet the criteria
for hedge accounting under SFAS 133. Accordingly, we record our derivative instruments at fair value as assets or liabilitiesin our
consolidated balance sheets and recognize the fair value gains and losses in our consolidated statements of income without
consideration of offsetting changes in the fair value of the economically hedged exposure. The estimated fair value of our
derivatives may fluctuate substantially from period to period because of changesin interest rates, expected interest rate volatility
and our derivative activity. Based on the composition of our derivatives, we generally expect to report decreases in the aggregate
fair value of our derivatives as interest rates decrease.

Our business segments generate revenues from three principal sources: net interest income, guaranty fee income, and fee and other
income. Other significant factors affecting our net income include the timing and size of investment and debt repurchase gains and
losses, equity investments, the provision for credit losses, and administrative expenses. We provide a comparative discussion of the
impact of these items on our consolidated results of operations for the three-year period ended December 31, 2004 below. We aso
discuss other items presented in our consolidated statements of income.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income, which is the difference between interest income and interest expense, is a primary source of our revenue.
Interest income consists of accrued interest on our consolidated interest-earning assets, plus income from the amortization of
discounts for assets acquired at prices below the principal value, less expense from the amortization of premiums for assets
acquired at prices above principal value. The amount of interest income and interest expense recognized in the consolidated
statements of incomeis affected by our investment activity, debt activity, asset yields, and our cost of debt and will fluctuate based
on changes in interest rates and changes in the amount and composition of our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing
liahilities. We present net interest income and the related net interest yield on a taxable-equivalent basis in order to consistently
reflect income from taxable and tax-exempt investments. We cal cul ate the taxable-equivalent amounts based on amarginal tax rate
of 35%, which is our statutory tax rate. Table 13 presents an analysis of our net interest income and net interest yield for 2004,
2003 and 2002.

Asdescribed below in“ Derivatives Fair Value Losses, Net,” we supplement our issuance of debt with interest rate-related
derivatives to manage the prepayment and duration risk inherent in our mortgage investments. The effect of these derivatives, in
particular the periodic net interest expense accruals on interest rate swaps, is not reflected in net interest income. See“ Derivatives
Fair Value Losses, Net” for additional information.
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Table 13: Analysisof Net Interest Incomeand Yield

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Average® Average® Average®
Balance Interest Yield Balance Interest Yield Balance Interest Yield
(Restated) (Restated)
(Dollarsin millions)
Interest-earning assets:
Mortgage loans® $ 400,603 $ 21,390 534% $ 362,002 $ 21,370 590% $ 301,821 $ 19,870 6.58%
Mortgage securities 514,529 25302 492 495,219 26,483 535 456,755 29,444  6.45
Non-mortgage securities® 46,440 1,009 2.17 44,375 1,069 241 51,390 1,460 2.84
Federal funds sold and
securities purchased under
agreements to resell 8,308 84 1.01 6,509 32 0.49 2,972 43 145
Advances to lenders 4,773 33 0.69 12,613 110 0.87 14,524 107 0.74
Total interest-earning assets $ 974653 $ 47818 491 $ 920,718 $ 49,064 533 $ 827462 $ 50,924 6.15
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Short-term debt $ 33L,971 $ 4,380 132% $ 318600 $ 3,967 125% $ 287,193 $ 5373 1.87%
Long-term debt 625,225 25,338  4.05 582,686 25575 439 515,968 27,099 5.25
Federal funds purchased and
securities sold under
agreements to repurchase 3,037 19 0.63 6,421 45 0.70 7,485 26 0.35
Total interest-bearing liabilities  $ 960,233 $ 29,737 3.10% $ 907,707 $ 29,587 326% $ 810646 $ 32498  4.01%
Impact of net non-interest bearing
funding $ 14420 005% $ 13011 005% $ 16,816 0.08%
Taxable-equivalent adjustment
on tax-exempt investments® 101 0.01 72 001 74 0.01
Taxable-equivalent net interest
income and net interest yield® $ 18182 1.87% 10.549 2.12% $_ 18,500 2.24%

and 2002, respectively.
Includes cash equivalents.

of the years presented.
®

Average balances have been cal culated based on beginning of year and end of year amortized cost.
Includes average balance on nonaccrual loans of $7.6 billion, $6.8 billion and $5.3 billion for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003

Represents adjustment to permit comparison of yields on tax-exempt and taxabl e assets calculated using a 35% marginal tax rate for each

Net interest yield is calculated based on taxable-equivalent net interest income divided by average balance of total interest-earning assets.

Table 14 shows the changes in our net interest income between 2004 and 2003 and between 2003 and 2002 that are attributable to
changes in the volume of our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities versus changes in interest rates.
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Table 14: Rate/Volume Analysisof Net Interest Income
2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
Total Total
Variance Dueto:® Variance Dueto:®
Variance Volume Rate Variance Volume Rate
(Dollarsin millions)
Interest income:
Mortgage loans $ 20 $ 2164 $ (2144) $ 1500 $ 3,692 $ (2,192
Mortgage securities (1,181) 1,006 (2,187) (2,961) 2,340 (5,301)
Non-mortgage securities (60) 48 (108) (391) (185) (206)
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under 52 11 41 (11 29 (40)



agreementsto resell

Advancesto lenders (77) (58) (19) 3 (15) 18
Total interest income (1,246) 3,171 (4,417) (1,860) 5,861 (7,721)
Interest expense:
Short-term debt 413 171 242 (1,406) 539 (1,945)
Long-term debt (237) 1,797 (2,034) (1,524) 3,251 (4,775)
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under
agreements to repurchase (26) (22) (4) 19 (4) 23
Total interest expense 150 1,946 (1,796) (2,911) 3,786 (6,697)
Net interest income (1,3%6) $__1225 $__(2,621) 1,051 $__2075 $__(1.024)
Taxable-equivalent adjustment on tax-exempt
investments®? 29 (2
Taxable-equivalent net interest income $_(1.367) $ 1049

@ Combined rate/volume variances are allocated to the rate and volume variances based on their relative size.
@ Represents adjustment to permit comparison of yields on tax-exempt and taxable assets cal culated using a 35% marginal tax rate for each
of the years presented.

Taxable-equivalent net interest income of $18.2 billion for 2004 decreased 7% from 2003, driven by a 12% (25 basis points)
declinein our taxable-equivalent net interest yield to 1.87% that was partially offset by a 6% increase in average interest-earning
assets. The average yield on our interest-earning assets declined 42 basis points to 4.91%, which exceeded the benefit we received
from a 16 basis point decrease in the average yield on our interest-bearing liahilities to 3.10%. During 2004, our mortgage asset
purchases consisted of a greater proportion of floating-rate and ARM products, which tend to earn lower initial yields than
fixed-rate mortgage assets. Partially offsetting this reduction in average yield on our mortgage investments was a slower rate of
amortization of premiumsin 2004 relative to 2003 due to slower prepayment rates. The yield on our total average debt decreased in
2004 due to the repurchase and call of a significant amount of higher cost long-term debt during 2003 and the issuance of new
long-term debt at lower rates. However, as short-term interest rates began to increase in 2004, the yield on our short-term debt
began torise.

Taxable-equivalent net interest income of $19.5 billion for 2003 increased 6% over 2002, driven by a 11% increase in average
interest-earning assets that was partially offset by a 5% (12 basis points) declinein our taxable-equivalent net interest yield to
2.12%. Although liquidations of our mortgage assets reached a record level during 2003, we experienced growth in our average
interest-earning assets due in part to the low interest rate environment and related increase in mortgage refinancing volumes, which
contributed to arecord level of mortgage asset purchases. The interest income generated from alarger volume of mortgage assets
was partially offset by areduction in the average yield on those assets as we replaced higher yielding assets with lower yielding
assets. The declinein interest rates during the first half of 2003 resulted in faster prepayment rates relative to 2002, which
accelerated the amortization of premiums and contributed to a substantial reduction in the average yield on our mortgage assets.
The decrease in the yield on our interest-earning assets was partialy
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offset by areduction in our borrowing costs, as we redeemed callable debt and issued new debt at lower interest rates.

Since year-end 2004, we have experienced a decrease in the volume of our interest-earning assets as well asin the spread between
the average yield on these assets and our borrowing costs, which we expect to result in areduction in our net interest income and
net interest yield in 2005 and 2006.

Guaranty Feelncome

Guaranty fee income primarily consists of contractual guaranty fees related to Fannie Mae MBS held in our portfolio and held by
third-party investors, adjusted for the amortization of upfront fees and impairment of guaranty assets, net of a proportionate
reduction in the related guaranty obligation and deferred profit, and impairment of buy-ups.

Guaranty feeincome is primarily affected by the amount of outstanding Fannie Mae MBS and the compensation we receive for
providing our guaranty on Fannie Mae MBS. The amount of compensation we receive and the form of payment varies depending
on factors such as the risk profile of the securitized loans, the level of credit risk we assume and the negotiated payment
arrangement with the lender. Our payment arrangements may be in the form of an upfront exchange of payments, an ongoing
payment stream from the cash flows of the MBS trusts, or a combination. We typically negotiate a contractual guaranty fee with the
lender and collect the fee on a monthly basis based on the contractual fee rate multiplied by the unpaid principal balance of loans
underlying a Fannie Mae MBS issuance. In lieu of charging a higher contractual fee rate for loans with greater credit risk, we may



require that the lender pay an upfront fee to compensate us for assuming the additional credit risk. We refer to this payment as a
risk-based pricing adjustment. We also may adjust the monthly contractual guaranty fee rate so that the pass-through coupon rates
on Fannie Mae MBS are in more easily tradable increments of awhole or half percent by making an upfront payment to the lender
(“ buy-up” ) or receiving an upfront payment from the lender (* buy-down” ).

As we receive monthly contractual payments for our guaranty obligation, we recognize guaranty fee income. We defer upfront
risk-based pricing adjustments and buy-down payments that we receive from lenders and recognize these amounts as a component
of guaranty fee income over the expected life of the underlying assets of the related MBS trusts. We record buy-up payments we
make to lenders as an asset and reduce the recorded asset as cash flows are received over the expected life of the underlying assets
of the related MBS trusts. We assess buy-ups for other-than-temporary impairment and include any impairment recognized as a
component of guaranty fee income. The extent to which we amortize deferred payments into income depends on the rate of
expected prepayments, which is affected by interest rates. In general, asinterest rates decrease, expected prepayment rates increase,
resulting in accelerated accretion into income of deferred fee amounts, which increases our guaranty fee income. Prepayment rates
also affect the estimated fair value of buy-ups. Faster than expected prepayment rates shorten the average expected life of the
underlying assets of the related MBS trusts, which reduces the value of our buy-up assets and may trigger the recognition of
other-than temporary impairment.

The average effective guaranty fee rate reflects our average contractual guaranty fee rate adjusted for the impact of amortization of
deferred amounts and buy-up impairment. Table 15 shows our guaranty fee income, including and excluding buy-up impairments,
our average effective guaranty fee rate, and Fannie Mae MBS activity for 2004, 2003 and 2002.

105

Table of Contents

Table 15: Analysisof Guaranty Fee Income and Aver age Effective Guaranty Fee Rate

For the Year Ended December 31, Variance
2004 2003
2004 2003 2002
Amount Rate® Amount Rate® Amount Rate® vs. 2003 vs. 2002
(Restated) (Restated)

(Dollarsin millions)
Guaranty fee income,

excluding

impairment of

buy-ups $ 3,640 210bp $ 3,474 222bp $ 2,808 21.5bp 5% 24%
Impairment of buy-ups (36) (0.2) (193) (1.2) (292) (2.2) (81) (34)

Guaranty fee income
and average effective

guaranty fee rate 3604 __208bp $_ 3281 __210bp $ 2516 __193bp 10% 30%
Average outstanding

Fannie Mae MBS

and other

guaranties® $ 1,733,060 $ 1,564,812 $ 1,303,677 11% 20%
Fannie Mae MBS

issues 552,482 1,220,066 743,630 (55) 64

@ Calculated based on guaranty fee income components divided by average outstanding Fannie Mae MBS and other guaranties. Shown in
basis points.

@ Reflects average during the reported period cal culated based on beginning and end of year balances of the aggregate unpaid principal
balance of loans underlying Fannie Mae MBS and other guaranties. Other guaranties include $14.7 billion, $12.8 billion and
$11.8 billion as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to long-term standby commitments and credit enhancements.

Guaranty fee income of $3.6 billion for 2004 was up 10% over 2003, primarily dueto an 11% increase in average outstanding
Fannie Mae MBS and other guaranties. Our average effective guaranty fee rate remained essentially flat at 20.8 basis pointsin
2004, compared to 21.0 basis points in 2003. Guaranty fee income of $3.3 billion for 2003 was up 30% over 2002, driven by a 20%
increase in average outstanding Fannie Mae MBS and other guaranties and a 9% increase in the average effective guaranty fee rate
to 21.0 basis points from 19.3 basis points.

Growth in outstanding Fannie Mae MBS depends largely on the volume of mortgage assets made available for securitization and
our assessment of the credit risk and pricing dynamics of these mortgage assets. During the three-year period from 2002 to 2004,
we experienced exceptional growth in the amount of outstanding Fannie Mae MBS. Outstanding Fannie Mae MBS increased by



47% during this period, reflecting an average annual rate of growth of approximately 16%. A key driver of this growth was the
record pace of mortgage originations in the primary market during the period, with originations reaching arecord $3.9 trillionin
2003 and our issuance of Fannie Mae MBS reaching arecord $1.2 trillion in 2003. Borrowers took advantage of historically low
interest rates and refinanced into long-term fixed-rate mortgages, which represent the majority of our business volume. Increased
market demand among depository institutions for investments in fixed-rate mortgages, partially stemming from the unusually steep
yield curve during the period, also fueled growth in outstanding Fannie Mae MBS during this period.

Growth in outstanding Fannie Mae MBS slowed in 2004, reflecting the impact of a considerable drop in the volume of
refinancings from the record levelsin 2003 and a shift in the primary market to an increasing share of originations of lower credit
quality loans, loans with reduced documentation and loans to fund investor properties, as well as a decline in originations of
traditional mortgages, such as conventional fixed-rate loans. Competition from private-label issuers, who have been a significant
source of funding for these mortgage products, reduced our market share and level of MBS issuances. This trend continued in 2005
and 2006; however, we began to increase our participation in these product types where we concluded that it would be
economically advantageous or that it would contribute to our mission objectives.

Our average effective guaranty fee rate, excluding the effect of buy-up impairments, declined to 21.0 basis pointsin 2004 from
22.2 basis points in 2003, reflecting a decrease in the accretion of deferred feesinto income. Mortgage interest rates were higher in
2004 relative to 2003, which increased the average expected
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life of the underlying assets of outstanding Fannie Mae MBS and slowed the pace of the amortization of fees. The increase in the
average expected life of outstanding Fannie Mae MBS resulted in an increase in the value of our buy-up assets. Consequently, we
recognized substantially less buy-up impairment in 2004 than in 2003.

Our average effective guaranty fee rate, excluding the effect of buy-up impairments, increased to 22.2 basis pointsin 2003 from
21.5 basis points in 2002 as we accel erated the accretion of deferred fees into income in response to substantially higher than
expected prepayment rates that resulted from record low mortgage rates. The decrease in the average expected life of outstanding
Fannie Mae MBS caused the value of our buy-up assets to decline, which triggered the recognition of impairment.

Fee and Other Income

Fee and other income includes transaction fees, technology fees, multifamily fees and foreign currency transaction gains and
losses. Transaction and technology fees are largely driven by business volume, while foreign currency transaction gains and losses
are driven by fluctuations in exchange rates on our foreign denominated debt. Fee and other income totaled $404 million,
$340 million and $89 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase in fee and other income in 2004 from 2003 was
primarily dueto areduction in net foreign currency transaction losses, which more than offset a decline in transaction fees from
reduced business volumes. The increase in 2003 from 2002 was largely due to an increase in transaction, technology and
multifamily fees resulting from a substantial increase in business volumes.

Investment L osses, Net

Investment losses, net includes other-than-temporary impairment on available-for-sale securities, lower-of-cost-or-market
adjustments on held for sale loans, gains and | osses recognized on the securitization of loans from our portfolio and the sale of
securities, unrealized gains and losses on trading securities and other investment losses. Investment gains and losses may fluctuate
significantly from period to period depending upon our portfolio investment and securitization activities, changes in market
conditions that may result in fluctuations in the fair value of trading securities, and other-than-temporary impairment. Table 16
summarizes the components of investment gains and losses for 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Table 16: Investment L osses, Net

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(Restated) (Restated)
(Dollarsin millions)
Other-than-temporary impairment on available-for-sale securities® $ (389) $ (733) $ (676)
L ower-of-cost-or-market adjustments on held for sale loans (110) (370) 17)
Gains (losses) on Fannie Mae portfolio securitizations, net (34) (13) 13
Gains (losses) on sale of investment securities, net 185 87 (14)
Unrealized gains (losses) on trading securities, net 24 (97) 205
Other investment losses, net (38) (105) (12)

Investment |osses, net $__(362) $__(1.231) $ (501)




@ Excludes other-than-temporary impairment on guaranty assets and buy-ups as these amounts are recognized as a component of
guaranty fee income.

Other-than-Temporary Impairment

We routinely evaluate available-for-sale securities for other-than-temporary impairment. We identify securities that are impaired
based on the extent to which the estimated fair value is less than the amortized cost. We consider the impairment to be other than
temporary if we determine that it is probable that we will be unable to collect all of the contractual principal and interest payments
or if we do not have the ability and intent to hold the security until it recoversto its carrying amount. We consider many factorsin
assessing other-than-temporary impairment, including the severity and duration of the impairment, recent events specific to the
issuer and/or the industry to which the issuer belongs, external credit ratings and recent downgrades, as well as our ability and
intent to hold such securities until recovery. When we decide to sell an impaired
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security and do not expect the fair value of the security to fully recover prior to the expected time of sale, we identify the security
as other-than-temporarily impaired in the period that the decision to sell is made. We provide additional detail on our assessment of
other-than-temporary impairment in “ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.”

We recognized other-than-temporary impairment on AFS securities totaling $389 million, $733 million and $676 million in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively, primarily related to our investments in manufactured housing securities, commercial aircraft lease
securities, mortgage-related interest-only securities and other mortgage-related securities. The impairment amounts are reflected in
the results of our Capital Markets group and detailed below.

Beginning in 2002, there was a significant weakening in the manufactured housing sector. As aresult, certain manufactured
housing servicers began to experience financial difficulties, triggering a deterioration in the credit quality of certain securities as
evidenced by credit downgrades and a considerable decline in fair value. Other-than-temporary impairment on our investmentsin
manufactured housing securities totaled $55 million, $511 million and $174 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In
addition, the downturn in the airline industry contributed to a decline in the fair value of our aircraft |ease securities that we deemed
to be other than temporary. Other-than-temporary impairment on our investmentsin aircraft lease securities totaled $121 million
and $39 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. We did not record any other-than-temporary impairment on our investmentsin
aircraft lease securities in 2004.

We are required to write down the cost basis of our investmentsin mortgage-related interest-only securities when there is both a
declinein fair value below the carrying amount and an adverse change in expected cash flows. Decreases in interest rates cause the
expected lives of these securities to shorten, which decreases the expected cash flows and fair value of the securities. Interest rates
began to decline in 2002 and reached a historic low in mid-2003 before beginning to increase during the second half of 2003 and
2004. The other-than-temporary impairment of $49 million, $78 million and $403 million we recognized on mortgage-related
interest-only securities in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, is reflective of the interest rate environment during each year. We
recognized a significantly higher impairment amount during 2002 because of the declining interest rate environment.

We also recognized other-than-temporary impairment on certain other mortgage-rel ated securities totaling $285 million,
$23 million and $60 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The $285 million of impairment recognized in 2004 primarily
relates to certain securities with unrealized losses as of December 31, 2004 that we identified for possible sale subsequent to
December 31, 2004 to comply with OFHEO’ s directive that we achieve a 30% surplus over our statutory minimum capital
requirement by September 30, 2005. Our intent was to hold the identified securities, but as capital requirements dictated, we would
evaluate selling. Because of the uncertainty of our ability to hold these securities until the value fully recovered, we were required
to recognize the unrealized | osses as other-than-temporary impairments as of December 31, 2004.

We will continue to regularly assess our investments for impairment. A significant downward trend in interest rates could result in
additional future impairments on our mortgage-related interest-only securities. We expect the continued downturn in the
manufactured housing sector to result in the recognition of additional impairment on our investments in manufactured housing
securities, which had a carrying value of $5.4 billion as of December 31, 2004.

Lower-of-Cost-or-Market Adjustments on Held for Sale Loans

We record loans classified as held for sale at the lower of cost or market, with any excess of cost over fair value reflected as a
valuation allowance and changes in the valuation allowance recognized in income. The fair value of held for sale mortgage loans
will fluctuate from period to period based primarily on changes in mortgage interest rates. Asinterest rates decline, the fair value of
fixed-rate mortgage loans will generally increase, and as interest rates rise, the fair value of fixed-rate mortgage loans will
generally decrease. In an environment of increasing interest rates or significant interest rate volatility, the LOCOM adjustment will



typically increase.
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We recorded losses related to LOCOM adjustments totaling $110 million, $370 million and $17 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. We purchased a significant volume of mortgage loans in 2003 in response to the record level of mortgage originations
in the primary market as mortgage interest rates reached record lows in the first half of 2003. Anincrease in interest ratesin the
second half of 2003 reduced the value of our HFS loans, resulting in a significantly higher amount of LOCOM adjustmentsin
2003.

Gains (Losses) on Fannie Mae Portfolio Securitizations, Net

Portfolio securitizations involve the transfer of mortgage loans or mortgage-related securities from our balance sheet to atrust to
create Fannie Mae MBS (whether in the form of single-class Fannie Mae MBS, REMICs or other types of beneficial interests). We
may retain an interest in the assets transferred to atrust in a portfolio securitization by receiving a portion of the resulting issued
securities. If the transfer qualifies as a sale under SFAS 140, we determine the gain (loss) on sale by allocating the carrying value
of the financial assets sold and the interests retained based on their relative estimated fair values. The gain (loss) we recognizeis
the difference between the cash proceeds from the sale, net of any liabilities assumed, and the cost allocated to the financial assets
sold. The timing of the recognition of the gain (loss) is dependent upon meeting specific accounting criteria. As aresult, the gain
(loss) on sale may be recorded in a different accounting period than the period in which the securitization is completed. In addition,
we may securitize financial assetsin a different accounting period than the period in which the financial assets were purchased. See
“ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies’ and “ Notesto Consolidated
Financial Statements—Note 7, Portfolio Securitizations” for additional information on our accounting for Fannie Mae portfolio
securitizations.

Gains (losses) on Fannie Mae portfolio securitizations in any given period are primarily affected by the level of securitization
activity, the carrying amount of the financial assets sold, and changes in interest rates and prices from the time the financial assets
are purchased until the completion of the securitization. We generally record losses on portfolio securitization transactions because
we are required to recognize aliability for the fair value of our guaranty obligation in determining the gain or loss on the sale. We
recorded net losses on Fannie Mae portfolio securitizations of $34 million and $13 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively, and a
net gain of $13 million in 2002, related to the securitization of approximately $12.3 billion, $7.2 billion and $3.2 hillion,
respectively, of mortgage assets where we were considered to be the transferor.

Gains (Losses) on Sale of Investment Securities, Net

Gains (losses) on the sale of investment securitiesin any given period are primarily affected by the volume of sales and changesin
interest rates and prices from the time the securities are purchased until the time they are sold. We recorded net gains of
$185 million and $87 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively, and a net loss of $14 million in 2002, primarily related to the sale of
securities totaling $18.4 hillion, $24.7 billion and $14.0 billion, respectively. We began to increase the level of sales from our
mortgage portfolio beginning in the latter part of 2004.

We sold a considerably higher amount of mortgage assets from our portfolio in 2005 and the first nine months of 2006 relative to
historical saleslevels. The heightened competition for mortgage assetsin 2005 and 2006 significantly increased the number of
economically attractive opportunities to sall certain mortgage assets, particularly traditional 15-year and 30-year mortgage-related
securities, in addition to REMICs structured from 15-year and 30-year Fannie Mae MBS held in our portfolio. Sales of selected
assets from our portfolio contributed to both the enhancement of economic value and the reduction of portfolio balances to achieve
our capital plan objectives.

Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Trading Securities, Net

Trading securities are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recorded in earnings. We expect unrealized gains and
losses on trading securities to fluctuate each period with changes in volumes, interest rates and market prices. We recorded
unrealized gains on trading securities of $24 million in 2004, unrealized losses of $97 million in 2003 and unrealized gains of

$205 million in 2002. The increase in interest rates in the second half of 2003 resulted in unrealized losses, while the general
declinein interest rates during 2002 resulted in unrealized gains.
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Derivatives Fair Value L osses, Net

Werecord al derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets at estimated fair value and recognize
changesin fair value in our consolidated statements of income. Changes in the fair value of our derivatives, including mortgage



commitments, resulted in losses of $12.3 billion, $6.3 billion and $12.9 billion in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Because we did not qualify for hedge accounting during the reported periods, we changed the timing of the recognition of the
derivative gains and lossesin our consolidated statements of income and the classification of net contractual interest expense
accruals on interest rate swaps. Prior to the restatement, we had pre-tax cumulative deferred net derivative losses reported in AOCI
and cumulative debt basis adjustments totaling $13.5 billion as of June 30, 2004 and $15.8 billion and $16.6 billion as
December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively. Had we qualified for hedge accounting, the cumulative deferred losses
would have been amortized into income in future periods, resulting in a decrease in our future net income. The restatement shifted
the recognition of the cumulative deferred losses on our derivatives to net income from AOCI for the restatement period and
eliminated the cumulative debt basis adjustments. In addition, the net contractual interest expense accruals on interest rate swaps,
which were previously recorded in our income statement as a component of interest expense, areincludedin “ Derivative fair value
losses, net.”

To fully understand the derivatives fair value gains and losses recognized in our consolidated statements of income, it isimportant
to examine the gains and losses in the context of our overall interest rate risk management objectives and strategy, including the
economic objective in our use of various types of derivative instruments, the factors that drive changesin the fair value of our
derivatives, how these factors affect changesin the fair value of other assets and liabilities, and the differences in accounting for
our derivatives and other financial instruments.

While we use debt instruments as the primary means to fund our mortgage investments and manage our interest rate risk exposure,
we supplement our issuance of debt with interest rate-related derivatives to manage the prepayment and duration risk inherent in
our mortgage investments. As an example, by combining a pay-fixed swap with short-term variable-rate debt, we can achieve the
economic effect of converting short-term variable-rate debt into long-term fixed-rate debt. By combining a pay-fixed swaption with
short-term variable-rate debt, we can achieve the economic effect of converting short-term variable-rate debt into long-term
callable debt. The cost of derivatives used in our management of interest rate risk is an inherent part of the cost of funding and
hedging our mortgage investments and is economically similar to the interest expense that we recognize on the debt we issue to
fund our mortgage investments. However, because we do not apply hedge accounting to our derivatives, the fair value gains or
losses on our derivatives, including the periodic net contractual interest expense accruals on our swaps, are reported as
“ Derivativesfair value losses, net” in our consolidated statements of income rather than as interest expense.

Our derivatives consist primarily of over-the-counter (* OTC” ) contracts and commitments to purchase and sell mortgage assets
that are valued using a variety of valuation models. The valuation model that we select to estimate the fair value of our derivatives
requires assumptions and inputs, such as market prices, yield curves and measures of interest rate volatility, which often require
judgment. Accordingly, we have identified the estimation of the fair value of our derivatives as a critical accounting policy, which
we discuss further in“ Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates—air Vaue of Financial Instruments—Sensitivity Analysis for
Risk Management Derivatives’ and“ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 19, Fair Vaue of Financial
Instruments.” We also discuss the primary factors affecting changes in the fair value of our derivatives. These factorsinclude the
following:

» Changesinthelevel of interest rates: Because our derivatives predominately consist of pay-fixed swaps, we typically
report losses in fair value when interest rates decrease. As part of our economic hedging strategy, these derivatives, in
combination with our debt issuances, are intended to offset changesin the fair value of our mortgage assets, which tend
to increase in value when interest rates decrease.

» Implied interest rate volatility: We purchase option-based derivatives to economically hedge the embedded prepayment
option in our mortgage investments. A key variable in estimating the fair value of
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option-based derivativesisimplied volatility, which reflects the market’ s expectation about the future volatility of interest
rates. Assuming all other factors are held equal, including interest rates, a decrease in implied volatility would reduce the
fair value of our derivatives.

» Changesin our derivative activity: Asinterest rates change, we are likely to take actions to rebalance our portfolio to
manage our interest rate exposure. As interest rates decrease, expected mortgage prepayments are likely to increase,
which reduces the duration of our mortgage investments. In this scenario, we generally will rebalance our existing
portfolio to manage this risk by terminating pay-fixed swaps or adding receive-fixed swaps, which shortens the duration
of our liahilities. Conversely, when interest rates increase and the duration of our mortgage assets increases, we are likely
to rebalance our existing portfolio by adding pay-fixed swaps that have the effect of extending the duration of our



liahilities. We also add derivatives in various interest rate environments to hedge the risk of incremental mortgage
purchases that we are not able to accomplish solely through our issuance of debt securities.

The following tables show the impact of derivatives on our consolidated statements of income and consolidated balance sheets.
Table 17 provides an analysis of changes in the estimated fair value of the net derivative asset (liability), excluding mortgage
commitments, recorded in our consolidated balance sheets between the periods December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, including the
components of the derivatives fair value gains (losses) recorded in our consolidated statements of income. Asindicated in Table 17,
the net derivative estimated fair value amount recorded in our consolidated balance sheet shifted to a net asset of $5.4 billion as of
December 31, 2004, from anet liability of $6.1 billion as of the beginning of 2002. The general effect on our consolidated financial
statements of the changes in estimated fair value shown in this table is described following the table.

Table17: Changesin Risk Management Derivative Assets (Liabilities) at Fair Value, Net®

As of December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(Restated) (Restated)
(Doallarsin millions)
Beginning net derivative asset (liability)@ $ 3,988 $ (3365 $ (6,135)
Effect of cash payments:
Fair value at inception of contracts entered into during the period® 2,998 5,221 5,425
Fair value at date of termination of contracts settled during the period® 4,129 1,520 7,554
Periodic net cash contractual interest payments 6,526 5,365 7,909
Tota cash payments 13,653 12,106 20,888
Income statement impact of recognized amounts:
Periodic net contractual interest expense accruals on interest rate swaps (4,981) (6,363) (7,583)
Net change in fair value during the period (7,228) 1,610 (10,535)
Derivatives fair value losses, net® (12,209) (4,753) (18,118)
Ending derivative asset (liability)®? $ 5432 $ 3988 $___(3.365
Derivatives fair value gains (losses) attributable to:
Periodic net contractual interest expense accruals on interest rate swaps $ (4,981) $ (6,363) $ (7,583)
Net change in fair value of terminated derivative contracts from end of prior year to date
of termination (4,096) (1,203) (4,056)
Net change in fair value of outstanding derivative contracts, including derivative
contracts entered into during the period (3,132) 2,713 (6,479)
Derivatives fair value losses, net® $__(12.209) $  (4,753) $ (18.118)

@ Excludes mortgage commitments.

@ Representsthe net of “ Derivative assets at fair value” and “ Derivative liabilities at fair value” recorded in our consolidated balance
sheets, excluding mortgage commitments.
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@ Primarily includes upfront premiums paid on option contracts.
@ Primarily represents cash paid upon termination of derivative contracts.
© Reflects net derivatives fair value losses recognized in the consolidated statements of income, excluding mortgage commitments.

Amounts presented in Table 17 have the following effect on our consolidated financial statements:

» Cash payments made to purchase options (purchased options premiums) increase the derivative asset recorded in the
consolidated balance sheets.

» Cash payments to terminate and/or sell derivative contracts reduce the derivative liability recorded in the consolidated
balance shests.

» Periodic interest payments on our interest rate swap contracts also reduce the derivative liability as we accrue these
amounts based on the contractual terms and recognize the accrual as an increase to the net derivative liability recorded in
the consolidated balance sheets. The corresponding offsetting amount is recorded as expense and included as a
component of derivatives fair value losses in the consolidated statements of income.

» Changesin the estimated fair value of our derivatives that result in aloss are recorded as an increase to the derivative
liahbility or as a decrease to the derivative asset recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. The corresponding offsetting



amount is recorded as a component of derivatives fair value losses in the consolidated statements of income.

» Changesin the estimated fair value of our derivatives that result in again are recorded as a decrease to the derivative
liability or as an increase to the derivative asset recorded in the consolidated bal ance sheets. The corresponding offsetting
amount is recorded as a component of derivatives fair value gains in the consolidated statements of income.

Table 18 provides additional detail on the derivatives fair value gains and losses recognized in our consolidated statements of
income for 2004, 2003 and 2002 by type of derivative instrument. The 5-year interest rate swap rate, which is shown below in
Table 18 for each period, is akey reference interest rate affecting the estimated fair value of these derivatives.
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Table 18: Derivatives Fair Value Gains (L osses), Net
For the Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(Restated) (Restated)
(Dollarsin millions)
Risk management derivatives:
Swaps:
Pay-fixed $ (10,640) $ (4,269 $ (24,477)
Receive-fixed 3,917 1,849 4,550
Basis swaps 51 (D) 10
Foreign currency swaps 379 695 369
Swaptions:
Pay-fixed (3,841) 387 (1,918)
Receive-fixed (1,913) (3,047) 4,279
Interest rate caps (140) (339) (734)
Other® (22) (28) (297)
Risk management derivatives fair value losses, net (12,209) (4,753) (18,118)
Mortgage commitment derivatives fair value gains (losses), net (47) (1,536) 5,199
Total derivativesfair value losses, net $__(12.256) $__ (6,289 $_(12,919)
As of December 31,
2004 2003 2002
5-year swap rate:
Beginning rate 3.64% 3.20% 5.09%
Change 0.38 0.44 (1.89)
Ending rate 4.02% 3.64% 3.20%

@ Includes MBS options, forward starting debt, forward purchase and sale agreements, swap credit enhancements, mortgage insurance
contracts and exchange-traded futures.
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Table 19 provides additional detail on the estimated fair value of derivatives recorded in our consolidated balance sheets and the
related outstanding notional amount by derivative instrument type as of December 31, 2004 and 2003. We describe our risk
management derivative activity in“ Risk Management— nterest Rate Risk Management and Other Market Risks.” We describe
our credit exposure on our risk management derivativesin “ Risk Management—Credit Risk Management— nstitutional
Counterparty Credit Risk Management.”

Table 19: Notional and Fair Value of Derivatives

As of December 31,
2004 2003
Estimated Estimated




Notional Fair Notional Fair

Amount Value® Amount Value®
(Restated)

(Dallarsin millions)
Risk management derivatives:

Swaps:
Pay-fixed $ 142,017 $ (6,687) $ 364,377 $ (12,197)
Receive-fixed 81,193 479 201,229 3,393
Basis swaps 32,273 7 32,303 (8)
Foreign currency swaps 11,453 686 5,195 335
Swaptions:
Pay-fixed 170,705 3,370 163,980 5,693
Receive-fixed 147,570 7,711 141,195 8,468
Interest rate caps 104,150 638 130,350 607
Other@ 733 84 379 98
690,094 6,288 1,039,008 6,389
Accrued interest — (856) — (2,401)
Total risk management derivatives $ 690,004 $ 5432 $__1.039.008 $ 3,088
Mortgage commitment derivatives:
Mortgage commitments to purchase whole loans $ 2,118 $ 4 $ 2,709 $ 10
Forward contracts to purchase mortgage-rel ated securities 20,059 43 19,882 142
Forward contracts to sell mortgage-related securities 18,423 (35) 20,969 (147)
Total mortgage commitment derivatives $ 40,600 $ 12 $ 43.560 $ 5

@ Represents the net amount of “ Derivative assets at fair value’ and“ Derivative liabilities at fair value” in the consolidated balance
sheets.

@ Includes MBS options, swap credit enhancements, and the fair value of mortgage insurance contracts that are accounted for as
derivatives. These mortgage insurance contracts have payment provisions that are not based on a notional amount.

As discussed above, because a significant portion of our derivatives consists of pay-fixed swaps, we expect the aggregate
estimated fair value of our derivatives to decline and result in derivative losses when long-term interest rates decline because we
are paying a higher fixed rate of interest relative to the current interest rate environment. For the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, we recorded net periodic contractual interest expense accruals on our interest rate swaps totaling $5.0 billion,
$6.4 billion and $7.6 hillion, respectively, which are shown above in Table 17 and included in the derivatives fair value losses
recognized in the consolidated statements of income. Had we elected to fund our mortgage investments with long-term fixed- rate
debt instead of a combination of short-term variable-rate debt and interest rate swaps, the expense related to our interest rate swap
accruals would have been reflected as interest expense instead of as a component of our derivatives fair value losses.
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During 2004, there was a decrease in implied volatility that resulted in a decline in the estimated fair value of our option-based
derivatives, including both our pay-fixed and receive-fixed swaptions. Although we recorded derivatives fair value losses of
$12.3 hillion in our consolidated statements of income due to the decrease in the estimated fair value of our derivatives, as
discussed in “ Supplemental Non-GAAP Information—Fair Vaue Balance Sheet,” the estimated fair value of our net assets
increased by $8.9 hillion in 2004, net of equity transactions that included proceeds from the issuance of preferred stock and
payment of dividends. Thisincrease in estimated fair value was driven in part by an increase in the estimated fair value of our
mortgage assets that resulted from the decrease in implied volatility. Since year-end 2004, interest rates have generally increased
through 2005 and remain at generally higher levels through November 2006. As aresult, we expect to report significantly lower
losses from our risk management derivatives in 2005 and 2006, relative to the losses reported in 2004.

While changes in the estimated fair value of our derivatives resulted in net expense in each reported period, weincurred this
expense as part of our overall interest rate risk management strategy to economically hedge the prepayment and duration risk of our
mortgage investments. As more fully described in “ Risk Management— nterest Rate Risk Management and Other Market Risks,”
we believe our duration gap, which is a measure of the difference between the estimated durations of our interest rate sensitive
assets and liabilities, isauseful tool in assessing our interest rate exposure and our management thereof as it shows the extent to
which changesin the fair value of our mortgage investments are offset by changesin the fair value of our debt and derivatives.

During 2002 and prior periods, our interest rate risk parameters were consistent with maintaining our duration gap within arange
of plus or minus six months about two-thirds of the time. This resulted in our taking more interest rate risk than if we had managed
the duration within atighter range, which could prove beneficial or detrimental to our investment results depending upon interest



rate changes and how we managed them. Changes in market conditions during 2002, including significant interest rate volatility
coupled with low interest rates that fueled a surge in refinancings and a substantial increase in expected prepayments, caused the
duration of our mortgages to shorten by a much larger extent than the duration of our liabilities. As aresult, our duration gap during
this period fell outside of our target range for three consecutive months and reached minus 14 months, reflecting the unusually
large mismatch between the durations of our assets and liabilities. As this occurred, the fair value of our assets increased less than
the fair value of our liabilities, and as such the fair value of our net assets and our operating results were significantly less than had
we managed our duration gap to atighter range. In other periods, managing our duration gap to awider range benefited the fair
value of our net assets and our operating results.

In mid-2003, we announced the implementation of new corporate financial disciplines that resulted in our taking less interest rate
exposure, which had the effect of reducing the potential for economic losses resulting from changes in interest rates but also
reducing the potential for economic gains. As part of these disciplines, we committed to managing the portfolio’ s duration gap
within atarget range of plus or minus six months substantially all of the time. Our duration gap has not exceeded plus or minus one
month for any month since October 2004. We present our monthly duration gap for the period January 1, 2002 to December 31,
2004 in* Risk Management— nterest Rate Risk Management and Other Market Risks—Monitoring and Measuring Interest Rate
Risk.” To maintain our duration gap within the tighter tolerances, we issue more callable debt, purchase more options and take
rebalancing actions earlier and with greater frequency than we did prior to adopting this policy. However, the increased level of
optionality provided by our callable debt and option-based derivatives generally reduces the magnitude of rebalancing actions
needed for agiven change in interest rates. The effects of our investment strategy, including our interest rate risk management, are
reflected in changesin the fair value of our net assets over time.

Debt Extinguishment L osses, Net

We call debt securitiesin order to reduce future debt costs as a part of our integrated interest rate risk management strategy. We
also repurchase debt in order to enhance the liquidity of our debt. Debt extinguishment losses are affected by the level of debt
extinguishment activity and the price performance of our debt securities. Typically, the amount of debt repurchased has a greater
impact on gains and |osses
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recognized on debt extinguishments than the amount of debt called. Debt repurchases, unlike debt calls, may require the payment
of apremium and therefore result in higher extinguishment costs. As aresult, we historically have generally repurchased high
interest rate debt at times (and in amounts) when we believed we had sufficient income available to absorb or offset those higher
costs. In its May 2006 report, OFHEO stated that our debt repurchases undertaken during 2001 through 2003 were made to help
achieve a stable pattern of earnings growth and meet analyst expectations.

We recognized a pre-tax loss of $152 million in 2004 from the repurchase of $4.3 billion and call of $155.6 billion of debt. In
comparison, we recognized a pre-tax loss of $2.7 billion in 2003 from the repurchase of $19.8 billion and call of $188.7 hillion of
debt, and a pre-tax loss of $814 million in 2002 from the repurchase of $7.9 billion and call of $121.0 billion of debt. Asinterest
rates began to rise in 2004, we began to curb our debt repurchase activity.

L oss from Partnership I nvestments

We make numerous investments in limited partnerships, which primarily include investmentsin LIHTC partnerships that sponsor
affordable housing projects and provide tax credits. These investments assist us in achieving our affordable housing mission and
also provide a satisfactory return on capital. These investments, which totaled approximately $8.1 billion and $6.4 billion as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, generate tax credits and net operating losses that reduce our federal income tax
liahility. In some cases, we consolidate these entities in our financial statements. In other cases, we account for these investments
using the equity method and record our share of operating losses in the consolidated statements of income as* Loss from
partnership investments.” Investments we accounted for under the equity method totaled $4.2 billion and $6.0 billion as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We provide additional information on the nature of these investments and applicable
accounting in “ Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements—t IHTC Partnership Interests.”

Loss from partnership investments, net, accounted for under the equity method totaled $702 million, $637 million and
$509 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Theincreasein lossesin each year was primarily due to our increased level of
LIHTC partnership investments. We further increased our investments in LIHTC partnerships in 2005 and 2006, which we expect
will generate additional tax credits and net operating losses. For more information on our use of tax credits associated with our
LIHTC investments, refer to “ Provision for Federal Income Taxes’ below.

Provision for Credit L osses

The provision for credit losses results from a detailed analysis estimating an appropriate allowance for loan losses for
single-family and multifamily loans classified as held for investment in our mortgage portfolio and reserve for guaranty losses for



credit-related losses associated with certain mortgage |oans that back Fannie Mae MBS held in our portfolio and held by other
investors. The provision for credit losses may reflect an increase or decrease, depending on whether we need to increase or
decrease the allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty losses based on our estimate of incurred losses in our portfolio as of
each balance sheet date.

While the combined allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty losses increased as of December 31, 2004 from

December 31, 2003, the provision for credit losses decreased dlightly to $352 million in 2004, down $13 million, or 4%, from 2003.
Theincrease in the combined allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty losses was due to an observed trend of reduced
levels of recourse proceeds from lenders on charged-off loans. While this trend had the effect of increasing the provision for credit
losses in 2004, lower than anticipated charge-offs more than offset this impact, leading to a slight reduction in the provision
compared to 2003.

The provision for credit losses increased to $365 million in 2003, up $81 million, or 29%, over 2002, primarily due to the
significant increase in our single-family mortgage credit book of business and higher incurred losses on certain manufactured
housing securities guaranteed by us.
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We provide additional detail on charge-offs and factors affecting our allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty lossesin
“ Risk Management—Credit Risk Management—M ortgage Credit Risk Management—Allowance for Loan Losses and Reserve for
Guaranty Losses’ and“ Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates—Allowance for Loan L osses and Reserve for Guaranty
Losses.”

Other Non-interest Expense
Foreclosed Property Expense (Income)

Foreclosed property expense (income) includes gains and losses on the sale of acquired properties and valuation losses on REO
properties held for sale. Foreclosed property expense (income) is affected by the level of foreclosures and the loss severity rate
(average loss per case). Home price appreciation and credit enhancements generally reduce the severity of our losses.

We recorded foreclosed property expense of $11 million in 2004, compared with income of $12 million and $11 million in 2003
and 2002, respectively. The acceleration of home prices during this period helped to mitigate our foreclosure losses and resulted in
gains on the sale of certain REO properties. The slowdown in the housing market during 2006 has resulted in substantially lower
home price appreciation, which is likely to increase our loss severity rates. We provide additional detail on our management of
credit losses, including foreclosed property expense, in“ Risk Management—Credit Risk Management—M ortgage Credit Risk
Management.”

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses include costs incurred to run our daily operations, such as salaries and employee benefits, professional
services, occupancy expense and technology expenses. Administrative expenses totaled $1.7 billion in 2004, up 14% over 2003,
primarily due to the write off of $159 million of software that had been previously capitalized in conjunction with the reengineering
of our core technology infrastructure. Administrative expenses totaled $1.5 billion in 2003, up 26% over 2002, primarily due to
higher levels of charitable contributions, including a $75 million contribution to the Fannie Mae Foundation, and anincrease in
stock-based compensation expense recognized in conjunction with our adoption of the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (* SFAS 123" ), in 2003.

Costs associated with the restatement process and related regulatory examinations, investigations and litigation defense
significantly increased our administrative expenses in 2005 and for the first nine months of 2006. Administrative expenses totaled
an estimated $2.2 billion for 2005 and an estimated $2.3 billion for the first nine months of 2006. Based on our current projections,
we estimate that, for 2006, our restatement and related regulatory costs will total approximately $850 million and costs attributable
to or associated with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements and periodic SEC financial reports for periods
subsequent to 2004 will total over $200 million. We anticipate that the costs associated with the preparation of our post-2004
financial statements and periodic SEC reports will continue to have a substantial impact on administrative expenses until we are
current in filing our periodic financia reports with the SEC. We believe that our administrative expenses for 2007 will be
comparable to those for 2006.

Other Expenses

Other expenses include credit enhancement expenses that relate to costs associated with the purchase of additional mortgage
insurance to protect against credit losses, regulatory penalties and other miscellaneous expenses. Other expenses totaled
$607 million, $156 million and $105 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase in other expensesin 2004 from



2003 primarily stems from the recognition in 2004 of the $400 million civil penalty that we paid to the U.S. Treasury in 2006
pursuant to our settlements with OFHEO and the SEC.

Provision for Federal Income Taxes

The provision for federal income taxes includes deferred tax expense plus current tax expense. Deferred tax expense represents the
net change in the deferred tax asset or liability balance during the year plus any change in avaluation allowance. The current tax
expense represents the amount of tax currently payable to or
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receivable from tax authorities. The provision for income taxes does not include the tax effect related to adjustments recorded in
AOCI.

Our effective income tax rate, excluding the provision for taxes related to extraordinary amounts and the cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle, was reduced below our 35% statutory rate to 17%, 24% and 18% in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The differencein our statutory rate and effective tax rate is primarily due to the tax benefits we receive from our
investmentsin LIHTC partnerships that help in supporting our mission. As disclosed in “ Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements—Note 11, Income Taxes,” our effective tax rate would have been 32%, 31% and 30% in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, had we not received the tax benefits from our investmentsin LIHTC partnerships.

The variance in our effective income tax rate over the past three yearsis primarily due to the combined effect of fluctuationsin our
pre-tax income, which affects the relative tax benefit of tax-exempt income and tax credits, and an increase in the actual dollar
amount of tax credits. Our effective income tax rate may vary from period to period, depending on, among other factors, our
earnings and the level of tax credits. We expect tax credits resulting from our investmentsin LIHTC partnershipsto grow in the
future, which islikely to reduce our effective tax rate. The extent to which we are able to use al of the tax credits generated by
existing or future investmentsin housing tax credit partnerships to reduce our federal income tax liability will depend on the
amount of our future federal income tax liability, which we cannot predict with certainty.

We recorded a net deferred tax asset of $6.1 billion and $4.1 billion as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We have not
recorded a valuation allowance against our net deferred tax asset as we anticipate it is more likely than not that the results of future
operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the entire tax benefit.

Extraordinary Gains (L osses), Net of Tax Effect

When we determine that we are the primary beneficiary of aVIE under FIN 46R, we are required to consolidate the assets and
liahilities of the VIE in our consolidated financial statements at fair value. Effective with the adoption of FIN 46R, any difference
between the then fair value and the previous carrying amount of our interestsin the VIE is recorded as an extraordinary gain (10ss),
net of tax effect, in our consolidated statements of income. As aresult of our adoption of FIN 46R in 2003, we recorded an
extraordinary gain, net of tax effect, of $195 million due to the consolidation of VIEs.

118

Table of Contents

BUSINESS SEGMENT RESULTS

Table 20 provides a summary of the financial results for each of our business segments for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002.

Table 20: Business Segment Results Summary

Increase (Decr ease)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2004 vs. 2003 2003 vs. 2002
2004 2003 2002 $ % $ %
(Restated) (Restated)
(Dollarsin millions)
Revenue®:
Single-Family Credit Guaranty $ 5153 $ 4994 $ 397 $ 159 3% $ 1,037 26%
Housing and Community Devel opment 538 398 305 140 35 93 30
Capital Markets 46,135 47,293 49,267 (1,158) (2 (1,974) (4

Total $ 51826 $ 52685 $ 5352 $ (859 Q% $__(844) (2)%




Net income:

Single-Family Credit Guaranty $ 2514 $ 2481 $ 198 $ 33 1% $ 523 27%

Housing and Community Development 337 286 184 51 18 102 55

Capital Markets 2,116 5,314 1,772 (3,198) (60) 3,542 200
Total $ 4967 $ 8081 $ 3914 3 (3.114) (399% $ 4167 106%

As of December 31,

2004 2003
(Restated)
Total assets:
Single-Family Credit Guaranty business $ 11,543 $ 8,724 $ 2819 32%
Housing and Community Devel opment 10,166 7,853 2,313 29
Capital Markets Group 999,225 1,005,698 (6,473) (D)
Total $_ 1020934 $ 1022275 $_(1.347) —_—%

@ Includes interest income, guaranty fee income, and fee and other income.

We use various methodol ogies to all ocate certain balance sheet and income statement line items to the responsible operating
segment. For a description of our allocation methodol ogies and more financial detail on our business segments, see“ Notesto
Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 15, Segment Reporting.” Following is an analysis and discussion of the performance of
our business segments.

Single-Family Credit Guaranty Business

Our Single-Family Credit Guaranty business generated net income of $2.5 billion, $2.5 billion and $2.0 billion in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The significant components of Single-Family net income include guaranty fees, net interest income, fee and
other income, the provision for credit losses and other expenses.

Net income for the Single-Family business segment remained essentially flat in 2004 from 2003, with an increase in guaranty fee
income offset by lower fee and other income, and higher expenses. Guaranty fee income increased by 6% in 2004 from 2003,
primarily due to growth in average outstanding single-family Fannie Mae MBS in 2004. The average effective guaranty fee rate on
single-family Fannie Mae MBS remained essentially flat in 2004 as compared to 2003. Thisincrease in guaranty fee income was
offset primarily by: (1) an 11% increase in other expenses in 2004, due to the allocation of a portion of the $400 million civil
penalty paid to the U.S. Treasury in connection with our settlements with the SEC and OFHEO; (2) a 21% decline in fee and other
income in 2004 due to lower technology-related transactions and associated
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revenues, which was driven by lower single-family business volumes in 2004 as compared to 2003; and (3) a4% increasein our
provision for federal income taxes, due to higher pre-tax earnings.

Net income for the Single-Family business segment increased by 27% in 2003 from 2002, with significant increasesin all revenue
components partially offset by increases in other expenses, the provision for federal income taxes and the provision for credit
losses. The primary reason for the increase in Single-Family net income in 2003 was a 29% increase in guaranty feeincomein
2003 from 2002. Thisincrease in guaranty fee income was primarily due to growth in average outstanding single-family Fannie
Mae MBS in 2003. Also contributing to the increase in guaranty fee income in 2003 was an increase in our average effective
guaranty fee rate on single-family Fannie Mae MBS. This increase in the average effective single-family guaranty fee rate was
primarily attributable to accel erated income recognition resulting from higher than expected prepayments that occurred in 2003.
Other factors contributing to the increase in net income for the Single-Family business segment in 2003 included: (1) a 34%
increase in fee and other income in 2003, primarily due to significantly higher technology-related transactions and associated
revenues driven by higher single-family business volumes in 2003 as compared to 2002; and (2) an 85% increase in investment
gains from increased securitization activities. These increases were partially offset by: (1) a27% increasein the provision for
federal income taxes, due to higher pre-tax earnings in 2003 as compared to 2002; (2) a 23% increase in other expensesin 2003
from 2002, due to higher direct and allocated costs, which were driven by higher single-family business volumesin 2003 as
compared to 2002 and higher average outstanding single-family Fannie Mae MBS in 2003; and (3) a 40% increase in the provision
for credit lossesin 2003 from 2002, primarily due to the increase in our single-family mortgage credit book of businessin 2003 and
an increase in the guaranty liability relating to mortgage-related securities backed by manufactured housing.

Asdescribed in “ Consolidated Results of Operations” above, we experienced exceptional growth in our single-family mortgage
credit book of business of 25.9% from 2002 to 2004. This growth was largely due to the record pace of mortgage originations over
that period. Growth in outstanding single-family Fannie Mae MBS slowed from 2003 to 2004, reflecting the impact of a decrease



in mortgage originations from the record levels of originationsin 2003, as well asincreased competition from private-label issuers
of single-family mortgage-related securities.

During 2002-2004, our Single-Family business continued focusing on lender relationships, effectively increasing revenues and
managing credit risk. However, some fundamental changes in the mortgage market began posing challenges to our participation in
the secondary market, with such challenges continuing today.

» Fird, there was intense competition for the purchase of mortgage assets by a growing number of mortgage investors
through a variety of investment vehicles and structures. While single-family mortgage originations posted the second
strongest year in history at $2.8 trillion ($1.3 trillion for home purchase and $1.5 trillion for refinancing) in 2004, the
appetite of other investors to purchase and hold mortgages also remained strong.

» Second, in asteeper interest rate curve environment and with a variety of new mortgage products being introduced and
accepted by investors at tightening credit spreads, consumers increasingly took advantage of adjustable-rate mortgages,
including non-traditional products such as interest-only ARMs, negative-amortizing ARMs and a variety of other product
and risk combinations. This meaningfully changed the overall mix of mortgage originations in the primary mortgage
market away from the long-term fixed-rate mortgage, where we have historically had the greatest market penetration. In
addition, the sub-prime mortgage market, where we had little presence, began to represent a progressively greater portion
of mortgage originations.

e Third, as consumer demand for floating-rate and sub-prime mortgage loans grew, so did demand from other mortgage
investors, which accelerated the growth of competing securitization optionsin the form of private-label mortgage-related
securities. This development challenged the competitive position of our Fannie Mae MBS in the secondary market and
sparked aggressive competition for loans.

We are responding to these challenges with a focus on understanding and serving our customers  needs, strengthening our
relationships with key partners, and helping lenders reach and serve new, emerging and non-
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traditional markets by providing more flexible, low-cost mortgage options. We also continue to expand our lending options for
borrowers with weaker credit histories.

HCD Business

Our Housing and Community Development business generated net income of $337 million, $286 million and $184 millionin
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The significant components of HCD net income include guaranty fees, fee and other income,
other expenses, and income tax benefits and losses associated with LIHTC and other partnership investments.

Net income for the HCD business segment increased 18% from 2003 to 2004, with an increase in guaranty fees, fee and other
income, and tax benefits associated with HCD’ s partnership investments partially offset by higher losses from partnership
investments, higher net interest expense and increased other expenses. Guaranty fee income increased by 25% in 2004, as a result
of growth in the average outstanding multifamily book of businessin 2004 at stable effective guaranty fee rates. Fee and other
income increased by 49% in 2004, attributable to an increase in multifamily transaction fees earned from substantially higher
borrower refinancing activity in 2004 as compared to 2003. These increases in revenues were partially offset by a 66% increasein
other expenses in 2004, reflecting HCD’ s portion of the $400 million civil penalty paid to the U.S. Treasury in connection with
our settlements with the SEC and OFHEO, as well asincreased direct and allocated costs. Also offsetting these revenues was a
45% increase in net interest expense in 2004, reflecting higher internal funding costs due to our increased investmentsin LIHTC
and other equity investments. HCD’ sresults for 2004 include a 19% increase in income tax benefits, largely attributable to growth
in LIHTC and other partnership investment balances, reduced by a 10% increase in pre-tax |osses from these partnership
investments.

Net income for the HCD business segment increased 55% from 2002 to 2003, with increases in guaranty fees, fee and other
income, and tax benefits associated with HCD’ s partnership investments partially offset by higher losses from partnership
investments and increased other expenses. Guaranty fee income increased by 12% in 2003, as aresult of growth in the average
outstanding multifamily book of businessin 2003 at stable effective guaranty fee rates. Fee and other income increased by 40% in
2003, attributable to an increase in multifamily transaction fees earned from higher borrower refinancing activity in 2003 as
compared to 2002. These increases in revenues were partially offset by a 27% increase in other expensesin 2003, reflecting higher
direct and allocated costs. HCD’ sresults for 2003 include a 29% increase in income tax benefits, largely attributable to growth in
LIHTC and other partnership investment balances, reduced by a 25% increase in pre-tax losses from these partnership investments.

The provision for credit losses remained stable for al three years, which reflects our high credit standards. L osses from
partnership investments primarily include our share of net operating losses for LIHTC and other partnership investments accounted



for under the equity method. By design, net operating |osses generated by LIHTC properties provide tax benefitsto investors, in
addition to the tax credits generated.

We are one of the largest participants in the multifamily secondary market. HCD’ s multifamily business has been challenged in
recent years. Strong competition for loans backed by multifamily properties has led to adecline in the availability of loans that
meet our credit and return requirements. Competition has been fueled by private-label issuers of CMBS and aggressive bidding for
multifamily debt among institutional investors, which reflects the high level of funds available for investment in the secondary
mortgage market. In addition, market fundamentals have been mixed. Low mortgage ratesin 2003 and 2004 led to a record number
of first-time homebuyers, many of whom were formerly renters, and a slowly recovering job market kept potential new renters
from entering apartments. These factors led to rental vacancy rates higher than historical norms. Capitalization rates (the ratio of
net operating income to property value—a measure of expected return on investment) meanwhile fell to extremely low levels,
which likely reflected other investors'  willingness to accept greater risk. We have seen improvement in some of these
fundamental s in 2006, with monthly rents increasing and vacancy rates falling. As aresult of these trends, since the end of 2004,
we have experienced a downward trend in the average effective guaranty fee rate on new issuances of Fannie Mae MBS backed by
multifamily mortgage loans.
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We expect private-label issuers of CMBS to continue to provide significant competition to our HCD business. HCD has been
responding to market challenges with an increased emphasis on serving partner needs with customized lending options and is
advancing a number of efficiency initiatives that will help make it quicker and easier to do business with us and at alower cost.
HCD also continues to grow and diversify its business into new areas that expand the supply of affordable housing, such as
increased investment in rental and for-sale housing projects, including LIHTC investments. HCD further enables the expansion of
affordable housing stock by participating in specialized debt financing, acquiring mortgage loans from a variety of new public and
private partners, and increasing other community lending activities.

Capital Markets Group

Our Capital Markets segment generated net income of $2.1 billion, $5.3 billion and $1.8 billion in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The $3.2 billion, or 60%, decrease in the net income of our Capital Markets segment in 2004 from 2003 was primarily
due to:

» a$6.0billion, or 95%, increase in derivatives fair value losses to $12.3 billion in 2004, primarily due to changesin
interest rates and a decrease in implied volatility that resulted in adecline in the fair value of our option-based
derivatives, and

e a%$1.3bhillion, or 7%, declinein net interest income in 2004 from 2003, primarily due to a 12% decline in our net interest
yield due to increasing short-term interest rates and a shift in portfolio purchasesto a greater percentage of ARM loans,
floating-rate securities and other short-term assets that have lower initial spreads, partially offset by a 6% increasein
average interest-earning assets.

These factors were partially offset in 2004 by the following:

e a$2.5hillion, or 94%, decrease in debt extinguishment losses in 2004 as compared to 2003, primarily dueto a
significant decrease in the amount of our debt securities repurchased;

» a$l.3hillion, or 70%, decrease in the provision for federal income taxes in 2004 as compared to 2003, primarily dueto a
significant reduction in taxable income; and

» a$861 million, or 66%, decrease in investment |osses from 2004 to 2003, primarily due to a significant reduction in
other-than-temporary impairments compared to 2003 on certain securities backed by manufactured housing loans and
aircraft leases, and reduced losses from lower-of-cost-or-market adjustments on HFS loans, resulting from lower [oan
acquisition volumes and more stable interest rates in 2004.

The $3.5 billion, or 200%, increase in the net income of our Capital Markets segment in 2003 from 2002 was driven primarily by:

» a%$6.6 billion, or 51%, decrease in derivatives fair value losses to $6.3 billion in 2003, primarily dueto an increasein
interest rates during the second half of 2003 as compared to adecline in interest ratesin 2002; and

» a$l.0bhillion, or 6%, increasein net interest income in 2003 from 2002, primarily due to a 12% increase in the amount
of average interest-earning assets, partially offset by a 6% decline in the net interest yield.

These factors were partially offset in 2003 by the following:



* a$1.9nhillion, or 231%, increase in debt extinguishment losses in 2003 as compared to 2002, primarily dueto a
significant increase in the amount of our debt securities repurchased;

» a$l.5billion, or 372%, increase in the provision for federal income taxesin 2003 as compared to 2002, primarily due to
asignificant increase in taxable income; and

» a$765 million, or 141%, increase in investment losses in 2003 as compared to 2002, primarily due to increased losses on
our trading portfolio and higher losses on lower-of-cost-or-market adjustments on HFS loans.

122

Table of Contents

Mortgage Investments

Table 21 summarizes our purchases, sales and liquidations of mortgage-related assets for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002.

Table21: Mortgage Portfolio Activity®

Purchases Sales Liquidations?
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
(Restated)  (Restated) (Redtated) (Restated) (Retated) (Restated)

(Dallarsin millions)
Mortgage loans:

Fixed-rate:

Long-term $ 53305 $ 98474 $ 6159 $ —$ 8% —$ 69,182 $ 135,002 $ 83839

I ntermedi ate-term® 23,470 56,591 36,856 — — — 31,446 37,331 18,992
Total fixed-rate loans 76,775 155,065 98,450 — 8 — 100,628 172,333 102,831
Adjustable-rate 9,118 8,800 3,476 66 — — 7,640 6,679 6,297
Total mortgage loans 85,893 163,865 101,926 66 8 — 108,268 179,012 109,128
Mortgage securities:
Fixed-rate:

Long-term 58,412 292,675 223,013 14,691 18,079 12,792 107,309 257,760 153,391

I ntermedi ate-term® 4,834 37,499 18,782 3,460 5,350 792 8,097 12,623 10,570
Total fixed-rate

securities 63,246 330,174 241,795 18,151 23,429 13,584 115,406 270,383 163,961
Adjustable-rate 109,339 31,720 9,472 161 1,283 396 24,785 6,756 3,801
Total mortgage

securities 172,585 361,894 251,267 18,312 24,712 13,980 140,191 277,139 167,762
Total mortgage

portfolio $ 258478 $ 525759 $ 353193 $ 18378 $ 24720 $ 13980 $ 248459 456,151 $ 276,890
Annual liquidation

rate’® 27.9% 55.1% 37.4%

=

Excludes premiums, discounts and other deferred price adjustments.

Includes scheduled repayments, prepayments and foreclosures.

Consists of mortgage loans with contractual maturities at purchase equal to or less than 15 years.
Consists of mortgage securities with maturities of 15 years or less at issue date.

Represents liquidations as a percentage of the average gross mortgage portfolio.

)

=

)
5)

3 23 8 28

Mortgage Investment Activity in 2004

Our mortgage purchases in 2004 decreased by $267.3 billion, or 51%, from our purchasesin 2003. In 2004, spreads between our
debt and mortgage assets were very narrow throughout the year, reflecting both strong investor demand for mortgage assets from
banks, funds and other investors, and the impact of a steep yield curve. Accordingly, because fewer available mortgage assets met
our risk/return objectives in 2004 as compared to 2003, we purchased fewer mortgage assets in 2004. In addition, mortgage
liquidationsin 2004 decreased by $207.7 billion, or 46%, from liquidations in 2003, due to higher prevailing mortgage ratesin
2004, which reduced refinancing activity in 2004 as compared to 2003. Due to lower levels of liquidations, fewer purchases of
mortgage assets were necessary in order to maintain the size of our mortgage portfolio. Because liquidations of the mortgage assets
in our portfolio in 2004 were roughly equal to our purchases of mortgage assets in 2004, our mortgage portfolio balance increased
only dlightly from 2003 to 2004.
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Mortgage Investment Activity in 2003

Our mortgage purchases in 2003 increased by $172.6 billion, or 49%, from our purchases in 2002. Mortgage originations reached
arecord level of $3.9 trillion in 2003 based on historically low mortgage rates, particularly during the first half of the year, which
led to significant refinancing activity in 2003. This, coupled with afavorable spread between our debt and mortgage assets led to
high levels of purchases by us, which were partially offset by portfolio liquidations. Mortgage liquidations in 2003 increased by
$179.3 hillion, or 65%, from liquidations in 2002. Our purchases of mortgage assets in 2003 outpaced the amount of mortgage
liquidations by $69.6 billion, contributing to the increase in the net mortgage portfolio.

Recent Trendsin Mortgage I nvestment Activity

Our mortgage investment activities during 2005 and 2006 were conducted within the context of our capital restoration plan, which
defined the management of “ total balance sheet size by reducing the portfolio principally through normal mortgage liquidations”
as one of two key elements that would contribute to the achievement of our capital goal. The plan also provided that, as a
contingency measure to provide additional capital, we would also consider reducing our mortgage portfolio balances through asset
sales.

OFHEO announced on November 1, 2005 that we had achieved a 30% surplus over minimum capital at September 30, 2005.
Under our May 23, 2006 consent order with OFHEO, we agreed to continue to maintain a 30% capital surplus over our statutory
minimum capital requirement until the Director of OFHEQ, in his discretion, determines the requirement should be modified or
allowed to expire, taking into account factors such as resolution of accounting and internal control issues. We also agreed not to
increase the size of our net mortgage portfolio above the $727.75 billion amount of net mortgage assets held as of December 31,
2005, except in limited circumstances at OFHEO' sdiscretion.

Our portfolio purchases in 2005 were significantly lower than in 2004, due to both our assessment of the pricing for fixed-rate
mortgage assets and our focus on managing our balance sheet size to achieve our capital plan objectives. Portfolio liquidations
were lower in 2005 than in 2004. Our portfolio salesin 2005 were significantly higher than in 2004. The net impact of our
purchases, liquidations and sales in 2005 was an approximately 20% decline in the size of our net mortgage portfolio as of
December 31, 2005, as compared to year-end 2004. Similar dynamics have existed through the first nine months of 2006, resulting
in anet mortgage portfolio essentially unchanged from the end of 2005.

If market conditions change significantly, the limit on the size of our net mortgage portfolio could constrain our ability to
capitalize fully on economically attractive opportunities to add mortgage assets to our portfolio. The portfolio limit may also affect
the pace or size of sales from our portfolio, particularly when our balance of net mortgage assets approaches the portfolio limit. We
regularly meet with OFHEO to discuss current market conditions and our mortgage and capital markets activities. In addition, we
will contact OFHEO immediately if the market environment changes markedly and we determine that such changes could limit our
ability to provide liquidity, meet our housing goals, or compete effectively in the secondary mortgage market while remaining
within the portfolio limit prescribed by OFHEO. We anticipate submitting an updated business plan to OFHEO in early 2007 that
will take into account our completed remediation efforts at that time. The business plan may include a request for modest growth in
the mortgage portfolio.
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Table 22 shows the balance of our mortgage portfolio, which reflects the net impact of our purchases, sales and liquidations, and
the composition of our mortgage portfolio by product type as of December 31, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Table22: Mortgage Portfolio Composition®

As of December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(Dollarsin millions)

Mortgage loans:

Single-family:
Government insured or guaranteed $ 10112 $ 7,284 $ 6,404 $ 6,381

Conventional:
Long-term, fixed-rate 230,585 250,915 223,794 198,468

Intermediate-term, fixed-ratel® 76,640 85,130 59,521 45,018



Adjustable-rate 38,350 19,155 12,142 12,791

Total conventional single-family 345,575 355,200 295,457 256,277
Total single-family 355,687 362,484 301,861 262,658
Multifamily:@

Government insured or guaranteed 1,074 1,204 1,898 2,116

Conventional 43,396 33,945 19,485 14,760
Total multifamily 44,470 35,149 21,383 16,876
Total mortgage loans 400,157 397,633 323,244 279,534

Unamortized premiums (discounts) and deferred price adjustments,
net 1,647 1,768 1,358 (493)
Lower of cost or market adjustments on loans held for sale (83) (50) (16) (36)
Allowance for loan losses for loans held for investment (349) (290) (216) (168)
Total mortgage loans, net 401,372 399,061 324,370 278,837
Mortgage-related securities:
Fannie Mae single-class MBS 272,665 337,463 292,611 237,051
Non-Fannie Mae single-class mortgage securities 35,656 33,367 38,731 50,982
Fannie Mae structured MBS 71,739 68,459 87,772 90,147
Non-Fannie Mae structured mortgage securities 109,455 45,065 28,188 29,137
Mortgage revenue bonds 22,076 20,359 19,650 18,391
Other mortgage-related securities 5,461 6,522 9,583 10,711
Total mortgage-related securities 517,052 511,235 476,535 436,419
Market val ue adjustments® 6,680 7,973 17,868 7,205
Other-than-temporary impairments (432) (412) (204) (22)
Unamortized premiums (discounts) and deferred price adjustments,
net 173 1,442 1,842 (1,060)
Total mortgage-related securities, net 523,473 520,238 496,041 442,542
Mortgage portfolio, net $ 924845 $ 919299 $ 820411 $ 721379

Mortgage loans and mortgage-rel ated securities are reported at unpaid principa balance.

@ Mortgage loans include $152.7 billion, $162.5 billion, $135.8 billion and $113.4 billion of mortgage-related securities that were
consolidated in the consolidated balance sheets as |oans as of December 31, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Intermediate-term, fixed-rate consists of mortgage loans with contractual maturities at purchase equal to or less than 15 years.
Includes unrealized gains and |osses on mortgage-related securities and securities commitments classified as trading and available for
sale.
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The changing product mix of originationsin our underlying market had a pronounced effect on the composition of mortgage assets
purchased for our portfolio during 2004. Due to an increase in the percentage of adjustable-rate mortgage originationsin 2004, a
substantially higher proportion of our purchases in 2004 consisted of ARMs and floating-rate mortgage-related securities. These
floating-rate securities and adjustable-rate mortgage products typically have lower initial interest yields than fixed-rate mortgage
products. Accordingly, our purchase of a greater proportion of these lower initial yield mortgage products adversely affected our
net interest yield during 2004.

Non-mortgage Investments

Our Capital Markets group also purchases non-mortgage investments. Our hon-mortgage investments consist primarily of
high-quality securities that are readily marketable or have short-term maturities, such as commercial paper. As of December 31,
2004 and 2003, we had approximately $55.1 billion and $67.1 billion, respectively, in liquid assets, net of any cash and cash
equivalents pledged as collateral. Our investments in non-mortgage securities, which account for the majority of our liquid assets,
totaled $43.9 billion and $46.8 hillion as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Table 23 shows the amortized cost, maturity and weighted average yield of our investments in mortgage and non-mortgage
securities.

Table23: Amortized Cost, Maturity and Average Yield of | nvestmentsin Securities

As of December 31, 2004

After OneYear After Five Years

Total Total OneYear or Less Through Five Years Through Ten Years After Ten Years




Amortized Fair Amortized Fair Amortized Fair Amortized Fair Amortized

Fair

Cost® Value Cost® Value Cost® Value Cost® Value Cost® Value
(Dollarsin millions)

annie Mae

single-class MBS® $ 238386 $ 241828 $ = $ - $ 701 $ 746 $ 3,163 $ 3338 $ 234522 $ 237,74
lon-Fannie Mae

single-class mortgage

securities? 34,429 35,168 — — 58 61 420 435 33,951 34,67
annie Mae structured

MBS®? 72,093 73,367 188 239 78 79 426 444 71,401 72,60
lon-Fannie Mae

structured mortgage

securities? 109,564 109,820 4 4 10 10 56 57 109,494 109,74
lortgage revenue bonds 22,124 22,657 180 179 687 686 658 674 20,599 21,11
ther mortgage-rel ated

securities® 5,043 5,346 — ©)] — — — — 5,043 5,34
sset-backed securities? 25,632 25,645 5,094 5,094 17,532 17,521 1,552 1,554 1,454 1,47
orporate debt securities 15,102 15,098 5,302 5,305 9,700 9,693 100 100 — -
lunicipal bonds 865 863 865 863 — — — — — -
ther

non-mortgage-rel ated

securities 2,302 2,303 1,782 1,783 520 520 — — — —

Total $ 525540 $ 532005 $ 13415 $ 13464 $ 29286 $ 20316 $ 6375 $ 6602 $ 476464 $__482.71

Yield® 4.64% 2.78% 1.74% 5.50% 4.86%

Amortized cost includes unamortized premiums, discounts and other deferred price adjustments, as well as other-than-temporary
impairment write downs.

Asset-backed securities, including mortgage-backed securities, are reported based on contractual maturities assuming no prepayments.
Includes commitments related to mortgage securities that are accounted for as securities.

Yields are determined by dividing interest income (including the amortization and accretion of premiums, discounts and other deferred
price adjustments) by amortized cost balances as of year-end.

SUPPLEMENTAL NON-GAAP INFORMATION—FAIR VALUE BALANCE SHEET

Because our assets and liabilities consist predominately of financial instruments, we routinely use fair value measures to make
investment decisions and to measure, monitor and manage our risk. The balance sheets
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presented in our consolidated financial statements reflect some financial assets measured and reported at fair value while other
financial assets, along with most of our financial liahilities, are measured and reported at historical cost.

Each of the non-GAAP supplemental consolidated fair value balance sheets presented below in Table 24 reflects al of our assets
and liabilities at estimated fair value. Estimated fair value is the amount at which an asset or liability could be exchanged between
willing parties, other than in aforced or liquidation sale. We believe that the non-GAAP supplemental consolidated fair value
balance sheets are useful to investors because they provide consistency in the measurement and reporting of all of our assets and
liahilities. Management principally uses thisinformation to gain a clearer picture of changesin our assets and liabilities from
period to period and to understand how the overall value of the company is changing from period to period.

Our consolidated fair value balance sheets include the following non-GAAP financial measures:

» thefair value of our other assets and our total assets;
» thefair value of our other liabilities and our total liabilities; and
o thefair value of our net assets.

These items are not defined terms within GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other
companies. The estimated fair value of our net assets (net of tax effect) presented in the non-GAAP supplemental consolidated fair
value balance sheets is not intended as a substitute for our consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP.
We believe, however, that the non-GAAP supplemental consolidated fair value balance sheets and the fair value of our net assets,
when used in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP, can serve as valuable



incremental tools for investors to assess changes in our overall value over time relative to changes in market conditions.
Cautionary Language Relating to Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial M easures

In reviewing our non-GAAP supplemental consolidated fair value balance sheets, there are a number of important factors and
limitations to consider. The estimated fair value of our net assetsis calculated as of a particular point in time based on our existing
assets and liabilities and does not incorporate other factors that may have a significant impact on that value, most notably any value
from future business activities in which we expect to engage. As aresult, the estimated fair value of our net assets presented in our
non-GAAP supplemental consolidated fair value balance sheets does not represent an estimate of our net realizable value,
liquidation value or our market value as awhole. Amounts we ultimately realize from the disposition of assets or settlement of
liabilities may vary significantly from the estimated fair values presented in our non-GAAP supplemental consolidated fair value
balance sheets. Because temporary changes in market conditions can substantially affect the fair value of our net assets, we do not
believe that short-term fluctuations in the fair value of our net assets attributable to mortgage-to-debt OAS or changesin the fair
value of our guaranty business are necessarily representative of the effectiveness of our investment strategy or the long-term
underlying value of our business. We believe the long-term value of our business depends primarily on our ability to acquire new
assets and funding at attractive prices and to effectively manage the risks of these assets and liabilities over time. However, we
believe that focusing on the factors that affect near-term changes in the estimated fair value of our net assets helps us eval uate our
long-term value and assess whether temporary market factors have caused our net assets to become overvalued or undervalued
relative to the level of risk and expected long-term fundamental s of our business.

In addition, asdiscussed in * Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates—Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” when quoted
market prices or observable market data are not available, we rely on internally devel oped models that require management
judgment and assumptions to estimate fair value. Differences in assumptions used in our models could result in significant changes
in our estimates of fair value.
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Table 24: Non-GAAP Supplemental Consolidated Fair VValue Balance Sheets

As of December 31, 2004 As of December 31, 2003

Carrying Fair Value Estimated Carrying Fair Value Estimated
Value Adjustment¢ Fair Value Value Adjustmentt Fair Value
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(Dallarsin millions)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3701 $ - $ 3,701@ % 4804 $ - 3 4,804
Federal funds sold and securities
purchased under agreements
to resell 3,930 — 3,930@ 12,686 — 12,6862
Trading securities 35,287 — 35,2871 43,798 — 43,798
Available-for-sale securities 532,095 — 532,095 523,272 — 523,2722
Mortgage loans held for sale 11,721 131 11,852@ 13,596 154 13,7509
Mortgage loans held for
investment, net of allowance
for loan losses 389,651 7,952 397,603 385,465 9,269 394,734
Derivative assets at fair value 6,589 — 6,589 7,218 — 7,218
Guaranty assets and buy-ups 6,616 2,647 9,263 4,998 3,619 8,617
Total financial assets 989,590 10,730 1,000,320 995,837 13,042 1,008,879
Other assets 31,344 (23) 31,3210 26,438 2,885 29,323%0O
Total assets $ 1020934 $ 10707 $__1031641© $ 1022275 $ 15927 $ 1038202
Liabilities:
Federal funds purchased and
securities sold under
agreements to repurchase $ 2400 $ @ % 2,399@  $ 3673 $ (5) 3,668
Short-term debt 320,280 (567) 319,713@ 343,662 (96) 343,566
Long-term debt 632,831 15,445 648,27612 617,618 23,053 640,671
Derivative liabilities at fair value 1,145 — 1,145@ 3,225 — 3,225
Guaranty obligations 8,784 (3,512) 5,272 6,401 (1,256) 5,145
Total financial liabilities 965,440 11,365 976,805 974,579 21,696 996,275
Other liabilities 16,516 (1,850) 14,6669 15,423 (1,894) 13,5296
Total liabilities 981,956 9,515 991,471® 990,002 19,802 1,009,804®
Minority interestsin 76 — 76 5} — 5



consolidated subsidiaries
Net assets, net of tax effect

(non-GAAP) $ 38902 $ 1192 $ 40,094 $ 32268 $__ (3875 $ 28,393
Fair value adjustments (1,192) 3,875
Total stockholders' equity
(GAAP) $ 38,902 $ 32,268

Explanation and Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measuresto GAAP Measures

@ Each of the amounts listed asa*“ fair value adjustment” represents the difference between the carrying value reported in our GAAP

consolidated balance sheets and our best judgment of the estimated fair value of the listed asset or liability.

The estimated fair value of each of these financial instruments has been computed in accordance with the GAAP fair value guidelines
prescribed by SFAS 107, as described in “ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 19, Fair Value of Financia Instruments.”
In Note 19, we also discuss the methodol ogies and assumptions we use in estimating the fair value of our financial instruments.
Represents the estimated fair value produced by combining the estimated fair value of our guaranty assets as of December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively, with the estimated fair value of buy-ups. In our GAAP consolidated balance sheets, we report our guaranty assets as a
separate lineitem and include all buy-ups associated with our guaranty assetsin “ Other assets.” Asaresult, the GAAP carrying value
of our guaranty assets reflects only those arrangements entered

@

©)
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into subsequent to our adoption of FIN 45 on January 1, 2003. On a GAAP basis, our guaranty assets totaled $5.9 billion and $4.3 billion
as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and the associated buy-ups totaled $692 million and $716 million as of December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively.

In addition to the $7.1 billion and $6.2 billion of assetsincluded in “ Other assets’ in the GAAP consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, the assets included in the estimated fair value of our non-GAAP “ other assets” consist
primarily of the assets presented on five line itemsin our GAAP consolidated balance sheets, consisting of advances to lenders, accrued
interest receivable, partnership investments, acquired property, net, and deferred tax assets, which together totaled $24.9 billion in 2004
and $21.0 hillion in 2003, in both the GAAP consolidated balance sheets and the non-GAAP supplemental consolidated balance sheets
for those periods. In addition, we subtract from our GAAP other assets the carrying value of the buy-ups associated with our guaranty
obligation because we combine the guaranty asset with the associated buy-ups when we determine the fair value of the asset.

The fair value of other assets and other liabilities generally approximates the carrying value of these assets for purposes of GAAP. We
assume that other deferred assets and liabilities, consisting of prepaid expenses and deferred charges such as deferred debt issuance
costs, have no fair value. We adjust the GAAP-basis deferred taxes for purposes of each of our non-GAAP supplemental consolidated
fair value balance sheets to include estimated income taxes on the difference between our non-GAAP supplemental consolidated fair
value balance sheets net assets, including deferred taxes from the GAAP consolidated balance sheets, and our GAAP consolidated
balance sheets stockholders'  equity. To the extent the adjusted deferred taxes are a net asset, this amount is included in the fair value of
other assets. If the adjusted deferred taxes are a net liability, the amount isincluded in the fair value of other liabilities.

Non-GAAP total assets represent the sum of the estimated fair value of (i) al financial instruments carried at fair value in our GAAP
balance sheets, including all financial instruments that are not carried at fair value in our GAAP balance sheets but that are reported at
fair value in accordance with SFAS 107 in “ Notesto Consolidated Financia Statements—Note 19, Fair Value of Financial
Instruments,” (ii) non-GAAP other assets, which include all items listed in footnote 4 that are presented as separate line itemsin our
GAAP consolidated balance sheets rather than being included in our GAAP other assets and (iii) the estimated fair value of credit
enhancements, which are not included in “ Other assets’ in the consolidated balance sheets.

In addition to the $7.2 billion and $7.0 hillion of lighilitiesincluded in “ Other lighilities’ in the GAAP consolidated balance sheets as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, the liabilitiesincluded in the estimated fair value of our non-GAAP “ other liabilities’
consist primarily of the liabilities presented on three line items on our GAAP consolidated balance sheets, consisting of accrued interest
payable, reserve for guaranty losses and partnership liabilities, which together totaled $9.3 billion in 2004 and $8.4 billion in 2003, in
both our GAAP consolidated balance sheets and our non-GAAP supplemental consolidated balance sheets for those periods.
Non-GAAP total liabilities represent the sum of the estimated fair value of (i) all financia instruments that are carried at fair value in our
GAAP balance sheets, including those financial instruments that are not carried at fair value in our GAAP balance sheets but that are
reported at fair value in accordance with SFAS 107 in“ Notesto Consolidated Financia Statements—Note 19, Fair Value of Financial
Instruments,” and (ii) non-GAAP other liabilities, which include al items listed in footnote 6 that are presented as separate line itemsin
our GAAP consolidated balance sheets rather than being included in our GAAP other liabilities.

Represents the estimated fair value of total assets |ess the estimated fair value of total liabilities, which reconciles to total stockholders
equity (GAAP).

Restated Fair Value of Net Assets as of December 31, 2003

(4

®

®

(@

®

©)

The restated fair value of our net assets (net of tax effect) as of December 31, 2003 was $28.4 billion, areduction of $3.2 hillion
from the previously reported amount of $31.6 billion as aresult of the errors described in “ Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements—Note 1, Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements.”



The $3.2 billion reduction is primarily attributable to the correction of errorsin our fair value calculations. Approximately
$1.9 billion of the $3.2 billion reduction is due to correction of errors associated with estimating the fair value of our guaranty
assets and guaranty obligations, and the remaining approximately $1.3 billion is due to correction of errors associated with
estimating the fair value of HTM securities, debt and derivatives. Of the $1.9 billion reduction related to guaranty assets and
guaranty obligations, approximately $1.2 billion is due to an increase in the estimated fair value of our guaranty obligation,
approximately $200 million is due to a decrease in the estimated fair value of our whole loans, and the remaining approximately
$500 million is due to other changes made in re-estimating the fair value of the guaranty asset and the guaranty obligation. Of the
$1.3 billion reduction related to HTM securities, debt and derivatives, approximately $800 million is due to a decrease in the
estimated fair value of our mortgage assets, primarily mortgage revenue bonds and REMICs, approximately $300 million is due to
an increase in the estimated fair
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value of our debt and approximately $200 million is due to a decrease in the estimated fair value of our derivatives.
Changein Estimated Fair Value of Net Assets as of December 31, 2004

The estimated fair value of our net assets (net of tax effect) was $40.1 billion as of December 31, 2004, an increase of
$11.7 billion, or 41%, from the restated net asset fair value of $28.4 billion as of December 31, 2003. Both our own activities and
market conditions cause changes in the estimated fair value of our net assets (non-GAAP).

Of thetotal $11.7 billion increase, approximately $2.8 billion of the increase is attributable to our capital transactions, consisting
primarily of $5.0 billion of gross proceeds we received from a preferred stock offering in 2004, partially offset by the payment of
$2.2 billion of dividends to holders of our common and preferred stock. Net cash inflows generated by our Single-Family, HCD
and Capital Markets businesses also contributed to the increase in fair value of our net assets (non-GAAP).

The remainder of the increase islargely attributable to changes in market conditions. Selected relevant market information is
shown in Table 25. Since our goal isto minimize our risk associated with changes in interest rates, we expect that changesin
implied volatility, mortgage OAS and debt OAS are the market conditions that will have the most significant impact on the fair
value of our net assets. Implied volatility decreased considerably during 2004 compared to 2003. For example, theimplied
volatility of 3-year swaptions on 10-year underlying instruments declined by 280 basis points, from 22.9% as of December 31,
2003 to 20.1% as of December 31, 2004. Asindicated in Table 24, this decrease in implied volatility had the effect of increasing
the value of our mortgage assets more than it increased our debt and derivatives funding of those assets. Changesin OAS had less
of an impact on the fair value of our net assets over this period. According to the Lehman U.S. MBS Index, the OAS of mortgages,
including those in the Fannie Mae MBS component of the Lehman U.S. MBS Index, decreased by 5.1 basis points to 22.5 basis
points at December 31, 2004. A tighter, or lower, OAS on mortgages generally increases the fair value of our mortgage assets. The
OAS on debt securities included in the Lehman U.S. Agency Debt Index decreased by 4.7 basis points to 32.2 basis points as of
December 31, 2004. A tighter, or lower, debt OAS generally increases the fair value of our liabilities.

Table25: Selected Market Information®

As of December 31,

2004 2003 Change
10-year U.S. Treasury Note Yield 4.22% 4.25% (0.03) %
Implied volatility® 20.1% 22.9% (2.80) %
30-year Fannie Mae MBS par coupon rate 5.21% 5.28% (0.07) %
Lehman U.S. MBS Index OAS (in basis points) over U.S. Treasury yield curve 225bp 27.6 bp (5.1) bp
Lehman U.S. Agency Debt Index OAS (in basis points) over U.S. Treasury yield curve 32.2 bp 36.9 bp (4.7) bp

@ Information obtained from Lehman Live and Bloomberg.

@ Implied volatility for an interest rate swaption with a 3-year option on a 10-year final maturity.
Effect of Market Conditions on Estimated Fair Value of Our Net Assets

We expect periodic fluctuations in the estimated fair value of our net assets due to changes in market conditions, including
changesin interest rates, changes in relative spreads between our mortgage assets and debt, and changes in implied volatility.
Based on market conditions and the composition of our consolidated balance sheetsin 2005 and 2006, we do not expect that we
will experience the same level of increase, if any, in the estimated fair value of our net assets in 2005 and 2006 that we experienced
in 2004. We discuss the sensitivity of the estimated fair value of our net assetsin “ Risk Management—interest Rate Risk
Management and Other Market Risks.”
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Key Elements of Changesin Estimated Fair Value of Net Assets (Non-GAAP)

Although we have not provided specific attribution of fair value changes for 2004, we consider the factors described in the
following paragraphsin evaluating changesin the estimated fair value of our net assets because they are the principal drivers of
these changes.

¢ Capital Transactions, Net. Capital transactions include our issuances of common and preferred stock, our repurchases of
stock and our payment of dividends. Cash we receive from the issuance of preferred and common stock resultsin an
increase in the fair value of our net assets, while repurchases of stock and dividends we pay on our stock reduce the fair
value of our net assets.

» Estimated Net Interest Income from OAS. OAS income represents the estimated net interest income generated during the
current period that is attributable to the market spread between the yields on our mortgage-related assets and the yields
on our debt during the period, calculated on an option-adjusted basis.

» Guaranty Fees, Net. Guaranty fees, net, represent the net cash receipts during the reported period related to our guaranty
business, and are generally calculated as the difference between the contractual guaranty fees we receive during the
period and the expenses we incur during the period that are associated with our guaranty business. Changesin guaranty
fees, net, result from changes in portfolio size and composition, changes in the credit quality of the underlying assets and
changes in the market spreads for similar instruments.

¢ Feeand Other Income and Other Expenses, Net. Fee and other income includes miscellaneous fees, such as
resecuritization transaction fees and technology-rel ated fees. Other expenses primarily include costs incurred during the
period that are associated with the Capital Markets group.

» Returnon Risk Positions. Our investment activities expose us to market risks, including duration and convexity risks,
yield curverisk, OASrisk and volatility risk. The return on risk positions represents the estimated net increase or
decreasein the fair value of our net assets resulting from net exposures related to the market risks we actively manage.
We actively manage, or hedge, interest rate risk related to our mortgage investments in order to maintain our interest rate
risk exposure within prescribed limits. However, we do not actively manage certain other market risks. Specifically, we
do not actively manage the mortgage-to-debt OAS or interest rate risk related to our guaranty business, as discussed
below. Additional information about credit, market and operational risks and our strategies for managing these types of
risksisincluded in“ Risk Management.”

» Mortgage-to-debt OAS. Funding mortgage investments with debt exposes us to mortgage-to-debt OAS risk, which
represents basisrisk. Basisrisk istherisk that interest rates in different market sectors will not move in the same
direction or amount at the same time. We generally hold our mortgage investments to generate a spread over our debt on
along-term basis. The fair value of our assets and liabilities can be significantly affected by periodic changes in the net
OAS between the mortgage and agency debt sectors. The fair value impact of changes in mortgage-to-debt OAS for a
given period represents an estimate of the net unrealized increase or decrease in the fair value of our net assets resulting
from fluctuations during the reported period in the net OAS between our mortgage assets and our outstanding debt
securities. When the mortgage-to-debt OAS on a given mortgage asset increases, or widens, the fair value of the asset
will typically decline relative to the debt.

We work to manage the OAS risk that exists at the time we purchase mortgage assets through our asset selection process. We
use models to evaluate mortgage assets on the basis of yield-to-maturity, option-adjusted yield spread, historical valuations and
embedded options. Our models al so take into account risk factors such as credit quality, price volatility and prepayment
experience. We purchase mortgage assets that appear economically attractive to usin the context of current market conditions
and that fall within our OAS targets. Although awidening of mortgage-to-debt OAS during a period generally resultsin lower
fair values during that period, it can provide us with better investment opportunities to purchase mortgage assets because a
wider OASisindicative of higher expected returns. We generally purchase mortgage assets when mortgage-to-debt OASis
relatively wide and restrict our purchase activity or sell mortgage assets when mortgage-to-debt OAS is relatively narrow. We
do not, however, attempt to actively
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manage or hedge the impact of changes in mortgage-to-debt OAS after we purchase mortgage assets, other than through asset
monitoring and disposition.



» Changein the Guaranty Business Fair Value. Asdescribed morefully in* Notesto Consolidated Financial
Statements—Note 19, Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” we calculate the estimated fair value of our existing
guaranty business based on the difference between the estimated fair value of the guaranty fees we expect to receive and
the estimated fair value of the guaranty obligations we assume. The fair value of both our guaranty assets and our
guaranty obligationsis highly sensitive to changes in interest rates and credit quality. Changes in interest rates can result
in significant periodic fluctuations in the fair value of our net assets. For example, as interest rates decline, the expected
prepayment rate on fixed-rate mortgages increases, which lowers the fair value of our existing guaranty business. We do
not believe, however, that periodic changes in fair value are the best indication of the long-term value of our guaranty
business because they do not take into account future guaranty business activity. Based on our historical experience, we
expect that the guaranty fee income generated from future business activity will largely replace any guaranty fee income
lost as aresult of mortgage prepayments. Accordingly, we do not actively manage or hedge expected changesin the fair
value of our guaranty business related to changes in interest rates. To assess the value of our underlying guaranty
business, we focus primarily on changesin the fair value of our guaranty business resulting from business growth,
changes in the credit quality of existing guaranty arrangements and changes in anticipated future credit performance.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Overview

Our businesses expose us to the following four major categories of risk:

» Credit Risk. Credit risk istherisk of financial loss resulting from the failure of a borrower or institutional counterparty
to honor its contractual obligationsto us and exists primarily in our mortgage credit book of business and derivatives
portfolio.

» Market Risk. Market risk represents the exposure to potential changesin the market value of our net assets from changes
in prevailing market conditions. A significant market risk we face and actively manage is interest rate risk—the risk of
changes in our long-term earnings or in the value of our net assets due to changes in interest rates.

* Operational Risk. Operational risk relates to the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes,
people or systems, or from external events.

e Liquidity Risk. Liquidity risk istherisk to our earnings and capital arising from an inability to meet our cash obligations
in atimely manner.

We also are subject to a number of other risks that could adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows, including legal and reputational risks that may arise due to afailure to comply with laws, regulations or ethical
standards and codes of conduct applicable to our business activities and functions.

Effective management of risksis an integral part of our business and critical to our safety and soundness. In the following
sections, we provide an overview of our corporate risk governance structure and risk management processes, which are intended to
identify, measure, monitor and manage the principal risks we assume in conducting our business activities in accordance with
defined policies and procedures. Following the overview, we provide additional information on how we manage each of our four
major categories of risk. In“ Item 1A—Risk Factors,” we identify other risk factors that may adversely affect our business.

Risk Governance Structure

We made significant organizational changesin 2005 and 2006 to enhance our risk governance structure and strengthen our
internal controls due to identified material weaknesses. During 2005, we adopted an enhanced corporate risk framework to address
weaknesses in our risk governance structure. This new framework isintended to ensure that people and processes are organized in
away that promotes a cross-functional approach to risk management and controls are in place to better manage our risks. Basic
tenets of our corporate risk
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framework include establishing corporate-wide policies for risk management, del egating to business units primary responsibility
for the management of the day-to-day risks inherent in the activities of the business unit, and monitoring aggregate risks and
compliance with risk policies at a corporate level.

Our corporate risk framework is supported by a governance structure encompassing the Board of Directors, an independent
corporate risk oversight organization, business units, management-level risk committees and Internal Audit. Aswe continuein our
effortsto build out our risk oversight organization, our goal isto establish clear lines of authority, clarify roles and responsihilities,
and enact policies and procedures designed to ensure that we have an independent risk oversight function and a well-disciplined
risk management process with appropriate checks and balances throughout our company.



Risk Policy and Capital Committee of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directorsisresponsible for approving our risk governance framework and providing capital and risk management
oversight. The Board exercisesits oversight of credit risk, market risk, operational risk and liquidity risk primarily through the
Board' sRisk Policy and Capital Committee. The responsibilities of the Risk Policy and Capital Committee include:

¢ evaluating and, where appropriate, recommending for Board approval enterprise-wide risk management policies, metrics
and limits consistent with our mission and our safety and soundness;

» reviewing policies and procedures designed to: (i) define, measure, identify and report on credit, market, liquidity and
operational risk; and (ii) establish and communicate risk management control s throughout the company;

» overseeing compliance with all enterprise-wide risk management policies;

* overseeing the Chief Risk Office; and

» reviewing the sufficiency of personnel, systems and other risk management capabilities.

Chief Risk Office

The Chief Risk Office isan independent risk oversight organization with responsibility for oversight of credit risk, market risk and
operationa risk. The Chief Risk Officeis headed by a Chief Risk Officer who reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer and
independently to the Risk Policy and Capital Committee of the Board of Directors. The Chief Risk Office and the position of Chief
Risk Officer were established in 2005. The Chief Risk Officeis responsible for formulating corporate risk policies and monitoring
the company’ s aggregate risk profile. The Chief Risk Office works closely with our business units to ensure they have in place the
structure and information systems necessary to adequately measure, report, monitor and control their key business risks, consistent
with corporate standards. The Chief Risk Office also is responsible for validation of risk models and for developing and
implementing an economic risk capital framework.

The Chief Risk Officer isresponsible for establishing our overall risk governance structure and providing independent evaluation
and oversight of our risk management activities. In addition to directing the Chief Risk Office, the Chief Risk Officer oversees our
management-level corporate risk committees. The Chief Risk Officer reports on aregular basis to our Board of Directors regarding
our corporate risk profile, including our aggregate risk exposure, the level of risk by type of risk, performance relative to risk
tolerance limits and any significant risk management issues.

Risk Management Committees

In 2006, we further enhanced our risk governance framework by creating two management-level committees: (i) the Corporate
Risk Management Committee, which focuses on credit and market risk and is a successor to our Portfolio and Capital Committee;
and (i) the Operational Risk Committee, which focuses on operational risk. Each committee is responsible for, among other things:

* monitoring aggregated risk exposure;

e discussing emerging risk issues;

* reviewing proposed risk limits;

» approving the risk aspects of significant new business initiatives,; and
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 approving and managing risk policies with corporate-wide or significant business unit implications.

The Management Executive Committee, which is chaired by the Chief Executive Officer and composed of principal executive
officers of the company, has responsibility for reviewing and approving our enterprise-wide risk tolerance policy and our
enterprise-wide risk framework, addressing issues referred to it by the Corporate Risk Management Committee and the Operational
Risk Committee, addressing matters that involve multiple types of risks and addressing other significant business risks. Where
appropriate, the Management Executive Committee brings transactions of an extraordinary nature and significant potential new
business activities to the Risk Policy and Capital Committee of the Board of Directors for review and approval.

Business Units

Business unit managers execute company-wide risk policies set by the Chief Risk Officer, develop risk management strategies for
their specific businesses, and establish and implement risk management policies and practices within their businesses. Each
business unit is responsible for identifying, measuring and managing key risks within its business. In addition, each business unit
has business unit risk managers who are responsible for ensuring that there are clear delineations of responsibility for managing
risk, adequate systems for measuring risk, appropriately structured limits on risk taking, effective internal controlsand a



comprehensive risk reporting process. As part of our risk governance structure, we intend to establish within each business unit risk
committees that will be responsible for decisions relating to risk strategy, policies and controls.

Internal Audit

Our Internal Audit group, under the direction of the Chief Audit Executive, provides an objective assessment of the design and
execution of our internal control system, including our management systems, risk governance, and policies and procedures. The
Chief Audit Executive reports directly and independently to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, and audit personnel are
compensated on objectives set for the group by the Audit Committee rather than corporate financial results or goals. Internal Audit
activities are designed to provide reasonable assurance that resources are safeguarded; that significant financial, managerial and
operating information is complete, accurate and reliable; and that employee actions comply with our policies and applicable laws
and regulations.

Office of Compliance and Ethics

Our Office of Compliance and Ethics, under the direction of the Chief Compliance Officer, is responsible for developing and
carrying out corporate policies related to compliance, ethics and investigations. The Office of Compliance and Ethics and the
position of Chief Compliance Officer were established in 2005. The Chief Compliance Officer reports directly to the Chief
Executive Officer and independently to the Compliance Committee of the Board of Directors. The Chief Compliance Officer
operates independently of management and may be removed only upon Board approval. The Chief Compliance Officer is
responsible for overseeing our compliance activities; devel oping and promoting a code of ethical conduct; evaluating and
investigating any allegations of misconduct; and overseeing and coordinating our OFHEO and HUD regulatory reporting and
examinations. Our newly formed Compliance Coordination Committee, which is composed of senior officers of the company, is
responsible for coordinating the legal and regulatory compliance risk governance functions with other control functions, such as
Legal, Internal Audit and the Chief Risk Office.

Corporate Risk Tolerance Principles

In September 2006, the Board of Directors adopted risk principles that govern our risk activities. These principles include taking
risksin an informed and disciplined manner and ensuring that we are adequately compensated for the risks we take, consistent with
our mission goals. Pursuant to our corporate risk tolerance principles, we will accept certain levels of period-to-period volatility in
our financial performance due to changes in market conditions and applicable accounting principles. Moreover, we will determine
the appropriate accounting treatment of transactions as well as financial reporting, operations and systems capability before
introducing new products or making significant revisions to existing products. The Chief
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Risk Officer will report to the Board of Directors annually on management’ s adherence to these risk principles.
Credit Risk Management

We assess, price and assume mortgage credit risk as a basic component of our business. We assume institutional counterparty
credit risk in avariety of our business transactions, including transactions designed to mitigate mortgage credit risk and interest rate
risk. The degree of credit risk to which we are exposed will vary based on many factors, including the risk profile of the borrower
or counterparty, the contractual terms of the agreement, the amount of the transaction, repayment sources, the availability and
quality of collateral and other factors relevant to current events, conditions and expectations. We eval uate these factors and actively
manage, on an aggregate basis, the extent and nature of the credit risk we bear, with the objective of ensuring that we are
adequately compensated for the credit risk we take, consistent with our mission goals.

Our Single-Family Credit Guaranty and HCD businesses are responsible for identifying, measuring, monitoring and managing
credit risk subject to corporate risk policies and limits approved by the Chief Risk Office, which provides corporate oversight of the
credit risk management process. The Corporate Risk Management Committee, which focuses on credit and market risk, meets at
least monthly to review our aggregate credit risk profile and monitor our exposure relative to risk limits.

Our credit-related losses during the period 2002 to 2004 reflect the high credit quality of our mortgage credit book of business,
resulting from the effect of a combination of several factors, including strong home price appreciation during the period, the
benefits we receive from credit enhancements and other risk-sharing strategies, and our loss mitigation efforts. Our credit-related
losses during this period remained at what we consider to be low levels, averaging approximately 0.01% of our mortgage credit
book of business.

Mortgage Credit Risk Management

Mortgage credit risk is the risk that a borrower will fail to make required mortgage payments. We are exposed to credit risk on our
mortgage credit book of business because we either hold the mortgage assets or have issued a guaranty in connection with the



creation of Fannie Mae MBS backed by mortgage assets. Our mortgage credit book of business consists of both on- and off-balance
sheet arrangements, including single-family and multifamily mortgage loans held in our portfolio; Fannie Mae MBS and
non-Fannie Mae mortgage-related securities held in our portfolio; Fannie Mae MBS held by third-party investors; and credit
enhancements that we provide on mortgage assets. We provide additional information regarding our off-balance sheet
arrangementsin “ Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements’ below.

Factors affecting credit risk on loans in our single-family mortgage credit book of businessinclude the borrower’ sfinancial
strength and credit profile; the type of mortgage; the characteristics of the property securing the mortgage; and economic
conditions, such as changes in home prices. Factors that affect credit risk on amultifamily loan include the structure of the
financing; the type and location of the property; the condition and value of the property; the financial strength of the borrower and
lender; market and sub-market trends and growth; and the current and anticipated cash flows from the property. These and other
factors affect both the amount of expected credit loss on a given loan and the sensitivity of that loss to changes in the economic
environment.

Table 26 displays the composition of our mortgage credit book of business as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. Asindicated
in Table 26, our single-family mortgage credit book of business accounted for approximately 95% of our entire mortgage credit
book of business as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.
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Table 26: Composition of Mortgage Credit Book of Business

As of December 31, 2004
Single-Family Multifamily Total
Conventional®  Government®  Conventional®  Government®  Conventional®  Government®
(Dallarsin millions)

Mortgage portfolio:®

Mortgage loans® $ 345575 $ 10,112 % 4339% $ 1,074 % 388,971 $ 11,186
Fannie Mag MBS® 341,768 1,239 505 892 342,273 2,131
Agency mortgage-related
securities¥® 37,422 4,273 — 68 37,422 4,341
Mortgage revenue bonds 6,344 4,951 8,037 2,744 14,381 7,695
Other mortgage-related securities® 108,082 669 12 46 108,094 715
Total mortgage portfolio 839,191 21,244 51,950 4,824 891,141 26,068
Fannie Mae MBS held by third parties® 1,319,066 32,337 54,639 2,005 1,373,705 34,342
Book of business 2,158,257 53,581 106,589 6,829 2,264,846 60,410
Other® 346 — 14,111 368 14,457 368
Total mortgage credit book of
business $ 2158603 $ 53581 $ 120.700 $ 7197 $ 2279303 $ 60,778

As of December 31, 2003

Single-Family Multifamily Total
Conventional®  Government®  Conventional®  Government®  Conventional®  Government®
(Restated)

(Dallarsin millions)
Mortgage portfolio:®

Mortgage loans® $ 355200 $ 7284 % 33945 $ 1,204 $ 389,145 $ 8,488
Fannie Mae MBS 402,079 1,933 412 1,498 402,491 3,431
Agency mortgage-related
securities¥® 30,672 7,235 — 68 30,672 7,303
Mortgage revenue bonds 6,242 5,983 5,828 2,306 12,070 8,289
Other mortgage-related securities® 46,714 169 42 54 46,756 223
Total mortgage portfolio 840,907 22,604 40,227 5,130 881,134 27,734
Fannie Mae MBS held by third parties™ 1,200,222 38,487 59,403 2,408 1,259,625 40,895
Book of business 2,041,129 61,091 99,630 7,538 2,140,759 68,629
Other® 330 — 12,346 492 12,676 492

Total mortgage credit book of

business $ 204145 $ 61091 $ 111976 $ 8030 $ 2153435 $ 69,121
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As of December 31, 2002

Single-Family Multifamily Total
Conventional®  Government® Conventional® Government® Conventional®  Government®
(Restated)

(Dallarsin millions)
Mortgage portfolio:®

Mortgage loans® $ 295457 $ 6,404 $ 19485 $ 1,898 $ 314942 $ 8,302
Fannie Mae MBS® 374,555 3,230 542 2,056 375,097 5,286
Agency mortgage-related securities®® 32,218 16,042 — 85 32,218 16,127
Mortgage revenue bonds 6,378 7,614 3,728 1,930 10,106 9,544
Other mortgage-rel ated securities® 27,938 75 69 75 28,007 150
Total mortgage portfolio 736,546 33,365 23,824 6,044 760,370 39,409
Fannie Mae MBS held by third parties®” 950,690 36,225 50,772 2,752 1,001,462 38,977
Book of business 1,687,236 69,590 74,596 8,796 1,761,832 78,386
Other® 576 — 10,906 545 11,482 545
Total mortgage credit book of
business $ 1687812 $ 69,590 $ 85502 $ 9341 $_ 1773314 $ 78,931

@ Refersto mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities that are not guaranteed or insured by the U.S. government or any of its
agencies.

Refers to mortgage loans and mortgage-related securities guaranteed or insured by the U.S. government or one of its agencies.
Mortgage portfolio datais reported based on unpaid principal balance.

“ Mortgage loan dataincludes mortgage-related securities that were consolidated and reported in our consolidated balance sheets as loans
of $152.7 hillion, $162.5 billion and $135.8 billion as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Includes mortgage-rel ated securities issued by Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae.

Includes mortgage-rel ated securities issued by entities other than Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae.

Includes Fannie Mae MBS held by third-party investors. The principal balance of resecuritized Fannie Mae MBS isincluded only once.

Includes additional single-family and multifamily credit enhancements that we provide not otherwise reflected in the table.

Our strategy in managing mortgage credit risk consists of three primary components:. (1) acquisition policy and standards;
(2) portfolio diversification and monitoring; and (3) credit loss management. We use various metrics to evaluate credit performance
in our mortgage credit book of business. We estimate incurred credit |osses inherent in our mortgage credit book of business as of
each balance sheet date and maintain a combined balance of allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty losses at alevel we
believe reflects these losses.

Acquisition Policy and Sandards

Single-Family

Our Single-Family businessis responsible for pricing and managing credit risk relating to the portion of our single-family
mortgage credit book of business consisting of whole single-family mortgage |oans and Fannie Mae MBS backed by single-family
mortgage |oans (whether held in our portfolio or held by third parties). Accordingly, unless otherwise noted, the credit statistics on
our conventional single-family mortgage credit book provided in this report relate only to this portion of our conventional
single-family mortgage credit book managed by our Single-Family business, for which we have more detailed loan-level
information, which constituted approximately 92%, 95% and 95% of our total conventional single-family mortgage credit book of
business as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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The remaining portion of our conventional single-family mortgage credit book of business consists of non-Fannie Mae
mortgage-related securities backed by single-family mortgage loans and credit enhancements that we provide on single-family
mortgage assets. Our Capital Markets businessis responsible for pricing and managing credit risk relating to that remaining portion
of our conventiona single-family mortgage credit book. These mortgage exposures generally consist of mortgage-related assets
where we may not have access to detailed loan level data and may not manage the credit performance of individual loans. The
substantial majority of the non-Fannie Mae mortgage-related securities in our portfolio benefit from substantial credit
enhancement, such as a guaranty from an entity such as Ginnie Mae or Freddie Mac, an insurance policy, structured subordination



and similar sources of credit protection. Non-Fannie Mae mortgage-related securities held in our portfolio include Freddie Mac
securities, Ginnie Mae securities, private-label mortgage-related securities, Fannie Mae MBS backed by private-label
mortgage-related securities, and housing-related municipal revenue bonds. Over 90% of non-Fannie Mae mortgage-related
securities held in our portfolio as of September 30, 2006 were rated AAA/Aaa by Standard and Poor’ sand Moody’ s.

We have established underwriting guidelines for these loans that are intended to provide a comprehensive analysis of borrowers
and mortgage loans based upon known risk characteristics. We also have policies and various quality assurance efforts to review a
sample of loans to measure compliance with our underwriting and eligibility criteria. We assess the characteristics and quality of a
lender’ sloans and processes through a post-purchase loan review program, on-site reviews of lender operations and regular
comparisons of actual loan performance to expected performance.

Lenders generally represent and warrant compliance with our asset acquisition requirements when they sell mortgage loans to us
or deliver mortgage loans in exchange for Fannie Mae MBS. We may require the lender to repurchase aloan or we may seek
another remedy if we identify any deficiencies. We have developed a proprietary automated underwriting system, Desktop
Underwriter®, which measures default risk by assessing the primary risk factors of a mortgage, including the loan-to-value ratio,
the borrower’ s credit profile, the type of mortgage, the loan purpose, and other mortgage and borrower characteristics. Subject to
our review and approval, we also purchase and securitize mortgage |oans that have been underwritten using other automated
underwriting systems, as well as mortgage |oans underwritten to agreed-upon standards that differ from our standard underwriting
criteria.

The use of credit enhancements is an important part of our single-family acquisition policy and standards, although it also exposes
usto institutional counterparty risk. Based on our current acquisition policy and standards, we may accept loans originated with
loan-to-value ratios of up to 100%; however, from time to time, we may make an exception to these guidelines and acquire loans
with aloan-to-value ratio greater than 100%. Our charter requires that conventional single-family mortgage loans that we purchase
or that back Fannie Mae MBS with |oan-to-value ratios above 80% at acquisition be covered by one or more of the following;:

e primary mortgage insurance;

» asdler sagreement to repurchase or replace any mortgage loan in default (for such period and under such
circumstances as we may require); or

 retention by the seller of at least a 10% participation interest in the mortgage loans.

Primary mortgage insurance is the most common type of credit enhancement in our mortgage credit book of businessand is
typically provided on aloan-level basis. Primary mortgage insurance transfers varying portions of the credit risk associated with a
mortgage |oan to a third-party insurer. The amount of insurance we obtain on any mortgage loan depends on our requirements,
which depend on our assessment of risk.

In addition to the credit enhancement required by our charter, we require or obtain supplemental credit enhancement for some
mortgage loans, typically those with higher credit risk. Our use of discretionary credit enhancements depends on our view of the
inherent credit risk, the price of the credit enhancement, and our risk versus return objective.
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The percentage of our conventional single-family mortgage credit book of business with credit enhancement was 19%, 21% and
27% as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The percentage of our conventional single-family mortgage credit
book of business with credit enhancement has not changed significantly since the end of 2004.

Housing and Community Devel opment

Our HCD business is responsible for managing the credit risk on whole multifamily mortgage |oans we purchase and on Fannie
Mae MBS backed by multifamily loans (whether held in our portfolio or held by third parties). HCD also makes equity investments
in LIHTC limited partnerships that own an interest in rental housing that the partnerships have developed or rehabilitated. On a
much smaller scale, our HCD business also makes investmentsin other rental or for-sale housing developments and provides loans
and credit support to public entities and local banks to support affordable housing and community devel opment. We have
established credit and underwriting guidelines for most of these transactions. While the underwriting of single-family loans
primarily focuses on an evaluation of the borrower’ s ability to repay the loan, the underwriting of multifamily loans focuses
primarily on an evaluation of expected cash flows from the property for repayment. Our multifamily guidelines provide a
comprehensive analysis of the local market, the borrower and its investment in the property, the property’ s historical and projected
financial performance, the property’ s physical condition and third-party reports, including appraisals and engineering and
environmental reports. For multifamily equity investments, we also evaluate the strength of our investment sponsors and third-party
asset managers.



Multifamily loans we purchase or that back Fannie Mae MBS are either underwritten by a Fannie Mae-approved lender or subject
to our underwriting review prior to closing. Many of our agreements del egate the underwriting decisions to the lender, principally
through our Delegated Underwriting and Servicing, or DUS™, program. Approximately 89% of our multifamily mortgage credit
book of business as of December 31, 2004 consisted of loans delivered by DUS lenders, compared with approximately 90% as of
December 31, 2003. Lenders represent and warrant compliance with our underwriting requirements when they sell us mortgage
loans, when they request securitization of their loansinto Fannie Mae MBS or when they request that we provide credit
enhancement in connection with an affordable housing bond transaction. In addition, we use proprietary models and analytical
toolsto price and measure credit risk at acquisition. After closing, we conduct a post-purchase review of certain loans based on the
product type or risk profile of the loan, the lender’ s historical underwriting practices, the market and submarket conditions. If
non-compliance issues are revealed during the review process, we may take avariety of actions, including increasing the lender
credit loss sharing or requiring alender to repurchase aloan, depending on the severity of the issues identified.

The use of credit enhancementsis also an important part of our multifamily acquisition policy and standards. We use a variety of
credit enhancement vehicles including lender risk sharing, lender repurchase agreements, pool insurance, subordinated
participations in mortgage loans or structured pools, cash and letter of credit collateral agreements, and
cross-collateralization/cross-default provisions. The most prevalent form of credit enhancement is lender risk sharing. Lendersin
the DUS program typically sharein loan-level credit losses in one of two ways. Generally, they either bear losses up to the first 5%
of unpaid principal balance of the loan and share in remaining losses up to a prescribed limit, or they agree to share with us up to
one-third of the credit losses on an equal basis. The percentage of our multifamily credit book of business with credit enhancement
was 95%, 95% and 92% as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Portfolio Diversification and Monitoring

Single-Family

Our single-family mortgage credit book of businessis diversified based on several factors that influence credit quality and
performance and help manage our credit risk. We continually review the credit quality of our single-family mortgage credit book of
business with afocus on avariety of mortgage loan risk factors that include loan-to-value ratios, loan product type, property type,
occupancy type, credit score, loan purpose, property location and age of loan. Table 27 presents our conventional single-family
mortgage credit book of business as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, based on the key risk characteristics that we monitor
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closely to assess the sensitivity of our credit osses to economic changes. Table 28 presents our conventional single-family
business volumes (which refers to both conventional single-family mortgage |oans we purchase for our mortgage portfolio and
conventional single-family mortgage |oans we securitize into Fannie Mae MBS) for 2004, 2003 and 2002 based on these risk
characteristics. We typically obtain the data for these statistics from the sellers or servicers of the mortgage loans. We receive
representations and warranties as to the accuracy of the information from those providing it. Except for quality assurance efforts,
we do not independently verify the reported information. As noted above, we generally collect loan-level statistics only on
conventional single-family mortgage loans held in our portfolio and backing Fannie MBS (whether held in our portfolio or held by
third parties).

Table 27: Risk Characteristics of Conventional Single-Family Mortgage Credit Book
Per cent of Book of Business®

As of December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Original loan-to-value ratio:
<=60.00 26% 26% 20%
60.01% to 70.00% 17 17 15
70.01% to 80.00% 40 39 42
80.01% to 90.00% 9 10 13
90.01% to 100.0% 8 8 10
Greater than 100% — — —
Tota 100% 100% 100%
Weighted average 70% 70% 73%
Estimated mark-to-market |oan-to-value ratio:®
<=60.00 53% 43% 43%
60.01% to 70.00% 20 22 20
70.01% to 80.00% 18 24 25

80.01% to 90.00% 6 8 9



90.01% to 100.0% 3 3 3
Greater than 100% — — —
Total 100% 100% 100%
Weighted average 57% 60% 61%
Average loan amount $ 125812 $ 122,901 $ 111,169
Product type:®
Fixed-rate:
Long-term 64% 64% 70%
Intermediate-term 24 27 23
Interest-only — — —
Total fixed-rate 88 91 93
Adjustable-rate:
Interest-only 2 1 —
Negative-amortizing 1 1 2
Other ARMs 9 7 5
Total adjustable-rate 12 9 7
Total 100% 100% 100%
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Per cent of Book of Business®
As of December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Number of property units:
1 unit 96% 96% 96%
2-4 units 4 4 4
Total 100% 100% 100%
Property type:
Single-family homes 93% 93% 94%
Condo/Co-op 7 7 6
Total 100% 100% 100%
Occupancy type:
Primary residence 92% 92% 93%
Second/vacation home 3 3 3
Investor 5 =) 4
Total 100% 100% 100%
Credit score:
<620 5% 5% 6%
620 to < 660 11 11 11
660 to < 700 18 18 18
700to < 740 23 23 22
>= 740 41 40 36
Not available 2 3 7
Total 100% 100% 100%
Weighted average 719 717 714
L oan purpose:
Purchase 31% 28% 37%
Cash-out refinance 30 30 27
Other refinance 39 42 36
Total 100% 100% 100%
Geographic concentration:®
Midwest 17% 17% 18%
Northeast 19 18 19
Southeast 22 22 21
Southwest 16 16 16
West 26 27 26
Total 100% 100% 100%
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Per cent of Book of Business®

As of December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Origination year:

<=1994 2% 4% 8%
1995 — 1 1
1996 — 1 2
1997 1 1 2
1998 2 3 11
1999 2 2 7
2000 1 1 4
2001 6 9 27
2002 17 25 38
2003 46 53 —
2004 23 — —

Total 100% 100% 100%

) Percentages cal culated based on unpaid principal balance of loans as of the end of each period.

The methodology used to estimate the mark-to-market |oan-to-val ue ratio was implemented in 2004.

Long-term fixed-rate consists of mortgage |oans with contractual maturities greater than 15 years. Intermediate-term fixed-rate consists
of mortgage loans with contractual maturities equal to or less than 15 years.

“ Midwest includesIL, IN, IA, M1, MN, NE, ND, OH, SD and WI. Northeast includes CT, DE, ME, MA, NH, NJ, NY, PA, PR, RI, VT
and V1. Southeast includes AL, DC, FL, GA, KY, MD, MS, NC, SC, TN, VA and WV. Southwest includes AZ, AR, CO, KS, LA, MO,
NM, OK, TX and UT. West includes AK, CA, GU, HI, ID, MT, NV, OR, WA and WY.

@

Table28: Risk Characteristics of Conventional Single-Family M ortgage Business Volumes

Per cent of Business Volume®

For the Year Ended December 31,

__ 004 2003 2002
Original loan-to-value ratio:
<=60.00 23% 29% 23%
60.01% to 70.00% 16 18 16
70.01% to 80.00% 43 38 42
80.01% to 90.00% 8 8 11
90.01% to 100.0% 10 7 8
Greater than 100% — — —
Total 100% 100% 100%
Weighted average 71% 68% 71%
Average loan amount $ 158,759 $ 153,461 $ 145,566
Product type:®
Fixed-rate:
Long-term 62% 63% 66%
Intermediate-term 16 27 25
Interest-only — — —
Total fixed-rate 78 90 91
142
Table of Contents
Per cent of Business Volume®
For the Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Adjustable-rate:
Interest-only B 1 1
Negative-amortizing 2 1 1
Other ARMs 15 8 7
Total adjustable-rate 22 10 9




Total 100% 100% 100%
Number of property units:

1 unit 96% 96% 96%
2-4 units 4 4 4
Tota 100% 100% 100%
Property type:
Single-family detached 91% 93% 93%
Condo/Co-op 9 7 7
Tota 100% 100% 100%
Occupancy type:
Primary residence 91% 93% 92%
Second/vacation home 4 3 3
Investor 5 4 5
Total 100% 100% 100%
Credit score:
<620 6% 4% 6%
620 to < 660 12 10 11
660 to < 700 19 18 18
700to < 740 24 24 23
>= 740 39 44 41
Not available — — 1
Total 100% 100% 100%
Weighted average 715 721 717
L oan purpose:
Purchase 43% 22% 30%
Cash-out refinance 29 32 32
Other refinance 28 46 38
Total 100% 100% 100%
Geographic concentration:®
Midwest 17% 18% 20%
Northeast 19 18 18
Southeast 22 20 20
Southwest 14 14 15
West 28 30 27
Tota 100% 100% 100%

@ Percentages cal culated based on unpaid principal balance of loans at time of acquisition.
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@ Long-term fixed-rate consists of mortgage |oans with contractual maturities greater than 15 years. Intermediate-term fixed-rate consists
of mortgage loans with contractual maturities equal to or less than 15 years.

@ See footnote 4 to Table 27 for states included in each geographic region.

The key elements of the above risk characteristics are as follows:

» Loan-to-value (* LTV" )ratio. TheLTV ratio istheratio, at any point in time, of the unpaid principa balance of a
mortgage loan to the value of the property that serves as collateral for the loan (expressed as a percentage). LTV ratioisa
strong predictor of credit performance. In most cases, the original LTV is based on the appraised value reported to us at
the time of acquisition of the loan. The aggregate current or estimated mark-to-market LTV is based on an internal
valuation model we use to estimate periodic changes in home values. Assuming all other factors are equal, the likelihood
of default and the gross severity of alossin the event of default are typically lower asthe LTV ratio decreases.

» Product type. Product type is defined by the nature of the interest rate applicable to the mortgage (fixed for the duration
of the loan or adjustable subject to contractual terms) and by the maturity of the loan. We generally divide our
Single-Family businessinto three primary categories: long-term, fixed-rate mortgages with original terms of greater than
15 years; intermediate-term, fixed-rate mortgages with original terms of 15 years or less; and ARMs of any term. During
2004 and 2005, there was a proliferation of alternative product types, including negative-amortizing loans and
interest-only loans. Negative-amortizing loans allow the borrower to make monthly payments that are less than the



interest actually accrued for the period. The unpaid interest is added to the principal balance of the loan, which increases
the outstanding loan balance. Negative-amortizing loans are typically adjustable-rate mortgage loans. Interest-only loans
allow the borrower to pay only the monthly interest due, and none of the principal, for afixed term. After the end of that
term, usually five to ten years, the borrower can choose to refinance, pay the principal balance in alump sum, or begin
paying the monthly scheduled principal due on the loan, which resultsin a higher monthly payment at that time.
Interest-only loans can be adjustable-rate or fixed-rate mortgage loans. While negative-amortizing and interest-only
loans have been offered by lenders for some time, we began separately reporting and more closely monitoring them as
their prevalence increased in 2004 and 2005.

Certain residential loan product types have features that may result in increased credit risk when compared to residential loans
without those features. In general, 15-year fixed-rate mortgages exhibit the lowest default rate among the types of mortgage
loans we securitize and purchase, due to the accelerated rate of principal amortization on these mortgages and the credit profiles
of borrowers who use them. The next lowest rate of default is associated with 30-year fixed-rate mortgages. Balloon/reset
mortgages and ARMs typically default at a higher rate than fixed-rate mortgages, although default rates for different types of
ARMs may vary. While ARMs are typically originated with interest rates that are initially lower than those available for
fixed-rate mortgages, the interest rates on ARMs change over time based on changes in an index or reference interest rate. Asa
result, the borrower’ s payments may rise or fall, within limits, as interest rates change. As payment amounts increase, the risk
of default also increases. In the low interest rate environment experienced during 2005, 2004 and 2003, thisindustry trend was
reversed with ARMs exhibiting lower default rates than fixed-rate mortgages. We expect loans that permit a borrower to defer
the payment of principal or interest, such as negative-amortizing and interest-only loans, to default more often than traditional
mortgage loans. We consider the risk of default in determining our guaranty fee and purchase price.

« Number of units. We classify mortgages secured by housing with four or fewer living units as single- family. Mortgages
on one-unit properties tend to have lower credit risk than mortgages on multiple-unit properties, such as duplexes, all
other factors held equal. Over 95% of our single-family mortgage credit book of business consists of |oans secured by
one-unit properties.

» Property type. We evaluate the underlying type of property that secures a mortgage |oan. Condominiums are generally
considered to have higher credit risk than single-family detached properties. Condominiums are often more difficult to
resell than single-family detached properties, and they historically have exhibited greater volatility in home price trends.
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» Occupancy type. Borrowers may purchase a home as a primary residence, a second or vacation home, or an investment
property. Assuming all other factors are equal, mortgages on properties occupied by the borrower as a primary or
secondary residence tend to have lower credit risk than mortgages on investment properties.

e Credit score. Credit scoreis ameasure often used by the financial servicesindustry, including our company, to assess
borrower credit quality. Credit scores are generated by credit repositories and cal culated based on proprietary statistical
models that evaluate many types of information on a borrower’ s credit report and predict the likelihood that a borrower
will repay future obligations as expected. FICO® scores, developed by Fair Isaac Corporation, are commonly used credit
scores. FICO scores, as reported by the credit repositories, may range from alow of 300 to a high of 850. Based on Fair
Isaac Corporation statistical information, a higher FICO score typically indicates alesser degree of credit risk.

We obtain borrower credit scores on the mgjority of single-family mortgage |oans that we purchase or that back Fannie Mae
MBS. We believe the average credit score within our single-family mortgage credit book of businessis a strong indicator of
default risk.

» Loan purpose. Loan purpose indicates how the borrower intends to use the funds from a mortgage loan. We designate
the loan purpose as purchase, cash-out refinance or other refinance. The fundsin a purchase transaction are used to
acquire a property. In addition to paying off an existing first mortgage lien, the fundsin a cash-out refinance transaction
also may be used for other purposes, including paying off subordinate mortgage liens and providing unrestricted cash
proceeds to the borrower. Cash-out refinancings have a higher risk of default. All other refinance transactions are defined
as other re-financings. We also may disclose certain loans that were modified prior to our acquisition as refinanced loans.

» Geographic concentration. Local economic conditions affect borrowers'  ability to repay |oans and the value of the
collateral underlying aloan, if al other factors are equal. We analyze geographic exposure at avariety of levels of
geographic aggregation, including at the regional level. Geographic diversification reduces mortgage credit risk.

» Loanage. We monitor year of origination and loan age, which is defined as the number of years since origination.
Statistically, the peak ages for default are currently from two to six years after origination.



The credit quality of the mortgage loans in our conventional single-family mortgage credit book of business remained high as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, as evidenced by weighted average loan-to-value ratios and weighted average credit scores. The
weighted average original loan-to-value ratio was 70% as of December 31, 2004 and 2003. The weighted average estimated
mark-to-market loan-to-value ratio for our conventional single-family mortgage credit book of business decreased to 57% as of
December 31, 2004 from 60% as of December 31, 2003. The weighted average credit score was 719 and 717 as of December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively. As of September 30, 2006, the weighted average original loan-to-value ratio was an estimated 70%
and the weighted average estimated mark-to-market |oan-to-value ratio was an estimated 54%. The weighted average credit score
was 721 as of September 30, 2006.

The most notable change in the overall risk profile of our single-family mortgage credit book of business since the end of 2004 has
been in product types. As aresult of the rise in home prices over the past several years, there has been a shift in the primary
mortgage market to mortgage |oans with features that make it easier for borrowers to qualify for a mortgage loan and that offer
lower initial monthly payments by allowing the borrower to defer repayment of principal or interest. These products include
interest-only mortgage loans that are available with both fixed-rate and adjustable-rate terms and ARMs that have the potential for
negative amortization.

Interest-only loans, which represented approximately 5% of our conventional single-family business volumes (which refersto
both conventional single-family mortgage loans purchased for our mortgage portfolio and conventional single-family mortgage
loans securitized into Fannie Mae MBS) in 2004, increased to approximately 10% in 2005 and approximately 15% for the first nine
months of 2006. Most of the interest-only products we acquired during 2004 and 2005 had adjustable-rate terms. Approximately
38% of the interest-only products we acquired during the first nine months of 2006 had fixed-rate terms.
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Negative-amortizing ARMSs represented approximately 2% of our conventional single-family business volumesin 2004 and
approximately 3% in 2005 and approximately 4% for the first nine months of 2006. As aresult of the shift in the product profile of
new businessin recent years, interest-only loans and negative-amortizing ARMs represented approximately 6% and 2%,
respectively, of our conventional single-family mortgage credit book of business as of September 30, 2006, compared with
approximately 2% and 1%, respectively, as of December 31, 2004.

In addition, there has been an increasing industry trend towards streamlining the mortgage loan underwriting process by reducing
the documentation requirements for borrowers. Reduced documentation loans in some cases present higher credit risk than loans
underwritten with full standard documentation.

In September 2006, the federal financial regulatory agencies (The Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Office
of Comptroller of the Currency, the Office of Thrift Supervision, the National Credit Union Administration, and the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation) jointly issued “ Interagency Guidance on Nontraditional Mortgage Product Risks’ to address risks
posed by interest-only loans and other mortgage products that allow borrowers to defer repayment of principal or interest. The
guidance also addresses the layering of risks that results from combining these product types with other features that may
compound risk, such as relying on reduced documentation to evaluate a borrower’ s creditworthiness. The guidance directs
federally regulated financial ingtitutions (which includes the bulk of our lender customers) originating these |oans to maintain
underwriting standards that are consistent with prudent lending practices, including analysis of aborrower’ s capacity to repay the
full amount of credit that may be extended and to provide borrowers with clear and balanced information about the relative benefits
and risks of these products sufficiently early in the process to enable them to make informed decisions. It istoo early to determine
what impact, if any, the new guidelines will have on our business.

In addition to the shift in the product profile of new business described above, we have made, and continue to make, significant
adjustments to our mortgage loan sourcing and purchase strategies in an effort to meet HUD' sincreased housing goals and new
subgoals. These strategies include entering into some purchase and securitization transactions with lower expected economic
returns than our typical transactions. We have a so relaxed some of our underwriting criteria to obtain goals-qualifying mortgage
loans and increased our investments in higher-risk mortgage loan products that are more likely to serve the borrowers targeted by
HUD’ sgoals and subgoals, which could increase our credit losses. See“ Item 1—Business—Our Charter and Regulation of Our
Activities—Regulation and Oversight of Our Activities—HUD Regulation—Housing Goals’ for a description of our housing goals.

We use analytical tools to measure credit risk exposures, assess performance of our mortgage credit book of business, and evaluate
risk management alternatives. We continually refine our methods of measuring credit risk, setting risk and return targets, and
transferring risk to third parties. We use our analytical models to establish forecasts and expectations for the credit performance of
loans in our mortgage credit book and compare actual performance to those expectations. Comparison of actual versus projected
performance and changes in other key trends are monitored to identify changesin risk or return profiles and to provide the basis for
revising policies, standards, guidelines, credit enhancements or guaranty fees for future business.

Housing and Community Devel opment




Diversification within our multifamily mortgage credit book of business and LIHTC equity investments business by geographic
concentration, term-to-maturity, interest rate structure, borrower concentration and credit enhancement arrangementsis an
important factor that influences credit quality and performance and helps reduce our credit risk.

We monitor the performance and risk concentrations of multifamily loans and properties on an ongoing basis throughout the life
cycle of the investment at the loan, property and portfolio level. We closely track the physical condition and financia performance
of the property, the historical performance of the loan or property, the relevant local market economic conditions that may signal
changing risk or return profiles and other risk factors. For example, we closely monitor rental payment trends and vacancy levelsin
local markets to identify loans meriting closer attention or loss mitigation actions. We also evaluate the servicers
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submissions and may require the servicer to take certain actions to mitigate the likelihood of delinquency or default. For our
investments in multifamily loans and properties, the primary asset management responsibilities are performed by our DUS lenders.
For our LIHTC investments, the primary asset management responsibilities are performed by our LIHTC syndicator partners or
third parties. These partners provide us with periodic construction status updates and property operating information. We compare
the information received to our construction schedules, tax delivery schedules and industry standards to measure and grade project
performance.

We use proprietary models and analytical tools to periodically re-evaluate our multifamily mortgage credit book of business,
establish forecasts of credit performance and estimate future potential credit losses. Information derived from our analysesis used
to identify changesin risks and provide the basis for revising policies, standards, pricing and credit enhancements.

We also have data on and manage multifamily mortgage credit risk at the loan level. We have data at the loan level on
approximately 90% of our multifamily mortgage credit book as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. Unless otherwise noted, the
credit statistics provided for our multifamily mortgage credit book generally include only mortgage loans in our portfolio,
outstanding Fannie Mae MBS (excluding Fannie Mae MBS backed by non-Fannie Mae mortgage-related securities) and credit
enhancements that we provide, where we have more detailed loan-level information.

Credit Loss Management

Single-Family

We manage problem loans to mitigate credit losses. If a mortgage loan does not perform, we work closely in partnership with the
servicers of our loans to minimize the frequency of foreclosure as well as the severity of loss. We have devel oped detailed
servicing guidelines and work closely with the loan servicers to ensure that they take appropriate loss mitigation steps on atimely
basis. Our loan management strategy begins with payment collection and work-out guidelines designed to minimize the number of
borrowers who fall behind on their obligations and to help borrowers who are delinquent from falling further behind on their
payments. We seek alternative resolutions of problem loans to reduce the legal and management expenses associated with
foreclosing on a home.

In our experience, early intervention is critical to controlling credit losses. We offer Risk Profilers™, an internally-developed
default prediction model, to our single-family servicers to monitor the performance and risk of each loan and identify those loans
that are most likely to default and require the most attention. Risk Profiler uses credit risk indicators such as mortgage payment
records, updated borrower credit data, current property values and mortgage product characteristics to evaluate the risk of each
loan. Most of the lenders that service loans we buy or that back Fannie Mae MBS use Risk Profiler or asimilar default prediction
model.

We require our single-family servicers to pursue various resolutions of problem loans as an aternative to foreclosure, including:

» repayment plans in which borrowers repay past due principal and interest over areasonable period of time through a
temporarily higher monthly payment;

» loan modifications in which past due interest amounts, net of any borrower contributions, are added to the loan principal
amount and recovered over the remaining life of the loan, and other loan adjustments;

» accepting deedsin lieu of foreclosure whereby the borrower signs over title to the property without the added expense of
aforeclosure proceeding; and

» preforeclosure salesin which the borrower, working with the servicer, sells the home and pays off al or part of the
outstanding loan, accrued interest and other expenses from the sale proceeds.

The objective of the repayment plan and loan modification strategiesis to allow borrowers who have experienced temporary
financial distressto remain in their homes and to avoid the losses associated with foreclosure. The objective of the deed in lieu and



preforeclosure sale strategies is to minimize the extra costs associated with atraditional foreclosure by obtaining the borrower’ s
cooperation in resolving the default. We
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use analytical models and work rules to determine which alternative resolution, if any, may be appropriate for each problem loan.

We track the ultimate performance of alternative resolutions in absolute terms and in relation to estimated losses in the event of a
traditional single-family loan foreclosure. We adjust our loss mitigation policies as appropriate to be consistent with our risk
management objectives. In the case of repayment plans and loan modifications, we focus in particular on the performance of the
loans subsequent to our intervention. Of the conventional loans that recover through modifications, long-term forbearances and
repayment plans, our performance experience after 36 months following the inception of all such plans, based on the period 1998 to
2002, has been that approximately 65% of these loans remain current or have been paid in full. Approximately 11% have
terminated through foreclosure. The remaining loans once again reached a delinquent status.

In those cases when a forecl osure avoidance effort is not successful, we foreclose and acquire the property. Our property
management and sale operation consists of several strategies designed to shorten our holding time, minimize the impact on the
neighborhood, maximize our recovery and mitigate credit losses. These strategies include prompt assessment of the property
condition, partnering with qualified local real estate brokers and refurbishing the property to appeal to the broadest market of
homebuyers, particularly buyers who plan to live in the home.

The table below presents statistics on the resolution of conventional single-family problem loans for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002.

Table29: Statistics on Conventional Single-Family Problem Loan Workouts

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(Restated) (Restated)
(Number of loans)
M odifications®™ 22,591 17,119 14,298
Repayment plans and long-term forbearances 11,001 10,521 6,779
Pre-foreclosure sales 2,575 2,052 1,513
Deedsin lieu of foreclosure 330 320 192
Total number of problem loan workouts® 36,497 30,012 22,782

@ Modifications include troubled debt restructurings, which result in concessions to borrowers, and other modifications to the contractual
terms of the loan that do not result in concessions to the borrower.

@ For each of the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, represents approximately 0.2% of the total number of loansin our
conventional single-family mortgage credit book.

Housing and Community Devel opment

When a multifamily loan does not perform, we work closely with our loan servicers to minimize the severity of loss by taking
appropriate loss mitigation steps. We permit our multifamily servicers to pursue various options as an alternative to foreclosure,
including modifying the terms of the loan, selling the loan, and preforeclosure sales. The resolution strategy dependsin part on the
borrower’ slevel of cooperation, the performance of the market or submarket, the value of the property, the condition of the
property, any remaining equity in the property and the borrower’ s ahility to infuse additional equity into the property. The unpaid
principal balance of multifamily loan modifications totaled $224 million, $196 million and $184 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, which represented 0.18%, 0.16% and 0.19% of our multifamily mortgage credit
book of business as of the end of each respective period.

When anon-guaranteed LIHTC investment does not perform, we work closely with our syndicator partner. The resol ution strategy
depends on:

» thelocal general partner’ sability to meet obligations;
 thevalue of the property;
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 theability to restructure the debt;
 thefinancial and workout capacity of the syndicator partner; and
 the strength of the market or submarket.

If aguaranteed LIHTC investment does not perform, the guarantor remits funds to us in an amount that provides us with the
contractual underwritten return. Our risk in this situation is that the counterparty will not perform. Refer to“ Institutional
Counterparty Credit Risk Management” below for a discussion of how we manage the credit risk associated with our
counterparties.

Mortgage Credit Book Performance

Key metrics used to measure credit risk in our mortgage credit book of business and evaluate credit performance include the
serious delinquency rate, nonperforming loans and credit losses.

Serious Delinguency

The serious delinquency rate is an indicator of potential future foreclosures, although most loans that become seriously delinquent
do not result in foreclosure. The rate at which new loans become seriously delinquent and the rate at which existing seriously
delinquent loans are resolved significantly affect the level of future credit losses. Home price appreciation decreases the risk of
default. A borrower with enough equity in a home can sell the home or draw on equity in the home to avoid foreclosure. A decline
in home prices increases the risk of default. The presence of credit enhancements mitigates credit losses caused by defaults.

We classify single-family loans as seriously delinquent when a borrower has missed three or more consecutive monthly payments,
and the loan has not been brought current or extinguished through foreclosure, payoff or other resolution. A loan referred to
foreclosure but not yet foreclosed is also considered seriously delinquent. Loans that are subject to a repayment plan are classified
as seriously delinquent until the borrower has missed fewer than three consecutive monthly payments. We calculate the
single-family serious delinquency rate by dividing the number of seriously delinquent single-family loans by the total number of
single-family loans outstanding. We include al of the conventional single-family loans that we own and that back Fannie Mae
MBS in our single-family delinquency rate, including those with substantial credit enhancement. We distinguish between loans on
which we have some form of credit enhancement and loans on which we do not have credit enhancement.

We classify multifamily loans as seriously delinquent when payment is 60 days or more past due. We calculate the multifamily
serious delinquency rate by dividing the unpaid principal balance of seriously delinquent multifamily loans by the unpaid principal
balance of all multifamily loans we own and that back Fannie Mae MBS or housing authority bonds for which we provide credit
enhancement. The table below compares the serious delinquency rates for all conventional single-family loans and multifamily
loans, in each case with credit enhancements and without credit enhancements.
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Table 30: Serious Delinquency Rates
As of December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Serious Serious Serious
Book Delinquency Book Delinquency Book Delinquency
Outstanding® Rate® Outstanding® Rate® Outstanding® Rate®
Conventional single-family loans:
Credit enhanced 19% 1.84% 21% 1.65% 27% 1.29%
Non-credit enhanced 81 0.33 79 0.30 73 0.31
Total conventional single-family
loans 100% 0.63% 100% 0.60% 100% 0.57%
Multifamily loans:
Credit enhanced 95% 0.11% 95% 0.29% 92% 0.08%
Non-credit enhanced 5 0.13 5 0.22 8 0.02
Total multifamily loans 100% 0.11% 100% 0.29% 100% 0.08%

@ Reported based on unpaid principa balance.



@ Reported based on number of loans for single-family and unpaid principal balance for multifamily.

The increase in the multifamily serious delinquency rate to 0.29% as of December 31, 2003 was primarily attributable to the
addition of $137 million in seriously delinquent loans from two borrowers with properties in weaker markets. All but one of these
loans were restructured or became current during 2004, resulting in a decline in the multifamily serious delinquency rate to 0.11%
as of December 31, 2004. The impact of Hurricane Katrina during the fourth quarter of 2005 led to an increase in our multifamily
serious delinquency rate to 0.32% as of December 31, 2005, which subsequently declined during 2006 from the resolution of loans
secured by property in the Gulf Coast region.

Asaresult of the sharp decline in the rate of home price appreciation during 2006 and the possibility of modest home price
declinesin 2007, we expect that serious delinquencies may trend upward. As of September 30, 2006, approximately 8% of our
conventional single-family mortgage credit book had an estimated mark-to-market |oan-to-value ratio greater than 80%. Over 80%
of these loans were covered by credit enhancement. In examining the geographic concentration of these high LTV loans, there was
no metropolitan statistical area with more than 5% of this segment of our conventional single-family mortgage credit book of
business. The three largest metropolitan statistical area concentrations were in Atlanta, Detroit and Dallas.

Nonperforming Loans

We classify conventional single-family loans, including delinquent loans purchased from an MBS trust pursuant to the terms of
the trust indenture, as nonperforming and place them on nonaccrual status at the earlier of when payment of principal and interest
becomes three months or more past due according to the loan’ s contractual terms or when, in our opinion, collectibility of interest
or principal is not reasonably assured. We classify conventional multifamily loans as nonperforming and place them on nonaccrual
status at the earlier of when payment of principal and interest isthree months or more past due according to theloan’ s contractual
terms or when we determine that collectibility of al principal or interest is not reasonably assured based on an individual loan level
assessment. We continue to accrue interest on nonperforming loans that are federally insured or guaranteed by the
U.S. government. Table 31 provides statistics on honperforming single-family and multifamily loans as of December 31, 2004,
2003, 2002 and 2001.
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Table 31: Nonperforming Single-Family and Multifamily L oans

As of December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(Doallarsin millions)

Nonperforming loans:

Nonaccrua loans $ 7,987 $ 7,742 $ 6,303 $ 4,664
Troubled debt restructurings® 816 673 580 503
Total nonperforming loans $_ 8803 $ 8415 $ 6883 $ 5167
Interest on nonperforming loans:
Interest income forgone? $ 188 $ 192 $ 149 $ 102
Interest income recognized during year® 381 376 331 265
Accruing loans past due 90 days or more® $ 187 $ 225 $ 251 $ 301

@

Troubled debt restructurings include |oans whereby the contractual terms have been modified that result in concessions to borrowers
experiencing financial difficulties.

Forgone interest income represents the amount of interest income that would have been recorded during the year on nonperforming loans
as of December 31 had the loans performed according to their contractual terms.

Represents interest income recognized during the year on loans classified as nonperforming as of December 31.

“ Recorded investment of loans as of December 31 that are 90 days or more past due and continuing to accrue interest include loans
insured or guaranteed by the government and loans where we have recourse against the seller of the loan in the event of a defaullt.

Credit Losses

2

©)

Credit loss performance is a significant indicator of the effectiveness of our credit risk management strategies. Credit-related
losses include charge-offs plus foreclosed property expense (income). Credit losses for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 are presented in Table 32.

Table 32: Single-Family and Multifamily Credit L oss Performance



For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Single- Single- Single-
Family Multifamily Total Family Multifamily Total Family Multifamily Total
(Restated) (Restated)
(Dollarsin millions)
Charge-offs, net of recoveries $ 189 $ 21 $ 210 $ 196 $ 5 $ 201 $ 133 $ 18 $ 151
Foreclosed property expense
(income) (17) 28 11 (10) 2 (12 (10) 1) (11)
Credit-related losses $ 172 $ 49 $ 221 $ 186 $ 3 $ 189 $ 123 $ 17 $ 140
Charge-off ratio (basis points)® 0.9 bp 1.7 bp 0.9 bp 1.0bp 0.5 bp 1.0bp 0.8 bp 2.1bp 0.9 bp
Credit loss ratio (basis points)@ 0.8 bp 4.0 bp 1.0bp 1.0bp 0.3 bp 0.9 bp 0.7 bp 1.9bp 0.8 bp

@ Represents charge-offs, net of recoveries, divided by average mortgage credit book of business.
@ Represents credit-related |osses divided by average mortgage credit book of business.

Interest forgone on nonperforming loans in our mortgage portfolio, which is presented in Table 31, reduces our net interest income
but is not reflected in our credit loss total. Other-than-temporary impairment resulting from deterioration in credit quality of our
mortgage-related securities is not included in credit-related losses. As shown in Table 32, our credit losses for the years presented
have averaged 1.0 basis point, or 0.01%, of our average mortgage credit book of business over the periods presented. The rapid
acceleration in home prices during the period from 1999 to 2005, combined with our use of credit enhancements, helped to mitigate
our credit losses. As aresult of the substantial slowdown in home price appreciation during 2006 and our belief that home prices
may decline modestly in 2007, we expect our credit losses to increase.
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L osses from the Gulf Coast Hurricanes Katrina and Rita increased our provision for credit losses in 2005. Our exposure to losses
as aresult of Hurricanes Katrina and Rita arose primarily from Fannie Mae MBS backed by loans secured by propertiesin the
affected areas, our portfolio holdings of mortgage |oans and mortgage-related securities backed by loans secured by propertiesin
the affected areas, and real estate that we own in the affected areas. We initially estimated that our after-tax losses associated with
the Gulf Coast Hurricanes would be in arange of $250 million to $550 million, which included both single-family and multifamily
properties. As aresult of our ongoing assessment and |oss mitigation activities, we reduced and refined our estimated after-tax
losses to arange of $97 million to $160 million. The reduction in our estimate is the result of several factors, including the
liquidation of a number of loans relating to flooded properties from our mortgage portfolio, borrower receipts of more insurance
and disaster relief funds than previously expected on the flooded properties and reduced delinquencies for affected loans outside
the flood-damaged areas. Our ongoing analysis has resulted in a further reduction in our combined allowance for loan losses and
reserve for guaranty losses during the first nine months of 2006 to reflect our revised estimate. Further adjustments to this estimate
are possible as we continue to monitor thisissue.

We use internally developed models to assess our sensitivity to credit losses based on current data on home values, borrower
payment patterns, non-mortgage consumer credit history and management’ s economic outlook. We closely examine arange of
potential economic scenarios to monitor the sensitivity of credit losses. Our models indicate that home price movements are an
important predictor of credit performance. Pursuant to the September 1, 2005 agreement with OFHEO, we agreed to provide
quarterly assessments of the impact on our expected credit |osses from an immediate 5% decline in single-family home prices for
the entire United States, which we believe is a stressful scenario based on housing data from OFHEO. Historical statistics from
OFHEO’ s house price index reports indicate the national average rate of home price appreciation over the last 20 years has been
about 5.3%, while the lowest national average annual appreciation rate in any single year has been 0.3%. However, we believe
there is a possibility of modest declinesin home prices in 2007.

We develop a baseline scenario that estimates the present value of future credit losses over aten-year period. We then calculate
the present value of credit |osses assuming an immediate 5% decline in the value of single-family properties securing mortgage
loans we own or that back Fannie Mae MBS. Following this decline, we assume home prices will follow a statistically derived
long-term path. The sensitivity of future credit losses represents the dollar difference between credit losses in the baseline scenario
and credit losses assuming the immediate 5% home price decline. The estimated sensitivity of our expected future credit losses to
an immediate 5% decline in home values for single-family mortgage loans as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 is disclosed in the
following table. We disclose both the gross credit loss sensitivity prior to the receipt of private mortgage insurance claims or any
other credit enhancements and the net credit loss sensitivity after consideration of these items.

Table 33: Single-Family Credit L oss Sensitivity®

As of December 31,
2004 2003




(Restated)
(Dollarsin millions)

Gross credit |oss sensitivity® $ 2,266 $ 2,189
Less: Projected credit risk sharing proceeds 1,179 1,125
Net credit loss sensitivity $ 1,087 $ 1,064
Single-family whole loans and Fannie Mae MBS $ 1,980,789 $ 1,940,849
Single-family net credit loss sensitivity as a percentage of single-family whole loans and Fannie Mae

MBS 0.05% 0.05%

@ Represents total economic credit losses, which include net charge-offs/recoveries, foreclosed property expenses, forgone interest and the
cost of carrying foreclosed properties.
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@ Measures the gross sensitivity of our expected future credit losses to an immediate 5% decline in home values for first lien single-family
whole loans we own or that back Fannie Mae MBS. After theinitial shock, we estimate home price growth rates return to the rate
projected by our credit pricing models.

The estimates in the preceding paragraphs are based on approximately 90% and 92% of our total single-family mortgage credit
book of business as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The mortgage |oans and mortgage-related securities that are
included in these estimates consist of single-family single-class Fannie Mae MBS (whether held in our portfolio or held by third
parties) and single-family whole mortgage loans, excluding mortgages secured only by second liens and reverse mortgages. We
expect the inclusion in our estimates of these excluded products may impact the estimated sensitivities set forth in the preceding
paragraphs. The above estimated credit |0ss sensitivities are generated using the same models that we use to estimate fair value and
impairment. We have made certain modifications to our models from those used to report previous credit loss sensitivities. We
believe the model changes have less than a 10% impact on our reported gross and net 10ss sensitivities.

Foreclosure and REO activity affects the level of credit losses. The table below shows foreclosure and REO activity for our
single-family mortgage credit book of business for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.
Table 34: Single-Family Foreclosed Property Activity

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(Restated) (Restated)
(Number of properties)

Beginning inventory of foreclosed properties (REO)® 13,749 9,975 7,073
Geographic analysis of acquisitions.®

Midwest 10,149 7,384 4,743

Northeast 2,318 1,997 2,053

Southeast 10,275 8,539 5,615

Southwest 8,422 6,640 4,462

West 1,739 2,235 2,629

Total properties acquired through foreclosure 32,903 26,795 19,502

Dispositions of REO 28,291 23,021 16,600

Ending inventory of foreclosed properties (REO)® 18,361 13,749 9.975

@ Includes deeds in lieu of foreclosure.
@ See footnote 4 to Table 27 for statesincluded in each geographic region.

Our inventory of multifamily foreclosed properties consisted of 18, 20 and 3 properties as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, with a carrying value totaling $131 million, $98 million and $9 million as of the end of each respective period.

Allowance for Loan Losses and Reserve for Guaranty Losses

We maintain a separate allowance for |oan losses for single-family and multifamily loans classified as held for investment in our
mortgage portfolio and areserve for guaranty losses for credit-related |osses associated with certain mortgage loans that back
Fannie Mae MBS held in our portfolio and held by other investors. The allowance for |oan losses and reserve for guaranty losses
represent our estimate of incurred credit losses inherent in our loans held for investment and loans underlying Fannie Mae MBS,
respectively, as of each balance sheet date. We use the same methodology to determine our allowance for |oan losses and our



reserve for guaranty losses because the relevant factors affecting credit risk are the same. We recognize credit losses and record a
provision for credit losses when available information indicates that it is probable that aloss has been incurred and the amount of
the loss can be reasonably estimated in accordance with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies. We aso evaluate certain
single-family and multifamily loans on an individual basis to recognize and measure impairment and record an allowance for
incurred losses in accordance with the
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provisions of SFAS 114. We provide additional information on the methodology used in devel oping our allowance for loan losses
and reserve for guaranty lossesin“ Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.” Because of the significant degree of judgment involved in estimating the allowance for loan losses and reserve for
guaranty losses, weidentify it asacritical accounting policy and discuss the assumptions involved in our estimation processin
“ Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates—Allowance for Loan Losses and Reserve for Guaranty L osses.”

We report the allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty 10sses as separate line items in the consolidated balance sheets.
The provision for credit losses is reported in the consolidated statements of income. Table 35 summarizes changesin our allowance
for loan losses and reserve for guaranty losses for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Table 35: Allowancefor Loan Losses and Reserve for Guaranty L osses

As of December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(Restated) (Restated)
(Dollarsin millions)

Allowance for loan losses:

Beginning balance $ 290 $ 216 $ 168
Provision 174 187 128
Charge-offsd (321) (270) (175)
Recoveries 131 72 27
Increase from the reserve for guaranty |osses? 75 85 68
Ending balance $ 349 $ 290 $ 216
Reserve for guaranty losses.
Beginning balance $ 313 $ 223 $ 138
Provision 178 178 156
Charge-offs (29) ) (11
Recoveries 4 4 8
Decrease to the allowance for |oan losses® (75) (85) (68)
Ending balance $ 3% $ 313 $ 223
Combined allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty losses:
Beginning balance $ 603 $ 439 $ 306
Provision 352 365 284
Charge-offs® (345) 277) (186)
Recoveries 135 76 35
Ending balance $ 745 $ 603 $ 439
Balance at end of each period attributable to:
Single-family $ 64 $ 516 $ 374
Multifamily 101 87 65
Total $ 745 $ 603 $ 439
Percent of combined allowance and reserve in each category to related mortgage credit book
of business.®
Single-family 0.03% 0.02% 0.02%
Multifamily 0.08 0.07 0.07
Total 0.03 0.03 0.02

@ Includes accrued interest of $29 million, $29 million and $24 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

Includes decrease in reserve for guaranty losses and increase in allowance for loan losses due to the purchase of delinquent loans from
MBS pools.

@ Represents ratio of combined allowance and reserve balance by |oan type to mortgage credit book of business by loan type.

@
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Our combined allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty losses totaled $745 million as of December 31, 2004, compared
with $603 million and $439 million as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The amount of our allowance for loan losses
and reserve for guaranty losses increased during this period primarily due to growth in our book of business. However, the
combined allowance for loan losses and reserve for guaranty |osses as a percentage of our mortgage credit book of business
remained relatively stable, averaging between 0.02% and 0.03%. This trend reflects our historically low average default rates and
loss severity on foreclosed properties. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we increased our combined allowance for |oan losses and
reserve for guaranty losses by $142 million due to an observed reduction in subsequent recourse proceeds from lenders on certain
charged-off loans.

Institutional Counterparty Credit Risk Management

Institutional counterparty risk istherisk that institutional counterparties may be unable to fulfill their contractual obligationsto us.
Our primary exposure to institutional counterparty risk exists with our lending partners and servicers, mortgage insurers, dealers
who distribute our debt securities or who commit to sell mortgage pools or loans, issuers of investmentsincluded in our liquid
investment portfolio, and derivatives counterparties.

Our overall objective in managing institutional counterparty credit risk isto maintain individual counterparty exposures within
acceptabl e ranges based on our rating system. We achieve this objective through the following:

» establishment and observance of counterparty eligibility standards appropriate to each exposure type and level;
e establishment of credit limits;

» requiring collateralization of exposures where appropriate; and

* exposure monitoring and management.

Establishment and Observance of Counterparty Eligibility Sandards. The institutions with which we do business vary in size and
complexity from the largest international financial institutionsto small, local lenders. Because of this, counterparty eigibility
criteriavary depending upon the type and magnitude of the risk exposure incurred. We incorporate both the ratings provided by the
rating agencies as well asinternal ratingsin determining eligibility. For significant exposures, we generally require that our
counterparties have at least the equivalent of an investment grade rating (i.e., a rating of BBB—/Baa3/BBB— or higher by
Standard & Poor’ s, Moody’ sand Fitch, respectively.) Due to factors such as the nature, type and scope of counterparty exposure,
requirements may be higher. For example, for mortgage insurance counterparties, we have generally required a minimum rating of
AA—/Aa3/AA—, whereas we accept comparatively lower ratings for our risk sharing, recourse and mortgage servicing
counterparties. In addition to ratings, factors including corporate or third-party support or guaranties, our knowledge of the
counterparty, reputation, quality of operations, and experience are also important in determining the initial and continuing
eligibility of a counterparty. Specific eligibility criteria are communicated through policies and procedures of the individual
businesses or products.

Establishment of Credit Limits. All institutions are assigned alimit to ensure that the risk exposure is maintained at alevel
appropriate for the ingtitution’ srating and the time horizon for the exposure, as well as to diversify exposure so that no single
counterparty exceeds a certain percentage of our regulatory capital. Limits are established for the institution as awhole as well as
for individual subsidiaries or affiliates. A corporate limit isfirst established for the aggregate of al activity and then is divided
among individual business units. Our businesses may further subdivide limits among products or activities.

Requiring Collateralization of Exposures. We may require collateral, letters of credit or investment agreements as a condition to
approving exposure to a counterparty. We may also require that a counterparty post collateral in the event of an adverse event such
as aratings downgrade.

Exposure Monitoring and Management. The risk management functions of the individual business units are responsible for
managing the counterparty exposures associated with their activities within corporate limits.

155

Table of Contents

An oversight team within the Chief Risk Officeis responsible for establishing and enforcing corporate policies and procedures
regarding counterparties, establishing corporate limits, and aggregating and reporting institutional counterparty exposure. We
calculate exposures by using current exposure information and applying stress scenarios to determine our loss exposure if a default
occurs. The stress scenarios incorporate assumptions on shocks to interest rates, home prices or other variables appropriate for the
type of risk. We regularly update exposure limits for individual institutions in our risk management system to communicate to
business and credit staff throughout the company the capacity for further business activity. We regularly report exposures with our



largest counterpartiesto the Risk Policy and Capital Committee of the Board of Directors.
Lenders with Risk Sharing

The primary risk associated with lenders providing risk sharing agreementsis that they will fail to reimburse us for losses as
required under these agreements. We had recourse to lenders for losses on single-family loans totaling an estimated $54.2 hillion
and $51.0 billion as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The credit quality of these counterpartiesis generally high.
Investment grade counterparties, based on the lower of Standard and Poor’ sand Moody’ s ratings, accounted for 60% and 59% of
lender recourse obligations as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In addition, we require some lenders to pledge
collateral to secure their recourse obligations. We held $66 million and $135 million in collateral as of December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively, to secure single-family recourse transactions. A portion of servicing feeson $2.2 trillion and $2.1 trillion of
mortgage |oans as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, also effectively served as collateral for these obligations.

We had full or partial recourse to lenders on multifamily loans totaling $107.1 billion and $97.0 billion as of December 31, 2004
and 2003, respectively. Our multifamily recourse obligations generally were partialy or fully secured by reserves held in custodial
accounts, insurance policies, letters of credit from investment grade counterpartiesrated A or better, or investment agreements.

Mortgage Servicers

The primary risk associated with mortgage servicersisthat they will fail to fulfill their servicing obligations. Mortgage servicers
collect mortgage and escrow payments from borrowers, pay taxes and insurance costs from escrow accounts, monitor and report
delinquencies, and perform other required activities on our behalf. A servicing contract breach could result in credit losses for us or
could cause usto incur the cost of finding a replacement servicer. For most servicers, we mitigate these risks in several ways,
including requiring servicers to maintain a minimum servicing fee reserve to compensate a replacement servicer in the event of a
servicing contract breach; requiring servicersto follow specific servicing guidelines; monitoring the performance of each servicer
using loan-level data; conducting on-site reviews to confirm compliance with servicing guidelines and mortgage servicing
performance; and working on-site with nearly al of our major servicers to facilitate loan loss mitigation efforts and continuously
improve the default management process.

Our ten largest single-family mortgage servicers serviced 71% and 69% of our single-family mortgage credit book of business,
and the largest single-family mortgage servicer serviced 21% and 19% of our single-family mortgage credit book of business as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Our ten largest multifamily servicers serviced 67% of our multifamily credit book of
business as of both December 31, 2004 and 2003. The largest multifamily mortgage servicer serviced 11% and 13% of our
multifamily credit book of business as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Mortgage Insurers

The primary risk associated with mortgage insurers is that they will fail to fulfill their obligations to reimburse us for claims under
insurance policies. We manage thisrisk by establishing digibility requirements that an insurer must meet to become and remain a
qualified mortgage insurer. Qualified mortgage insurers generally must obtain and maintain external ratings of claims paying
ability, with aminimum acceptable level of Aa3 from Moody’ sand AA- from Standard & Poor’ s and Fitch. We regularly
monitor our exposure to individual mortgage insurers and mortgage insurer credit ratings. We also perform periodic on-site reviews
of mortgage insurers to confirm compliance with eligibility requirements and to evaluate their management and control practices.

156

Table of Contents

We were the beneficiary of primary mortgage insurance coverage on $285.4 billion of single-family loans in portfolio or
underlying Fannie Mae MBS as of December 31, 2004, which represented approximately 13% of our single-family mortgage credit
book of business, compared with $308.8 billion, or approximately 15%, of our single-family mortgage credit book of business as of
December 31, 2003. Seven mortgage insurance companies, all rated AA (or its equivalent) or higher by Standard & Poor’ s,
Moody’ sor Fitch, provided approximately 99% of the total coverage as of both December 31, 2004 and 2003.

Debt Security and Mortgage Dealers

The primary credit risk associated with dealers who commit to place our debt securitiesisthat they will fail to honor their
contracts to take delivery of the debt, which could result in delayed issuance of the debt through another dealer. The primary credit
risk associated with dealers who make forward commitments to deliver mortgage pools to usis that they may fail to deliver the
agreed-upon loans to us at the agreed-upon date, which could result in our having to replace the mortgage pools at higher cost to
meet a forward commitment to sell the MBS.

Mortgage Originators and Investors

We areroutinely exposed to pre-settlement risk through the purchase, sale and financing of mortgage loans and mortgage-related
securities with mortgage originators and mortgage investors. Therisk is the possibility that the market moves against us at the same



time the counterparty is unable or unwilling to either deliver mortgage assets or pay a pair-off fee. On average, the time between
trade and settlement is about 35 days. We manage this risk by determining position limits with these counterparties, based upon our
assessment of their creditworthiness, and we monitor and manage these exposures. Based upon this assessment, we may, in some
cases, require counterparties to post collateral.

Liquid Investment Portfolio

The primary credit exposure associated with investments held in our liquid investment portfolio is that issuers will not repay
principal and interest in accordance with the contractual terms. We believe the risk of default islow because we restrict these
investments to high credit quality short- and medium-term instruments, such as commercial paper, asset-backed securities and
corporate floating rate notes, which are broadly traded in the financial markets. Our non-mortgage securities, which account for the
majority of our liquid assets, totaled $43.9 billion and $46.8 billion as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Approximately 93% and 88% of our non-mortgage securities as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, had a credit rating
of A (or its equivalent) or higher, based on the lowest of Standard & Poor’ s, Moody’ s or Fitch ratings. We monitor the fair value
of these securities and regularly evaluate any impairment to assess whether the impairment is required to be recognized in earnings
becauseit is considered other than temporary.

Derivatives Counterparties

The primary credit exposure that we have on a derivative transaction is that a counterparty will default on payments due, which
could result in us having to acquire a replacement derivative from a different counterparty at a higher cost. Our derivative credit
exposure relates principally to interest rate and foreign currency derivative contracts. Typically, we manage this exposure by
contracting with experienced counterparties that are rated A (or its equivalent) or better. These counterparties consist of large
banks, broker-dealers and other financial institutions that have a significant presence in the derivatives market, most of which are
based in the United States. As an additional precaution, we have a conservative collateral management policy with provisions for
requiring collateral on aggregate gain positions with each interest rate and foreign currency derivative counterparty. Also, we enter
into master agreements that provide for netting of amounts due to us and amounts due to counterparties under those agreements.
We monitor credit exposure on these derivative contracts daily and make collateral calls daily based on the results of our internal
models and dealer quotes. To date, we have never experienced aloss on a derivative transaction due to credit default by a
counterparty.

Counterparties use the notional amounts of derivative instruments as the basis from which to cal culate contractual cash flowsto be
exchanged. However, the notional amount is significantly greater than the potential market or credit loss that could result from such
transactions and therefore does not represent our
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actual risk. Rather, we estimate our exposure to credit 10ss on derivative instruments by calculating the replacement cost, on a
present value basis, to settle at current market prices all outstanding derivative contractsin a net gain position by counterparty
where the right of legal offset exists, such as master netting agreements. Derivativesin again position are reported in the
consolidated balance sheet as“ Derivative assets at fair value.” Table 36 presents our assessment of our credit oss exposure by
counterparty credit rating on outstanding risk management derivative contracts as of December 31, 2004 and 2003. We show the
outstanding notional amount and activity for our risk management derivativesin Table 37.

Table 36: Credit Loss Exposure of Derivative | nstruments

As of December 31, 2004

Credit Rating®
AAA AA A Subtotal Other® Total
(Dollarsin millions)
Credit |oss exposure® $ 57 % 3200 $ 3182 % 6439 $ 8 $ 6,527
Collateral held® — 2,984 3,001 5,985 — 5,985
Exposure net of collateral $ 57 % 216 $ 181 $ 454 $_ 88 $ 542
Additional information:
Notional amount $ 842 $ 32785 $ 360625 $ 689362 $ 732 $ 690,094
Number of counterparties 3 12 8 23
As of December 31, 2003
Credit Rating®
AAA AA A Subtotal Other @ Total

(Restated)

(Dollarsin millions)

Credit |oss exposure®® $ 18 $ 3,422 $ 3515 $ 6955 $ 103 $ 7,058



Collateral held® — 3,126 3437 6,563 = 6,563

Exposure net of collateral $ 18 $ 2% $ 8 3 392 103 495
Additional information:

Notional amount $ 1829 $ 489714 $ 547086 $ 1038629 $ 379 $ 1,039,008
Number of counterparties 3 12 8 23

@ we manage collateral requirements based on the lower credit rating of the legal entity asissued by Standard & Poor’ sand Moody’ s.

The credit rating reflects the equivalent Standard & Poor’ srating for any ratings based on Moody’ sscale.

Includes MBS options, mortgage insurance contracts and swap credit enhancements accounted for as derivatives.

Represents the exposure to credit 1oss on derivative instruments, which is estimated by calculating the cost, on a present value basis, to
replace all outstanding contracts in again position. Derivative gains and |osses with the same counterparty are presented net where a
legal right of offset exists under an enforceable master settlement agreement. This table excludes mortgage commitments accounted for
as derivatives.

Represents the collateral held as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, adjusted for the collateral transferred subsequent to December 31
based on credit |0ss exposure limits on derivative instruments as of December 31, 2004 and 2003. Settlement dates vary by counterparty
and range from one to three business days following the credit |oss exposure valuation dates of December 31, 2004 and 2003. The value
of the collateral is reduced in accordance with counterparty agreements to help ensure recovery of any loss through the disposition of the
collateral. We posted non-cash collateral of $56 million and $301 million related to our counterparties’ credit exposure to us as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

©)

@

Our credit exposure on risk management derivatives, after consideration of the value of collateral held, was $542 million and
$495 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We expect the credit exposure on derivative contracts to fluctuate
with changesin interest rates, implied volatility and the collateral thresholds of the counterparties. To reduce our credit risk
concentration, we diversify our derivative contracts among different counterparties. We had 23 interest rate and foreign currency
derivatives counterparties as of December 31, 2004 and 2003. Of the 23 counterparties as of December 31, 2004, eight
counterparties accounted for approximately 83% of the total outstanding notional amount, and each of these eight
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counterparties accounted for between approximately 7% and 14% of the total outstanding notional amount. Each of the remaining
counterparties accounted for less than 5% of the total outstanding notional amount as of December 31, 2004. In comparison, seven
counterparties accounted for approximately 74% of the total outstanding notional amount as of December 31, 2003. Each of these
counterparties accounted for between approximately 6% and 16% of the total outstanding notional amount, with each of the
remaining counterparties accounting for less than 5% of the total outstanding notional amount.

Approximately 50% of our net derivatives exposure of $542 million as of December 31, 2004 and 64% of our net derivatives
exposure of $495 million as of December 31, 2003 was with 10 counterparties rated AA- or better by Standard & Poor’ sand Aa3
or better by Moody’ s. The percentage of our net exposure with these counterparties ranged from approximately 0.1% to 13%, or
less than $1 million to $70 million as of December 31, 2004, and from approximately 0.1% to 21%, or less than $1 million to
$102 million as of December 31, 2003.

We mitigate our net exposure on interest rate and foreign currency derivative transactions through a collateral management policy,
which consists of four primary components.

» Minimum Collateral Threshold. Our derivatives counterparties are obligated to post collateral when exposure to credit
losses exceeds agreed-upon thresholds that are based on credit ratings. The amount of collateral generally must equal the
excess of exposure over the threshold amount.

» Collateral Valuation Percentages. We require counterparties to post specific types of collateral to meet their collateral
requirements. The collateral posted by our counterparties as of December 31, 2004 consisted of cash, U.S. Treasury
securities, agency debt and agency mortgage-related securities. We assign each type of collateral a specific valuation
percentage based on its relative risk. In cases where the valuation percentage for a certain type of collateral islessthan
100%, we require counterparties to post an additional amount of collateral to meet their requirements.

» Over-collateralization Based on Low Credit Ratings. We further reduce our net exposure on derivatives by generally
requiring over-collateralization from counterparties whose credit ratings have dropped below predetermined levels.
Counterparties with credit ratings falling below these levels must post collateral beyond the amounts previously noted to
meet their overall requirements.

» Daily Monitoring Procedures. On adaily basis, we value our derivative collateral positions for each counterparty using
both internal and external pricing models, compare the exposure to counterparty limits, and determine whether additional
collateral is required. We evaluate any additional exposure to a counterparty beyond our model tolerance level based on



our corporate credit policy framework for managing counterparty risk.
Interest Rate Risk Management and Other Market Risks

Our most significant market risks are interest rate risk and spread risk, which arise primarily from the prepayment uncertainty
associated with investing in mortgage-related assets with prepayment options and from the changing supply and demand for
mortgage assets. The majority of our mortgage assets are intermediate-term or long-term fixed-rate loans that borrowers have the
option to pay at any time before the scheduled maturity date or continue paying until the stated maturity. An inverse relationship
exists between changes in interest rates and the value of fixed-rate investments, including mortgages. As interest rates decline, the
value or price of fixed-rate mortgages held in our portfolio will generally increase because mortgage assets originated at the
prevailing interest rates are likely to have lower yields and prices than the assets we currently hold in our portfolio. Conversely, an
increase in interest rates tends to result in areduction in the value of our assets. Asinterest rates decline prepayment rates tend to
increase because more favorable financing is available to the borrower, which shortens the duration of our mortgage assets. The
opposite effect occurs asinterest rates increase.

One way of reducing the interest rate risk associated with investing in long-term, fixed-rate mortgages is to fund these investments
with long-term debt with similar offsetting characteristics. This strategy is complicated by the fact that most borrowers have the
option of prepaying their mortgages at any time, afactor that is
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beyond our control and driven to alarge extent by changesin interest rates. In addition, funding mortgage investments with debt
results in mortgage-to-debt OASrisk, or basisrisk, which istherisk that interest rates in different market sectors will not move in
the same direction or amount at the same time.

Our Capital Markets group is responsible for managing interest rate risk subject to corporate risk policies and limits approved by
the Board of Directors. In 2006, our Board of Directors approved a policy that prescribes interest rate risk dollar limits and requires
escal ation to senior management and the Board of Directorsif risk limits are exceeded. The Chief Risk Officer provides corporate
oversight of the interest rate risk management process and is responsible for measuring and monitoring interest rate risk and
providing regular reports to senior management and the Board of Directors. The Capital Markets Investment Committee, a
management-level committee that includes senior officersin the Capital Markets group, meets weekly to review our current interest
rate risk position relative to risk limits. The Capital Markets Investment Committee develops and monitors near-term strategies that
comply with our risk objectives and policies. The Capital Markets Investment Committee reports interest rate risk measures on a
weekly basis. Asdiscussed in“ Supplemental Non-GAAP Information—Fair Value Balance Sheet,” we do not attempt to actively
manage or hedge the impact of changes in mortgage-to-debt OAS after we purchase mortgage assets, other than through asset
monitoring and disposition. We accept period-to-period volatility in our financial performance due to mortgage-to-debt OAS
consistent with our corporate risk principles.

Interest Rate Risk Management Strategies

Our portfolio of interest rate-sensitive instruments includes our investments in mortgage loans and securities, the debt issued to
fund those assets, and the derivatives we use to manage interest rate risk. These assets and liabilities have a variety of risk profiles
and sensitivities. We employ an integrated interest rate risk management strategy that includes asset selection and structuring of our
liabilities to match and offset the interest rate characteristics of our balance sheet assets and liabilities as much as possible. Our
strategy consists of

* issuing abroad range of both callable and non-callable debt instruments to manage the duration and prepayment risk of
expected cash flows of the mortgage assets we own;

» supplementing our issuance of debt with derivative instruments to further reduce duration and prepayment risks; and

» on-going monitoring of our risk positions and actively rebalancing our portfolio of interest rate-sensitive financial
instruments to maintain a close match between the duration of our assets and liabilities.

Debt Instruments

The primary tool we use to manage the interest rate risk implicit in our mortgage assetsis the variety of debt instruments we issue.
Our ability to issue both short- and long-term debt helps in managing the duration risk associated with an investment in long-term
fixed-rate assets. We issue callable debt to help us manage the prepayment risk associated with fixed-rate mortgage assets. The
duration of callable debt changes when interest rates change in a manner similar to changes in the duration of mortgage assets. See
“ Item 1—Business—Business Segments—Capital Markets—unding of Our Investments’ for additional information on our
various types of debt securitiesand “ Liquidity and Capital Management—L iquidity—Debt Funding.”

Derivative Instruments



Why We Use Derivatives

Derivatives also are an integral part of our strategy in managing interest rate risk. We use interest rate swaps and interest rate
options, in combination with our issuance of debt securities, to better match both the duration and prepayment risk of our
mortgages. We are generally an end user of derivatives and our principal purposein using derivativesis to manage our aggregate
interest rate risk profile within prescribed risk parameters. We generally only use derivatives that are highly liquid and relatively
straightforward to value. We have derivative transaction policies and controls to minimize our derivative counterparty risk that are
described in “ Credit Risk
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Management— nstitutional Counterparty Credit Risk Management—Derivatives Counterparties.” We use derivatives for three
primary purposes.

(1) Asasubstitute for notes and bonds that we issue in the debt markets.

When we purchase mortgages, we fund the purchase with a combination of equity and debt. The debt we issueis amix that
typically consists of short- and long-term, non-callable debt and callable debt. The varied maturities and flexibility of these debt
combinations help us in reducing the mismatch of cash flows between assets and liabilities.

We can use amix of debt issuances and derivatives to achieve the same duration matching that would be achieved by issuing only
debt securities. The primary types of derivatives used for this purpose include pay-fixed and receive-fixed interest rate swaps (used
as substitutes for non-callable debt) and pay-fixed and receive-fixed swaptions (used as substitutes for callable debt).

Below is an example of equivalent funding alternatives for a mortgage purchase with funding derived solely from debt securities
versus funding with a blend of debt securities and derivatives. Asillustrated below, we can achieve similar economic results by
funding our mortgage purchases with either debt securities or a combination of debt securities and derivatives, as follows:

» Rather than issuing a 10-year non-callable fixed-rate note, we could issue short-term debt and enter into a 10-year
interest rate swap with a highly rated counterparty. The derivative counterparty would pay afloating rate of interest to us
on the swap that we would use to pay the interest expense on the short-term debt, which we would continue to reissue.
We would pay the counterparty afixed rate of interest on the swap, thus achieving the economics of a 10-year fixed-rate
note issue. The combination of the pay-fixed interest rate swap and short-term debt serves as a substitute for non-callable
fixed-rate debt.

» Similarly, instead of issuing a 10-year fixed-rate note callable after three years, we could issue a 10-year fixed-rate note
and enter into areceive-fixed swaption that would have the same economics as a 10-year callable note. If we want to call
the debt after three years, the swaption would give us the option to enter into a swap agreement where we would receive
afixed rate of interest from the derivative counterparty over the remaining 7-year period that would offset the fixed-rate
interest payments on the long-term debt. The combination of the receive-fixed swaption and 10-year non-callable note
serves as a substitute for callable debt.

(2) To achieve risk management objectives not obtainable with debt market securities.

We sometimes have risk management objectives that cannot be fully accomplished by securities generally available in the debt
markets. For example, we can use the derivative markets to purchase swaptions to add features to our debt not obtainable in the
debt markets. Some of the features of the option embedded in a callable bond are dependent on the market environment at issuance
and the par issuance price of the bond. Thus, in a callable bond we can not specify certain features, such as specifying an
“ out-of-the-money” option, which could allow us to more closely match the interest rate risk being hedged. We use option-based
derivatives, such as swaptions, because they provide the added flexibility to fully specify the features of the option, thereby
allowing us to more closely match the interest rate risk being hedged.

(3) To quickly and efficiently rebalance our portfolio.

We seek to keep our assets and liabilities matched within a duration tolerance of plus or minus six months. When interest rates are
volatile, we often need to lengthen or shorten the average duration of our liabilities to keep them closely matched with our
mortgage durations, which change as expected mortgage prepayments change.

While we have a number of rebalancing tools availableto us, it is often most efficient for us to rebalance our portfolio by adding
new derivatives or by terminating existing derivative positions. For example, when interest rates fall and mortgage durations
shorten, we can shorten the duration of our debt by entering into receive-fixed interest rate swaps that convert longer-duration,
fixed-term debt into shorter-duration, floating-rate debt or by terminating existing pay-fixed interest rate swaps. This use of
derivatives helpsincrease our funding
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flexibility while maintaining our low risk tolerance. The types of derivative instruments we use most often